

Haemodynamics in preterm infants with

Patent Ductus Arteriosus

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the

University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy

by

Dr Charalampos Kotidis, MBBS, MSc, MRCPCH

Liverpool, UK, 2022

Department of Women's and Children's

Health Institute of Translational Medicine

Table of contents

Abstract	10
Acknowledgments	13
List of Tables	15
List of Figures	18
List of Abbreviations	24
Chapter 1: Introduction	28
Prematurity	28
Definition	28
Epidemiology	28
Survival and Morbidity	29
Costs	32
Morbidity associated with prematurity	32
Neurodevelopmental outcome	32
Brain injury in preterm infants	35
Mechanism	36
Ductus arteriosus	42
Historical considerations	42
Embryology	45
Anatomy	45
Physiology of DA closure and prolonged patency	47
Premature DA and prolonged patency	48
PDA pathophysiology in preterm infants	48
Assessing the haemodynamically significant PDA	50
Background theory of the techniques used in the thesis	56
Echocardiography	56
Cranial ultrasonography	58
Near infrared spectroscopy in preterm infants	58
aEEG in preterm infants	61
Pulse transit time and pulse wave velocity in preterm infants	64
Summary of uncertainties	67
Purpose of this project	68
Aims of the project	71

	PhD objectives	72
Cł	napter 2: Methods	75
	Population	76
	Inclusion criteria	76
	Exclusion criteria	76
	Other competing studies at the same period	76
	Study procedures	77
	Recruitment	77
	Clinical data	77
	Obstetric management	80
	Neonatal management	81
	Resuscitation	81
	Fluid management	81
	Blood pressure management	82
	PDA management	85
	Near infrared spectroscopy	86
	Digital amplitude integrated electroencephalography	86
	Electrocardiography	87
	Cranial ultrasonography	89
	Echocardiography	92
	Biomarker validation and reproducibility	101
	Strategy for data collection	104
	Measures to minimize pain and distress	104
	Sample size considerations	104
	Ethical considerations	105
	Funding	105
	Data Protection	105
	Statistical analysis	105
	Characteristics of R	106
	SPSS and R comparison	110
	Contributions in study design and statistical analysis	111
	Demographics and clinical outcomes	113
	Timeline analysis of study biomarkers	113

PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular haemorrhage in preterm r an investigation of possible causal pathway	1eonates: 114
Multiple imputation	
Robust estimation of the covariance matrix	
Smoothed local polynomial regression fits	
Logistic regression model	
Nonlinearities in regression	116
Validation of classification models	116
Backward logistic regression model	117
MgSO₄ specific methodology	
Data collection	
Echocardiography	118
aEEG and NIRS	118
Serum magnesium	118
Statistical analysis	119
Pulse transit time, pulse wave velocity and pulse phase difference methodology	121
Population	121
Echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers	
Clinical physiological monitoring	
Invasive BP monitoring	
Electrocardiogram	
Physiological signal data analysis	
Statistical analysis	126
Chapter 3: Patent ductus arteriosus, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular	
haemorrhage in preterm neonates: an investigation of a possible causal pathway	127
Introduction	128
Results	
Data collection and demographics	128
Cerebral markers vs. postnatal age	137
Association between PDA and cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI	151
Model specification	156
Associations stratified according to IVH severity	158
Association between RI vs. cTOI and Burdjalov score	161
Association between IVH outcome and PDA, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI	169

	Association between PDA, cTOI and death	174
	Backward logistic regression model in predicting severe IVH including inotropic support and sepsis on Day 3 after birth	174
	Summary	176
D	iscussion	178
	Evolution of biomarkers with postnatal maturation	183
	PDA size and severe IVH	189
	PDA size and cerebral oxygenation	192
	Cerebral oxygenation and severe IVH	194
	PDA size and anterior cerebral artery resistivity index	196
	Anterior cerebral artery resistivity index and cerebral oxygenation	198
	PDA size and Burdjalov score	200
	Burdjalov score and cerebral oxygenation	202
	Burdjalov score and anterior cerebral artery resistivity index	204
	Burdjalov score and severe IVH	205
	Death	206
	Limitations	207
C	onclusion	209
Co Chai	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc	209 ore
Co Chaj with	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age	209 ore 211
Co Chaj with Po	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section	209 ore 211 212
Co Chaj with Pu N	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods	209 ore 211 212 213
Co Chaj with Pu N	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population	209 ore 211 212 213 213
Co Char with Pu M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213
Cd Chaj with Pt N	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213
Cd Chaj with Pr M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 213
Ca Chaj with Pu N	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 215
Ca Chaj with Pr M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 215 215
Co Char with Pr M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis Model Demographics	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 215 215 217
Co Chai with Pi M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis Model Demographics Linear mixed-effects models	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 215 215 217 219
Co Chai with Pi M	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis Model Linear mixed-effects models Interpretation	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 213 215 215 215 217 219 222
Co Chai with Pi M	onclusion	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 213 215 215 217 219 222 227
Co Chai with Pi N Ri	onclusion pter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov sc assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age urpose of the section lethods Population Statistics esults The data Preliminary analysis Model Linear mixed-effects models Interpretation Summary	209 ore 211 212 213 213 213 213 213 213 215 215 217 219 222 227 228

Gestation age and postnatal maturation	231
Patent Ductus Arteriosus	233
Limitations	233
Conclusion	234
Chapter 5: Neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal MgSO4 administration	maternal 236
Purpose	237
Methods	237
Results	237
Data	237
Preliminary analysis	239
Model	239
Protocol of power analyses for cerebral oxygenation and Burdjalov score	243
Discussion	251
Conclusion	257
Chapter 6: Pulse Transit Time, Pulse Wave Velocity and a novel biomarker in F Infants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus	?reterm 258
Introduction	259
Aim	
Methodology	261
Population	261
Results	
The data	
Analysis	
Discussion	
Limitations	293
Conclusions	293
Chapter 7: Overall conclusions	295
Aims addressed	296
Key findings	296
Chapter 3	
Chapter 4	
Chapter 5	
Chapter 6	

	Overall conclusions	.306
R	eferences	.309
A	ppendices	.355
	Appendix 1: Study protocol	.355
	Appendix 2: Procedures for echocardiographic assessment	.388
	Appendix 3: Procedures for cranial ultrasound and Doppler studies	. 392
	Appendix 4: Procedures for near-infrared spectroscopy studies	.397
	Appendix 5: Procedures for aEEG/EEG assessment	.401
	Appendix 6: ixTrend data collection	.413
	Appendix 7: Case reporting form	.417
	Appendix 8: Parents' Information Sheet	.422
	Appendix 9: Consent form	.427
	Appendix 10: Ethical approvals	.429
	Appendix 11: Qualitative assessment of the factors affected recruitment and data	
	collection	.431
	Appendix 12: Publications	.434

Abstract

Haemodynamics in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus.

Dr Charalampos Kotidis

The primary aims addressed by my thesis were a multimodal, integrated assessment of influences of patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) on cerebral haemodynamics in extremely preterm infants using echocardiography, cerebral near infrared spectroscopy, amplitude integrated electroencephalography (aEEG) and cerebral ultrasonography, and the evaluation of a pre-defined two-step model for the causation of brain injury by PDA shunt (Chapter 3). The dataset was rich and provided an opportunity to characterise components of the multimodal assessment including: influences on the aEEG (Chapter 4) and antenatal influences on elements of the multimodal assessment (Chapter 5). Moreover, I investigated further existing biomarkers of aortic haemodynamics [pulse transit time (PTT) and pulse wave velocity (PWV)] and related them to the PDA and cerebral biomarkers and devised a novel biomarker [phase difference (PD)] (Chapter 6).

The analysis demonstrated that severe intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH) was associated with the presence of large PDA and lower cerebral oxygenation. Furthermore, there was a significant association between lower cerebral oxygenation, lower cerebral electrical activity and higher resistivity index on anterior cerebral artery with larger PDA size, but not in interaction of these variables with IVH severity. This means that separate steps of a proposed two step model were valid, but not the entire two-step model. IVH happens early during extrauterine life or even during pregnancy and during the study there were more observations reflecting the aftermath following the IVH. Hence, it is uncertain whether the observed relationships are the cause or the epiphenomenon of brain injury. The strong association between PDA size and all the cerebral biomarkers implies that PDA has important and simultaneous effects on global cerebral function. PDA in some preterm infants has a different natural course and maybe linked to cerebral injury. However, many preterm infants with large PDAs did not develop severe IVH and had normal cranial ultrasound at discharge. This supports the ongoing controversy regarding the definition of the haemodynamically significant PDA. Whether and at which critical point the PDA becomes a disease is still uncertain and it is very possible this goalpost to be shifting depending on the rest of the neonatal comorbidities.

Chapter 4 demonstrated that cerebral electrical activity increases with postnatal age and baseline gestational age, but decreases with morphine administration and the presence of a larger PDA.

Chapter 5 investigated the neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal maternal $MgSO_4$ administration. Maternal BMI and duration of $MgSO_4$ infusion (and their interaction) appeared to have significant effect on neonatal Mg^{2+} that may merit changes to the dosing regimen. No associations were demonstrated

between neonatal serum Mg²⁺ with PDA score, cerebral oxygenation and cerebral electrical activity. Future dose finding studies should be based on multicompartmental population pharmacokinetic studies that include maternal and neonatal pharmacodynamic measures and sample size calculation was performed to inform these future studies.

Chapter 6 demonstrated that PDA has significant effects on aortic haemodynamics as measured by PTT, PWV and PD. In a small population of extremely preterm infants a strong positive correlation was found between PDA and PD which renders further investigation with validation studies. A continuous predictive biomarker for PDA size can be a helpful screening tool for infants needing echocardiography in the neonatal unit in an effort to use human resources more effectively and reduce the disturbance of the vulnerable preterm infants by repeated echocardiograms. Moreover, the analysis demonstrated the clinical potentials of combining PWV and blood pressure data to predict left ventricular cardiac output in the descending aorta without the need for echocardiographic assessment, which can be useful clinical information for the management of this population. "As you set out for Ithaka hope the voyage is a long one, full of adventure, full of discovery. Laistrygonians and Cyclops, angry Poseidon—don't be afraid of them: you'll never find things like that on your way as long as you keep your thoughts raised high, as long as a rare excitement stirs your spirit and your body. Laistrygonians and Cyclops, wild Poseidon—you won't encounter them unless you bring them along inside your soul, unless your soul sets them up in front of you.

Hope the voyage is a long one. May there be many a summer morning when, with what pleasure, what joy, you come into harbours seen for the first time; may you stop at Phoenician trading stations to buy fine things, mother of pearl and coral, amber and ebony, sensual perfume of every kind as many sensual perfumes as you can; and may you visit many Egyptian cities to gather stores of knowledge from their scholars.

Keep Ithaka always in your mind. Arriving there is what you are destined for. But do not hurry the journey at all. Better if it lasts for years, so you are old by the time you reach the island, wealthy with all you have gained on the way, not expecting Ithaka to make you rich.

Ithaka gave you the marvellous journey. Without her you would not have set out. She has nothing left to give you now.

And if you find her poor, Ithaka won't have fooled you. Wise as you will have become, so full of experience, you will have understood by then what these Ithakas mean."

Konstantinos Kavafis: Ithaka

Acknowledgments

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisors Professor Mark Turner, Professor Michael Weindling and Dr Nim Subhedar for their continuous support, guidance, motivation and knowledge throughout my PhD. Their mentorship allowed me to grow both as clinician and academic.

I wish to thank Dr Antonio Eleuteri for his continuous assistance with statistical analysis and for supporting me in understanding and learning complex statistical methods.

I would like also to thank Professor David Wertheim for his support and mentorship in exploring new paths in neonatal haemodynamics.

It would not have been possible to complete my thesis without the continuous technical support from medical engineer Mr David Cordon, who was always willing to help with a smile.

I am grateful to all the nurses and research nurses who trusted and helped me during the often challenging interaction with families.

I thank all the infants and their parents who agreed to consider and participate in my clinical study. None of my efforts would have mattered if they did not agree to give my work a chance. I will be eternally grateful to all of them.

I was privileged to receive funding from NeoCirculation consortium (FP7) to support this work (European FP7-Grant Number:282533).

Finally, last but by no means the least, I would like to thank my family: my parents for their support and belief in me over the years. Most importantly, I offer my utmost gratitude to my wife – Lena without whom I would have never been able to complete this PhD study.

Thank you for the numerous sacrifices, patience, encouragement, love and unconditional support and motivation especially during the toughest times. Finally, I would like to thank my children, Dimitris and Vasiliki, for their tolerance and the many hours they missed my presence and our quality time together as the PhD writing was mainly done after my full time clinical work.

List of Tables

Table 1: Innovation of medical treatment of extremely preterm infants over the last
decades
Table 2: Risk factors of adverse neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants. 34
Table 3: Fluid management in extremely preterm infants in Liverpool Women's
Hospital
Table 4: Scoring system for the assessment of hemodynamically significant DA
(107)
Table 5: Repeatability of echocardiographic and Doppler parameters103
Table 6: Data completeness. 131
Table 7: Summary of the background maternal and perinatal demographics with
comparison to local, national and international data134
Table 8: Summary of the clinical outcomes with comparison to local, national and
international data135
Table 9: Cause of death of the individual study participants according to the
discharge letter. CONS: coagulase negative staphylococcus136
Table 10 Assessment of the studied biomarkers in patients with severe vs. non
severe IVH during the transitional period. There were only three babies with severe
IVH in the first day after birth which restricted statistical analysis. Data are
presented as median and interquartile ranges and the corresponding P values
(Mann Whitney test)149
Table 11: PDA diameter association with the cerebral biomarkers including the
interaction with the severe IVH

Table 12: Parametric regression model assessing the relationship between RI, cTOI
and Burdjalov score168
Table 13: Logistic regression model describing the association between severe IVH
and PDA, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI (including the interaction of PDA with other
factors and cTOI with RI)170
Table 14: Backward variable selection procedure to describe the relationship
between IVH and the predictive factors identified PDA and cTOI as statistically
significant factors171
Table 15: Summary of the background maternal and perinatal demographics218
Table 16: Assessment of best longitudinal model fit of the association with
Burdjalov score220
Table 17: Random effects model of the interaction of Burdjalov score with the rest
of the model parameters221
Table 18: Maternal and neonatal demographics among those with and without
antenatal MgSO ₄ administration238
Table 19: Linear regression model of neonatal Mg ²⁺ and associated variables and
biomarkers
Table 20: Cerebral oxygenation: sample standard deviation with 95% confidence
intervals of the measurements244
Table 21: Summary of estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios using
cerebral oxygenation index as surrogate biomarker to demonstrate clinical efficacy:
1. the sample standard deviation estimated from the data, 2. using the upper
confidence limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of

sample size). Both one tail and two tails options were considered, and three power
levels. The significance level was set to 0.05246
Table 22: Burdjalov score: sample standard deviation with 95% confidence intervals
of the measurements248
Table 23: Summary of estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios using
Burdjalov score as surrogate biomarker to demonstrate clinical efficacy: 1. the
sample standard deviation estimated from the data, 2. using the upper confidence
limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of sample size).
Both one tail and two tails options were considered, and three power levels. The
significance level was set to 0.05249
Table 24: Summary of patient demographics. 263
Table 25: Summary of the relations between the aortic biomarkers, background
demographics, echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers

List of Figures

Figure 1: Geographical distribution of preterm births among live births in Europe.
Adopted from EU report: Babies' health: mortality and morbidity during pregnancy
and in the first year of life (5)
Figure 2: Schematic representation of the ductus arteriosus from 17th century
illustrations. Left: tab. XV and XXV of Fabricius ab Aquapendente in 'De formatio
foetu' 1606. Centre: Johann Vesling in 'Syntagma anatomicum' 1651. Right (fig. II
and III): Johan van Horne's addition to Botallo's 'Opera Omnia', 1660. Adapted by
(62)
Figure 3: Two step model of interaction of PDA with brain injury through alterations
in cerebral oxygenation, electrical activity and blood flow70
Figure 4: Liverpool Women's Hospital hypotension treatment guidelines
Figure 5: Data capturing and collection procedures from multiple patient-connected
monitors during the study88
Figure 6: Statistical analysis flow chart109
Figure 7: Cardiac cycle length (L) is measured from the ECG as well as the time
difference PTT between the ECG R wave and the following BP systolic peak. The
ratio PTT:L gives a dimensionless index that is HR independent and can be
expressed as PD125
Figure 8: Visual representation of data collection and completeness
Figure 9: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals
of the PDA size changes from birth to discharge140

Figure 10: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of the cerebral tissue oxygenation index changes from birth to discharge.

Figure 11: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of the anterior cerebral artery resistivity index changes from birth to
discharge142
Figure 12: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of the Burdjalov score changes from birth to discharge
Figure 13: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of PDA score in patients with and without
severe IVH
Figure 14: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of PDA diameter in patients with and
without severe IVH145
Figure 15: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of Burdjalov score in patients with and
without severe IVH146
Figure 16: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of anterior cerebral artery resistivity index
in patients with and without severe IVH147
Figure 17: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of cerebral oxygenation index in patients
with and without severe IVH148

Figure 18: Correlation between PDA diameter and PDA score in preterm infants on
third day after birth (N: 46, Spearman's ρ: 0.888, P <0.001)150
Figure 19: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of PDA size vs. cerebral oxygenation index
Figure 20: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of PDA size vs. Burdjalov score153
Figure 21: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of PDA size vs. Burdjalov score adjusted for postnatal age154
Figure 22: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of PDA size vs. anterior cerebral artery resistivity index
Figure 23: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of cerebral oxygenation index and PDA size dichotomised according to the
presence of severe IVH159
presence of severe IVH159 Figure 24: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
presence of severe IVH

Figure 28: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of cerebral oxygenation index vs. Burdjalov score adjusted for postnatal
age166
Figure 29: Calibration performance of the classification model173
Figure 30: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of PDA size vs. cerebral oxygenation index
Figure 31: Summary of the significant interactions between the factors of the two
step biological model
Figure 32: Observed Burdjalov scores vs. postnatal age (log scale) for each subject.
Time points of subjects treated with morphine are shown in red
Figure 33: Linear regression residual plots of all individuals of the study for the
assessment of model fit216
Figure 34: Linear mixed effects regression residuals for the model described in Table
16 assessing residual boxplots from each subject
Figure 35: Quantile plot of the random effects in the model described in Table 16.
Figure 36: Quantile plots of random effects for intercept, time and morphine for the
model shown in Table 16226
Figure 37: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence
intervals) of the relationship between duration of antenatal MgSO $_4$ infusion and the
longitudinal measurements (over a 72 hours period) of neonatal Mg ²⁺ 240
Figure 38: Impact of BMI and antenatal MgSO ₄ administration on neonatal serum
magnesium concentrations241
Figure 39: PDA size versus PTT (left), PWV (right) and PD (bottom)267

Figure 40: Cerebral oxygenation index versus PTT (top panel), PWV (middle panel)
and PD (bottom panel). Cerebral oxygenation index versus PTT (top panel), PWV
(middle panel) and PD (bottom panel) demonstrating a relationship between
cerebral oxygenation and the aortic biomarkers that is opposite to the expected in
the light of data from Chapter 3. The same patient appears as outlier in the last
figure with the larger PDA diameter and low cerebral oxygenation. Large PDA: PDA
diameter >2mm268
Figure 41: The relationship between PWV and systolic BP271
Figure 42: The relationship between PWV and the calculated systemic vascular
resistance index (VR) based on echocardiographically derived cardiac output and
the aortic BP272
Figure 43: The relationship between PDA size and systolic BP
Figure 44: The relationship between PDA size and LVEDD:Ao representing preload.
Figure 45: The relationship between PDA size and left ventricular stroke volume
index276
Figure 46: The relationship between LVEDD:Ao and left ventricular stroke volume
index277
Figure 47: The relationship between left ventricular stroke volume index and
cardiac output278
Figure 48: The relationship between left ventricular cardiac output and systolic BP.
Figure 49: Summary of proposed mechanisms of interactions between PDA,
systemic vascular resistance (PWV) and echocardiographic biomarkers

List of Abbreviations

ACA	Anterior Cerebral Artery
AIC	Akaike's Information Criterion
aEEG	Amplitude Integrated Electroencephalogram
ANP	Atrial Natriuretic Peptide
ANS	Autonomic Nervous System
BMI	Body Mass Index
BNP	Brain Natriuretic Peptide
BP	Blood Pressure
BPD	Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia
BW	Birth Weight
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
cFOE	Cerebral Fractional Oxygenation Extraction
СК	Charalampos Kotidis
CLD	Chronic Lung Disease
СРАР	Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
СО	Cardiac Output
CONS	Coagulase Negative Staphylococcus
CRF	Case Report Forms
CRT	Capillary Refill Time
CrUSS	Cranial Ultrasonography
сТОІ	Cerebral Tissue Oxygenation Index
CWD	Continuous Wave Doppler
DA	Ductus Arteriosus

Dao	Descending Aorta
DW	David Wertheim
E:A ratio	Mitral valve E:A ratio
ECG	Electrocardiogram
EDFV	End-Diastolic Flow Velocity
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EPI	Extremely Preterm Infants
GA	Gestational Age
HFOV	High-Frequency Oscillatory Ventilation
HIE	Hypoxic-Ischaemic Encephalopathy
hsPDA	Haemodynamically Significant Patent Ductus Arteriosus
IQR	Interquartile Range
IRAS	Integrated Research Application System
IUGR	Intrauterine Growth Restriction
IVH	Intraventricular Haemorrhage
IVRT	Isovolumic Relaxation Time
LA	Left Atrium
LA:Ao	Left Atrium To Aortic Root Ratio
LPA	Left Pulmonary Artery
LV	Left Ventricle
LVEDD:Ao	Left Ventricular End Diastolic Diameter To Aortic Root Ratio
LVO	Left Ventricular Output
LWH	Liverpool Women's Hospital
Mg2 ⁺	Neonatal Serum Ionised Magnesium Concentrations
MgSO ₄	Magnesium Sulphate

MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
Ν	Number Of Patients
NEC	Necrotizing Enterocolitis
NICU	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
NIRS	Near Infrared Spectroscopy
NO	Nitric Oxide
NPV	Negative Predictive Value
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug
NT-proBNP	Amino-Terminal Pro-B-Type Natriuretic Peptide
РА	Pulmonary Artery
PD	Phase Difference
PDA	Patent Ductus Arteriosus
PFO	Patent Foramen Ovale
РК	Pharmacokinetics
PSFV	Peak Systolic Flow Velocity
PNS	Parasympathetic Nervous System
PPV	Positive Predictive Value
PROM	Prolonged Rupture Of Membranes
РТТ	Pulse Transit Time
PVL	Periventricular Leukomalacia
PWD	Pulsed Wave Doppler
PWV	Pulse Wave Velocity
RA	Right Atrium
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
RDS	Respiratory Distress Syndrome

RI	Anterior Cerebral Artery Resistivity Index	
ROP	Retinopathy Of Prematurity	
RVO	Right Ventricular Output	
SaO2	Transcutaneous Arterial Oxygen Saturation	
SNS	Sympathetic Nervous System	
SVC	Superior Vena Cava	
SVD	Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery	
ТОІ	Tissue oxygenation index	
TPN	Total Parenteral Nutrition	
UAC	Umbilical Arterial Catheter	
UK	United Kingdom	
VLBW	Very low birth weight infant	
VTI	Velocity Time Integral	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Prematurity is the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in children less than 5 years of age with approximately 1.1 million deaths in 2010 (1). A common feature among babies born at extreme prematurity is a patent ductus arteriosus (PDA). The impact of PDA has not been identified completely, but there is concern that PDA alters the amount of blood flowing into the brain. This thesis explores the relationship between PDA and blood flow into the brain including multiple methods to assess, and identify the implications of that relationship.

Prematurity

Definition

Prematurity, according to the World Health Organisation, is defined as birth before 37 weeks gestational age (GA) are completed (2). Preterm infants can be further subdivided according to GA into the following groups: extremely preterm (less than 28 weeks), very preterm (28 to 32 weeks) and moderate to late preterm (32 to 37 weeks). Of the births that were preterm in the United Kingdom (UK) 5% were extremely preterm, 11% very preterm and 85% moderately preterm (3).

Epidemiology

The exact burden of this condition globally is unknown, but it is estimated that 15 million infants are born earlier than normal which is 1 in 10 live births (4). Preterm birth rates vary widely among European countries, ranging from 5.4 to 12% (5). The rates in UK were above the European average and consisted of 7.6% in England and Wales, 8.2% in Scotland and 7.4% in Northern Ireland (6).

Preterm babies born before 28 weeks of gestational age constitute over one-third of all deaths, but data are not comparable between countries. About one-third of all fetal deaths and 40% of all neonatal deaths were of infants born before 28 weeks of gestational age (5). The geographical distribution of preterm births among live births in Europe can be further assessed in Figure 1.

Survival and Morbidity

Advances in understanding of prematurity and medical treatment led to improved outcomes in the recent decades (Table 1). The survival rates of preterm infants in France were 94% at 27-31 weeks GA and 99% between 32-34 weeks (EPIPAGE-2 study) (7). In the same cohort survival without severe neonatal morbidity was 0% at 23 weeks, 12% at 24 weeks, 30% at 25 weeks, 48% at 26 weeks, 81% at 27-31 weeks, and 97% at 32-34 weeks. Between 1997 and 2011 the proportion of infants surviving without severe morbidity increased by 14% at GA between 25 and 29 weeks and 6% at 30-31 weeks, but did not change significantly for infants born at less than 25 weeks (7).



Figure 1: Geographical distribution of preterm births among live births in Europe. Adopted from EU report: Babies' health: mortality and morbidity during pregnancy and in the first year of life (5).

Innovation	Time
CPAP, Mechanical Ventilation	1980s
Exogenous Surfactant	Early 1990s
Antenatal Steroids	Mid/Late 1990s
Avoiding Postnatal Steroids	Early 2000s
Targeted Oxygen Therapy	Mid 2000s
Systematic Care/Experience	Continuous

Table 1: Innovation of medical treatment of extremely preterm infants over the lastdecades.

Costs

The total cost of preterm birth to the UK public sector was estimated to be 2.95 billion pounds and an inverse relationship was identified between gestational age at birth and the average public sector cost per surviving child. The incremental cost per preterm child surviving to 18 years compared with a term survivor was estimated at £22,885. The corresponding estimates for a child born as very or extremely preterm infant were substantially higher at £61,781 and £94,740, respectively (8). There are also other costs that are difficult to quantify precisely; non-medical direct cost (transportation, accommodation, home or car remodelling, childcare/babysitting for other siblings, special education/schooling, home help and higher insurance premiums), indirect cost (income losses, missed working days and time losses-opportunity costs) and intangible costs (quality of life aspects, physical and emotional burden on parents or other caregivers) (9).

Morbidity associated with prematurity

Preterm infants have immature organ systems and need a lot of support until they can regulate independently their function and react appropriately to the challenges the extra-uterine environment poses on them. The level and duration of the support is inversely related to GA (10).

Neurodevelopmental outcome

Neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants can be affected by many factors including antenatal, perinatal and post discharge from the neonatal unit by family and social factors (Table 2) (11, 12). These factors may be amenable to intervention for improving long-term outcomes in this population (13). There are also different

methods to assess neurodevelopmental outcome and scores are not often comparable (14).

Period	Factors
•	Inflammation Infection
Antenatal	Intrauterine growth restriction Maternal nutrition Substance misuse Preterm rupture of membranes
Postnatal	Gestation age Birth weight Hypoxia Hypoperfusion Congenital anomalies affecting haemodynamics Nutrition
Infancy to adulthood	Low socioeconomic status Low education Divorced parents Parental mental illness Maternal substance misuse Bad parental attitudes

Table 2: Risk factors of adverse neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants.

Brain injury in preterm infants

Brain injury is common in preterm infants and has often long-term devastating consequences for individuals and their families. It can be divided in haemorrhagic lesions and white matter damage, but these lesions often coincide and overlap.

Periventricular and intraventricular haemorrhages (IVH) occur usually in the first three days after birth and can be categorised with cranial ultrasonography (CrUSS) according to Papile criteria: Grade I: bleeding restricted to germinal matrix, Grade II: intraventricular bleeding without ventricular dilatation, Grade III: intraventricular bleeding with ventricular dilatation, Grade IV: parenchymal echodensity which represents periventricular haemorrhagic infarction (15). However, this system is imperfect as there is often uncertainty on the degree of ventricular dilatation, which is often transient. Moreover, Grade IV IVH includes a wide spectrum of disease severity, which ranges from one small lesion of periventricular infarction in an area known to have negligible clinical impact to multiple large lesions involving both hemispheres. However, the advantage of Papile classification is the ability to perform quantitative statistical analysis and relate classes of brain injury to specific risk factors and clinical outcomes.

Periventricular leukomalacia (PVL) refers to the damage of the white matter around the lateral ventricles (16). PVL mainly occurs around border zones between long penetrating branches from middle cerebral artery and anterior or posterior cerebral arteries called watershed areas (centrum semiovale and the optic and acoustic radiations) (16). Cerebral ultrasonography is not particularly sensitive to diagnose PVL (sensitivity 26-28%) (17). The prognostic value of echolucencies and ventricular

dilatation, detected by ultrasonography, has been assessed by multiple studies and is relatively good (18, 19). As with IVH there is spectrum of PVL disease severity. The severe form of cystic PVL is easily diagnosed with CrUSS and has a very low prevalence, whereas diffuse non cystic PVL is very difficult to diagnose and quantify with CrUSS, but magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have demonstrated prevalence up to 50% in extremely preterm infants (20).

Mechanism

The immaturity of three fundamental components of cerebral anatomy and function are the substrate for the higher risk of cerebral injury in preterm infants: 1. immature brain structure and cerebral vasculature, 2. immature cardiovascular system and 3. immature autonomic nervous system with limited ability to handle the challenges of transitional circulation with open fetal channels and poor pulmonary and cardiac reserves.

During fetal life, neurons and glial cells migrate outwards from the germinal matrix and sub-ventricular zone towards the cortex. This process is supported by a rich capillary bed in the germinal matrix. However, blood vessels in the germinal matrix are thin walled, lack pericytes and have few glial fibers making them very fragile. Moreover, cerebral circulation is provided by terminal arteries and the venous drainage also ends up in terminal veins (21). Hence, any disruption on the provision or drainage of blood flow can affect a wide area of cerebral tissue and leads to a haemorrhage of an area crucial for cerebral development and maturation. The pathogenesis of IVH involves two postulated mechanisms (22). The first involves hypoxia reperfusion injury due to fluctuations in arterial blood pressure as result of various factors (perinatal hypoxia, sepsis, fluid boluses or inotropes), which leads to
bursting of the fragile cerebral vessels. The other mechanism involves obstruction of the venous return (secondary to pneumothorax, ventilator asynchrony or just collapsing veins due to head position) causing an increase in venous pressure and leading to the rupture of capillary vasculature (22).

The "dose" of haemodynamic insult required to cause brain injury in preterm infants is not known and is possibly fluctuating depending on the background risk factors and the mechanism of the injury (23). The dose also depends on the duration and the pattern of the insult. Hence, insults can be brief and severe, mild but prolonged and/or repetitive of variable duration and all these insults can have a cumulative effect. The identification of temporal relationship between the haemodynamic insult and brain injury is challenging not only because the onset of brain injury is often unknown, but also because there is no reliable and portable continuous measurement of cardiac performance and brain perfusion.

There are several risk factors associated with IVH. There is negative correlation between GA and IVH incidence (24). The immature vasculature of periventricular germinal matrix makes them prone to injury during fluctuations of cerebral blood perfusion, which are common during the period of transitional circulation (25, 26). The immaturity of autonomic nervous system can further exacerbate the fluctuations of cerebral blood flow (21). Hypercapnia is associated with cerebral vasodilatation and higher risk of IVH (27), but hypocapnia is associated with cerebral vasoconstriction, poor perfusion in water shed areas and higher risk for PVL (28). Sepsis, coagulation problems and systemic inflammation are all associated with increased risk of IVH (29, 30). PDA is also a known risk factor causing

prolonged diastolic hypotension and its impact on cerebral circulation will be further discussed in Chapter 3.

The study of brain injury in preterm infants is challenging due to the unique anatomy, physiology and pathophysiology in this age group. The exact brain injury onset is often unknown and, in many cases, impossible to determine as it may occur antenatally (31, 32). Brain injury in preterm infants is not accompanied by the usual neurological sequelae observed in older children as they often remain asymptomatic, which makes the timing of the brain insult more difficult to determine. The mechanisms of brain injury due to haemodynamic compromise are variable and hence the period of the insult may extent to several weeks and the insults may have cumulative effect. In these settings, determining a temporal relationship between a possible insult and the resultant brain injury can be challenging. Moreover, the neurodevelopmental deficits often become apparent years after the initial insult and there are many other contributing factors (biological and social) which can ameliorate or enhance the impact of the initial insult. As preterm labour occurs at a period of rapid cerebral growth, our knowledge is limited on the impact of brain injury on developing preterm brain and the possible reprogramming. On the other hand, the premature brain has increased neuronal plasticity and potential of ameliorating the impact of brain injury (33).

IVH results in a wide spectrum of neurodevelopmental deficits in preterm infants ranging from asymptomatic patients to severe cerebral palsy and global developmental delay. Behavioural, cognitive, emotional, motor and sensation problems can coincide in the same individual with variable severity depending on

the localisation and the extent of brain injury. Previous studies found that Grade 1-2 IVH are not associated with significantly different neurodevelopmental outcome compared to infants without IVH (34-36). This is in contrast with other studies which found opposite results even in extremely preterm infants without PVL (37, 38). These contradictory results may be due to the underlying wide interobserver variability on classification of IVH grade 2 and 3 (39) and variability in cohort demographics, clinical exposures, treatments and evaluation methods. In the current thesis I focus on IVH as PVL is more difficult to precisely quantify with CrUSS and use Papile criteria with dichotomisation of our cohort into mild (Grade 0-2 IVH) and severe (Grade 3-4 IVH) brain injury.

Between the onset of the potential insult and the occurrence of irreversible brain injury there is a compensatory phase with disturbed brain perfusion and loss of brain function, which maybe a compensatory mechanism to decrease cerebral metabolic demands. Cerebral hypoperfusion can be detected with cerebral near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) and loss of brain function with amplitude integrated electroencephalogram (aEEG) before the anatomical evidence of IVH becomes apparent (40, 41). Metrics of autonomic function may also predict the occurrence of IVH as shown in previous studies (42).

Each of these physiological processes could be included in the causal pathways leading to adverse outcomes of premature birth. These processes can influence each other. Accordingly, simultaneous multiple assessments are needed to identify the nature and extent of physiological determinants of adverse outcome.

Antenatal maternal magnesium sulphate administration for neuroprotection

One of the significant breakthroughs for neonatal neuroprotection came from observations of infants born to mothers given magnesium sulphate (MgSO₄) to prevent eclamptic seizures or as tocolysis which found a reduction in rates of cerebral palsy (43). Evidence from subsequent RCTs and metanalysis led to low dose antenatal MgSO₄ (a bolus of 4 g followed by a maintenance infusion 1g/hr until the birth or discontinued if not delivered by 24 hours) to become a recommended practice for neonatal neuroprotection (44, 45).

The exact underlying mechanism which mediates MgSO₄ actions is unknown. However, there are several hypotheses. Blockage of NMDA receptors by MgSO₄ is believed to ameliorate the effects of hypoxic brain injury and magnesium is known to be a calcium antagonist and reduces calcium influx into the cells (46, 47) 10, 11. MgSO₄ is considered also to have antioxidant (47) and vasodilative effects (48), stabilises vascular function, prevents hypoxic damage (49) 12, ameliorates cytokine or excitatory amino acid induced cell damage (49)12 and has anti-apoptotic properties (50). Magnesium is essential for the function of many membrane transporters, ion pumps and enzymes (47).

However, the optimal dosage regimen for maternal MgSO₄ treatment remains unknown (51, 52). Animal studies showed that high dose bolus MgSO₄ (250mg/kg, equivalent to 17.5 g for the average weight woman) affects fetal brain organogenesis (51, 53). Neonatal adverse reactions to maternal administration of MgSO₄ before birth may include cardiovascular or neurological sequelae (54, 55). Increased maternal serum magnesium concentrations have been associated with lower Apgar scores, intubation in the delivery room, hypotonia and admission to

special care suggesting that neonatal safety should be balanced against efficacy during dose selection (54).

There is limited evidence regarding MgSO₄ pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics. The materno-placento-fetal unit is a multicompartment system that reflects multiple physiological influences (56). Among pregnant women a twocompartment model for magnesium concentrations is appropriate, although a one compartment model has a better fit during pre-eclampsia (57). Brookfield et al. developed a population PK model of maternal concentrations and cord blood (58). They found that maternal weight and a diagnosis of preeclampsia significantly affected maternal and neonatal serum magnesium levels (Mg2⁺). Maternal exposure was associated with significantly higher magnesium concentrations in neonatal serum samples within 48 hours of birth (59). These descriptive data are not sufficient to develop dosing recommendations in the absence of a PK model and information about the relationship between neonatal Mg2⁺ and effects on the neonatal. In order to support the design of a study that integrates maternal and neonatal PK and pharmacodynamic data, we conducted a perinatal feasibility study.

Ductus arteriosus

A common feature among babies born at extreme prematurity is a PDA. PDA is associated with many adverse outcomes (60), but it is unclear whether a PDA directly causes adverse long term outcomes. One issue with assessing the effects of PDA on target organs is the lack of clarity about the measurement of PDA and the biomarkers that may be surrogate endpoints for clinically meaningful outcomes. This thesis explores these measurement issues so that the next section describes the ductus arteriosus (DA) before methods are reviewed and the purpose, aims, and objectives of the thesis are presented.

Historical considerations

There is evidence that Galen, in his 2nd century A.D. Greek texts, noticed the presence of DA and patent foramen ovale (PFO) and the significant changes they undergo after birth, although he did not realise the blood flow across it and made incorrect conclusions for its use and significance (61). DA, known also as ductus Botalli, was named wrongly after the Leonardo Botallo after misinterpretation of his manuscripts due to bad translations (62). Fabrizi d' Acquapendente, a surgeon in Padua described the DA (Figure 2) in 1600 in his detailed manuscripts (63) as:

'a branch of the great artery (aorta) to the arterial vein (pulmonary artery). It appears large in the fetus, but is cord-like after birth... Shortly after the birth of the fetus, the arrangement is changed..... both vessels are occluded. For nature takes the little valve (ostiolum) situated on the inside at that right orifice in the vena cava, and glues shut and completely conceals the opening. But she dries up the left

arterial branch so that it becomes a cord, without any lumen whatsoever' (62).

William Harvey, who was a student of Fabrizi d' Acquapendente and trained in Padua, was the first to conceptualise active blood flow by rejecting Galen's assumptions and the established beliefs. Harvey was aware of the DA and described also the DA changes during the transition from intrauterine to extrauterine life (62). It was not until the 19th century when the Berlin pathologist Rudolf Virchow suggested that the DA closure results from the formation of a blood clot (64), while the Lille anatomist G. Gérard based on post-mortem examinations of infants proposed the concept of two-stage closure, in which functional constriction is followed by anatomical closure (65).

The first successful surgical PDA closure by Robert Gross in Boston opened the new era for congenital heart surgery (66). Subsequently, transcatheter PDA closure allowed interventional cardiology to evolve into a separate paediatric cardiology subspecialty (67).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the ductus arteriosus from 17th century illustrations. Left: tab. XV and XXV of Fabricius ab Aquapendente in 'De formatio foetu' 1606. Centre: Johann Vesling in 'Syntagma anatomicum' 1651. Right (fig. II and III): Johan van Horne's addition to Botallo's 'Opera Omnia', 1660. Adapted by (62).

Embryology

During normal fetal development, the proximal portions of the sixth pair of embryonic aortic arches persist as the proximal branch pulmonary arteries, and the distal portion of the left sixth arch persists as the DA, connecting the left pulmonary artery with the left dorsal aorta (68). The transformation is completed by the eighth week of fetal life. The distal right sixth aortic arch normally disconnects from the dorsal aorta and undergoes an apoptotic process and disappears. Persistence of the right duct is always associated with other cardiac anomalies. Several teratogens are known to affect the DA development including alcohol, rubella, amphetamines and the anticonvulsant hydantoin, with the duct being most sensitive during the first trimester (69).

Anatomy

The DA is a large artery connecting the left pulmonary artery near its origin to the descending aorta just distal to the left subclavian artery. It is present in all mammalian species and it is an important haemodynamic difference between intrauterine and extrauterine circulation. The connection of the pulmonary and systemic circulation through the DA makes the fetal cardiac ventricles work in parallel compared to the serial connection in extrauterine life. The DA is slightly smaller than the main pulmonary artery and equal in size to the ascending and descending aorta. This signifies the distribution and amount of blood flow carried out by each of the main fetal arteries. Two thirds of the fetal cardiac output is ejected by the right ventricle and only 5-10% of the combined ventricular output flows to the lungs. Although the macroscopic appearance of DA is similar to the neighbouring aortic and pulmonary tissue, there are many histological differences

(70). There are different types of DA anatomy and the premature DA is often elongated and constricts distally close to the pulmonary end (71). This can affect the accuracy and reproducibility of the PDA size measurement as the size varies across the PDA lumen.

PDA innervation

Evidence for PDA innervation comes from old studies and is limited. In vitro experiments in DA obtained from human fetuses of GA between 10 and 24 weeks demonstrated DA constriction from both noradrenaline and acetylcholine (72). Opposite to other studies the sympathetic nerve terminals were seen penetrating into the media. The same study reported that the nerve terminals were similar to that of adult tissues, which suggests an earlier maturation of the fibres and this may play a role in the DA closure. Aronson et al. found a rich supply of adrenergic nerve terminals in the human DA from fetuses between 10 and 21 weeks GA (73). The same study found acetylcholinesterase only in scattered thick bundles in the adventitia of the peripheries of DA indicating that there is no parasympathetic innervation in stages of the development assessed.

Animal studies have demonstrated parasympathetic nerve fibres in DA. Silva and Ikeda demonstrated more extensive acetylcholinesterase-containing nerve fibres in the DA in near-term fetal lambs (74). Moreover, observations by Barcroft et al. showed that stimulation of the left vagus constricted the DA of the guinea-pig foetus (75). The presence of a cross talk between ANS and DA through ductal innervation may have significant implications in DA closure (76). The long observed association between PDA and brain injury is viewed usually as one way causation. There is the assumption that PDA causes cerebral dysfunction due to cerebral hypoperfusion. However, the opposite could also be possible and should not be de facto excluded. Perinatal events could compromise cerebral function and the already immature ANS, which could lead to disturbed autonomic control of DA closure and a vicious cycle of prolonged and larger PDA and further exacerbation of the cerebral dysfunction. This coupled with the compromised cardiac reserves, impaired cerebral autoregulation and the vulnerable cerebral structures can lead to higher risk of brain injury. Furthermore, established brain injury could further disturb the misbalance between SNS and PNS and the normal maturation process leading to prolonged and larger PDA. In conclusion, it is uncertain whether a haemodynamically significant PDA can be the cause or the epiphenomenon of brain injury/dysfunction in a complex interaction between ANS and control of DA closure.

Physiology of DA closure and prolonged patency

Birth is accompanied by significant events which promote DA closure. The removal of placental effects decreases the circulating prostaglandin (PG) levels and their potent vasodilatory effects on the DA. The combined effects of ventilation and higher arterial oxygen levels lead to further reduction in pulmonary resistance. This increases pulmonary flow which leads to increased PG metabolism and further reduction of their levels (77). Moreover, the increase of arterial oxygen levels triggers DA vasoconstriction through different molecular mechanisms, which causes the functional DA closure (78). This causes ductal tissue hypoxia which activates a cascade of events leading to permanent anatomical closure and transformation of DA into a ligament between the aorta and the pulmonary artery (79).

Premature DA and prolonged patency

The premature DA has different physiology and often remains patent for a longer period. The anatomical structures, the receptors and the underlying molecular pathways are developmentally immature. Hence, the incidence of PDA is inversely related to the GA at birth with up to 90% of infants born at 24 weeks GA having a PDA in the end of the first week after birth (80). The muscular media of the DA is not fully formed and the myosin isoforms of the smooth muscle cells are immature resulting in weaker contractile response (81, 82). The premature DA is also less responsive to high oxygen levels (83) and, in contrast to term DA, nitric oxide has a significant vasodilator effect (84). Moreover, premature infants have increased circulating PG levels due to reduced efficacy of premature lungs to metabolise PG (85). Infection is very frequent in preterm infants and can lead to PDA reopening as circulating PG levels can reach pharmacological levels (86). In recent years, genetic factors were found involved both on prolonged patency of DA and the efficacy of different medications for PDA treatment (87).

PDA pathophysiology in preterm infants

PDA diverts blood flow from the systemic circulation to the pulmonary circulation. If the shunt volume is large, PDA can cause systemic hypoperfusion and pulmonary overcirculation. This is the hallmark of the PDA steal phenomenon. In this situation, PDA shunting causes increased preload and decreased afterload in the left chambers and this has multiple short- and long-term effects. The left atrium and ventricle become dilated and this causes increased atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) and brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) production which are potentially good candidates for biochemical biomarkers indicating a haemodynamically significant PDA (hsPDA) (88). However, the premature myocardium has impaired diastolic function (89) and the extra strain induced by the increased preload in combination with increased pulmonary perfusion can lead to raised intrapulmonary pressures and higher risk of pulmonary haemorrhage (90). There is an established opinion that preterm infants cannot handle well the increased preload by increasing stroke volume and they compensate with tachycardia. However, this is not supported by some studies (91, 92). Cardiac output is often increased in the presence of a PDA as left ventricle contracts against lower peripheral resistance (93). However, end organ perfusion maybe compromised depending on the magnitude of the PDA shunt, the ability of the premature heart to compensate for that, and the ability of vascular control to distribute appropriately the cardiac output (94). Infants with perinatal complications (ischemia, hypoxia, infection) may not have the reserves and the ability to handle peripheral organ metabolic demands. There are several studies demonstrating the impact of hsPDA on cerebral (95, 96), bowel (97, 98) and renal perfusion (99). PDA connects the high resistant systemic circulation to the low resistance pulmonary circulation resulting in diastolic hypotension as there is a continuous runoff from the descending aorta. The premature left ventricle is developmentally adapted to pump against a low resistant circulation (placenta), but following preterm birth it has to work against raised peripheral resistance. PDA and the associated diastolic hypotension can compromise coronary blood flow to the immature myocardium which is already working at its limits and has elevated

myocardial oxygen demands (100). This can lead to a vicious cycle of myocardial ischemia and reduced cardiac function with multiple organ failure.

Assessing the haemodynamically significant PDA

There is no consensus among the neonatal community for the definition of hsPDA. During the last decades the definition has changed and evolved as medical and technological advances improved our ability to study PDA haemodynamics in more sophisticated ways and changed the population demographics as they allowed the survival of more premature infants. Initially, clinical trials used mostly clinical criteria for the diagnosis of hsPDA that were neither specific nor sensitive (101, 102) and they could only detect the symptomatic PDA. Subsequently, with echocardiographic advances a lot of hope was invested on early detection of the hsPDA before it could "cause" organ damage and especially IVH. Most of the clinical trials ended up using solely echocardiographic criteria to define the hsPDA and recruit patients (103). However, this approach also did not result in beneficial PDA treatment long-term outcomes. Most recent RCTs combine clinical and echocardiographic parameters to assess the impact of PDA on target organs (104).

Most of the studies in the literature consider PDA as a uniform entity that is either present or absent. However, there is accumulating evidence that PDA can be considered as a spectrum from biological normality to a pathological disease state with clinical instability and varying effects on organs (105, 106). The lack of precise characterisation of the hsPDA might partially explain the controversial results from the studies that deal with causality and treatment. There have been attempts to devise PDA scoring systems to predict future outcomes which combine risk factors, clinical characteristics and echocardiographic measurements to define and predict the outcomes of a hsPDA. Seghal et al created a PDA scoring system using solely echocardiographic parameters which was predictive of the development of chronic lung disease (107). El-Khuffash et al combined biochemical (troponin and B-type natriuretic peptide) with echocardiographic parameters at 48 hours of life in premature infants with a PDA and found this to be predictive of death before discharge or neurodevelopmental outcomes at 2 years of age (108). The current thesis utilised the scoring system devised by Seghal et al.

The haemodynamic impact of PDA on target organs is affected by many parameters and this makes a comprehensive assessment in RCT settings challenging. The following aspects should be considered when assessing the PDA haemodynamic impact:

1. The magnitude of the left to right shunt is determined by the Hagen– Poiseuille law which indicates that flow through a tube is proportional to the fourth power of the tube radius (PDA diameter) and the pressure gradient (BP difference between the pulmonary and systemic circulation), and inversely proportional to the PDA length and the blood viscosity (hematocrit). The pressure gradient is affected by the balance between pulmonary and systemic vascular resistances. The underlying lung disease disturbs gas exchange and can lead to hypoxaemia, hypercapnia and acidosis, all known to affect the pulmonary resistance (109). Systemic vascular control can be affected by perinatal hypoxia, infection and other inflammatory processes. Vasoconstricting drugs have variable effects on the

systemic and pulmonary vasculature of preterm infants and there is limited evidence relating to their pharmacodynamics (110).

- 2. The ability of the preterm heart to handle the excessive workload induced by the PDA shunting depends on myocardial performance. The preterm heart has limited capacity to increase contractility as the contractile apparatus is immature (111). The preterm myocardium has a high content of total collagen and type I collagen, which predisposes to diastolic dysfunction and impaired ability to handle the increased preload (112).
- 3. The general wellbeing of the infant and important antenatal and perinatal clinical factors (GA, antenatal steroids, IUGR, inflammation) can affect the infant's ability to handle the PDA shunt (113). Hence, it is important to consider the clinical settings when assessing PDA hemodynamic importance. This approach can possibly improve the identification of neonatal sub-populations for which the treatment risk-benefit ratio leans towards treatment.

PDA treatment

PDA treatment can be conservative, medical or surgical with ligation. There is large variation between neonatal centres in the management of PDA (114, 115).

Conservative treatment includes optimisation of ventilation (reduced inspiratory time and increased positive end expiratory pressure), fluid restriction and diuretics (116). Conservative management has attracted more interest in the recent years as PDA closes spontaneously in the majority of preterm infants (117). Moreover, an increasing number of observational reports have shown that PDA closure can be achieved without significant increase in morbidity and mortality (118, 119). A multicentre, randomised, non-inferiority trial (BeNeDuctus trial), which compares conservative PDA management to early PDA treatment with ibuprofen, is expected to provide more evidence for optimal PDA treatment (120).

PDA treatment with non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (indomethacin and ibuprofen) is an effective intervention leading to high success rates of DA closure depending on the background GA (121, 122). However, despite intensive research over the last four decades with many clinical trials, there is no clear evidence that treatment has any beneficial long-term effects (121, 122). Medical treatment seems to decrease the incidence of severe IVH and increase retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) without any significant effect on mortality and neurodevelopmental outcome (123).

There is an established culture and already shaped opinions amongst clinicians in neonatal and paediatric cardiology regarding the detrimental effect of PDA on neonatal outcomes that has impacted on the design of clinical trials. This has resulted in clinical trials with high contamination rate from open label treatment, which has led to the absence of a real control group. Moreover, NSAIDs can cause significant side effects in preterm infants, which may counterbalance their beneficial effects. NSAIDs are associated with increased incidence of NEC, gastrointestinal perforation, renal impairment, coagulopathy, ROP and potentially reduced cerebral perfusion (observed only in indomethacin treated infants) (124-127). Advances also in the treatment and management of preterm infants in the last two decades have also rendered many of the previous clinical trials out-dated. Hence, the results of an ongoing RCT (Baby-OSCAR trial, EudraCT No.: 2013-005336-

23), which assesses the impact of early targeted treatment PDA treatment with ibuprofen on asymptomatic infants with 'significant' PDA in the first 72 h of life, will be very important (128). This study has included methodological approaches to minimise the contamination rate from open label treatment and introduced medical equipoise of PDA treatment in the inclusion criteria.

PDA ligation has become less attractive in the recent years after concerns were raised that it is associated with worse neurodevelopmental outcome (129, 130). However, a more recent study found that PDA ligation does not affect neurodevelopmental outcomes at 18-24 months, chronic lung disease, or retinopathy of prematurity after adjustment for confounders (131). Patients who were treated medically had higher overall risk-adjusted mortality rates attributed to higher incidence of deaths related to sepsis and brain injury. However, the results may have been skewed by contraindication confounding as sick patients were deemed unsuitable for surgical operation.

A large population study from United States demonstrated a significant decrease over a ten year period (2006-2015) in the diagnosis of PDA (from 51% to 38%), use of NSAIDs (from 32% to 18%) and PDA ligation (from 8.4% to 2.9%), while mortality decreased with no increase in morbidity outcomes (132). This realisation emphasises the importance of taking a step back to reassess the actual causal relationship between PDA and comorbidities before the initiation of another round of clinical trials with different methodological designs. The identification of at-risk groups with a particular focus on infants born at less than 26 weeks GA and finding

new more precise methods to assess the haemodynamic significance of PDA maybe a way forward.

After 50 years of intensive research in PDA molecular biology, physiology and clinical trials, we are still debating the optimal PDA management. This can be attributed to a number of reasons:

- 1. Neonatal population and epidemiology are constantly changing. The better understanding of neonatal physiology, the improved medical interventions and advances in technology have pushed the limits of viability at 22 weeks GA and this trend will further change in the forthcoming years. Although birth GA is a continuum, infants born at 30 weeks have significantly different physiology, pharmacology and epidemiology compared to 23 weeks.
- The improved knowledge of physiology raises new questions and makes previous knowledge debatable or outdated.
- Advances in technology as in echocardiography provided better tools for phenotyping our patients and changed the eligibility criteria for clinical trials.
- 4. We are entering into the era of precision medicine and individualised approach based on consideration of multiple parameters (genomics, imaging and analytics) is changing the way we appraise previous evidence, conduct research and treat patients.

Controversy may not be resolved in the next years as more treatment options are becoming available in the clinical setting without robust evidence of clinical efficacy. Controversy is due to number of reasons, but the main contributors are:

- High open label treatment rate in previous RCT studies that contaminate the comparing groups.
- Small sample sizes.
- Wide mix of gestation groups <32 weeks.
- Changing population due to improvement of neonatal care.
- Improved diagnostic tools for PDA screening and monitoring (echocardiography). The ideal echocardiographic biomarker is still in debate.

Background theory of the techniques used in the thesis

As noted above, multiple physiological processes are relevant to the outcomes of preterm birth. These processes need to be assessed in parallel. The next sections provide background about each of the techniques used in this study.

Echocardiography

Echocardiography can provide quantitative data to study PDA pathophysiology (133). PDA diameter as described earlier is an important component of PDA significance. Since it is difficult to assess PDA shunt volume directly, echocardiography provides surrogate biomarkers for the better approximation of shunt volume. The direction of flow and the maximum velocity of transductal flow provide information regarding the pressure gradient across the PDA. The increased preload dilates the left atrium (LA) and left ventricle (LV). As aortic root dimensions stay relatively stable and are not affected by preload, the ratio between LA and LV dimensions and the aorta (La:Ao and LVEDD:Ao respectively) are considered good biomarkers of PDA shunt volume (134). The ratio between the right and left outflow ventricular output can provide information regarding the open PFO can make this

measurement imprecise (135). The diastolic velocities in the left and main pulmonary arteries have been used more recently for the same reason (136). Echocardiographic parameters of diastolic function [mitral valve E:A ratio and isovolumic relaxation time (IVRT)] have been also utilised for the assessment of hsPDA (137). The PDA steal phenomenon and its impact on target organs can be assessed by flow characteristics in the descending aorta and on peripheral arteries. Reduced diastolic or retrograde flow in the arteries has been proposed to be predictive of hsPDA (138). Further description of the echocardiographic biomarkers used in the current thesis can be found in Methods (Chapter 2) and Appendix 2.

Echocardiography has been validated against MRI measurements (139) and measurements with thermodilution, Fick or dye dilution methods (140). The reproducibility of the PDA echocardiographic biomarkers has been studied and was found to be variable and for some of the aforementioned biomarkers poor (141). Table 5 provides an overview of the reproducibility indices used in the current thesis. This is an important consideration when designing multicentre clinical trials, where the local investigators have variable echocardiographic skills and an already poorly reproducible biomarker can become a highly unreliable biomarker to use as inclusion criterion or surrogate short-term outcome.

The observed variability can be contributed to the intrinsic method imprecision, the simplifications applied for the creation of calculation formulas and the altered haemodynamics induced by the examiner during his interaction with the baby (chest pressure, altered temperature, crying, tachycardia). To achieve higher

reproducibility and accuracy it is important to undergo rigorous training and gain experience with neonatal echocardiography.

Cranial ultrasonography

Aspects of cerebral ultrasonography and IVH were previously discussed (page 31).

Near infrared spectroscopy in preterm infants

NIRS technologies utilise the property of near infrared (NIR) light to penetrate human tissue and being differentially absorbed by specific pigmented compounds; specifically in medical applications by oxygenated and deoxygenated haemoglobin. There are many types of NIRS devices using different methodologies. In the current thesis NIRS refers to spatially resolved spectroscopy. This technology uses three optodes, one emitting and two detecting NIR light of specific wavelengths at different distances from the emitting optode to measure the ratio between absolute concentration of oxygenated haemoglobin and total haemoglobin. This is called the tissue oxygenation index (TOI) (142). However, this value is the weighted average of arterial, capillary and venous blood oxygenation across the path length, but, as up to 75% of blood in tissue sits in the venous compartment, TOI mainly represents venous saturation and hence the normal values are lower than the pulse oximetry, which represents arterial oxygen saturation (143). Preterm infants have small heads and relatively thin layers of skin and bone overlying brain tissue. This reduces the noise to signal ratio during NIRS monitoring and allows measurement of brain tissue oxygenation up to 3 cm in depth. This was the reason why the first application of NIRS for clinical research was performed in preterm infants (144). NIRS has the advantage of continuous non-invasive cerebral monitoring without significant interference with infants wellbeing even in the sickest.

There are reference values for preterm infants (145), but these vary depending on the different devices used (146, 147). Reproducibility of the measurements is fair [4.4% (CI 3.5-5.2)] with the device used in the current thesis (NIRO-200NX, Hamamatsu, Japan) (147). Animal studies have validated the use of cerebral fractional tissue oxygen extraction against central cerebral venous saturation (148). Cerebral NIRS has shown strong correlation to perfusion assessment with MRI (149, 150). True validation is difficult as cerebral tissue oxygenation index (cTOI) reflects a weighted average as mentioned before (151, 152). In addition, the presence of extracranial or subdural haemorrhages can artificially influence measured cTOI values (153). The cost of the technology and the consumables is still considerably high. Moreover, the lack of proved clinical efficacy in improving clinical outcomes has restricted its use in neonatal practice mainly to research.

Despite the presence of cerebral oxygenation reference values for extremely preterm infants, the optimal range is unknown. This is because the fetal brain develops in a hypoxic environment and following preterm birth the limits of cerebral oxygenation leading to a better neurodevelopmental outcome later in the life have not been extensively investigated. Cerebral oxygen demand, oxygen extraction and oxygen delivery are variable during hypoxia reperfusion cerebral injury, hence cerebral oxygenation maybe misleading when viewed in isolation (154). Hyperoxia and hypoxia can both be detrimental (155) constituting a doubleedged sword. The SafeBoosC II study showed that cerebral oxygenation monitoring coupled with a specific protocol of medical interventions can significantly reduce the burden of hypoxia during the first days of life in extremely preterm infants

(156). The study found a trend towards reduced severe brain injury and mortality in the group of patients monitored with NIRS. However, this came with the burden of a higher incidence of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and retinopathy of prematurity. This emphasises the potential detrimental effects of hyperoxia when treating extremely preterm infants. The next study (SafeBoosC III) is currently recruiting patients with a primary outcome the composite of death or severe brain injury at 36 weeks' postmenstrual age (157) and will shed more light on the impact of cerebral oxygenation on neonatal outcomes.

NIRS and PDA

Different regions of the brain have differential blood flow with higher values observed in temporal and parietal areas in comparison to frontal as well as higher values in right hemisphere compared to the left (158). PDA may explain part of these observations as DA inserts closer to the left carotid artery and possibly affects more the left hemisphere haemodynamics. There are inconsistent data in the literature regarding the impact of PDA on cerebral oxygenation (159, 160). PDA treatment with indomethacin, unlike ibuprofen, was proved to decrease cerebral oxygenation (127). Studies investigating the impact of PDA ligation on cerebral haemodynamics have conflicting results (161, 162). The results of the existing studies appear inconsistent mainly due to the small study population of each study and differences in the study populations with studies involving relatively stable or more mature infants failing to find an association between cerebral oxygenation and PDA.

NIRS, brain injury and neurodevelopmental outcome

There is evidence that application of NIRS during the first days after birth can predict brain injury and long-term neurodevelopmental outcome in extremely preterm infants (155, 163, 164). However, cerebral NIRS monitoring in SafeBoosC II clinical trial did not show long-term benefits or harm on neurodevelopmental outcome at two years corrected age (165). Perioperative cerebral NIRS monitoring was found to be predictive of survival and neurodevelopmental outcome in patients with a variety of congenital heart disease (166, 167).

aEEG in preterm infants

aEEG is a monitoring technique derived by a time-compressed tracing of encephalogram (EEG) using a single or two channel bipolar EEG montage. A single channel montage consists of three wires placed over the bi-parietal regions and one reference electrode placed anywhere on the body. The machine filters, rectifies and compresses the electrical signals from brain activity. Signals with frequencies <2 and >15Hz are filtered out to reduce the artefacts caused by external electrical interference, muscle activity and cardiac function. The signal is also displayed on an x-axis using a slow chart speed (6cm/h) and an y-axis using a semi-logarithmic display (linear at 0-10 μ V and logarithmic display above this voltage) in order to detect changes in low amplitude background activity (168). This display enables spatial assessment of long-term changes of cerebral function. An EEG trace can be assessed simultaneously to discriminate artefacts and seizure activity. A biparietal montage is preferred as it represents the watershed areas between the posterior and middle cerebral arteries. Moreover signals derived from this area are less likely to be affected by scalp muscle activity and eye-movements artefacts. Impedance is

a measure of signal quality control and should be as low as possible. The Olympic Brainz monitor (Natus, UK), used in the current thesis, alarms if impedance is more than $10k\Omega$. The skin of premature infants is thinner than that of more mature infants with a higher concentration of water and thinner stratum corneum (169), so it exerts a lower resistance to electrical conduction and consequently needs less skin preparation. With increasing chronological and postnatal age the skin matures and adapts to the new environment and more intensive skin preparation is required.

Background cerebral electrical activity seems to increase and become more continuous during the first days of life (170). Extrauterine maturation differs from intrauterine maturation. Maturation of aEEG background activity is accelerated during postnatal life and in more mature infants (171). This might be attributed to accelerated postnatal brain maturation or may be the effect of environmental stimulation like noise, light, pain and stress (172).

There are different methods for aEEG assessment using qualitative, semiquantitative and quantitative methods (173, 174). In the current thesis the Burdjalov score was used to assess brain function. This is a semi-quantitative method assessing continuity, cyclicity, degree of voltage amplitude depression, and bandwidth amplitude (174). Each variable receives a score and the total score ranges from zero to a maximum of thirteen with lower scores representing higher immaturity.

Several studies have demonstrated the ability of aEEG to assess brain function and predict short- and long-term outcomes. Acute changes in aEEG background are

powerful, but not specific markers of brain dysfunction (175). Depressed amplitude, increased discontinuity, seizure activity and loss of sleep-wake pattern have all been used for qualitative and quantitative cerebral function monitoring (176). Although the acute and chronic aEEG changes are non-specific regarding the type of brain injury, they correlate with later neurological and cognitive function (175). PVL associated chronic EEG abnormalities are characterised by dysmaturity and disorganisation of the EEG signal (176). aEEG monitoring during the first two weeks of life is both sensitive and specific for the prediction of future developmental outcome in preterm infants and its predictive value is equivalent to a cranial ultrasound scan (172). In future counselling of families of preterm infants will possibly include aEEG assessment in addition to CrUSS in order to combine morphological and functional cerebral parameters when trying to predict future outcomes.

There are many known parameters affecting aEEG measures: degree of prematurity, postnatal age (174), presence of brain injury (177), blood gas parameters (178), medication (179), blood glucose levels (180), infection (181, 182) and compromised systemic flow (183). There are limited data from studies assessing the impact of the PDA and its treatment on cerebral function (184-186). It seems that PDA has negative effect on the Burdjalov score and this is possibly due to lower cerebral perfusion (184). However, there is lack of data from large populations of preterm infants and there is, consequently, a need for more studies assessing the relationship between long-term monitored aEEG features, neonatal morbidity and long-term outcome.

Pulse transit time and pulse wave velocity in preterm infants

Vascular haemodynamics determine organ perfusion and information for them can be obtained through biomarkers conceptualised to measure some aspects of vascular physiology. Pulse transit time (PTT) and pulse wave velocity (PWV) are validated vascular biomarkers in adult medicine with predictive value useful in cardiovascular risk stratification (187). Cardiac contraction generates a pulse pressure wave which travels through the entire arterial tree with a velocity much greater than the forward movement of the blood itself. PTT is the time it takes the pulse pressure wave to travel through a specific segment of the arterial tree. PTT has been shown to be of value in monitoring BP changes in adults, where trend monitoring without disturbance of the underlying physiological process is necessary, as in sleep studies (188). Different methods can be used to measure PTT, but typically the time difference between the ECG R-wave and an element of the pulse oximetry plethysmographic trace is determined with the oximeter probe being placed on a finger or toe; the difference in time between the ECG R-wave and the midpoint of the following plethysmograph trace upswing is usually measured (189), but there can be methodological differences. PTT depends on the site from which the measurement is obtained as the distance between the heart and the specific site of measurement is variable. Murakami et al. found that PTT is strongly correlated with heart rate (190).

PWV partially corrects this variation and can be calculated from the physical distance between the heart and the oximeter probe divided by PTT. PWV is considered a surrogate marker of arterial stiffness (187). Aortic PWV is considered a useful prognostic marker for cardiovascular events in adults (191), as well as

monitoring changes of BP (192). PWV is affected by many recognised cardiovascular risk factors both in adults and in children, including body mass index, waist circumference, waist-hip ratio, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, insulin measures, triglyceride levels, C-reactive protein levels and homocysteine levels (193). There are established reference values in adults (194) and children (195). PWV is a highly reproducible biomarker (196). According to the Moens–Korteweg equation PWV is proportional to the square root of the incremental elastic modulus of the artery wall given constant ratio of wall thickness, to the vessel radius and blood density assuming that the artery wall is isotropic and experiences isovolumetric change with pulse pressure (197). PWV is affected by the pre-ejection period that is also dependent on HR (198). However, there has been little reported use of PWV or PTT in preterm infants probably in part due to the much higher HR and smaller physical distances affecting the precision of the measurements. As high resolution digital recording of ECG, BP waveforms, and pulse oximetry plethysmographic traces is now available, PWV and PTT can be more easily determined in neonates.

PDA has significant effects on cardiac and aortic haemodynamics. PDA connects the high resistance systemic circulation to the low resistance pulmonary circulation and overall reduces left ventricular afterload. The observed left to right shunt leads to increased preload on the left chambers and a wide pulse pressure that is described as a hyperdynamic circulation. These changes have potentially significant effects on both PTT and PWV (189).

As mentioned before there are available and effective treatments for PDA closure, but so far this has not been translated into meaningful long term beneficial outcomes (199). There is no consensus for the definition of the haemodynamically significant PDA and the decision to treat is generally based on a variable combination of echocardiographic and clinical criteria (200). The presence and severity of PDA are difficult to assess continuously in preterm neonates. Echocardiography is the gold standard. However, echocardiography is an assessment at a single time-point. It requires expertise that is not always readily available in the neonatal unit, is subject to considerable variation and sometimes is not well tolerated by critically ill preterm infants. The majority of extremely preterm infants have an indwelling umbilical artery catheter for BP monitoring, the tip of which lies in the descending aorta close to the PDA insertion. Hence, measuring PTT and PWV is feasible and may detect altered haemodynamics due to the PDA steal phenomenon. Moreover, combined information from PWV and BP can possibly provide information for the cardiac output as it is known that cardiac output is proportional to BP and the systemic vascular resistance (Cardiac output = Blood pressure/Arterial Resistance).

Summary of uncertainties

Therefore, there are some key uncertainties:

- Demographics and the natural history of disease processes in extremely preterm infants are continuously changing and evidence from older studies is becoming outdated or not applicable in the new era. Up to date studies are needed to study this continuously changing population of vulnerable patients with high morbidity and mortality.
- 2. Despite the presence of an association between PDA and multiple comorbidities a causal relationship has not yet been established. The study of the PDA effect on target organs in an integrated way is fundamental to elucidate a possible causal relationship.
- 3. An integrated approach to study PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and IVH includes simultaneous measurement of multiple biomarkers which assess different aspects of PDA and cerebral physiology. However, this approach is laborious and needs advanced statistical process. Hence, there is limited evidence in the literature.
- 4. The mechanisms of brain injury due to haemodynamic compromise are variable and the period of the insult may extent to several weeks and the insults may have cumulative effect. Moreover, the onset of brain injury is often unknown. There are few studies assessing the temporal relationship between a possible insult and the resultant brain injury.
- There are inconsistent data in the literature regarding the impact of PDA on cerebral oxygenation.

- There are limited data from studies assessing the impact of the PDA on cerebral electrical activity.
- 7. Few studies have reported the prognostic value of early aEEG. There is a need for more studies assessing the relation between long-term monitored aEEG/EEG background features, neonatal morbidity and long-term outcome
- 8. Cerebral electrical activity is affected by multiple factors following preterm birth including medication. The exact "weight" of each factor is not known. However, this information is important when designing clinical trials which use cerebral electrical activity as surrogate biomarker.
- Antenatal magnesium sulphate administration is proved to be effective in reducing cerebral palsy incidence. However, the underlying mechanisms of action are not known.
- 10. PDA alters aortic haemodynamics. However, there is limited evidence in literature regarding the impact of PDA on PTT and PWV in extremely preterm infants.

Purpose of this project

To address key uncertainties in PDA pathophysiology by assessing influences on PDA status and cerebral haemodynamics.

In order to structure the assessment of these uncertainties I have postulated a model of the relationships between PDA and markers of cerebral haemodynamics. This model was tested in the studies presented in Chapter 3. I investigated the interaction between PDA diameter, cerebral oxygenation, cerebral electrical activity and cerebral blood flow and how these affect the severity of IVH using a two-step

model as shown in Figure 3. Other chapters consider alternative ways to assess relevant biomarkers.

The two-step model for the relationship between PDA shunting and brain injury was developed in the light of the literature summarised in this chapter. The central postulate of this model was that PDA shunting leads directly to abnormalities of cerebral oxygenation, electrical activity and blood flow to the brain (Figure 3). It postulates that these abnormalities lead directly to brain injury. The model allows for the evaluation of a direct effect of PDA on brain injury.



Figure 3: Two step model of interaction of PDA with brain injury through alterations

in cerebral oxygenation, electrical activity and blood flow.

Aims of the project

The aim of this project was to conduct an integrated assessment of influences on PDA status and cerebral haemodynamics. This aim was addressed with a multimodal assessment of haemodynamic status that evaluated a pre-defined twostep model for the causation of brain injury by PDA shunt (Chapter 3). The dataset is rich and provides an opportunity to characterise components of the multimodal assessment including: influences on the aEEG score used in the multimodal assessment (Chapter 4); antenatal influences on elements of the multimodal assessment (Chapter 5); existing biomarkers and a novel biomarker for the transmission of the pulse pressure wave through the large vessels of the systemic circulation (Chapter 6).

PhD objectives

The primary objective of this thesis is an exploration of the relation between PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular haemorrhage in extremely preterm neonates.

Chapter 3 investigates the relation between PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular haemorrhage in extremely preterm neonates with the following objectives:

- I. To investigate a possible causal pathway between PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and IVH. The research question was whether PDA has an impact on the incidence of IVH mediated by changes in cerebral oxygenation, electrical activity and blood flow. A two-step model was developed to explore the relationship between PDA shunting, cerebral dysfunction (cTOI), Burdjalov score and RI) and cerebral injury (IVH). Each step of the two-step model was assessed during the whole natural history of PDA disease.
- II. To explore the associations between the different biomarkers used to build the previous model and understand better the pathophysiology associated with PDA.
 - a. To explore further the ability of NIRS and aEEG to detect brain dysfunction in the presence of PDA.
Chapter 4 investigates in more detail the interactions between cerebral electrical activity (Burdjalov score), PDA size, use of morphine, postnatal age and gestational age with the following objective:

III. To build a linear mixed effect model to assess the impact of gestational age at birth, postnatal age/maturation, morphine administration and PDA diameter on cerebral electrical activity (Burdjalov score).

Chapter 5 analyses the neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal maternal MgSO₄ administration with the following objectives:

- IV. To assess the feasibility of relating maternal exposure to MgSO4 to neonatal assessments that reflect the function of organs which are expected to be affected by MgSO4, namely the brain and heart.
- V. To assess whether maternal characteristics has any impact on neonatal serum magnesium concentrations.
- VI. To calculate a sample size required to detect differences in the cerebral biomarkers (cTOI and Burdjalov score) between subjects who have been exposed to MgSO4 and those who have not and to inform future studies which will assess the relationship between antenatal MgSO4 exposure and perinatal pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics to indicate the optimal dose and infusion duration of MgSO4.

Chapter 6 analyses the interaction of pulse transit time, pulse wave velocity and a novel biomarker [pulse phase difference (PD)] in extremely preterm infants with PDA with the following objectives:

- I. To investigate whether measurements of PTT and PWV in extremely preterm infants are affected by PDA. The null hypothesis was that PDA diameter does not affect measures of PTT aortic PWV in the first days after birth in extremely preterm infants.
- II. To explore the associations between PTT and PWV with other echocardiographic and haemodynamic parameters.
- III. To explore the relationship between PD and the size of the PDA and test the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between these variables.

Chapter 2: Methods

Population

This study was conducted in Liverpool Women's Hospital (LWH) neonatal unit between November 2014 and January 2017. This is one of the larger units in UK and Europe with approximately 1,000 admissions annually and 110 admissions born < 29 weeks.

Inclusion criteria

Neonates admitted or transferred to Liverpool Women's Hospital between 24+0 and 28+6 weeks' gestation and postnatal age \leq 72 hours were recruited during the period.

Exclusion criteria

Neonates were excluded from the study if one or more of the following parameters

were present:

- Non-viability (unlikely to survive more than 48 hours in the opinion of the attending physician).
- Congenital hydrops, congenital heart disease or other malformations likely to affect cardiovascular adaptation.
- 3. Surgery planned within 72 hours of birth.
- 4. Chromosomal anomalies
- IVH> grade 2 in the initial cranial ultrasound scan indicating antenatal cerebral events.
- 6. Informed consent form not signed.

Other competing studies at the same period

Baby-OSCAR study was a multicentre double blind randomised controlled trial that was assessing the outcome after selective early treatment for closure of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm babies using ibuprofen (128). We did not co-recruit as the study intervention was blinded and there is uncertainty whether ibuprofen has any significant effect in cerebral perfusion and function.

However, we co-recruited with PAINT study (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02751437) which was investigating the effect of preterm arginine intake on biological pathways affecting immune function in infants requiring early parenteral nutrition. The increased arginine intake in those babies was considered to be very unlikely to affect PDA function or have any significant direct effect on cerebral oxygenation, electrical activity and flow.

Study procedures

Recruitment

Families were approached before birth if possible or during the first three days after birth, if the clinical team were happy with an approach being made. An information leaflet was specifically designed (Appendix 8) and was provided to parents before asking written consent. Consent covered all study procedures. Consent was obtained when convenient after admission. Parents were given time to consider the study, read the parent information leaflet and ask any relevant questions. Parents could withdraw consent at any point of the study without an explanation. All babies born at less than 29 weeks' gestation had a screening echocardiogram and cranial ultrasonography done as part of routine clinical care

Clinical data

Obstetric and intrapartum data were collected from hospital records. Neonatal data were collected prospectively. All clinical data of patients (vital signs, ventilator settings, laboratory blood results, medication and possible interventions) were recorded in the full electronic patient record system (Badgernet, Edinburgh, UK) and subsequently retrieved and stored in the case report forms (CRF). The average of 5 sec intervals of physiological data is stored on Bagdernet (0.2Hz). The following data were entered in the CRF:

- Maternal history:
 - o Age
 - Social history: job, education, income
 - Antenatal corticosteroid and MgSO₄ administration
 - Maternal hypertension and treatment
 - Chorioamnionitis defined as: fever (>38°C), foul smelling amniotic fluid, tenderness of the uterus, maternal/fetal tachycardia, maternal leukocytosis, pathological diagnosis following assessment of the placenta.
 - Prolonged rupture of membranes (>24 hours to delivery).
 - Type of delivery
 - o Previous medical history, medication and family history
 - Others (free text)
- Perinatal data:
 - Gestational age
 - o Birth weight
 - Small for gestational age (defined by weight <3rd percentile according to neonatal centile charts)

- Multiple gestation (order)
- o Gender
- Need for advanced resuscitation at birth (intubation ± assisted circulation)
- Placental transfusion procedures (e.g. delayed cord clamping, milking of the cord)
- 5 minute Apgar score
- Working weight and head circumference
- Neonatal outcomes:
 - Physiological data: heart rate, pulse oximetry, invasive or oscillometric blood pressure (systolic, diastolic and mean)
 - Biochemical data: blood gas parameters (pH, CO2, base excess, plasma lactate) haemoglobin, white cell count, neutrophil count, C-reactive protein, blood culture results, creatinine, electrolytes and serum glucose levels.
- Cranial ultrasound scan findings
- Major neonatal diagnoses/outcomes (at 40 weeks' gestation ± two weeks, or earlier if died or discharged)
 - o Alive or deceased
 - Major CUS diagnoses: grade of IVH; cystic and non-cystic PVL, porencephalic cyst, ventriculomegaly

- Hypotension
- Days to reach full enteral nutrition
- Necrotizing enterocolitis or bowel perforation
- Oxygen dependence at 36 weeks' gestation
- Oxygen dependence at discharge
- Nosocomial infection
- Ductus arteriosus patency duration and treatment (age)
- Retinopathy of prematurity (grade) and treatment

Obstetric management

Obstetric management was at the discretion of the attending obstetric team. The unit policy was that mothers with threatened premature labour or planned iatrogenic preterm delivery should receive antenatal steroids and MgSO₄. A full course of steroids should be delivered when there is sufficient time (betamethasone 12 mg given intramuscularly in two doses or dexamethasone 6 mg given intramuscularly when betamethasone was not available). When clinically appropriate, 4g of MgSO₄ were given by intravenous bolus over 20 minutes followed by a continuous infusion of 1g/hour until delivery in accordance with national guidelines (45). MgSO₄ was administered either for maternal and fetal neuroprotection in cases of severe preeclampsia or for fetal neuroprotection in the case of non-preeclamptic indications for preterm delivery, such as severe fetal growth restriction or spontaneous preterm labour.

Neonatal management

Resuscitation

Standard resuscitation guidelines were in use (201). Babies born in LWH were placed in a plastic bag and a transwarmer mattress was additionally used to prevent hypothermia. Babies who needed intubation received also immediately surfactant as per local guidelines though the endotracheal tube. Infants remained intubated with active ventilation weaning and aim for early extubation. Routine delayed cord clamping was introduced after the study was completed (202).

Fluid management

Preload has significant effect on many echocardiographic measurements (203) and previous studies have demonstrated that fluid management may have an impact on patency of DA (204). The majority of babies received fluid volumes according to the following guidelines shown in Table 3. However, the fluid management of each baby was reviewed and prescribed on an individual basis according to weight changes, GA, renal function, electrolyte and cardiovascular status.

All infants were commenced on total parenteral nutrition (TPN) as soon as possible after birth (policy is to start as soon as vascular access is available, usually within an hour). The policy of the unit was to give no electrolytes in the first two days of life and on day 3 to start TPN with sodium, potassium and other elements supplementation. When infants were reaching full TPN, usually by day 7, the content of electrolytes was: sodium 4 mmol/kg/day, potassium 2 mmol/kg/day, calcium 1.47mmol/kg/day and phosphate 2 mmol/kg/day.

Blood pressure management

There is no consensus among clinicians of the normal BP limits in extremely preterm infants. LWH threshold for diagnosing hypotension and instituting treatment in preterm infants was a mean BP (mmHg) below the infant's gestation (weeks) plus one or more of the following clinical/laboratory features: urine output < 0.5 mL/kg/hour, poor peripheral perfusion (capillary refill time > 3s) or lactate > 4 mmol/L. Treatment guidelines are shown in Figure 4.

Fluid management in extremely preterm infants in LWH					
Day 1	90 mls/kg/day				
Day 2	120 mls/kg/day				
Day 3-7	150 mls/kg/day				
Day >7	165 mls/kg/day				

Table 3: Fluid management in extremely preterm infants in Liverpool Women's Hospital.



Figure 4: Liverpool Women's Hospital hypotension treatment guidelines.

PDA management

PDA management was at the discretion of the attending clinician. A significant number of babies were recruited to the Baby OSCAR study while this study was open. Accordingly, the sampling frame for this study was limited to babies who did not meet the inclusion criteria for the Baby OSCAR study (lack of equipoise whether PDA treatment is needed) or whose parents did not give consent to the Baby OSCAR study. PDA was considered haemodynamically significant and treated with ibuprofen based on a combination of echocardiographic and clinical criteria. Clinical practice in PDA management varied between clinicians in the unit. A symptomatic approach was used and infants were treated with ibuprofen, if two or more of the following echocardiographic criteria were present; 1. PDA diameter >2mm, 2. Left heart dilatation (e.g Left atrial:aortic ratio>1.8), 3. Pulsatile flow in the ductus arteriosus and 4. Absent or retrograde flow in the post-ductal aorta, in addition to being unable to be weaned on the ventilator. The therapeutic approach to achieve ductal closure was intravenous ibuprofen at 10 mg/kg on day 1, followed by 5 mg/kg daily for the next 2 days. Diuretics (furosemide and spironolactone) were also used in infants older than two weeks when ibuprofen was deemed unlike to be effective or there were contraindications for its use. PDA ligation was rarely used and was reserved for infants with haemodynamically significant PDA who were unsuccessfully treated with ibuprofen and required persistent or significant ventilatory support despite use of steroids for chronic lung disease (CLD). The echocardiographic staging used in the present study did not influence the decision to treat. The echocardiographic findings were revealed to the clinical team only

85

when a relevant question was asked by the clinical team. Findings from other assessments were not shared with the clinical team.

Near infrared spectroscopy

Cerebral oxygenation was assessed using a NIRO-200NX oximeter (Hamamatsu Photonics, Fukuoka, Japan) during aEEG monitoring. The optode was placed on the left fronto-parietal site and stabilised with an elastic bandage. Sampling frequency was set at 1 Hz. Recordings were performed for four hours per session. The cerebral TOI (cTOI) was used as a continuous estimate of cerebral venous oxygen saturation. The mean cTOI was calculated from the artefact free periods during the four hour monitoring period. NIRS monitoring preceded echocardiography and was combined with aEEG. NIRS application procedure and monitoring are specified in details in the standard operating procedure in Appendix 4.

Digital amplitude integrated electroencephalography

Recordings were performed for four hours per session using an Olympic Brainz Monitor (Natus Medical Incorporated, Munich, Germany). This approach was selected for logistic reasons (only one aEEG machine available) and the fact that echocardiographic measurements were taken at one time point per day and hence the correlation studies would only be meaningful for some period before or after the echocardiographic study. Hydrogel electrodes were applied to the neonatal scalp after skin preparation using the two parietal positions (P3 and P4) and a reference electrode placed on the shoulder. Impedance was kept at <10 k Ω . Recordings were performed whilst the infants were asleep and we aimed for minimal handling during the recording. The Burdjalov score was used to assess the aEEG trace as it has been shown to correlate with neurodevelopmental outcome and does not require sophisticated software for signal analysis (174, 205, 206). Further details of aEEG application, monitoring and scoring are specified in details in Appendix 5.

Electrocardiography

The ECG data was recorded as part of the routine neonatal care from three lead electrodes forming the Einthoven triangle. Two electrodes were placed onto either side of the chest and a third on the outer aspect of one thigh. Recordings were performed whilst the infants were asleep and while they were not disturbed throughout the duration of the recording. Recordings preceded echocardiography and performed simultaneously with EEG and NIRS. Lead I was routinely selected for monitoring and recording. ECG and BP monitoring data were downloaded from IntelliVue MX800 monitors (Philips Healthcare, UK) using X2 module (Philips Healthcare, UK) and Massimo oximetry modules (Massimo, UK) (Figure 5) and stored as spreadsheet files on a laptop via a wireless connection using IxTrend software (Ixellence GmbH, Wildau Germany) (Appendix 6). The signal was sampled at 512 Hz.



Figure 5: Data capturing and collection procedures from multiple patient-connected monitors during the study.

Cranial ultrasonography

A CrUSS was performed by a single operator [Charalampos Kotidis (CK)] as soon as possible after enrolment, preferably within the first 6 hours of birth to exclude antenatal cerebral events (IVH> grade 2) not related to postnatal PDA disease. CUS was then performed daily in the first 3 days after birth, then once weekly until the PDA closed and finally at discharge. CrUSS was performed after echocardiography. Sterile gel sachets were used and were previously warmed before the application to limit infant's disturbance. A Vivid E9 machine (General Electric, London, UK) with a 12 MHz probe was used. CUS was also part of the routine clinical care of premature infants especially in infants who were found to have significant cerebral pathologies. Eleven pre-specified views were recorded and stored for each scan. Cerebral blood flow velocity in the anterior cerebral artery was also measured by Doppler ultrasonography through the anterior fontanelle and recorded (207). The angle of insonation between the vessel and the Doppler ultrasound beam was kept below 20° to ensure accuracy of the measurements. The Digital images were stored in the ultrasound machine and subsequently in CDs. The measurements were performed offline.

Technique

Each CrUSS comprised 11 standard views through the anterior fontanelle (6 coronal and 5 sagittal).

Coronal:

C1 frontal lobes

C2 anterior frontal horns of the lateral ventricles

C3 third ventricle, connections between the lateral and third ventricle (foramen of Monro)

C4 cerebellum largest diameter left-right

C5 level of the trigone of the lateral ventricles, posterior horns with plexus

C6 occipital lobes beyond the posterior horns

Sagittal:

S1 midline; measurement: Doppler flow measurements at the ACA

S2 left lateral ventricle

S3 left periventricular through the Sylvian fissure

S4 right lateral ventricle

S5 right periventricular through the Sylvian fissure

Method of classification

1. Normal brain scan

No cysts

No ventricular dilatation

No enlargement of extra-cerebral spaces

Normal cortical grey matter

2. Mild brain injury:

Grade 1-2 IVH

Persistent pathological non-decreasing flaring at days 7 and 14

3. Severe brain injury :

IVH grade 3-4

Parenchymal/periventricular haemorrhagic infarction

Local cystic lesions (unilateral)

Cystic periventricular leukomalacia (bilateral)

Cerebellar haemorrhage

Cerebral atrophy at term age (ventricular dilation and/or increased

extra-cerebral spaces)

CrUSS -Doppler measurements:

- 1. Peak systolic flow velocity (PSFV) and end-diastolic flow velocity (EDFV).
- 2. Anterior cerebral artery resistivity index (RI): (PSFV-EDFV)/ PSFV.

Quality assurance

Doppler studies were performed at the beginning of the cranial ultrasonography to avoid the potential influence of baby handling on the cerebral haemodynamics. The pulse wave (PWD) gate was placed immediately after the origin of the ACA from the internal carotid artery and once the highest signal was found the average of three consecutive measurements was captured. The angle of insonation was kept on minimal possible and always below 20° .

Echocardiography

All neonates born at less than 29 weeks' gestation had a screening echocardiogram and cranial ultrasonography done as part of routine clinical care especially if they were symptomatic (need for ventilation or inotropic support). Echocardiography was performed by a single operator (CK) using a Vivid E9 machine (General Electric, London, UK) and 12 or 6-MHz probe depending on the gestational or postanatal age. The infant was kept in a comfortable environment in the incubator or cot and his/her welfare was the first priority at all times. Gel was warmed before it was applied. The infant was on supine position with the chest and abdomen exposed. The ultrasound machine was configured appropriately for the neonate, providing cross-sectional, M-mode, colour Doppler, PWD and continuous wave (CWD) Doppler and tissue Doppler imaging (TDI) were performed. Echocardiography was done every 24 hours in the first three days of life, once weekly until the PDA closed and then before discharge. If the PDA closed in the first week after birth a second echochardiogram was performed on second week to have a comparison group of patients with closed PDA. Infants without PDA or with a PDA closed in the first week after birth were used as a comparison group to assess "normality". The first echocardiogram was usually comprehensive to exclude any underlying congenital heart disease and confirm the eligibility for the study. The published guidelines for targeted neonatal echocardiography were followed for the measurement of echocardiographic biomarkers (203).

92

It is paramount to acquire good echocardiographic skills to minimise the intraobserver variability and ensure the observed variability reflects the altered neonatal haemodynamics and is not a measurement error. I was trained in echocardiography in LWH during a nine months placement in LWH as Academic Clinical Fellow under the direct supervision of Dr Nim Subhedar (Consultant Neonatologist and lead of Neonatal echocardiography in LWH, UK) and completed a logbook of 150 neonatal echocardiograms before the study recruitment commenced. I continued my echocardiographic training during a 9 months placement as Paediatric trainee in Paediatric Cardiology department in Alder Hey Children's Hospital, Liverpool. I was part of the NEOCIRCULATION consortium funded by Framework Programme 7 of the European Commission and received additional training for one week by Dr Maria Bravo (Consultant Neonatologist, La Paz University Hospital, Madrid, Spain) in SVC flow measurement in the trial specific training programme with other collaborators. I co-lead the formation of all standard operating procedures for echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers used in the NEOCIRCULATION consortium studies.

PDA score

PDA score is a composite score that comprises ten echocardiographic biomarkers (Table 4) (107). Individual echocardiographic biomarkers are graded from 1 to 3 based on the measurement magnitude with a composite PDA score range 0-30. Echocardiographic assessment was not revealed to the clinical team unless specifically asked or umbilical vein catheter was found misplaced inside the heart. PDA score did not influence the decision for PDA treatment.

93

PDA size

PDA size was measured from the high parasternal view ("ductal cut") using colour Doppler after optimisation of colour gain (138). The 2-D view was used for optimisation to assess whether colour Doppler was "bleeding" into the tissue. The PDA size was measured at the narrowest part of the PDA usually at the pulmonary end of the DA. The measurement was taken ideally when the whole PDA lumen was visualised from the aortic to the pulmonary end. However, this was not always feasible as PDA tends to be tortuous in extremely preterm infants.

Transductal velocity

The transductal velocity was measured using pulse or continuous Doppler as appropriate from the ductal view (138). The cursor was placed in the narrowest point of the PDA and in the middle of the vessel. The maximum systolic velocity was measured.

Left pulmonary artery (LPA) size

The LPA internal diameter was measured from the high parasternal 2D ductal view with an angle so the three vessel view was obtained (208).

Antegrade pulmonary artery (PA) diastolic flow

Antegrade PA diastolic flow was measured from the parasternal long axis view angled so the pulmonary artery and flow were visualised. This allows the pulmonary flow to be parallel to the PWD cursor. The cursor was placed inside the main pulmonary artery and the diastolic velocity was measured (136).

Antegrade left pulmonary artery diastolic flow

Antegrade LPA diastolic flow was measured from the parasternal short axis view where the LPA lumen is parallel to the cursor of the PWD. The cursor was placed inside the left pulmonary artery and the diastolic velocity was measured (135).

Left atrium to aortic ratio (LA:Ao ratio)

PDA causes pulmonary overcirculation and increases preload in the left chambers. LA becomes progressively larger in hsPDA. However, the aorta does not change significantly size depending on different preload or afterload, so it can be a useful reference point that allows comparison of LA size for infants of different weight or gestation. LA:Ao ratio was measured from a long parasternal view when the whole left ventricle, LA and aorta were seen in the same view and measured with M-mode (LA in diastole and Ao root in systole). The cursor was placed at the plain of the aortic valve hinges to include the maximum LA diameter. The cursor was perpendicular to the aortic wall at the level of the aortic valve. Leading edge to leading edge was used for the measurements (138). There is no consensus regarding the clinically significant threshold. However, a ratio above 2:1 indicates a significant shunt.

Left ventricular: aortic ratio (LVEDD:Ao)

Similarly, the LVEDD:Ao ratio was measured to assess the preload changes induced by the PDA using the same view as LA:Ao adjusted so the M-mode cursor to be next to mitral valve hidges (209). The internal diameter of the LV in end diastole was measured and compared with the Ao size obtained from LA:Ao measurement.

95

Isovolumic relaxation time (IVRT)

IVRT is a marker of diastolic function. Prolongation of IVRT indicates poor myocardial relaxation. IVRT was measured from an apical 5-chamber view. PWD sample volume was positioned in the left ventricle between the mitral inflow and the left-ventricular outflow so as to visualise sequentially both the cessation of aortic outflow and the offspring of mitral flow from the Doppler shift 0 line (208). The time interval between aortic valve closure and mitral valve opening was measured. Measurements were averaged over three cardiac cycles. Preterm infants are considered having diastolic dysfunction and hence prolonged IVRT can be a valuable biomarker to assess diastolic dysfunction in this group of patients (210).

Mitral valve E:A wave ratio

E wave to A wave ratio (E/A wave ratio) is a marker of diastolic function. Cardiac diastole is divided into four phases: 1) isovolumic relaxation time, 2) early filling, 3) diastasis and 4) atrial contraction. We can assess these phases by studying the mitral flow pattern with PWD. Doppler was performed from the 4 chambers apical view. The PWD cursor was placed between the tips of the open mitral valve leaflets. Colour flow was used to assess the direction of flow and optimise the alignment. A dicrotic flow pattern is usually derived, consisting of E and A wave (208). E wave corresponds to early filling and A wave to atrial contraction. The peak flow velocities were measured and averaged over 3 cardiac cycles.

Left ventricular output (LVO)

96

LVO was derived by measuring blood flow across the aortic valve. The aortic diameter was measured from the parasternal long axis view at the level of aortic valve. The diameter was measured from the 2-D image at the insertion of the aortic valve leaflets, advancing frame by frame until mid- to end-systole, when the leaflets were in a parallel position. PWD was performed from the 4 chambers apical view modified in order to visualise the ascending aorta (5 chambers view). The range gate was positioned just beyond the valve leaflets. The angle of insonation was kept between 10-200 and no angle correction was used (208). The aortic velocity time integral (VTI) was measured (the average of three measurements) by tracing the area under the instantaneous velocity time curves on the screen using the relevant machine software. The heart rate was calculated from the distance between two consecutive aortic flow waves. The LVO was calculated based on the following formula:

LVO (ml/kg/min) = Aortic VTI x Heart rate x 3.14 x (aortic diameter/2)² / weight (kg)

VTI: velocity time integral

Right ventricular output (RVO)

RVO was derived by measuring blood flow in the main pulmonary artery (211). The pulmonary artery diameter was measured in the high parasternal long axis view by tilting the transducer slightly upwards. The diameter was measured from the 2-D image at the insertion of the pulmonary valve leaflets, advancing frame by frame until mid- to end- systole, when the leaflets were in a parallel position. A Doppler recording was performed from a low parasternal long axis view tilting the transducer downwards. The range gate was positioned just beyond the valve leaflets to minimize any disturbance to the flow pattern from ductal shunting. The pulmonary artery is particularly good for Doppler studies because its posterior orientation takes the blood directly away from the transducer at a minimal angle of insonation from the low parasternal window. The pulmonary VTI was measured (the average of three measurements) by tracing the area under the instantaneous velocity time curves on the screen using the relevant machine software. The heart rate was calculated from the distance between two consecutive pulmonary flow waves (212). The RVO was calculated based on the following formula:

RVO (ml/kg/min) = pulmonary VTI x Heart rate x 3.14 x (pulmonary diameter/2)²/weight (kg)

VTI: velocity time integral

Superior vena cava flow

SVC diameter was measured using the left mid-parasternal view in a true sagittal plane by positioning the transducer over mid sternum, a bit towards left side with the notch pointing upwards. The SVC usually funnels out as it enters the right atrium. The SVC diameter was measured at the base of the funnel by M-mode. As SVC diameter varies during the cardiac cycle, the maximum and minimum diameters were averaged over five cardiac cycles. SVC velocity was measured using the subcostal window. The transducer was positioned in the midline midway between the xiphisternum and umbilicus. The transducer was placed as close to the umbilicus as possible to decrease the angle of insonation. The PWD sample volume was placed at the junction of the SVC and right atrium. SVC flow trace has a first peak corresponding to filling in ventricular systole, and a second peak representing positive ventricular filling in early diastole. Additionally, atrial systole is sometimes marked by a reversed flow. The Doppler velocity envelope was traced using the calculation package on the Echo machine. Reversed flow was incorporated and subtracted from the forward flow. Five cardiac cycles were measured and averaged (213).

The scoring system is given in Table 4.

Feature	Modality/position of	Score 0	Score 1	Score 2	Score 3				
quantified	sample gate								
Ductal features									
Transductal	Two-dimensional,	0	<1.5	1.5–3	>3				
diameter (mm)	short axis view								
Ductal velocity	PWD at pulmonary	0	>2	1.5–2	<1.5				
Vmax(m/s)	end of duct								
Magnitude of ductal shunt									
PDA:LPA diameter			<0.5	≥0.5–1	≥1				
Antegrade PA	PWD within main	0	0–20	>20					
diastolic flow	pulmonary artery								
(cm/s)									
Antegrade LPA	PWD within left	0	<30	30–50	>50				
diastolic flow	pulmonary artery								
(cm/s)									
Left atrial: aortic	M-mode, long axis	1.13 ± 0.23*	<1.4:1	1.4–1.6:1	>1.6:1				
ratio	view								
Left ventricular:	M-mode, long axis	1.86 ± 0.29*	_	2.15 ± 0.39*	≥ 2.5				
aortic ratio	view								
Features of myocardial performance									
LVO/SVC flow	PWD of flow in	2.4 ± 0.3*	_	_	≥ 4				
ratio	superior vena cava								
E /A wave ratio	Transmitral Doppler	<1		1–1.5	>1.5				
IVRT (ms)	Between mitral and aortic valves	>55	46–54	36–45	<35				

Table 4: Scoring system for the assessment of hemodynamically significant DA(107).

*Mean ± SD, Vmax: maximum velocity, LPA: left pulmonary artery, PA: pulmonary

artery, PWD: pulse wave doppler, isovolumetric relaxation time (IVRT).

Biomarker validation and reproducibility

NIRS

Animal studies have validated the use of cerebral fractional tissue oxygen extraction against central cerebral venous saturation (148). Cerebral NIRS has shown strong correlation to perfusion assessment with MRI (149, 150). Reproducibility of the measurements is fair [4.4% (CI 3.5-5.2)] with the device used in the current thesis (NIRO-200NX, Hamamatsu, Japan) (147).

aEEG

It has been shown that EEG/aEEG recorded within the first 7 days of life in preterm infants may have potential as a predictor of a developmental quotient <70 points, cerebral palsy, or death, with a pooled sensitivity of 0.83 (95% CI, 0.69–0.92) and specificity 0.83 (95% CI, 0.77–0.87) (214).

Echocardiography and Doppler measurements

Echocardiography has been validated against MRI measurements (139) and measurements with thermodilution, Fick, or dye dilution methods (140). Previous studies have demonstrated that the reproducibility of some of the ultrasongraphic variables used for PDA diagnosis and characterisation is far from optimal and this should be considered when interpreting data and designing clinical studies. Table 5 provides an overview of the reproducibility indices used in the current thesis. The observed variability can be contributed to the inherited method imprecision, the simplifications applied for the creation of calculation formulas and the altered haemodynamics induced by the examiner during his interaction with the baby (chest pressure, altered temperature, crying, tachycardia). To achieve higher reproducibility and accuracy it is important to undergo rigorous training and gain experience with neonatal echocardiography.

Author (Year):	Biomarker Assessed:	Results:							
		Within-Observer Repeatability:				Between-User Repeatability			
		RepC	95% CI	Repl	95% CI	Rep C	95% CI	Repl	95% CI
David van Laere et al. (2018) (215)	LVEDD	0.93	0.86–0.97						
	IVRT	0.84a	0.63–0.93						
	E/A wave ratio	0.9 a	0.77–0.95						
	LVO	0.97a	0.94–0.99						
Schwarz et al (2016) (141)	ACA RI					0.11	0.08-0.16	14	11-20
	LA:Ao					0.23	0.17-0.33	16	12-23
	PDA Diameter					0.28	0.15-1.47	21	12-112
Groves et al (2008) (216)	SVC Flow			30	17-43			85	35-136
	DAo Flow			60	34-86			80	33-127
Skinner et al (1996) (217)	PDA max	0.48	0.33-0.88	39	27-71	0.56	0.40-0.92	28	20-47
	PDA mean	0.39	0.27-0.71	47	32-85	0.58	0.41-0.95	36	26-60

Table 5: Repeatability of echocardiographic and Doppler parameters.

RepC: repeatability coefficient, 95% CI: 95% confidence interval, RepI: repeatability index, ACA RI: anterior cerebral artery resistance index, LA:Ao: left atrium to aortic root ratio, SVC: superior vena cava, DAo: descending aorta, IVRT: isovolumic relaxation time, LA: left atrium, Ao: aortic root, LPA: left pulmonary artery, LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, LVO: left ventricular output, a: Lin's concordance coefficient. Adopted and modified from (218).

Cranial ultrasonography

Previous studies have demonstrated that cranial ultrasonography has high diagnostic reliability and accuracy when assessing severe IVH (sensitivity 87–90%, specificity 92–93%), but sensitivity was poor to fair for grade 1 and 2 IVH (48–68%) and PVL (20–44%) (219). Reproducibility indexes for the Doppler interrogation of the anterior cerebral artery (ACA) are shown in Table 5.

Strategy for data collection

After parental consent was obtained, the newborn baby had a cranial ultrasound scan to exclude any pre-existing severe IVH (IVH> Grade 2). Subsequently, the study proforma with the background demographics and clinical history was filled in. The NIRS optode and aEEG electrodes were placed for four hours and in the end of this period echocardiography and CUS were performed. All the above procedures were mainly performed during the normal working hours 09:00 to 17:00.

Blood samples for biochemistry were usually obtained 06-09:00 am. Blood gases were performed as indicated by the clinical team and the closest to our observations was used for analysis. Hence, there was no significant clinical delay between blood sampling and specific neonatal biomarker measurement.

Measures to minimize pain and distress

All study related procedures were undertaken in line with local procedures to minimise pain and optimise welfare. All study-related procedures were conducted by professionals experienced in neonatal care who received study-specific training.

Sample size considerations

As this was a pilot study, power calculation was not applicable.

Ethical considerations

The study protocol (Appendix 1) was approved by North West-Lancaster ethics committee, REC reference: 14/NW/1274 (Appendix 10). Parental informed consent was obtained prior to any study procedures (Appendix 9). The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of Good Clinical Practice. Procedures were established to prevent and/or minimise risk of complication for participants, such as complications related to the device and the treatment guideline included only interventions that are commonly used during intensive care in this population.

Funding

The study was funded by the Neocirculation consortium (European FP7-Grant Number:282533).

Data Protection

The researchers involved in the present study complied with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 with regard to the collection, storage, processing and disclosure of personal information and upheld the Act's core principles. Access to collated participant data was restricted to those clinicians treating the participants. Only designated university personnel had access to the department through a secure swipe card system. Extra encoded door protected the room where the paper files were stored. Paper and other manual files were filed and stored securely in a locked cabinet. Computers used to collate the data had limited access measures via user names and passwords. Encrypted external hard drives were used to transfer data from Echo, NIRS and EEG machines to the central database.

Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was driven by hypotheses. For the main analysis in Chapter 3 the hypotheses were derived from a biological model. I developed the biological model

following a literature review that I performed. This review identified the gaps in knowledge and the needs for multimodal assessment of PDA pathophysiology in extremely preterm infants and its interaction with cerebral haemodynamics. The study methodology was subsequently adopted by the NEOCIRCULATION project, a European union FP7 research project and was meant to run in parallel with the main study (220). I co-led the biomarker group for NEOCIRC study and developed the biomarker capturing methodology that was similar to my PhD thesis methodology. I subsequently collected the data presented in Chapter 3 and analysed the data with time point analysis using SPSS. I presented my preliminary data at the Neonatal society meeting in 2015 (221) and the feedback from the panel was that I need advanced statistical support to deal with multiple comparisons, missing data and integrating the multiple biomarkers into a single biological model. I therefore approached Dr Antonio Eleuteri (Consultant Statistician-Honorary Lecturer, Department of Medical Physics and Clinical Engineering University of Liverpool, UK), who kindly agreed to support the statistical analysis.

Accordingly, statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS and R.

Characteristics of R

R is a powerful programming language that is very popular among statisticians and data scientists. It is popular in fields like science, health care, economics and finance, genetics research, and marketing. It is an open-source programming language and environment for statistical and data analysis, graphics generation and even report production. It compiles and runs on a variety of systems including Windows, Linux and MacOS. The main programming feature of R is CRAN (Comprehensive R Archive Network), which is a repository holding more than 10,000 packages available for download by the users. The packages typically include R functions, sample data, and compiled reusable code in a well-

defined format as well as documentation. These packages are created by statisticians to allow for specific functionality, often in conjunctions with peer reviewed publications, and to allow reproduction of the published results (222).

R offers solutions to complex data manipulation challenges as programmers can import data from different data sources including text files, Excel spreadsheets, statistical packages, and databases with relative ease. Probably the most time-consuming process is data cleaning, and this is supported by many R packages. It involves the selection of variables of interest, combining and deriving new ones, handling missing values through a coherent coding scheme, and correcting wrong data (e.g. wrong labelling or mixed units). Once the data are technically consistent, statistical analysis can be initiated. R contains a very rich repository of functions allowing the use of a variety of statistical techniques which can be adjusted to specific research questions. It allows for statistical techniques like regression modelling, classical hypothesis tests (parametric and nonparametric), classification, clustering, timeseries analysis, data mining etc. The user retains full control of the statistical processes and can quickly assess the validity of the results through direct outcome comparisons and performance indicators.

Pattern recognition, trends, abnormal behaviour and exceptions (outliers) in the data can be easily identified through data visualisation techniques. The researcher can visually convey information in an efficient way, enhancing understanding and increasing the impact of the analysis. Additionally, the effect of different parameters can be examined, simultaneously improving the interpretability of the analysis. R offers robust data visualisation tools allowing the creation of high quality and elegant graphs ready for scientific publications. It contains packages for basic data representation elements, ranging from scatter plots,

107

charts, histograms, box plots to more advanced visualisations such as heat maps and detailed maps - the list is non-exhaustive.


Figure 6: Statistical analysis flow chart

SPSS and R comparison

In the thesis both software packages have been used for statistical analysis and model development. SPSS has mainly been used to produce demographic analytics, simple correlation analysis and logistic regression models, while R has been used to allow for more complex and advanced techniques. As these functionalities were not available in SPSS, R was considered the only option to address these more complex tasks.

The main differences between the two software packages can be summarised below.

- Data manipulation: R packages support data manipulation in a flexible, but robust way allowing for reproducible and readily adjustable code to be created and tested on new datasets.
- Functionality: R packages contain a wide range of functions and advanced statistical methods that can be quickly implemented and adapted to the given problem. R provides powerful and flexible scripting. For computationally intensive tasks, C, C++ and Fortran code can be linked and called at run time. Advanced users can write C code to manipulate R objects directly. SPSS's scripting language has limited expressive power.
- Ease of use: SPSS is quick and easy to learn as it has a user-friendly interface while R is based on an object-oriented programming language and therefore is more challenging to learn.
- Data visualisation: R offers much more opportunities to modify and optimize graphs due to a wide range of available packages. Visualisations in SPSS are limited.
- Support: There is a large community of expert users, amongst them statisticians and the authors of the libraries, who can support in troubleshooting and provide freely

available resources (manuals and tutorials). SPSS support is costly and not so prompt.

- SPSS implementation of statistical methods is not transparent; the user cannot see how algorithms are implemented, and cannot verify the correctness of the implementations.
- Amount of data: R can handle large amounts of data while SPSS cannot.
- Automation and integration: R can be easily integrated with other software and frameworks like Git, LaTeX, ODBC, Apache Hadoop.

Contributions in study design and statistical analysis

When Dr Eleuteri joined the project, his task was difficult as the study methodology was already decided and the majority of data were already collected, thus not allowing him to amend the study methodology. We had multiple meetings and discussions to establish a common base in understanding the biological phenomena and the biomarkers used in the study from Dr Eleuteri's side; and understanding the benefits and the limitations of using different statistical methods from my side. This was a significant learning opportunity for me and I am grateful for Dr Eleuteri's guidance and support. The statistical analysis was refined collaboratively based on the results of the preliminary analysis and the feedback from the presentations of our work at multiple scientific meetings (Appendix 12: Publications). I performed the demographic analysis, time point correlation analysis and association studies and backward logistic regression using SPSS. Learning to program in the R environment to perform the necessary, complex and specialised statistical analysis beyond what SPSS offers was beyond the scope of the current PhD thesis and would have been also risky, based on the complexity and the experience needed to perform reliable statistical analysis.

Dr Eleuteri has a Ph.D. in Applied Mathematics and Computer Science, with a specialisation in Probability and Statistics. He is also a Chartered Scientist and is a member of the Institute of Physics and Engineering in Medicine. His research interests focus on statistical learning theory, survival analysis, machine learning, pattern recognition, information geometry, stochastic processes, probability theory and graphical models; with applications to medicine and health care. Dr Eleuteri had a major role in deciding the appropriate statistical methods for the analysis of the complete dataset once the clinical questions had been defined, and refined. He performed the advanced statistical analyses in Chapters 3, 4 and 5 (multiple imputation using additive regression, bootstrapping and predictive mean matching, robust estimation of the covariance matrix, smoothed local polynomial regression fits, addressing nonlinearities in regression, validation of models, power calculation for future studies). I defined the clinical issues and hypotheses for Chapters 4 and 5.

I performed independently the statistical analysis for Chapter 6 using SPSS. The work from this Chapter was recently published in the European Journal of Pediatrics and has attracted considerable attention as there have been 1190 accesses in 3 months (223).

Demographic factors were assessed using descriptive statistics. Continuous variables were compared using Spearman's correlation. Groups compared using Mann-Whitney. Categories were compared using Chi-squared. A P-value <0.05 was considered significant. Various regression techniques were used. Different models were constructed for assessing the relevant research hypothesises. An overview of each model is provided here. More detailed information about the development of each model is provided in the relevant section of the Results (Chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6).

Demographics and clinical outcomes

During the recruitment period there were other competing studies which may have led to selection bias. To assess whether the results of the present study can be generalised to other populations, I compared the HAPI-PDA population demographics and clinical outcomes with the local (LWH), national (National Neonatal Audit Programme online UK) and international neonatal populations (Vermont Oxford network) during the same period. After electronic access was granted to the local database, national (https://nnap.rcpch.ac.uk/unit-data.aspx) databases and international (https://portal.vtoxford.org/) relevant data was retrieved when possible. The local database had a large amount of missing data for some parameters. The amount of missing data varied between parameters. Percentages were reported and no statistical tests were done. The clinical relevance of the results was subsequently discussed along with the impact on generalisability of the HAPI-PDA study.

Timeline analysis of study biomarkers

Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of PDA score, PDA diameter, Burdjalov score, RI and cTOI in patients with and without severe IVH were performed to assess whether babies who developed severe IVH had different baseline and subsequently different temporal changes of the relevant biomarkers.

I performed Mann-Whitney test using SPSS for each variable for the first three days after birth to assess whether there was a statistically significant difference of the relevant biomarkers (PDA diameter, PDA score, cTOI, Burdjalov score, RI) between patients with and without severe IVH. Due to multiple comparisons (fifteen in total) the statistical significance was set at P< 0.05/15=0.003 (Bonferroni correction). PDA, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular haemorrhage in preterm neonates: an investigation of possible causal pathway

The interaction between PDA diameter, cerebral oxygenation, cerebral electrical activity and cerebral blood flow was investigated as well as how these affect the severity of IVH by a 2 step model as shown in Figure 3. The results of this investigation are presented in Chapter 3.

Multiple imputation

In an effort to avoid discarding observations, a multiple imputation procedure (using additive regression, bootstrapping and predictive mean matching) was applied (224). A common approach to deal with missing data is casewise deletion, that is any subject having any predictor or outcome missing is excluded from regression analysis. This however results in regression coefficient estimates that are biased and/or imprecise and a general reduction of efficiency due to reduced sample size, which in turn causes standard errors to increase, confidence intervals to widen and reduction of the power of tests of association and lack of fit.

The primary alternative to casewise deletion is imputation (i.e. estimation) of missing data. One goal of imputation is to use as much information as possible from the other nonmissing predictors and outcomes. This is typically done via a regression, so that if a predictor Z is missing for some subject, a regression model of Z (used as an outcome) vs. the outcome Y (used as predictor) and another predictor, say X, is used to predict the missing Z. This procedure is repeated for all missing variables (outcomes and predictors).

Single imputation produces a single prediction for each missing data entry; however, this can produce biased estimates, and underestimate the standard errors of the model parameters. The alternative is multiple imputation, where multiple data sets are produced;

the model parameters resulting from the fit of each data set are then averaged, to produce a final "average" model.

Robust estimation of the covariance matrix

The usual estimation of standard errors of a regression model's parameters assumes that the observations in the data are statistically independent from each other, i.e. that each data point is maximally informative. However, when this assumption is violated (for example in the case of repeated observations) the standard errors will be underestimated. To solve this problem, alternative robust estimation methods are used, which account for violation of statistical independence. Since each subject in the current thesis had repeated measurements taken in time, potential intra-subject correlation of observations was taken into account by robust estimation of the covariance matrix of the model parameters (robust sandwich variance estimator) (224).

Smoothed local polynomial regression fits

The relationship between PDA vs. NIRS, aEEG and RI were assessed using smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals). The purpose of smoothing methods is to estimate only the trends in a relationship between a predictor X and an outcome Y, i.e. not to completely model the (possibly large) variability observed in Y. As such, confidence limits on the estimated trend (e.g. by local polynomials) will typically be relatively small compared to the observed variability of Y. This method, instead of fitting a model for the entire dataset, assesses local data structure and applies polynomial regression multiple times locally in a weighted manner to produce a smoothed overall curve. It is normal for most of the data points to be outside of the confidence limits, as the method is designed to describe only the trends of the data and not the variations. The interaction of PDA with IVH severity (severe IVH) was also included in the regressions.

Logistic regression model

A logistic regression model was designed to estimate the association between the PDA and cerebral biomarkers (including interactions of PDA with the remaining factors, which seemed relevant) and the outcome. The model specified how the observed factors impact the separation of non-severe vs. severe IVH. The construction of this model was underpinned by the biological model and study population size restricted the selection of further variables. The relationship between IVH and the other variables was assessed using logistic regression, with a backward variable selection (using Akaike's information criterion to select the factors) applied on the fitted model (224).

Nonlinearities in regression

The simplest linear regression model assumes that the relationship between an outcome Y and a predictor X is linear. However, it is possible to nonlinearly transform a predictor X so that the relationship is nonlinear (though the model will still be linear in its parameters). A simple example of nonlinear relationship is provided by taking the square of X. Such relationship can describe a non-monotonic relationship between X and Y. It is possible to devise more general transformations of X which do not have a pre-defined shape (to the contrary of the fixed parabolic shape of X^2). An example of these more general transformations for details (224).

Validation of classification models

The model was assessed both in terms of discrimination and calibration accuracy using bootstrapping techniques. The validation of a classification model (e.g. a logistic regression model) in terms of discrimination and calibration is an important element of the statistical analysis. Discrimination provides information whether a model correctly ranks individuals according to their risk (e.g. risk of IVH). Calibration provides information whether the model

accurately predicts a risk. Discrimination is measured by the C-index and it is the percentage of subjects correctly ranked according to their risk. Calibration is measured both by the shrinkage coefficient which is an estimate of overfitting and graphically by comparing predicted and observed risks (expressed as probabilities). Ideally, the predicted and observed risks should be equal. However, this is not always the case due to the limited sample size and possible model inadequacies. Moreover, the estimation of the shrinkage coefficient provides information whether the model may overfit the data, so the apparent calibration may be optimistic and biased. Therefore, it is useful to estimate a bias-corrected calibration relationship, where the bias is estimated by bootstrapping.

Backward logistic regression model

To assess whether inotropic support and sepsis had a significant effect on the interaction of the biomarkers of the original model (PDA diameter, cTOI, Burdjalov score, ACA RI) with the evolution of severe IVH, a backward logistic regression model was built in SPSS taking into consideration the biomarkers on day 3 after birth, which was the time point with the maximum number of observations and by when all the cases of severe IVH had occurred. A second backward logistic regression model was built substituting PDA score for PDA diameter. The default options for the backward regression model were used.

MgSO₄ specific methodology

This was a prospective convenience observational study recruiting infants 24-28+6 weeks' gestation and postnatal age ≤72 hours. The same cohort of patients as described in Chapter 3 was investigated.

Data collection

Data collection was limited to the first three days after birth and described in detail in Chapter 2 and Appendix 1. In addition, maternal data included: age; BMI; medicines (including steroids); indication and duration of MgSO₄ administration; reason for not receiving MgSO₄. Cerebral injury was defined by cranial ultrasonography and dichotomised into "mild" (IVH grade 0-2) or "severe brain injury" (IVH grade 3 or 4) according to Papile criteria (15).

Echocardiography

Echocardiographic assessment was described in detail in Chapter 2 (page 88). PDA score was used in this analysis instead of PDA diameter. PDA score was used in this analysis instead of PDA diameter. PDA score is a composite score generated by measuring ten echocardiographic biomarkers related to features of the ductal size, magnitude of the ductal shunt and myocardial performance and was previously described in Chapter 2.

aEEG and NIRS

Recordings were performed for four hours on each of the first three days after birth and previously described in Chapter 2 (page 82). The Burdjalov score was used to assess the aEEG trace. NIRS methodology was previously described.

Serum magnesium

Daily samples were obtained as part of routine daily clinical care. Neonatal Mg²⁺ was analysed by enzymatic assay (isocitrate dehydrogenase) on the Architect ci8200 System platform (Abbott laboratories, London, UK). Parenteral magnesium supplementation was commenced on the third day after birth, so measurements reported for this study were not affected by postnatal magnesium supplementation. Blood samples for biochemistry were usually obtained between 06:00 and 09:00. Hence, there was not significant clinical delay between blood sampling and specific neonatal biomarker measurement.

Statistical analysis

The hypotheses for this chapter were defined after discussion with colleagues in Obstetrics. Statistical analysis was performed using the R statistical package and the rms library. Demographic factors were assessed using descriptive statistics. A linear multivariate regression model was fitted. The model linearly regressed neonatal serum Mg²⁺ against maternal MgSO₄ administration, maternal BMI and neonatal IVH severity, BW, cTOI, PDA score, Burdjalov score and the interaction of maternal MgSO₄ administration with the above covariates. Due to repeated measurements, intra-subject correlation of observations was a possibility and estimation of the covariance matrix of the model parameters was performed using Huber's nonparametric "sandwich" estimator (224).

There were 92 observations (of the potential 153) of which only 62 had a complete set of observations due to clinical reasons (delayed or no blood sampling, too clinically unwell to tolerate echocardiography or cerebral monitoring, some babies were not recruited on the first day of life and some babies had died by day three). Because of these considerations, a conditional multiple imputation algorithm was applied (Bayesian Alternating Conditional Expectations) (21). The imputation process was repeated 10 times, resulting in 10 different realisations of the data set. Based on the imputed data sets, 10 models were fitted and the parameters averaged to obtain the final model parameters.

Following model fit, graphical assessment of the relationship between neonatal Mg^{2+} levels (as a function of time) and $MgSO_4$ administration and BMI (dichotomised according to the median for ease of visualisation) was performed using robust nonparametric regressions by local second degree polynomials fitting (224)(21). Point-wise 95% confidence intervals were also calculated. The same technique was used to graphically assess the interaction between neonatal Mg^{2+} levels and $MgSO_4$ infusion duration for the subset of the data represented by those mothers who were administered $MgSO_4$.

Pulse transit time, pulse wave velocity and pulse phase difference methodology

Population

This was a nested cohort study within the previously described observational study looking for an interaction between PDA and biomarkers of aortic haemodynamics. Patients from the same cohort as in Chapter 3 were included if they had an umbilical artery catheter inserted for clinical reasons and their continuous physiological data were captured with IxTrend software (Ixellence, Wildau Germany) (Figure 5).

Echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers

NIRS, aEEG and echocardiography methods were previously described in Chapter 2. A PDA with diameter >2mm was considered large in this analysis.

Clinical physiological monitoring

ECG, BP and SpO2 were monitored for clinical reasons in accordance with standard neonatal intensive care using Philips IntelliVue MX800 patient monitors (Philips Healthcare, UK). The data were recorded from the monitors by interfacing with a laptop via Bluetooth using IxTrend software (Ixellence GmbH, Wildau, Germany).

Invasive BP monitoring

The majority of extremely preterm infants on our NICU have invasive BP monitoring in the first days after birth for accurate measurement of BP. Invasive BP data were only captured when BP monitoring was clinically indicated. An umbilical arterial catheter (3.5F) was inserted soon after birth by the clinical team. The catheter (Vygon, Swindon, UK) was positioned between the sixth and tenth thoracic vertebra and connected to an electronic pressure transducer via a 38cm long rigid plastic extension catheter tubing. The distance from the BP transducer was thus made up of 37cm (umbilical artery catheter length) + 38cm

(extension length) giving a total of 75cm distance. The ECG and BP waveforms on the monitor screen were visually assessed to ensure good quality signal. Indicators of poor BP signal quality were an abnormal shape waveform (indicating dampening with air in the circuit between the UAC and the blood pressure transducer) or a low pulse pressure (indicating partially blocked UAC); in addition, the positioning of the BP transducer was checked to be at the level of the heart which is important for avoiding incorrect BP readings e.g. apparent low BP. A low pass filter cut-off frequency at 12Hz was applied by the monitor to the BP waveform and the output was exported with a sampling frequency of 125Hz.

Electrocardiogram

ECG was obtained through three electrodes attached to the infants' chest and left thigh forming the Einthoven triangle. Lead I was selected for the monitoring. ECG and BP monitoring data were downloaded from IntelliVue MX800 monitors and stored as spreadsheet files on a laptop via a wireless connection using IxTrend software. The sampling frequency for the ECG waveform was 500Hz and the filter passband was 0.5Hz to 55Hz. Recordings were performed while the infants were asleep and they were not disturbed throughout the duration of the recording. Recordings preceded echocardiography and performed simultaneously with EEG and NIRS, if possible. Otherwise, recordings were done as close to echocardiography as possible. Of note, this procedure did not cause any disturbance to the infant as it only involved recording data being acquired as part of standard monitoring.

Physiological signal data analysis

Professor David Wertheim (School of Computer Science and Mathematics, Kingston University, London) developed a software using MATLAB (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) to read, display and analyse the spreadsheet files. PTT was defined as the difference in

time between the ECG R wave and the following systolic BP wave peak (Figure 6). The systolic BP wave peak was used for analysis as this is easier to define precisely compared with the midpoint of the diastolic to systolic change; precise identification is important because of the higher HR in preterm neonates compared to adults.

In order to determine the PWV it was necessary to know the distance along the blood vessels from the aortic arch to the umbilical artery catheter tip. As the catheter tube connecting to the pressure transducer is rigid, it was assumed that this would have negligible effect on the calculation of PWV. The catheter position is always confirmed by Xray imaging as per clinical protocol. The aortic valve is radio translucent and there is no clear landmark to identify it. The relation of the aortic valve to vertebral level varies and the average position, according to Eycleshymer and Schoemaker, is at the level of the middle third of the seventh thoracic vertebra (225). There are no corresponding data for preterm babies. Therefore, I reviewed with Dr Kaleem Mussa (Consultant Paediatric Radiologist, Alder Hey Children's Hospital, Liverpool, UK) the CT scans of ten term infants with underlying cardiac conditions. The relation of the aortic valve to the vertebral level varied, but the median observation was the $\boldsymbol{6}^{th}$ thoracic vertebra (varied between $\boldsymbol{4}^{th}$ and $\boldsymbol{7}^{th}$ thoracic vertebra). Using the 6th thoracic vertebra as a reference landmark for the aortic valve, the distance of the catheter tip from the aortic valve could be traced using PACS software (Phillips, London, UK).

As PTT and PWV are affected by HR (226), a novel variable (PD) was devised to take into account the variable HR. PD was calculated as follows: the difference in time between the ECG R wave and the following systolic BP wave peak was measured and expressed as phase, i.e. the proportion of one cardiac cycle expressed in degrees where one cycle is 360[°] (Figure 7). The cardiac cycle duration length (L) was measured from the ECG as the distance

between the peaks of two consecutive R waves. PTT was measured as the time difference between the ECG R wave and the following BP systolic peak. The ratio PTT:L gives a dimensionless index that is HR independent and can be expressed as PD from 0 to 360° i.e. the PD= (PTT/L)*360°. PD was calculated by Prof David Wertheim. Breathing can cause beat to beat variability of the HR and hence the mean PD of two consecutive cardiac cycles was used for analysis.



HR = 149 /min, cardiac cycle time 0.404s, ECG to BP time 0.192s, phase difference 171°

Figure 7: Cardiac cycle length (L) is measured from the ECG as well as the time difference PTT between the ECG R wave and the following BP systolic peak. The ratio PTT:L gives a dimensionless index that is HR independent and can be expressed as PD.

Statistical analysis

I defined the hypotheses for this chapter in discussion with Prof. Wertheim. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 25.0 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). Data were tested for consistency with a normal distribution and parametric or non-parametric statistics used as appropriate. Median and interquartile range were used to describe summary demographics. A Bland–Altman plot was used to assess the intra-patient repeatability of PD from two cardiac cycles (227)(13). The Spearman rank correlation coefficient was used to assess the correlation between aortic biomarkers and other continuous variables. Mann Whitney test was used to compare categories. Bonferroni correction was applied for multiple comparisons (twelve parameters as in Table 24) and statistical significance was set on P-value <0.05/12=0.0042.

Chapter 3: Patent ductus arteriosus, cerebral haemodynamics and intraventricular haemorrhage in preterm neonates: an investigation of a possible causal pathway

Introduction

This chapter describes the multimodal assessment of the relationships between PDA shunt, selected cerebral physiological measurements and an imaging biomarker of significant brain injury to meet objectives I and II in Chapter 1 (page 69). This chapter also describes the cohort study that underpins subsequent chapters.

Results

Data collection and demographics

Parents of seventy-nine extremely preterm neonates were approached for enrolment in the study. Fifty-two neonates were recruited (four twin pregnancies) with median GA 26.6 weeks [Interquartile range (IQR) (25.8-28.1)] and median BW 910 grams [IQR 0.91 (780-1,030)] (Table 7). Of the fifty-two, eight were twins. 268 observations were performed; (Figure 8). A complete dataset would have comprised 69 additional observations during the transitional circulation and observed ductal closure in the first two weeks after birth. Initially the plan was to discontinue the observations once the PDA closed. However, it became apparent that this would not allow a comparison group. Therefore, the protocol was amended after the recruitment of patient PDA012 to allow data collection from patients in whom the PDA had closed during the first two weeks.

Due to technical reasons or the critical condition of the infants, observations were not performed on nine occasions (3%) for PDA assessment, eleven (4%) for cTOI, 57 (21%) for RI and 15 (6%) for aEEG (Table 6). The most commonly missed biomarker was the RI (21% of the assessments) due to the presence of the hat used for the endotracheal tube stabilisation, the limited space for manoeuvres inside the cot, and the critical condition of some infants which did not allow a lot of handling. These constraints made it difficult to obtain the ideal Doppler alignment with the ACA which has a curved pathway around the

corpus callosum. Data were also lost when the ultrasound machine was reconfigured and stored data was lost. This was the main reason for the missed echocardiographic studies (3%). The critical condition of the patient, which made the placement of the relevant equipment challenging, were the main reasons for most of the missed NIRS and aEEG data.

Twenty-five patients had weekly assessments made until discharge from LWH, 29 patients were monitored until their PDA closed (median age of closure (days) 14, mean 28, minimum 2, maximum 105). Fourteen infants were transferred back to Level 2 neonatal units, where they came from, once they did not need intensive care. This was the main reason for missed observations beyond the first week after birth (Figure 8). The median number of occasions that each patient was assessed was five.

Table 7 summarises the maternal and perinatal demographics and their comparison with local (LWH), national and international populations when possible. Maternal age, alcohol consumption, use of antenatal steroids and MgSO₄ and incidence of IUGR were similar to the local neonatal population. Maternal MgSO₄ use was higher than national and international rates. The reported incidence of smoking was lower in our population compared to the local population. Pregnancy induced hypertension was higher in our population compared to local and national populations, but similar to European population. The incidence of offensive liquor and/or histological chorioamnionitis was high, but in line with the local, national and international populations. Only the incidence of histological chorioamnionitis was available for national and international populations. GA at birth, birth weight, mode of delivery, APGAR scores at 1st and 5th minute and cord gases values were all similar to the local population with no available data from national and international

populations. More babies in our cohort needed advanced resuscitation compared to the local population.

Variable	PDA	сТОІ	RI	aEEG
Number missing	9 (3%)	11 (4%)	57 (21%)	15 (6%)

 Table 6: Data completeness.

PDA: PDA diameter, cTOI: cerebral tissue oxygenation index, RI: anterior cerebral artery resistive index, aEEG: amplitude integrated EEG.

Number	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6	Week 7	Week 8	Week 9	Week 10	Week 11	Week 12
PDA001															
PDA002	ſ														
PDA003															
PDA004															
PDA006															
PDA007			•												
PDA008															
PDA009															
PDA010															
PDA011		1													
PDA012		•													
PDA013															
PDA014															
PDA015															
PDA016															
PDA017															
PDA018															
PDA019	_														
PDA020															
PDA021															
PDA022															
PDA023															
PDA024															
PDA025															
PDA026															
PDA027															
PDA028											÷				
PDA029															
PDA030															
PDA031															
PDA032															
PDA033									ĺ						
PDA034															
PDA035															
PDA036															
PDA037															
PDA038															
PDA039															
PDA040															
PDA041															
PDA042															
PDA043															
PDA044															
PDA045															
PDA046															
PDA047															
PDA048															
PDA049															
PDA050															
PDA051															
PDA052															
PDA053															

Figure 8: Visual representation of data collection and completeness.

The table columns were restricted to 12 weeks for better visualisation. Three patients had

additional assessments which are represented as discharge assessment: PDA007 at week 15,

PDA023: week 15 and week 16 and PDA040: week 14.

assessments, _____: one assessment and ____: no assessment.

Table 8 summarises the incidence of the different clinical outcomes in my cohort and their comparison with LWH, national and international populations. Six infants (12%) developed severe IVH and nine died (17%). The median age of death was 21 days and the main reason was late onset sepsis. Inotropic support was needed at least once in 25 of them (48%). Eight infants (15%) needed PDA treatment with ibuprofen and one finally underwent PDA ligation. The incidence of severe IVH in my cohort, which was the primary focus of this thesis, was similar to the LWH, national and international populations. There were higher BPD rates compared to national and international populations, but similar to LWH population. Death rates were similar to national and international populations, but slightly lower than LWH population. The incidence of sepsis was similar to the European population, but higher than LWH and national populations. There was higher use of inotropes in my cohort (48%) compared to the local population (42/145, 29%).

Maternal demographics							
	HAPI-PDA study		LWH	Europe	UK group		
				group			
	Median/N	IQR/%					
Maternal weight (kg)	74	34					
Maternal BMI	26.2	9					
Maternal age	31	7	30 (7)				
Alcohol during pregnancy	2	4%	5.6				
(Yes/No)							
Smoking during pregnancy	6	12%	25%				
(Yes/No)							
Hypertension during	8	15%	6.6%	16.2%	11.7%		
pregnancy (Yes/No)							
Chorioamnionitis/offensive	16	31%	Offensive liquor 26.3%	-	-		
liquor			Chorioamnionitis 9.4%	23.4%	14.4%		
PROM	24	46%					
Perinatal antibiotics	36	69%					
Indomethacin	5	10%					
Atosiban	5	10%					
MgSO ₄	34	65%	62.1%	39.6%	57.3%		
IUGR	5	10%	8.6%	11.2%	9.5%		
Steroids							
Complete course	39	75%	84.8%				
Any dose	50	96%	92.9%	90.1%	92%		
Perinatal demographics (N = 52)							
GA (weeks)	26.6	2.3	26.6 (2.4)				
Weight (gr)	910	250	880 (268)				
Mode of delivery							
SVD	27	52%	47%				
Emergency caesarean	21	40%	48%				
section	2	4%	3%				
Elective caesarean section	1	2%	2%				
Instrumental							
Advanced resuscitation	19	37%	10%				
Cord pH	7.31	0.10	7.3 (0.11)				
Cord base excess	-3.75	4.55	-2.8 (4.7)				
APGAR 1 min	5	4	5 (4)				
APGAR 5 min	7	3	7 (4)				

Advanced resuscitation: need for cardiac massage and/or adrenaline, BMI: body mass index, PROM: prolonged rupture of membranes, SVD: spontaneous vaginal delivery, IUGR: intrauterine growth restriction, N: number of patients. Data presented as number of patients or median and IQR or percentage as appropriate.

Table 7: Summary of the background maternal and perinatal demographics with comparison to local, national and international data. LWH: Liverpool Women's Hospital

Clinical	inical HAPI-PDA		Europe group	UK group
outcomes	study			
Severe IVH	6 (12%)	12%	11.3%	11.2%
Death	9 (17%)	24.3%	17.9 %	17.2%
Death and/or BPD2	33 (64%)			
BPD2	27 (52%)	52.6%	28.1%	44.1%
BPD1	36 (69%)			
ROP	20 (38%)			
Sepsis	24 (46%)	32.2%	46.4%	35.8%
NEC	6 (12%)	8.1%	6.2%	6.4%
PDA treatment	9 (17%)			
Ibuprofen	8 (15%)			
PDA ligation	1 (2%)			

Table 8: Summary of the clinical outcomes with comparison to local, national andinternational data. LWH: Liverpool Women's Hospital

Causes of death in the study population						
Patient	Age (days)	Cause				
04	33	CONS sepsis				
06	30	Fungal sepsis				
15	18	CONS sepsis				
20	6	Respiratory failure				
32	21	Fungal sepsis				
36	22	Staph aureus sepsis				
47	18	Severe RDS				
49	43	Sepsis				
50	10	Respiratory failure				

Table 9: Cause of death of the individual study participants according to the discharge letter.

CONS: coagulase negative staphylococcus.

Because it is preferable to impute rather than discard data and there were missing data at different time points, statistical advice was taken from Dr Antonio Eleuteri and further statistical analysis was performed as described in Chapter 2 (page 103). A multiple imputation procedure was used (additive regression, bootstrapping and predictive mean matching) (224). Furthermore, since each subject had repeated measurements taken in time, potential intra-subject correlation of observations was taken into account by robust estimation of the covariance matrix of the model parameters (224). All the calculations were performed using the R statistical package and the rms library.

Cerebral markers vs. postnatal age

The effect of postnatal maturation on the biomarkers of interest was assessed. Figures 9-12 shows a scatter graph with local polynomial regression of the biomarkers of interest vs. postnatal age (weeks from birth). Each patient contributed variable amounts of data as indicated in Figure 8 and patients with persistent PDA are overrepresented after the second week as there is a continuous attrition of patient with closed PDA whom I stopped monitoring as per protocol. As patients had different gestational ages at birth, each time point consists of patients of the same postnatal age, but different corrected gestation age.

Inspection of Figure 9 suggests that PDA diameter decreases over time as expected. There is large variation of the observed values. cTOI decreases with maturation (Figure 10). Low values (cTOI<55) were observed up to the eighth week. RI initially increased with maturation, but following the sixth week it started decreasing (Figure 11). Only one infant in our cohort had reversed end diastolic flow in the ACA. Burdjalov score increased exponentially during the first two weeks after birth and there was slowing of the increase rate on subsequent weeks up to week ten when a plateau was reached (Figure 12).

Generally, there was large variation of all the aforementioned biomarkers. Participants with IVH had no difference from participants without IVH except with respect to the Burdjalov score.

All cases of IVH occurred during the first three days after birth. However, I was unable to determine the exact timing due to the methodological limitations and the fact that some patients were recruited on third day after birth. To assess further whether patients who developed severe IVH had different biomarker trajectory during the transitional period and the subsequently weeks, separate smoothed local polynomial regression fits were created for patients with and without severe IVH (Figures 13-17). Infants with severe IVH had higher PDA score from birth to around fourth week with confidence intervals of the two populations not overlapping (Figure 13). Following the fourth week there was a regression towards the mean with confidence intervals overlapping each other. Infants with severe IVH had overall larger PDA diameter and this became more apparent following the second postnatal week, when there was no overlap of the confidence intervals (Figure 14). Infants with severe IVH had lower Burdjalov score from birth until the third postnatal week with regression towards the mean the following weeks (Figure 15). Infants with severe IVH had overall higher RI, but confidence intervals of the two groups were overlapping apart from postnatal weeks 4 and 5 (Figure 16). Infants with severe IVH had lower cTOI from birth until the sixth postnatal week with regression towards the mean and overlapping confidence intervals the following weeks (Figure 17). The confidence intervals of the severe IVH group were wide due to number of patients contributing data (N=5).

Subsequently, I assessed whether there was a statistically significant difference of the relevant biomarkers between patients with and without severe IVH during the transitional

period by performing Mann Whitney test for each of the first three days after birth. Table 10 summarises the results. Differences became more prominent on Day 3 after birth. Babies with severe IVH had higher PDA score (median (IQR), P-value: 17 (4.5) vs. 11 (8.5), 0.044), lower cTOI (58.9 (10) vs. 68.7 (9.9), <0.001) and Burdjalov score (2 (3) vs. 6 (4), 0.010). However, following Bonferroni correction only the difference of cTOI between patients with and without severe IVH remained statistically significant. There were only three babies with severe IVH in the first day after birth which restricted statistical analysis.

In summary, patients with severe IVH had different course of the studied biomarkers from the first days after birth indicating possibly different underlying pathophysiology. PDA score had slightly better ability compared to PDA diameter to separate patients with severe vs. non severe IVH. The time point analysis during the transitional period demonstrated that only cTOI was statistically different in patients with severe IVH on the third day after birth.



Figure 9: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals of the PDA size changes from birth to discharge.

Solid dots represent patients with severe IVH (Grade 3 and 4). PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 10: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of the cerebral tissue oxygenation index changes from birth to discharge.

Solid dots represent patients with severe IVH (Grade 3 and 4). IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 11: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of the anterior cerebral artery resistivity index changes from birth to discharge.

Solid dots represent patients with severe IVH (Grade 3 and 4). ACA: anterior cerebral artery, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 12: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of the Burdjalov score changes from birth to discharge.

Solid dots represent patients with severe IVH (Grade 3 and 4). IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.






Figure 14: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of PDA diameter in patients with and without severe IVH. Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH:

intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 15: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of Burdjalov score in patients with and without severe IVH.

Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 16: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of anterior cerebral artery resistivity index in patients with and without severe IVH.

Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. ACA: anterior cerebral artery, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 17: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of postnatal natural evolution of cerebral oxygenation index in patients with and without severe IVH.

Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.

Infants with severe IVH had lower cTOI from birth until the sixth postnatal week.

			PDA diameter (mm)	PDA score		сТОІ		Burdjalov sco	re	ACA RI	
Day 1 (N=17)	Severe	No	1.1 (1.2)	0.90	11 (6)	0.16	70 (10.7)	0.95	3 (5)	0.15	0.73 (0.2)	0.39
	IVH	Yes	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
Day 2 (N=31)	Severe	No	1.95 (1.7)	0.29	12 (11)	0.24	68.8 (11.6)	0.26	4.5 (5)	0.32	0.73 (0.19)	0.18
	IVH	Yes	2.9 (2.1)	_	17 (4)	_	72.2 (8.3)	-	2 (1)	_	-	_
Day 3 (N=46)	Severe	No	1.42 (1.7)	0.28	11 (8.5)	0.044	68.7 (9.9)	<0.001	6 (4)	0.010	0.71 (0.05)	0.18
	IVH	Yes	2.39 (2.5)	-	17 (4.5)		58.9 (10)	-	2 (3)	-	0.71 (0.09)	-

Table 10 Assessment of the studied biomarkers in patients with severe vs. non severe IVH during the transitional period. There were only three babies with severe IVH in the first day after birth which restricted statistical analysis. Data are presented as median and interquartile ranges and the corresponding P values (Mann Whitney test).



Figure 18: Correlation between PDA diameter and PDA score in preterm infants on third day after birth (N: 46, Spearman's ρ : 0.888, P < 0.001).

Association between PDA and cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI

Figures 19-22 show scatter graphs with smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA vs. cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI. Figure 19 demonstrates that many patients with PDA larger than 2 mm have cerebral oxygenation less than 55 which is considered the lower end of normal range (145, 228). Many of these observations were from patients with severe IVH. Figure 20 indicates that as PDA diameter increases Burdialov score decreases, but beyond 2.5mm this trend is skewed towards higher Burdjalov scores and the confidence intervals also widen as fewer participants contribute data. Looking into the individual data, these observations came from more mature babies (higher postnatal age) and persistent PDA, who had larger PDA size as their body size was bigger and had higher Burdialov score as their brain was more mature. An attempt to adjust for postnatal age resulted in Figure 21. The estimation method (smoothing by local polynomials) does not allow adjustments by continuous variables, so two categories were created based on median postnatal age (two weeks). The skewness of the trend on Figure 20 was reduced and there was consistent trend of larger PDA size correlating with lower Burdialov score for both groups (younger and older than two weeks). Figure 22 shows that only after PDA diameter becomes larger than 1mm there is an effect on cerebral RI with positive correlation between PDA diameter and anterior cerebral artery RI.



Figure 19: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA size vs. cerebral oxygenation index.

Patients with severe IVH are represented by solid dots. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 20: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA size vs. Burdjalov score.

Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 21: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA size vs. Burdjalov score adjusted for postnatal age.

Solid lines represent patients younger than two weeks postnatal age. Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 22: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA size vs. anterior cerebral artery resistivity index.

Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. ACA: anterior cerebral artery, PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.

Model specification

The associations between PDA diameter and cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI shown in the previous figures were further explored by developing parametric regression models using the imputed data sets. The models specify whether PDA diameter has any significant impact on the cerebral biomarkers studied. Table 11 shows the F statistics and corresponding P-values. Interaction of PDA with IVH severity (severe IVH: IVH> Grade 2) was also included in the regressions. The model specifies how the observed factors impact the separation of the classes non severe IVH vs. severe IVH.

The parametric regression model showed an association between PDA diameter and RI (F=19.78, P<0.0001), cTOI (F=-4.16, P=0.017) and Burdjalov score (F=-12.55, P<0.0001). The coefficients mean that as PDA became larger the RI increases (reduced diastolic velocity in the cerebral artery) and Burdjalov score and cerebral oxygenation decreased. However, when the interaction of IVH severity was included in the previous regression analysis, the association became statistically non-significant (Table 11). The implications of the interaction are that despite PDA having a significant effect on cerebral blood flow velocities, oxygenation and electrical activity, there is not enough evidence that this is associated with severe IVH.

PDA diameter					
Association	F	P-value			
Cerebral oxygenation index	4.16	0.017			
IVH interaction	0.19	0.67			
Burdjalov score (nonlinear)	12.55	<0.0001			
IVH interaction	0.37	0.54			
ACA resistivity index	19.78	<0.0001			
IVH interaction	0.75	0.39			

Table 11: PDA diameter association with the cerebral biomarkers including the interaction with the severe IVH.

Associations stratified according to IVH severity

To investigate further whether patients with severe IVH have a specific pattern of observations which is lost during the generalised statistical analysis, smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) between those with and without severe IVH were made. These did not show any significant effects (data not shown). Due to the small number of patients with severe IVH the confidence intervals in this group were wide. There was a difference between those with and without severe IVH, with confidence intervals not overlapping, only for the cerebral oxygenation with a range of PDA sizes and ACA RI. Patients with severe IVH who had larger PDA had also lower cTOI compared to patients with similar size PDA, but without severe IVH (Figure 23). Patients with severe IVH had lower cTOI when PDA size was greater than 2mm (Figure 23) and had lower cTOI even when RI was within normal limits (Figure 24).



Figure 23: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of cerebral oxygenation index and PDA size dichotomised according to the presence of severe IVH.

Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.



Figure 24: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of anterior cerebral artery resistivity index and cerebral oxygenation index dichotomised according to the presence of severe IVH.

Solid dots and lines represent patients with severe IVH. ACA: anterior cerebral artery, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage

Association between RI vs. cTOI and Burdjalov score

The interrelationship between the cerebral biomarkers was subsequently assessed.

Figures 25-27 show smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of RI vs. cTOI and Burdjalov score.



Figure 25: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of Burdjalov scrore vs. anterior cerebral artery resistive index.

Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. ACA: anterior cerebral artery, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage



Figure 26: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of anterior cerebral artery resistive index vs. cerebral oxygenation index.

Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. ACA: anterior cerebral artery, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.





Patients with severe IVH are represented with black dots. IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage.

Figure 27 shows an apparent increase in Burdjalov score as cerebral oxygenation decreased. This was unexpected. Normal cTOI in the range of 55-80 should be correlating with a higher Burdjalov score and an expected relationship should be a bell shape relationship as abnormal cerebral oxygenation (outside the considered normal range of 55-80) should be associated with abnormal/lower cerebral electrical activity (lower Burdjalov score). The relationship was further explored by considering separately the data for younger and older babies (less and above two weeks postnatal age). This is shown in Figure 28, where there is bell shaped curve relationship in both groups.





Solid lines represent patients younger than two weeks postnatal age. Patients with severe IVH are represented with solid dots. cTOI: cerebral tissue oxygenation index, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage. The associations between RI, cTOI and Burdjalov score were further assessed by using the imputed data sets and fitting parametric regression models. Table 12 shows the F statistics and corresponding P-values. Interaction of RI with IVH severity (severe IVH) was also included in the regressions. cTOI was strongly related with RI and Burdjalov score (F=4.03, P=0.0035 and F=5.78, P=0.0002 respectively). As cTOI decreases, RI increases. Burdjalov score and cTOI have a more complex relationship as shown in Figures 27 and 28 and already described. There was no significant association between RI and Burdjalov score.

Anterior cerebral artery resistive index						
Association	F	P-value				
cTOI (non-linear)	4.03	0.0035				
IVH interaction	0.47	0.62				
Burdjalov score (non-linear)	1.44	0.10				
IVH interaction	1.10	0.34				
Burdjalov score						
cTOI (non-linear)	5.46	0.0003				
IVH interaction	1.35	0.26				
IVH	2.49	0.061				

 Table 12: Parametric regression model assessing the relationship between RI, cTOI and

Burdjalov score.

cTOI: cerebral oxygenation index, PDA: PDA diameter, RI: anterior cerebral artery

resistive index.

Association between IVH outcome and PDA, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI

A logistic regression model was designed to estimate the association between the outcome (severe IVH) and PDA diameter and the cerebral biomarkers (including interactions of PDA with cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI; and interaction of cTOI with RI). The model specified how the observed factors impacted the separation of babies with non-severe IVH vs. severe IVH. Table 13 shows the Chi-square statistics and P-values of the factors in the model.

A backward variable selection procedure, using Akaike's information criterion (AIC) to select the factors, was then applied to obtain a parsimonious description of the relationship between IVH and the predictive factors. Table 14 shows the model coefficients which are found by the selection procedure, the Z statistic and related P-value. Note that under this procedure, factors which were not statistically significant in the original model may become significant; this is because the AIC does not use P-values for selection, but instead measures a trade-off between predictive power and model complexity (penalising complex models that can lead to over-fitting the data).

The coefficients of the model in Table 14 can be interpreted as follows: as PDA increases, there is an increase of the probability that a subject will belong to the severe IVH class. Moreover, as cTOI increases, there is a decrease of the probability that the subject will belong to the severe IVH class.

169

Severe IVH					
Factor	Chi-square	P-value			
PDA	4.50	0.34			
стоі	14.56	0.0022			
Burdjalov score	2.27	0.32			
RI	2.85	0.41			
Interactions of PDA with other factors	2.61	0.46			
Interaction of cTOI with RI	0.30	0.59			

Table 13: Logistic regression model describing the association between severe IVH and PDA, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI (including the interaction of PDA with other factors and cTOI with RI).

IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage, cTOI: cerebral oxygenation index, PDA: PDA diameter, RI: anterior cerebral artery resistive index.

Severe IVH						
Factor	Coef	Z	P-value			
PDA	0.532	3.105	0.00190			
cTOI	-0.0882	-3.394	0.00690			

Table 14: Backward variable selection procedure to describe the relationship between

 IVH and the predictive factors identified PDA and cTOI as statistically significant factors.

It is important to estimate the prediction bias, as testing the performance of the model on the data used to fit it may lead to optimistic conclusions. The model was assessed both in terms of discrimination and calibration accuracy using bootstrapping techniques (C-index of 0.70, shrinkage coefficient 0.74). Calibration is measured both by the shrinkage coefficient (which is an estimate of overfitting; in our analysis, we can expect 1-0.74=0.26, i.e. 26% over fitting) and graphically by comparing predicted and observed risks (expressed as probabilities). Ideally, the predicted and observed risks should be equal (represented as a dashed diagonal calibration relationship line in Figure 29). Figure 29 showed an estimate of the calibration performance of the model. In this case, from the bias-corrected performance graph it can be seen that the model predicted higher risks of IVH than were actually observed for risks higher than 40%. However, this is not always the case due to the limited sample size and possible model inadequacies. Hence, this results in the calibration relationship between observed and predicted risks (represented by the dotted line in Figure 29). Moreover, the estimation of the shrinkage coefficient provides information whether the model may overfit the data, so the apparent calibration may be optimistic and biased. Therefore, it is useful to estimate a bias-corrected calibration relationship (the continuous line in the graph), where the bias is estimated by bootstrapping. Figure 29 demonstrated that the biascorrected calibration relationship was less optimistic than the apparent calibration relationship, as it was farther from the theoretical ideal calibration than the latter.



Figure 29: Calibration performance of the classification model.

The apparent line denotes the predictive performance of the model on the data used to fit the model. The bias-corrected line denotes the expected out-of-sample performance of the model, estimated by bootstrap resampling (100 repetitions of the sampling process). The rug plot at the top of the graph denotes the observed data.

Association between PDA, cTOI and death

Finally, an interaction of the PDA and cTOI with death was investigated (Figure 30). A parametric regression model was fitted using the imputed data to assess the associations between PDA and cTOI evidenced in the previous Figures. No association was found between PDA and death including the interaction of two biomarkers with death.

Backward logistic regression model in predicting severe IVH including inotropic support and sepsis on Day 3 after birth

The cohort had a high incidence of sepsis and inotropic support. Two backward logistic regression models were applied to account for these variables, assess the interaction of the biomarkers of the original model (cTOI, Burdjalov score, RI) with the evolution of severe IVH and whether the use of PDA score or PDA diameter had a different predictive value. There were 46 babies contributing data for both backward logistic regression models using PDA diameter or PDA score as marker of PDA significance. Both models resulted in identical outcomes with only cTOI being associated with severe IVH (N= 46, B= -0.467, S.E: 0.22, Wald: 4.52, P= 0.033). There was a very strong correlation between PDA diameter and PDA score on Day 3 after birth (N: 46, Spearman's p: 0.888, P value<0.001) (Figure 18).



Figure 30: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of PDA size vs. cerebral oxygenation index.

The black dots represent patients who died. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus.

Summary

The statistical associations reported in this chapter are summarised in Figure 31. In conclusion, there was evidence of an association between IVH outcome and PDA and cTOI. Furthermore, there was evidence of association between cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI with PDA diameter, but not in interaction with IVH severity. Despite the individual statistically important associations the two-step model was not valid. These data suggested that PDA had a significant effect on the incidence of severe IVH, but that effect was not mediated by cTOI, RI or Burdjalov score. Time point analysis and logistic regression analysis on third day after birth when all the cases of IVH had occurred demonstrated that only cTOI was statistically different in patients with severe IVH. These results did not change when inotropic support and incidence of sepsis were taken into account. Two backward logistic regression models using PDA score and PDA diameter alternatively as markers of PDA severity resulted in identical model characteristics possibly due to collinearity of the two biomarkers.



Figure 31: Summary of the significant interactions between the factors of the two-step biological model.

The blue arrows represent statistically significant interactions revealed by the parametric logistic regression analysis. The green arrows represent the statistically significant associations found after the backward variable selection procedure. The arrow width is proportional to the F statistics value.

Discussion

This is the first study to my knowledge that assessed the impact of PDA size on cerebral function and incidence of IVH using simultaneous echocardiography, cerebral ultrasonography, cerebral NIRS and aEEG during the natural evolution of PDA disease. There is evidence of an association between severe IVH with PDA and cTOI. Furthermore, there is evidence of an association between cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI with PDA, but not in interaction with IVH severity. This means that isolated steps of two step model (Figure 3) specified ante hoc are valid, but not the entire two-step model. Alternatively, the effects of cerebral oxygenation, blood flow and/or electrical activity are not captured adequately with these measurements. Single elements of the model were more influential than the combined effects that were postulated before the study was done.

The novelty of my approach was the simultaneous assessment of cardiac and cerebral function using multiple biomarkers for a long period and their combination in the construction of a statistical model based on a two-step biological model that was identified ante hoc. PDA-related cerebral effects were observed well beyond the period of transitional circulation. The cohort included infants who became unwell, needed inotropic support and developed severe IVH. It was demonstrated that it is feasible to perform this complex monitoring in critically ill patients without significant adverse events. Factors that affected the consent process, recruitment and data collection are discussed in Appendix 11. Moreover, clinicians in the unit had a relatively

178

conservative approach to PDA treatment and this allowed me to observe the natural history of PDA closure and study the PDA and cerebral haemodynamics without significant contamination from PDA treatment. None of these infants was a participant in the Baby OSCAR trial. Our treatment rate with ibuprofen was 12% and 2% with ligation which are very low compared to other units nationally and internationally (Australia up to 74% and 12%, Canada 51% and 7% respectively) (229, 230).

Demographics, clinical outcomes and assessment of selection bias

I assessed whether there is selection bias due to the other competing studies by comparing the thesis population with the LWH population, the UK population and the VON population during the same period. This analysis demonstrated that overall the thesis cohort did not have significant selection bias within the centre. GA at birth and birth weight, which are the strongest predictors of neonatal complications and clinical outcomes (7), were almost identical to the local population during the same period. The median maternal age at birth (31 years) was similar to the national average age of all mothers of babies born in England and Wales in 2017 (30.5 years) (231). The maternal booking BMI was 26.2 and slightly above the ideal range 18.5-25 and similar to the national average for this age, but this may was influenced by the weight gain during the first trimester (232). The reported smoking (12%) and alcohol (6%) consumption was low compared to the local high smoking rates in Merseyside (22%) (233) and the national high alcohol consumption rate in second trimester (34%) (234).

and the international population. Our population had high prevalence of chorioamnionitis, PROM and use of antibiotics consistent with published data (235). Indomethacin was used for tocolysis in 10% of the cases. There is controversy regarding its postnatal effects with some studies proposing antenatal indomethacin is associated with increased risk for severe intraventricular haemorrhage, necrotizing enterocolitis, and periventricular leukomalacia (236) and others not (237). A recent report proposed that antenatal indomethacin may be related to early PDA closure in preterm infants in contrast to previous studies (238). However, other reports suggested the opposite with infants receiving antenatal indomethacin being resistant to postnatal indomethacin and requiring PDA ligation (239, 240). In our cohort, only one out of six infants who received antenatal indomethacin had severe IVH (Grade III). Two-thirds of the infants received antenatal MgSO₄ for neuroprotection with the majority of them being delivered in LWH. The haemodynamics associated with the antenatal administration of MgSO₄ is discussed in detail in Chapter 5. Almost all infants were exposed to at least one course of steroids and 75% had a complete course. Half of the infants were born via a spontaneous vaginal delivery.

My cohort had significant higher incidence of BPD compared to national and international populations, but was in line with the local population incidence. The reasons for this local difference from benchmarks are not known. The incidence of "advanced resuscitation" was higher in the study cohort than among the LWH population. This may be a terminological difference. In the LWH records, "advanced resuscitation" means use of inotropes and/or cardiac massage. In this study, "advanced

180
resuscitation" meant additionally not straightforward and/or prolonged attempts for intubation that resulted in compromised peripheral perfusion and tone. This was thought necessary as it is known that increased duration of cerebral hypoxia is associated with poorer neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm babies or death (241). In addition, there may have been a selection bias towards a sicker population in this study for two reasons. Firstly, it is possible that sicker babies were not recruited to other studies. Secondly, because sicker babies were transferred into the unit making it difficult to recruit them to other studies that recruited in the first days after birth. The higher incidence in the use of inotropes in my cohort is notable because of the focus on haemodynamics in this study and may also reflect a selection bias towards sicker babies. There was a higher incidence of sepsis in the study cohort, 46% vs 32% in the local cohort, but this cohort was in line with the international population. This may be due to the variable thresholds used to define sepsis and chorioamnionitis in the different databases. Overall, apart from advanced resuscitation and inotrope use, there was no clinically significant selection bias related to the recruitment process and the other competing clinical trials.

The presence of sicker babies in this cohort is likely to mean that the associations observed have been modulated, in some babies, by pathophysiological processes seen following difficult birth and leading to the use of inotropes. There is no reason to think that the pathophysiology seen in the study cohort is different from that seen among other babies from this center, or from other centers. However, as with all studies of neonatal critical care, interpretation of the results needs to be coloured by the

realisation that the reported associations may have a different pattern in babies with a different mixture of severe and non-severe clinical courses in the days after birth.

Similarly, the generalisability of this study – and any study that recruits exclusively from a single centre – needs careful attention. The events and processes that lead to BPD are overrepresented in this sample compared to other populations. It is possible that some of these events and processes influence the processes studied in this thesis. If the processes that lead to BPD in Liverpool are qualitatively different from processes that lead to in other centres then any Liverpool-specific processes could modulate the associations described in this thesis. There is no evidence that Liverpool has different pathophysiology from other units. If the same processes are relevant in Liverpool as in other centres then the centre-specific effects relate to the mixture of pathophysiologies. Future studies should be multicentred to allow the effects of centre specificities to be diluted.

Limitations of this comparison

The cohort size was small (52 patients) and one patient corresponds to 2% difference. This should be considered to assess the comparisons between the thesis cohort and the other neonatal populations. High percentage of missing data on the local database and questionable quality of the presented data are some of the main limitations. The analysis of the VON database raised also some concerns for the quality of the data and possible impact of missing data as the reference population was variable for the different assessed parameters despite assessing the same GA range. Varying

definitions of the different demographic and outcome parameters can give rise to variable measurements.

Evolution of biomarkers with postnatal maturation

PDA diameter decreased over time as expected (Figure 9). Monitoring infants with closed PDA after the second week was discontinued and this is the reason for the observed increase of PDA diameter after the second week because infants with a closed PDA did not contribute data. Many infants were discharged to Level II units. The PDA may have reopened in some infants. However, it is not appropriate to reconstruct reliably the graph assuming the PDA diameter is zero following its closure. There was large variation of the observed values. 54% of our patients had PDA diameter >1.5mm at some point during the transitional period, which has been the threshold for PDA treatment for many clinical trials, but only 15% received medical therapy. There was a patient who did not receive treatment and PDA persisted up to the discharge at 16 weeks postnatal age. These findings agree with a recent report which found the median time to ductal closure to be 71 days in infants <26+0 weeks gestation (117).

cTOI decreases with postnatal maturation (Figure 10). This is consistent with previous reports (160). The drop of cerebral oxygenation over time occurred in conjunction with decreasing PDA size as shown in Figures 9 and 10. Supranormal values (cTOI >80) mainly occurred during the first three days after birth when intensive care and treatment with oxygen are more likely. This is consistent with data from SafeBooC clinical trial, which found considerable burden of hypoxia and hyperoxia during the period of transitional circulation (156). Low values (cTOI<55) were observed up to the

eighth week. It is interesting that patients with severe IVH had cTOI values concentrating on the extremes of the considered normal range indicating possible cerebral hyperoxia or hypoxia.

RI initially increased with maturation, but following the sixth week it started decreasing. This is consistent with the trend of reduced PDA diameter following the fifth week. Similar patient selection limitations apply for the interpretation of this biomarker trend. The increasing of RI with postnatal age is consistent with a previous study (207). Only one infant in our cohort had reversed end diastolic flow in the ACA and had also severe IVH.

The Burdjalov score increased exponentially during the first two weeks after birth. After slowing off during the subsequent weeks a plateau was reached at week ten. This is consistent with observations by Burdjalov et al. (174). More detailed description of the evolution of Burdjalov score and the parameters which affect it can be found in Chapter 4.

Summary

There are significant changes with all studied biomarkers with advancing postnatal age representing a continuous change of interplay between postnatal maturation, PDA haemodynamics and cerebral biomarkers. Generally, there is large variation of all the aforementioned biomarkers on each time point. Our data has the limitation that after the second week only patients with persistent PDA were studied.

Temporal changes of the biomarkers in patients with and without severe IVH

Babies with severe IVH had different temporal trajectories of the studied biomarkers (PDA diameter, PDA score, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI) during the first days after birth and this persisted for weeks after birth (Figures 13-17). During the first days after birth, PDA score was shown to have better ability compared to PDA diameter to separate cases with severe IVH from cases with non-severe IVH. This observation is important as it points towards the PDA induced haemodynamic disturbances possibly related to the IVH pathophysiology. Moreover, it means that the PDA score can potentially serve as a screening tool for inclusion in clinical trials. However, as described in the following section (Biomarkers during the transitional period) this observation was not statistically significant. All assessments of PDA will benefit from larger studies that incorporate more advanced technologies to assess the timing of brain injury insult and the evolution of IVH.

PDA diameter was previously found to be the single most important parameter that determines the magnitude of the PDA shunt (378) and it is easily understood by clinicians with no cardiac expertise. However, any single parameter cannot describe and assess comprehensively the complex haemodynamics related to PDA shunting. Therefore, there is currently a shift away from using single echocardiographic parameters to assess PDA haemodynamic significance. Different PDA scores have been devised in order to assess better the magnitude of the PDA shunt and the multiple

effects PDA has on cardiac and respiratory status of the preterm babies (133, 137, 242). However, there is lack of robust data from large observational studies and clinical trials including heterogenous populations of preterm babies to validate the use of PDA scores in predicting certain clinical outcomes.

The window of opportunity to target PDA treatment for IVH prevention is very narrow (maximum 72 hours). IVH usually occurs in babies who become critically unwell, haemodynamically unstable and usually have relative or absolute contraindications for medical PDA treatment. PDA ligation is now resorted only for the cases that medical treatment has failed so that this window of opportunity further narrows. Moreover, the precise identification of when IVH starts is challenging even in research settings. It is very possible that previous clinical trials for primary prevention of IVH and early targeted PDA treatment have treated babies in whom the IVH disease process had already started (cerebral ischemia, disturbed cerebral autoregulation), but was not macroscopically evident by CrUSS or even MRI. Hence, treating this population at risk of developing IVH with agents inhibiting platelet function can have possible iatrogenic side effects and worsen the severity of IVH. This can be one the reasons behind the observed lack of long-term clinical efficacy of NSAIDs in treating PDA. There is a need for new biomarkers in screening extremely preterm babies in risk for IVH, better understanding of the IVH pathophysiology and its underlying molecular pathways and a need for new PDA treatment agents targeting molecular pathways which do not interfere with the initiation and progression of IVH lesions.

A recent study has demonstrated that babies with IVH and large PDA had lower cerebral perfusion measured by MRI. However, the assessments were performed after IVH occurred and hence these relationships reflect more the effects of the IVH on cerebral perfusion and the PDA the epiphenomenon of IVH (243). In the present thesis, an attempt was made to do serial measurements to follow the evolution of IVH and other findings. As noted, comprehensive serial measurements were not possible. The finding of reduced cTOI on day 3 is likely to reflect events after IVH which may or may not be relevant to the pathophysiology of IVH. Definitive studies of the time course of these complex physiological interactions will need to be done in multiple centres that do not allow recruitment to other studies to reduce the participation of babies in a cohort that deploys multiple assessments starting on the day of birth.

Moreover, there is collinearity between PDA diameter and PDA score and it is uncertain whether PDA score can provide additional information when used as screening tool for clinical trials. This is needs to be assessed in a large multicenter feasibility study.

Biomarkers during the transitional period

On the third day after birth babies with severe IVH had lower cTOI [58.9 (10) vs. 68.7 (9.9), <0.001]. This is consistent with the logistic regression analysis when all data points were used for the biological model (Table 13). Further studies with larger populations in the first days after birth are needed to increase the power and reach definitive conclusions and assess which assessments of PDA can serve as screening

tools to assess babies in risk to develop IVH. In conclusion, babies with severe IVH had significantly lower cerebral oxygenation only on Day 3.

Backward regression model on Day 3

The model combining all datasets from birth to discharge demonstrated that severe IVH was associated with the presence of large PDA and lower cerebral oxygenation. Furthermore, there was a significant association between lower cerebral oxygenation, lower cerebral electrical activity and higher resistivity index on anterior cerebral artery with larger PDA size, but not in interaction of these variables with IVH severity. This means that separate steps of a proposed two step model were valid, but not the entire two-step model. However, IVH happens early during extrauterine life or even during pregnancy and during the study there were more observations reflecting the aftermath following the IVH. Hence, it is uncertain whether the observed relationships are the cause or the epiphenomenon of brain injury. Moreover, the study population had high incidence of sepsis and use of inotropic support that are both known to be associated with IVH and predominantly occurred during the transitional period (23, 29). This led to the design of a new logistic regression model to investigate further the interaction of all these parameters at the third day after birth which was the closest time point during the transitional circulation period when all IVH cases had already occurred, and the maximum number of individual observations were available. A backward regression model was designed to assess whether PDA diameter, Burdialov score, cTOI, RI, sepsis and/or use of inotropes on Day 3 after birth could predict the occurrence of severe IVH. An additional backward regression model was designed substituting PDA diameter with PDA score to assess whether PDA score had better predictive value. Both models resulted in absolute the same model outcomes with only cTOI being associated with severe IVH (N= 46, B= -0.467, S.E: 0.22, Wald: 4.52, P= 0.033). This confirms the association between reduced cerebral oxygenation and the presence of IVH in this cohort. There was a very strong correlation between PDA score and PDA diameter (N: 46, Spearman's ρ: 0.888, P value<0.001) which can be considered collinear. Combined with relatively small sample size this may explain the identical performance of the backward model irrespective of using PDA diameter or PDA score.

PDA size and severe IVH

A significant association between PDA diameter and severe IVH was found, but not in interaction with the cerebral biomarkers. There was an increased incidence of severe IVH in infants with a larger PDA. Patients with IVH had the same number of observations (median of 5) compared to control group. Hence, the two groups (severe vs. non severe IVH) are equally represented. Moreover, as can be assessed in Figures 23 and 24, patients with severe IVH and larger PDA had lower cTOI and higher RI. The underlying pathophysiology is believed to be related to the PDA induced hypoxia and hypoperfusion because of shunting. PDA increased pulmonary flow and the consequent pulmonary plethora may interfere with gas exchange and causing systemic hypoxia (244).

There are conflicting data in the literature regarding the impact of PDA on IVH. Many studies have demonstrated an association between PDA and IVH (245, 246). However,

many others did not (247). This can be possibly attributed to the differences of power and sample size of the studies, the biological variability, the imprecision of measurements, the background demographics (IUGR incidence, severity of prematurity, use of MgSO₄ and antenatal steroids), which all alter the background risk of developing IVH. Our cohort had significantly higher rate of severe IVH (12%) compared to national (~6%) (248) and international average (~3.5%) (249). It is unlike clinical practice in LWH to differ significantly to national and international standards; hence the underlying causes may be related to the background socioeconomic and antenatal characteristics of our population (250). Nevertheless, the higher incidence of severe IVH in our population allowed us to reach statistically significant conclusions with a relatively small sample size.

Despite the observed association between PDA and IVH, a causal relationship has not been established, despite decades of intensive research and many clinical trials involving PDA treatment. There is evidence that prophylactic indomethacin and ibuprofen decrease the risk of severe IVH, but there is no evidence of a difference in mortality, chronic lung disease, neurodevelopmental outcome and other major neonatal outcomes (122, 199, 251). However, NSAID treatment is often associated with side effects (gastrointestinal bleeding and perforation, renal impairment). This is the reason why a recent Cochrane review recommended that no more studies of prophylactic PDA treatment are needed until evidence from ongoing trials with early targeted treatment become available (122).

The uncertainty regarding the causal relationship between PDA and IVH is also partially due to the complex pathophysiology of IVH. There are no validated biomarkers to assess the onset of IVH at a cellular level as there is a time delay between the initial cerebral insult and the appearance of ultrasonographic evidence of IVH. IVH is believed to occur predominantly during the first three days after birth (252, 253). However, there is latency between the initial cerebral injury and the appearance of the IVH on CrUSS. There is not yet a valid biochemical biomarker to assist IVH diagnosis in preterm infants. However, there are several biomarkers under investigation with the most promising being S100 β (a calcium sensor protein) and activin (254). It is interesting that S100ß measured in the maternal blood of pregnancies complicated by IUGR had very high predictive value for the development of IVH (sensitivity 100%, specificity 99.3% and 0.999 area under the ROC curve) (32). Activin was found to be in high concentrations in blood of preterm infants in the first hour after birth that subsequently developed IVH (sensitivity 100%, specificity 93% and positive predictive value of 79%) (255). If the antecedents of IVH can be traced back to pregnancy, it is uncertain whether PDA has a significant effect on IVH pathophysiology or the opposite, as the existence of an association does not imply the direction of this association. This finding also raises the issue of the antenatal events and sequelae leading to IVH before the delivery and the importance of working together with obstetric researchers to develop appropriate biomarkers to phenotype each pregnancy appropriately.

It is possible that IVH and/or cerebral dysfunction can actually disrupt normal PDA closure by altered autonomic modulation of vascular control. There is evidence that

altered autonomic function is detected before the appearance of IVH (42, 256) and IVH is subsequently associated with altered autonomic function (257). It is known that DA receives rich supply by adrenergic nerves which end in the ductal smooth muscle layer (73). The parasympathetic nerves are practically absent (258). However, parasympathetic activity increases quickly with maturation (259, 260). There is evidence that parasympathetic dominance or reduced sympathetic activity is associated with the presence of PDA (76). It is known from animal studies that adrenaline or noradrenaline can constrict the foetal DA (259). It is also suggested that PDA causes parasympathetic stimulation through its effect on left atrial enlargement and stimulation of atrial natriuretic peptide secretion (261). However, there are no studies investigating specifically the interplay between IVH, autonomic function and PDA.

Summary

PDA is associated with severe IVH (N=52, Coef=0.532, Z=3.105, P=0.00190) and this is supported by previous published data. PDA steal phenomenon is possibly related to this interaction. However, there is uncertainty regarding any causal association and the direction of the association.

PDA size and cerebral oxygenation

A negative association between cerebral oxygenation and PDA diameter was found. As PDA diameter increased cTOI slowly decreased in a linear fashion. Overall, there is no evidence of IVH interaction with this association and there is large variability of the observed values. Many patients with PDA larger than 2 mm had cerebral oxygenation less than 55 which is considered the lower end of the normal range. Many of these observations were from patients with severe IVH, which led to the variation in cTOI according to the size of the PDA observed in Figure 23 with patients with severe IVH and larger PDA having lower cTOI. As PDA diameter increases the blood volume stolen from the systemic circulation also increases and the brain perfusion may become compromised. However, the increased preload leads to higher stroke volume and higher left ventricular output, which becomes hyperdynamic and compensates the volume run off. The threshold when the steal phenomenon overcomes the compensatory ability of the premature myocardium which has reduced systolic and diastolic reserves is still unknown (262). There is also the component of the cerebral autoregulation which is impaired in the premature infant, but previous studies have demonstrated premature brain to be able to regulate cerebral blood flow in a considerably wide range of BP (21). These thresholds are possibly shifting depending on multiple other parameters affecting cerebral and cardiac function (GA, medication, background disease severity, infection, carbon dioxide etc).

There is conflicting evidence in the literature regarding the interaction of PDA with cerebral oxygenation. A study involving 38 extremely preterm infants found that there was no difference on cerebral oxygenation between infants with large (diameter >3mm) and moderate PDA size (diameter between 1.5-3mm) (159). However, Lemmers et al. found that there was a significant difference between infants with a PDA (PDA diameter > 1.4mm and LA:Ao ratio >1.4) and equally matched infants without clinical signs of PDA (however only 50% had echocardiographic confirmation)

(263). This study excluded infants with IVH > Grade 2. A more recent study from the same group claimed that "Cerebral oxygenation is related to the ductal diameter, as measured by echocardiographic examination, and cerebral oxygenation takes a different course over time, depending on the status of the duct". However, these claims were not supported well by the presented data as there was no statistically and clinically significant difference between the compared groups (264).

Summary

There was a negative linear correlation between PDA diameter and cTOI (N=52, F=4.16, P=0.017). Many patients with PDA larger than 2 mm had cerebral oxygenation less than 55 which is considered the lower end of normal range. The PDA steal phenomenon is possibly involved in this interaction.

Cerebral oxygenation and severe IVH

There was a significant association between cTOI and severe IVH. cTOI was used as a marker of cerebral oxygenation and cerebral blood flow in our study. IVH occurred mainly in the first days after birth. All data before and after IVH appearance were included and, since there were more observation time points beyond the transitional period, the observed association could be a consequence of the altered cerebral haemodynamics imposed by the severe cerebral injury. However, it was previously demonstrated patients with severe IVH having simultaneously lower cTOI and larger PDA and higher RI. These complex interactions make the discussion regarding causation difficult. Nevertheless, cerebral hypoxia and hypoperfusion, whether a cause or aftermath, are implicated in IVH pathophysiology as previously discussed. These results are consistent with the published literature. It has been previously shown that cTOI was higher and cerebral fractional oxygen extraction (cFOE) lower before the development of severe IVH in preterm infants <32 weeks (164). In the same study significantly more infants with severe IVH needed PDA treatment. These results were also replicated by Noori et al. who found cardiac function and cerebral blood flow to be stable in preterm infants who do not develop IVH during the transitional period. Those developing IVH during this period had lower systemic perfusion and cerebral blood flow followed by an increase in these variables preceding the development of IVH (265). Alderliesten et al. recently published a study demonstrating that cerebral hypoxia was associated with lower composite cognitive outcome at 24 months. However, the odds ratio was very low 1.019 (95% Cl 1.003-1.035) (266). The same study found that a cTOI of <55% was significantly associated with severe IVH (OR 1.017; Cl 1.007-1.026). This group did not find an association between hyperoxia and adverse neurodevelopmental outcome. However, another group found not only cerebral hypoxia, but also cerebral hyperoxia to be associated with poorer cognitive outcome. They found also that high cFOE is associated with poorer motor outcome (155).

Summary

Lower cTOI was associated with severe IVH (N=52, Coef=-0.0882, Z=-3.394, P=0.00690), higher RI and larger PDA. Reduced cerebral oxygenation may have been a reflection of the altered cerebral haemodynamics induced by the cerebral injury.

PDA size and anterior cerebral artery resistivity index

A positive correlation was found between PDA diameter and RI during a long period of observation from birth to discharge. RI is considered a marker of arterial resistance and it has been used as surrogate marker of blood flow for trend analysis (267). Resistance in systemic circulation is mainly affected by the peripheral vasculature (small arteries and arterioles). However, this applies more in adult studies where the cardiac anatomy and function, preload and afterload remain considerably stable over the study period. However, this is not applicable in studies in preterm infants where the PDA and PFO shunting change continuously with postnatal maturation and affect preload and afterload. This is also supported by animal studies which found that PI is not a direct measure of cerebral arterial resistance (268).

PDA connects the high resistance systemic circulation to the low resistance pulmonary circulation. DA diameter is equal to the descending aorta diameter at birth and subsequently decreases (269). This means that PDA can divert considerable blood volume leading to the PDA-induced steal phenomenon. The PDA steal phenomenon decreases diastolic blood pressure and the end-diastolic velocity in the cerebral arteries. Current ultrasound technology does not allow accurate measurement of the ACA diameter in extremely preterm infants and hence absolute blood flow cannot be calculated. RI was found to correlate linearly with cerebral perfusion pressure in an animal study (270). However, as an index its absolute value may remain stable if both systolic and diastolic velocities are equally affected and hence it may be unaffected in low blood flow situations which affect both the numerator and denominator of the

ratio. It is well known that PDA increases preload which leads to left atrial and left ventricular dilatation and subsequently increase in stroke volume (271). Increased stroke volume is associated with increased peak systolic velocity (272). PDA leads to increased peak systolic velocity induced by the increased preload and decreased diastolic velocity induced by the drop in vascular resistance which finally results in higher RI. Hence, RI can be also considered a surrogate marker of "steal phenomenon".

Previous studies had mixed results regarding the effect of PDA on cerebral RI. Perlman et al. investigated the possible association between PDA and IVH (273). In a small population of more mature infants (mean GA 30 weeks) in the pre-steroids and presurfactant era, when PDA diagnosis was made from clinical signs and indirect echocardiographic biomarkers, they found that PDA increased the ACA pulsatility index (PI). They speculated, since fluctuations of blood flow velocity in the ACA may cause rupture of the capillaries of the germinal matrix, PDA maybe involved in the IVH pathophysiology (273). Subsequent studies demonstrated similar results (274). Shimada et al. found that ACA PI was higher in infants with haemodynamically significant PDA, but other biomarkers (ACA temporal mean blood flow velocities and vascular resistance) were not (97). These findings led them to the conclusion that compensatory increase of cardiac output can maintain cerebral perfusion despite significant left to right shunt across the PDA.

However, a recent small study of 25 extremely preterm infants with mean GA 27 weeks did not find a correlation between PDA diameter and middle cerebral artery RI in the

first week after birth (275). This was in contrast with the observed impaired blood flow patterns in renal and celiac arteries and attributed to the pre-ductal position of the neck vessels and the intact cerebral autoregulation of the study population. However, this may be due to the study being underpowered to show any significant difference.

Another large study which followed up 235 extremely preterm infants up to discharge found that RI indices in carotid arteries, basilar artery, anterior cerebral artery, and pial and striatal arteries differed with larger arteries showing significantly higher RI (276). RI in ACA was significantly higher in infants with hsPDA, but the difference was not large (0.75 vs. 0.82). However, this difference was not present in the rest of the arteries. Moreover, in contrast with previous studies (274, 277), they found no significant difference of RI pre- and post-PDA ligation. However, the sample size for this comparison was again small for this subgroup analysis. The same study emphasised the need for future studies to develop a methodology for simultaneous assessment of multiple biomarkers similar to the current study.

Summary

Increasing PDA size was associated with an increased RI (N=52, F=19.78, P<0.0001) and this could be attributed to the steal phenomenon.

Anterior cerebral artery resistivity index and cerebral oxygenation

There was a negative association between RI and cTOI during a long period of monitoring from birth to discharge. cTOI was used in the present study as a surrogate marker of cerebral oxygenation (228) and RI as a surrogate of steal phenomenon and

cerebral blood flow. It was previously demonstrated that PDA correlated with both cTOI and RI (263, 278). The fact that RI was correlated to cTOI means that PDA effects are not restricted locally in the descending aorta, but have further haemodynamic effects on cerebral circulation and affect cTOI. cTOI remained stable until a RI value of 0.75 and following this point started decreasing (Figure 26). This may represent a cut off point for the transition to loss of cerebral autoregulation (279). It is interesting that all patients with RI=1 had PDA diameter >1.5mm which is the cut off point for the diagnosis of hsPDA for many clinical trials for PDA treatment (Figure 22). Moreover, many patients with severe IVH had reduced cerebral oxygenation even when cerebral arterial resistance remained within normal limits (Figure 24). This maybe a reflection of the disturbed cerebral vascular control following a severe cerebral injury. However, there were many observations from patients without severe IVH who had very low cTOI and high RI. This, combined with the wide confidence intervals observed in the IVH group, suggested that the interaction of the aforementioned biomarkers with severe IVH was not statistically significant.

There are limited studies investigating the interaction of RI with cTOI in patients with PDA. A study involving 31 extremely preterm infants who were treated for hsPDA with ibuprofen during the transitional period found that the MCA RI and mean blood flow velocity had a positive correlation with cFOE before and after PDA treatment. Moreover, the mean blood flow velocity correlated positively with cTOI. However, the study did not find a significant correlation between PDA diameter and cTOI (280). Hoodbhoy et al. studied preterm infants who underwent PDA ligation at one month after birth with a matched control group without PDA and found that infants in the PDA group had higher MCA RI, which normalized following ligation (281). Both MCA RI and PI decreased in the PDA group with concomitant decrease of peak systolic and increase in diastolic velocity.

Summary

There was a positive correlation between RI and cTOI (N=52, F=4.03, P=0.0035). This finding in combination with the other associations found in current thesis suggests that PDA has a potentially significant effect on the cerebral circulation resulting in diminished blood flow. Moreover, patients with severe IVH had reduced cerebral oxygenation even when cerebral arterial resistance remained within normal limits.

PDA size and Burdjalov score

A significant negative non-linear correlation was found between PDA diameter and Burdjalov score. However, there was no association between Burdjalov score and IVH severity. Infants with larger PDA had lower Burdjalov score, but this relationship was not linear (Figure 20). Burdjalov score increased with increasing maturity and the analysis included data over a long maturation period from birth to discharge from hospital. Moreover, beyond two weeks postnatal age only infants with persistent PDA were studied. This skewed the observed relation between the biomarkers as some infants in later postnatal age had both large PDA (as PDA size was increasing according to their body growth) and higher Burdjalov score as their brain was becoming more mature. Adjustment for postnatal age (Figure 21) abolished the skewness of the trend on Figure 20 and demonstrated a consistent trend of larger PDA size correlating with lower Burdjalov score for both groups (infants younger and older than two weeks). These findings suggest that PDA may have a significant effect on cerebral electrical activity.

There are only few studies using EEG/aEEG to study PDA pathophysiology. A study with a similar population to the present study found that PDA has an independent negative effect on Burdjalov score and mainly affects aEEG continuity (184). Griemaier et al. found that Burdjalov score was reduced in preterm infants (GA 28–31 weeks) who received sedation and had a PDA as compared to preterm infants who received only sedation (205). However, the group of patients who received only sedation had significantly higher GA (30.1 vs. 29.5 weeks) and GA, as also shown in our study, is one of the main factors affecting Burdjalov score.

In the present study, the Burdjalov score increased rapidly during the first days after birth. This is consistent with a previous study demonstrating that rapid changes of EEG and aEEG traces take place during the first three days after birth and these are distinct to the slow changes associated with maturation (282, 283). During the transitional period from the intra- to extra-uterine life, evolution of EEG traces over one day is equivalent to 1-2.5 weeks of maturation of lateral postnatal ages (282). There are also other contributing factors affecting Burdjalov score. PNA and GA had the strongest influence on the development of the aEEG tracing as well as the administration of drugs such as morphine and caffeine (283).

Summary

There was a negative non-linear correlation between Burdjalov score and PDA diameter (N=52, F=12.55, P<0.0001). This is possibly due to lower cerebral blood perfusion induced by the PDA related steal phenomenon. However, this relationship is complex as postnatal maturation has a significant effect on evolution of Burdjalov score and will be further analysed in Chapter 4.

Burdjalov score and cerebral oxygenation

A significant association was found between the Burdjalov score and cTOI (nonlinear association). The ideal association according to physiology should be a bell shape curve as normal cTOI values (55-80) should correspond to higher Burdjalov score and abnormal values on each side of this range with lower Burdjalov score. However, as can be assessed in Figure 27 this relationship was skewed by low cTOI values which were related to higher Burdjalov score. These datasets came from more mature infants at a later postnatal age when infants with persistent large PDA had higher Burdjalov score values due to the maturation process. Adjustment for postnatal age (Figure 28) abolished the skewness of the trend on Figure 27 and demonstrated a bell shape relationship between cTOI and Burdjalov score for both groups (younger and older than two weeks) with cTOI values outside the normal range correlating with lower Burdjalov scores. This also signifies the importance of considering postnatal maturation when assessing the biomarker relationship during a long observation period.

It should be also noted that cerebral oxygenation was measured from the frontal lobes and aEEG was measured on the parietal lobes. Despite this spatial difference, a significant association was found, which means that the reduced cerebral oxygenation

in frontal lobe reflecting cerebral hypoperfusion may be more generalised and affect cerebral electrical activity in other brain areas. This is very possible as all cerebral arteries are connected and receive blood supply from the circle of Willis. However, a previous study demonstrated regional and hemispheric asymmetries in newborn cerebral blood flow using non-invasive optical techniques (158).

To the best of my knowledge this is the first time these two cerebral biomarkers have been used in the assessment of preterm infants with PDA. This methodology has previously mainly been used in infants with hypoxia-induced encephalopathy (284). A study which utilised this methodology during resuscitation found that preterm infants who developed severe IVH or died had significantly lower cTOI from 8 to 10 min of life (285). In that study aEEG was not predictive of death or IVH. There is evidence that changes in cTOI are likely to precede changes in EEG activity as indicated by a study in infants undergoing sedation with propofol. However, the underlying pathophysiology may be different in PDA physiology (286). A recent report emphasised the need for studies which utilise similar study methodology and pointed out that this may become the future of neonatal neuromonitoring (287).

Summary

There was a non-linear association between Burdjalov score and cerebral oxygenation in infants with PDA (N=52, F=5.78, P=0.0002). However, this association was skewed as the monitoring period was long with postnatal maturation also having a significant impact on Burdjalov score. Adjustment for postnatal maturation revealed a bell shape

relationship between Burdjalov score and cerebral oxygenation demonstrating that biological phenomena should not only be studied using linear models. Simultaneous monitoring of cerebral oxygenation and electrical function may provide additional information on the impact of PDA on cerebral haemodynamics.

Burdjalov score and anterior cerebral artery resistivity index

There was no association between Burdjalov score and ACA RI. To the best of my knowledge there are no studies addressing this relationship in infants with PDA. A negative correlation between Burdialov score and RI would be expected on physiologic grounds; however, the overall trend pointed towards a positive correlation. The interpretation of the data was difficult as there was large variability of the observed biomarkers and maturation may have interfered with any possible relationship. Studies from different populations have shown conflicting outcomes. A study in extremely preterm infants showed that common carotid artery blood flow was not associated with EEG discontinuity. However, mean arterial BP had a negative relationship with EEG discontinuity (288). A study in very preterm IUGR infants found Burdjalov score to be lower and middle cerebral artery velocity to be higher compared to matched normal weight infants (289). It is interesting that in infants with complex congenital heart disease lower fetal cerebral Doppler indices showed significant association with decreased postnatal EEG indices and both were predictive of lower 18-month cognitive development scores (290). Victor et al. found in a population of preterm infants without a significant/persistent IVH no correlation between cardiac output and cerebral electrical activity (291). This study demonstrated that even the premature

brain has the ability for cerebral autoregulation and cerebral indices remain stable over a wide range of BP and cerebral flow.

A recent study in infants <32 weeks GA found that the Burdjalov score on day one was associated with trans-cerebellar diameter and biparietal width. On day three and in the first 72 hours, the Burdjalov score correlated with deep grey matter volumes. In the same study, Burdjalov score could also predict psychomotor developmental index (Bayley Scales of Infant Development II) at two years of age (292). There is evidence that early aEEG, recorded during the first hours after birth, correlates with long term outcomes in extremely preterm infants (293).

Summary

There was no significant association between Burdjalov score and ACA RI.

Burdjalov score and severe IVH

There was no association between Burdjalov score and severe IVH. This may be true or a consequence of reduced power of study in combination with our analysis methodology as data obtained over a long period of observations was aggregated into a single analysis. As it is demonstrated in Chapter 4 the stronger factors affecting Burdjalov score are postnatal age, morphine administration and gestation at birth. Hence, any useful predictive aEEG information detected over a short period may have been diluted by the noise created by the other parameters over a long observation period. However, results from studies focussed on the transitional period have shown that identifiable aEEG/EEG patterns are associated with IVH. EEG monitoring has a predictive value on the grade of IVH and abnormal EEG patterns often precede ultrasound evidence of IVH (294). There are multiple studies which relate abnormal aEEG patterns with abnormal neurological and clinical outcomes (40, 177, 295). There is also emerging evidence that aEEG parameters observed during the first 72 hours of life were associated with altered deep grey matter volumes, biparietal width and transcerebellar diameter at term equivalent age, as measured by MRI, and they also correlated with neurodevelopmental outcome (292). However, there are also negative reports which did not detect any association between aEEG and severe IVH. In one study, this outcome may have been due to the many artefacts generated during the resuscitation process (285).

Summary

There was no demonstrable association between the Burdjalov score and severe IVH.

Death

There was no association between PDA and death. Almost all the deaths occurred well after the first week of life. Only one-third of patients died from respiratory failure and the rest died from late onset sepsis. No patient died or care withdrawn due to IVH. Researchers are encouraged to use death as clinical outcome as it is an irreversible outcome and has important impact on the wider family and society. However, this is not always appropriate when assessing causal associations as the link between the disease and death maybe indirect and/or weak. Based on pathophysiology, PDA can contribute to respiratory failure due to the pulmonary overperfusion and increased pulmonary pressures and finally to death. However, the link between PDA and sepsis may not be direct and intuitive. Extremely preterm infants have a higher background risk of death and many predisposing risk factors (immature anatomy and physiology, unknown response to medication and multiple simultaneous medical interventions). Sepsis in preterm infants is primarily related to the immature immune system and protective mechanisms, the presence of multi-resistant microbial species in NICU and the multiple foreign body/equipment introduced to support their function and improve outcomes (intravascular lines, endotracheal tubes, gastroesophageal tubes etc). Hence, aggregating all causes of death in a composite death rate may not be informative of causation process or treatment efficacy.

Limitations

The study has several limitations. The sample size did not allow me to utilise more cardiac and cerebral biomarkers to build a more complex model as the study would have become underpowered. Hence, the analysis was limited to five biomarkers (one for every 10 patients). Consent issues made it challenging to recruit patients during the first three days of transitional circulation, when the most striking changes of cardiac and cerebral haemodynamics are observed. Many patients came from Level II neonatal units and enrolment was only possible on the second or third day of life. The same patients also had to be discharged back earlier, when they did not require intensive care. This led to variable number of different patients contributing data on each time point (Figure 8).

Technical issues and patients' critical clinical condition led to small percentage of missing data. Missing data on different observation time points necessitated the

application of multiple imputation procedure. However, it is always statistically preferable to impute rather than discard data. I discontinued monitoring patients with closed PDA after the second week, hence there were more data coming from patients with persistent PDA which skewed the observed chronological trends. The analysis utilised all the available data from birth to discharge and hence it is challenging to disentangle causation from aftermath relationship. RI and cTOI were obtained from the frontal lobe area, but aEEG from parietal area. Moreover, PDA and RI were instantaneous observations in comparison to cTOI and aEEG, which were the average of four hours monitoring and potentially could be influenced by other parameters.

Conclusion

I recruited 52 infants, monitored the PDA size, cerebral oxygenation, cerebral blood flow and electrical activity from birth to discharge and related these biomarkers to the occurrence of severe IVH. The results should be interpreted in view of the limitations described in pages 180-183. Babies with severe IVH had different temporal trajectories of the studied biomarkers (PDA diameter, PDA score, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI) during the transitional period and this persisted for weeks after birth indicating significant interaction between cardiac and cerebral haemodynamics pre and post IVH occurrence. Time point analysis during the transitional period demonstrated that babies with severe IVH had lower cTOI on Day 3 after birth and this persisted after accounting for sepsis and inotropic support on logistic regression analysis. There was a very strong correlation between PDA score and PDA diameter, which can be considered collinear.

When all data were assessed simultaneously an association between severe IVH and PDA and cTOI was demonstrated. Furthermore, there was evidence of association between cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI with PDA, but not in interaction with IVH severity. This means that isolated steps of the two-step model are valid, but not the entire two-step model. This may be a true observation, a result of the study methodology as data were aggregated over a long period into a single analysis or related to the small sample size of the study. It seems that IVH is associated with the presence of large PDA and lower cerebral oxygenation. However, taking into consideration that IVH happens early during the extrauterine life or even during the

pregnancy and there were more observations reflecting the aftermath following the IVH, it is uncertain whether the observed relationships are the cause or the aftermath of IVH. There was also a strong association between PDA size with all the cerebral biomarkers, which implied that PDA may have important effects on global cerebral function. Patients with severe IVH had reduced cerebral oxygenation even when cerebral arterial resistance remained within normal limits. I speculate that this may be the reflection of disturbed cerebral vascular control following a severe cerebral injury.

We are all born with a DA and this may allow the left ventricle to adapt to the acutely increased afterload after birth. However, DA in some preterm infants has a different natural course and is linked to cerebral injury. Whether and at which point the PDA becomes a disease is still uncertain and it is very possible this goalpost to be shifting depending on the rest of the neonatal comorbidities. Future studies can investigate possible interactions between cerebral injury, altered autonomic function and altered natural course of DA closure leading to a viscous circle of hsPDA, steal phenomenon, cerebral hypoperfusion, autonomic dysfunction and prolonged PDA patency.

Chapter 4: Linear mixed-effects analysis of longitudinal measurements of Burdjalov score with assessment of the impact of morphine and gestational age

Purpose of the section

Chapter 3 shows that there are multiple inter-relationships between parameters related to cerebral haemodynamics. Of these, the parameter that is closest to "brain function" is the Burdjalov score. As a summary of electrical activity within the skull, the Burdjalov score reflects brain activity and may serve as a real-time marker of the impact of prematurity, and subsequent treatments. The Burdjalov score is a potential pharmacodynamic endpoint that could be used to monitor the effects and safety of treatments. There are other influences on the Burdjalov score, and it is important to understand these influences so that the effects of treatments can be recognised.

The purpose of this chapter is to characterise some associations with the Burdjalov score and assess whether any effects of a medicine such as morphine are expected to affect Burdjalov score. These findings will contribute to decisions about the use of Burdjalov score as a pharmacodynamic outcome. GA and postnatal age are known to affect Burdjalov score (174, 184). Morphine is widely used as an analgesic in neonatal practice and is known to have effects on the Burdjalov score (296, 297). The associations between PDA (the focus of this thesis) and Burdjalov score taking account of age have not been described. Accordingly, the objective of this chapter is to build a linear mixed effect model to assess the impact of gestational age at birth, postnatal age/maturation, morphine administration and PDA diameter on Burdjalov score.

Methods

Population

The population studied was the same as in Chapter 3.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using the R statistical package and the rms library in consultation with Dr Antonio Eleuteri. Demographic factors were assessed using descriptive statistics. Descriptive data are reported as median and interquartile range for continuous parameters and as proportion (%) of the whole population for categorical outcomes. Groups compared using Mann-Whitney. A P value < 0.05 was considered significant. Detailed description of the statistical methods and model building is provided in the Results section.

Results

The data

The analysis included 52 infants with 268 complete observations. The observed values for time after birth ranged from 1 day to 114 days. Due to the extreme dispersion of observations (extreme values only appear once in the data, which can cause stability problems in the analysis) natural logarithm of time was considered. Figure 32 shows the Burdjalov scores vs. postnatal age for all patients. The time points at which a patient was treated with morphine are marked with red colour. Inspection of the Burdjalov score data suggested a general increase with postnatal maturation and that morphine administration corresponded to lower scores.



Figure 32: Observed Burdjalov scores vs. postnatal age (log scale) for each subject. Time points of subjects treated with morphine are shown in red.

Preliminary analysis

A simple linear regression of Burdjalov score vs. (log) postnatal age shows that it is important to explicitly model the longitudinal nature of the data (repeated measures on the same subject at different time points) (Figure 33). The boxplots of the regression residuals by subject demonstrate the importance of consideration for a subject effect in the model, as the average residuals (represented by dots) are not all centred around zero, and their variabilities (denoted by the blue boxes) are of different magnitude. If the data did not exhibit subject variability, the residuals would all have been centred around zero and their magnitudes would have been comparable. Thus, the same model cannot describe the whole population.

Model

Following consultation with Dr Antonio Eleuteri we subsequently fitted a series of linear regressions of Burdjalov score vs. (log) postnatal age for each subject (only 46 subjects could be used in this analysis since five patients had only one observation, and we required at least two observations per patient to assess the trend). Figure 33 shows the extreme inter-subject variability both in the intercept and slope of the model. Hence, it became necessary to build a more complex model in which both the intercept and model coefficients were random rather than fixed. Neither morphine nor gestational age information were used in these simple models, since at this stage we were only interested in assessing the appropriateness of a longitudinal model.



Figure 33: Linear regression residual plots of all individuals of the study for the assessment of model fit.
Demographics

The background demographics were similar to Chapter 3 and are presented divided into two groups: morphine (24 infants) vs. no morphine administration (22 infants) (Table 15). Morphine was given in 46 occasions out of 262 observations (17.5%). Morphine was given as an infusion and at a variable dose as per patients' condition and preference of the attending medical team. Morphine was mainly administered during the transitional circulation (30 out of 46 occasions) and subsequently on occasions when the infants became unwell with sepsis and needed intubation (up to the third week after birth). Infants treated with morphine had a significantly higher incidence of PROM (14 vs. 6, P-value=0.036), received antenatal antibiotics more frequently (20 vs. 12, P-value=0.036), were also significantly less mature (median (IQR), 25.9 (1.7) vs. 27.4 (2.2), P-value=0.002) and had lower BW (0.78 (1.7) vs. 0.95 (0.27), P-value=0.002) (Table 15). These infants had also lower APGAR scores at 5 min (5 (4) vs. 5 (5), Pvalue=0.013) and lower cord pH (P-value=0.019). All infants who died received morphine and this resulted in a statistically significant difference (7 vs. 0, Pvalue=0.007). Almost all the severe IVHs occurred also in the morphine group (five out of the six cases), however the difference was not statistically significant.

Maternal demographics			
	Morphine (N=24)	No Morphine (N=22)	
Maternal BMI	27.3 (10.1)	24.8 (8.4)	
Maternal age (years)	31 (5.5)	31 (7.5)	
Twin pregnancy	4 (17%)	4 (19%)	
Alcohol	1 (4%)	1 (5%)	
Smoking	3 (13%)	1 (9%)	
Hypertension	3 (13%)	4 (18%)	
Chorioamnionitis	9 (38%)	6 (27%)	
PROM	14 (58%) *	6 (27%) *	
Perinatal antibiotics	20 (83%) *	12 (55%) *	
Indomethacin	2 (8%)	2 (9%)	
MgSO₄	15 (63%)	15 (68%)	
IUGR	3 (13%)	0	
Steroids			
Complete course	20 (83%)	15 (68%)	
Any dose	4 (17%)	5 (23%)	
	Perinatal demographics		
GA (weeks)	25.9 (1.7) **	27.4 (2.2) **	
BW (kg)	0.78 (0.23) **	0.95 (0.27)**	
Male	18 (75%)	12 (55%)	
Mode of delivery			
SVD	12 (50%)	12 (55%)	
Emergency CS	12 (50%)	8 (35%)	
Elective CS	0	1 (5%)	
Instrumental	0	1 (5%)	
Advanced resuscitation	12 (50%)	5 (23%)	
APGAR 5	7 (4) *	8 (5) *	
Cord pH	7.28 (0.19) *	7.34 (1.95) *	
BMI: body mass index, PROM: prolonged rupture of membranes, SVD: spontaneous vaginal delivery,			
IUGR: intrauterine growth restriction. Data presented as number of patients or median and IQR or			
percentage as appropriate.			
GA (weeks) 25.9 (1.7) ** 27.4 (2.2) ** BW (kg) 0.78 (0.23) ** 0.95 (0.27)** Male 18 (75%) 12 (55%) Mode of delivery 5VD 12 (50%) 12 (55%) Emergency CS 12 (50%) 8 (35%) Elective CS 0 1 (5%) Instrumental 0 1 (5%) Advanced resuscitation 12 (50%) 5 (23%) APGAR 5 7 (4) * 8 (5) * Cord pH 7.28 (0.19) * 7.34 (1.95) * BMI: body mass index, PROM: prolonged rupture of membranes, SVD: spontaneous vaginal deliver IUGR: intrauterine growth restriction. Data presented as number of patients or median and IQR of percentage as appropriate. * P-value < 0.05, ** P-value = 0.002			

Table 15: Summary of the background maternal and perinatal demographics.

•

Linear mixed-effects models

We next considered a longitudinal model where both the intercept and time coefficient were normal random variables. We adjusted also for gestational age and morphine. We also assessed whether gestational age and/or morphine enter the model as fixed effects or random effects. Three models were fitted, corresponding to different hypotheses as shown in Table 16. The best model was the one with morphine as an additional random effect as it had the lower AIC. This model is described in Table 17. All four parameters (postnatal maturation, use of morphine, GA and PDA size) had statistically significant impact on Burdjalov score variability with the postnatal maturation and use of morphine having the highest P-values. Postnatal maturation and use of morphine were the parameters with the stronger contribution to the Burdjalov score variability in our population, which was roughly ten times stronger in comparison to the PDA size and baseline GA at birth.

Random effect	df	AIC
Intercept + Time after birth	8	1012.05
Intercept + Time after birth + Morphine	11	967.47
Intercept + Time after birth + Gestational age	11	1018.05

Table 16: Assessment of best longitudinal model fit of the association with Burdjalov score.

df: number of parameters (degrees of freedom), AIC: Akaike Information Criterion, an information-theoretic measure of the trade-off between model complexity and model fit (the lower the AIC, the better the model).

Parameter	Estimated	Standard deviation	F	P-value
	coefficient	of random effect		
Postnatal age	2.047	0.671	268.12	<0.0001
Morphine	-2.91	2.91	473.99	<0.0001
Gestational age	0.279	-	7.72	0.0077
PDA	-0.194	-	4.45	0.036

Table 17: Random effects model of the interaction of Burdjalov score with the rest of the model parameters.

We next assessed whether the model assumptions were satisfied. The two fundamental assumptions were:

- 1- The within-group errors are normally and independently distributed with zero mean and constant variance
- 2- The random effects are normally distributed with mean zero and are independent for different groups

Figure 34 shows the residual boxplots from each subject. This was compared with the previous residual graph of the naive linear model (Figure 33). The boxplots in Figure 34 cluster around zero and they are much shorter, denoting a smaller variation. This suggests that the new model describes better the observation variation in the data. Figure 35 shows the quantile-quantile plot of the residuals vs. the standard normal. The assumption of normality seems reasonable although there is some asymmetry. Figure 36 shows the quantile plot of the estimated random effects in the model. The plots in Figure 36 are approximately linear, which means the model provides an accurate description of the observed variability in the data. In all cases, no strong deviation from normality can be detected, with the exception of the lower tail.

Interpretation

Our results can be interpreted as follows: for each week increase of postnatal and gestation age the Burdjalov score increases by 2.047 points and 0.279 respectively, whereas for each mm of PDA diameter increase Burdjalov score decreases by 0.194 and morphine administration results in Burdjalov score decrease by an average of 2.91

points. These results should be considered in conjunction with the fact that Burdjalov score ranges from zero to maximum fourteen points.



Figure 34: Linear mixed effects regression residuals for the model described in Table 17 assessing residual boxplots from each subject.



Figure 35: Quantile plot of the random effects in the model described in Table 17.



Figure 36: Quantile plots of random effects for intercept, time and morphine for the model shown in Table 17.

Summary

In conclusion, we modelled the longitudinal measurement of the Burdjalov score and its dependence on gestation and postnatal age, the PDA diameter and administration of morphine. The model suggests heterogeneity amongst subjects of time evolution of the Burdjalov score, and the effect of morphine on subjects. On average, Burdjalov score increases with postnatal age and with baseline gestational age; but decreases with morphine administration and the presence of a larger PDA.

Discussion

This is the first study which investigated the interaction between Burdjalov score, GA at birth, postnatal maturation, neonatal morphine administration and PDA diameter over a long period from birth to discharge in extremely preterm infants with all the common neonatal comorbidities. There are previous studies assessing the PDA effect on Burdjalov score, but PDA was considered as categorical variable (205). I found a significant relationship of all the studied parameters with Burdjalov score progression, but morphine administration had the strongest association with Burdjalov score followed by postnatal maturation, GA and PDA.

Morphine

It is well known that morphine administration has significant effects on aEEG activity (296, 297) and would therefore be expected to result in a lower total Burdjalov score. However, we monitored our patients from birth to discharge and morphine administration coincided with the first period of transitional circulation when infants were haemodynamically unstable and subsequently when they became unwell usually due to sepsis and required reintubation. Hence, morphine administration in our study coincided with periods of increased disease severity. Morphine also was given to more immature infants with lower BW who had higher prevalence of PROM and received more often antenatal antibiotics. Our model has accounted for GA and postnatal age, but any residual effects could not be excluded as it is known that all these parameters are related to worsen neonatal outcomes and higher prevalence of cerebral injury (298, 299). The higher prevalence of death in the infants receiving morphine should be assessed in conjunction with the previous observations and considering that morphine administration is part of treatment protocol in critically unwell infants.

Our results are consistent with previous studies, which demonstrated that morphine depresses aEEG/EEG activity (283, 300, 301). Morphine is a strong opioid that activates four different opioid receptors and causes sedation and analgesia through its actions in the central nervous system (302). Morphine activates a G-protein coupled receptor. When the receptor is activated, calcium influx decreases resulting in a lower presynaptic neurotransmitter release. Moreover, morphine acts on potassium channels and promotes potassium efflux, which hyperpolarise post-synaptic neurons and results to a decrease of neurotransmitters excretion. These actions inhibit ascending neuronal pain pathways and the perception and response to pain is changed (303). The inhibitory neuronal effect is associated with the overall reduced cerebral activity observed by aEEG (304).

Moreover, there are possible interactions of morphine with the rest of the model parameters:

i. Morphine has vasodilatory properties, but its impact on PDA in preterm infants is unknown. Animal studies in rats have shown that morphine has cardioprotective effects and its underlying mechanism is possibly modulation of endothelial function and vasodilatation (305). Moreover, a study in humans demonstrated that morphine administration induces peripheral venous and arteriolar dilation by a reflex reduction in

229

sympathetic alpha adrenergic tone (306). There is lack of similar studies in preterm infants, but it is possible morphine to have vasodilatory effect on DA as we previously discussed the presence of sympathetic innervation in the DA and it is known from animal studies the in-utero preterm DA to be more sensitive to nitric oxide signalling to maintain its patency compared to term DA (84). However, a RCT has shown no difference in the incidence of PDA in infants treated with morphine, but the study was possibly underpowered to detect any difference (307).

- ii. Morphine has also potential neuroprotective effects. Opioid receptors are involved on the neuroprotective effects during remote limb ischemic postconditioning demonstrated in neonatal rat pups and direct morphine administration after hypoxia was found to decrease infarct size (308). There is lack of clinical studies, but the δ -opioid receptor is considered a potential therapeutic target for stroke (309).
- iii. There are many studies demonstrating the adverse effects of pain on cerebral growth and neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm infants (310). Two large RCTs have demonstrated beneficial effects of morphine administration in ventilated infants with reduction of IVH incidence in the treated group (311, 312).
- iv. On the other hand, there are concerns that morphine may have toxic effects on rapidly growing and developing brain of extremely preterm infants. There is inconsistent evidence regarding its long-term effects. In

230

vitro and animal studies raised concerns regarding a possible apoptotic effect after neonatal administration of morphine with long term consequences (313, 314). Concerns were raised by some clinical studies that its inhibitory action may alter cerebral anatomy or structure (315-317). However, existing studies have not demonstrated any strong evidence of adverse neurodevelpmental outcomes (316, 318, 319).

v. GA and postnatal maturation can also have a role in the morphine-brain function interaction as there is evidence of developmental and maturation processes in the presence and function of opioid receptors in the preterm brain (320). However, there are no data from human studies.

Gestation age and postnatal maturation

GA and postnatal age have significant impact on Burdjalov score progression and these results are consistent with previous studies (170, 171, 174, 205, 321-324). A study in preterm infants without IVH found that the effect of postnatal age on aEEG parameters was 6.4 to 11.3 times higher than GA (283). In univariate analysis, indomethacin and morphine administration were associated with aEEG measures. However, on multivariate regression only GA and PNA were associated with increased qualitative and quantitative aEEG measures. It is possible that the significance of GA in our study would have been stronger, if the inclusion criteria allowed recruitment of infants with wider GA range.

The biological background of these observations lies on the progressive maturation of fetal and neonatal brain with advanced GA and postnatal maturation (325, 326). The underlying mechanisms between neuronal activity and connectivity in relation to the observed EEG/aEEG patterns are poorly understood in preterm infants and are beyond the scope of the current analysis (327). Neuronal migration is almost completed by 23 weeks gestation age, but the cerebral cortex is still unfolded and undergoes rapid folding and maturation in the subsequent weeks (328). A small study of very preterm infants without IVH showed the significant correlation between the inter-burst interval in the EEG and cortical folding on magnetic resonance imaging with postnatal age (329). Moreover, the burst interval duration is a marker of the overall EEG background activity and was found to be correlated to the overall cortical folding. Finally, a previous study demonstrated Burdjalov score and MRI to be predictive of neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years of corrected age in very preterm infants (292).

In Chapter 3 an association between IVH and Burdjalov score was demonstrated. However, IVH was not included in the current model due to the limited power of the study (one factor per ten patients). It is known that severe IVH has significant and prolonged effects on aEEG as all patterns assessed in Burdjalov score were found to be lower in infants with IVH and some of them persisted up to 36 weeks' corrected age (206). Clinical studies demonstrated that early aEEG pattern can predict both shortand long-term outcome in preterm infants (172, 293).

232

Patent Ductus Arteriosus

PDA has significant effects on cerebral electrical activity. Chapter 3 discussed the interaction of PDA with the rest of the cerebral biomarkers and more specifically with Burdialov score. On the basis of the current analysis the strength of each individual parameter in the progression of Burdialov score was evaluated. Considering PDA as a reference for comparison of the strength of the other variables on the Burdjalov score, each mm increase of PDA diameter was equivalent to 1 week of gestation age at birth, morphine administration had an effect that was 15 times stronger and one week of postnatal age had 10.5 times stronger effect. These results provide a novel perspective on the assessment of the significance of PDA in relation to the risk of cerebral injury as it is very important to take into account the GA. If we assume a causative role for PDA, in an infant born at 24 weeks a 2mm PDA will have a different impact on cerebral function with different added risk for cerebral injury than the same size PDA in an infant born at 27 weeks. The results of the present analysis are consistent with other studies (184) and the results in Chapter 3, however the present study is the first to evaluate and quantify the impact of the PDA diameter on Burjdalov score during a period from birth to discharge.

Limitations

The study size did not allow inclusion of more variables in the model. This was the main reason for including the Burdjalov score which is a composite score. Sample size considerations were also the reason for not including IVH severity in the model. Morphine administration in our study coincided with periods of greater disease severity and was associated with lower gestation and BW, which are all associated with impaired cerebral function and worse clinical outcomes. The statistical model has accounted for GA and postnatal age, but any residual effects could not be excluded as it is known that all these parameters are related to worsen neonatal outcomes and higher prevalence of cerebral injury.

Future studies

These studies need to be replicated in order to establish whether the results are generalisable. Comparisons between studies, sites and populations will be facilitated by the establishment of technical standards for the conduct of each assessment. If the results are consistent across sites and populations, it will be important to identify the relationship between the Burdjalov score and clinically meaningful outcomes. Outcomes that are meaningful to clinicians could include neurodevelopmental assessments and educational attainment. It is important to consider outcomes that are important to survivors of birth at extreme prematurity and their parents. The Burdjalov score will only be a useful pharmacodynamic outcome if changes in Burdjalov score predict changes in clinically meaningful outcomes. Once these essential studies to underpin the use of Burdjalov score have been conducted, it could be used in early phase studies of interventions to prevent or treat cerebral complications of birth at extreme prematurity.

Conclusion

This was a prospective observational study which followed up extremely preterm infants with a PDA from birth to discharge. It demonstrated that cerebral electrical

234

activity increased with postnatal age and with baseline gestational age, but decreased with morphine administration and the presence of a larger PDA. The findings confirmed:

- the significant effects of morphine administration on cerebral function and the potential short- and long-term effects
- the maturation processes that take place following preterm birth
- that GA at birth is an independent significant parameter when aEEG patterns are assessed
- PDA has significant effects on cerebral electrical activity.

The study showed that the Burdjalov score can be standardised for known influences and used to assess the effects of a treatment.

Chapter 5: Neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal maternal MgSO₄ administration

Purpose

This Chapter addresses Objective III in Chapter 1 in order to assess the extent to which an intrapartum administered vasodilator (MgSO₄) is associated with PDA function and cerebral physiology. The null hypothesis was that antenatal MgSO₄ administration has no effect on neonatal serum Mg²⁺, PDA score and cerebral biomarkers.

Methods

This was a prospective convenience observational study recruiting infants 24-28+6 weeks' gestation and postnatal age \leq 72 hours. The same cohort of patients as described in Chapter 3 was investigated and methods were previously described in Chapter 2 (page 71).

Results

Data

Fifty-one infants were recruited with median GA 26.6 weeks [Interquartile range (IQR) 25.7-28.0] and median BW 900 grams (IQR 760-1,080). Other demographic variables are shown in Table 18. Thirty-three mothers (65%) received antenatal MgSO₄ for neuroprotection (including seven who had preeclampsia) and eighteen did not receive MgSO₄. Half of the infants, who were not exposed to maternally administered MgSO₄, were transferred from a hospital where MgSO₄ administration for neuroprotection was not standard practice; the rest were not exposed to MgSO₄ due to emergency situations [home birth (one), cord prolapse (two), placental abruption (two), not enough time (two) and MgSO₄ not being considered as a therapeutic option (three)]. The median duration of MgSO₄ infusion was 7.5 hours (IQR 3.0-12.0). Background

demographics were similar between the two groups without a statistically significant difference.

	No antenatal MgSO ₄	Antenatal MgSO ₄	
Patients, n (%)	18 (35)	33 (65)	
Maternal age (years)	32 (31-35)	31 (26-34)	
Maternal booking BMI (kg/m ²)	24.7 (23.6-37.1)	26.2 (22.0-32.4)	
SGA, n (%)	1 (2)	4 (8)	
Chorioamnionitis, n (%)	4 (8)	11 (21)	
Onset of labour			
Spontaneous preterm labour, n (%)	17 (33)	26 (51)	
latrogenic: Pre-eclampsia	1 (2)	7 (14)	
Antenatal steroids, n (%)			
No	2 (4)	0	
1 dose	5 (10)	6 (12)	
2 doses	11 (21)	27 (53)	
Mode of delivery, n (%)			
Vaginal	12 (24)	17 (33)	
Caesarean	6 (12)	16 (31)	
MgSO₄ infusion duration (hours)	0	7.5 (3-12)	
Male infants, n (%)	11 (21)	21 (41)	
Gestation (weeks)	26.5 (25.7-27.7)	26.7 (25.4-28.2)	
Birth weight (Kg)	0.92 (0.718-1.17)	0.89 (0.76-0.975)	
Cord BE (mmol/L)	-6.4 (-0.6-(-16.3))	-3.4 (-2-(-6.1))	
APGAR 5 minutes	8 (3-9)	7 (6-8)	
Data presented as median and IQR. BMI: Body mass index, PROM: prolong rupture of membranes,			
PIH: Pregnancy induced hypertension, BE: base excess, SGA: small for gestational age.			

Table 18: Maternal and neonatal demographics among those with and withoutantenatal MgSO4 administration.

Preliminary analysis

Regression analysis showed a significant association between MgSO₄ exposure and neonatal Mg²⁺ during the first three days after birth (coefficient=0.21, F= 5.31, P=0.0024, Figure 37). Figure 37 suggests that the relationship is nonlinear, so it cannot be described by a single parameter and the model coefficient provides a simple estimate of the "trend" demonstrated by the graph.

Model

BW and maternal BMI are the background demographic parameters which may have a significant effect on Mg²⁺ and hence on cerebral and cardiovascular biomarkers and severity of cerebral injury. There was no significant association between Mg²⁺ and neonatal BW, PDA score, cerebral oxygenation index, Burdjalov score or IVH (Table 19). Maternal BMI was inversely strongly associated with Mg²⁺ (coefficient=-0.0029, F=6.86, P=0.0018). There was also evidence of a moderate interaction between BMI and MgSO₄ exposure (coefficient=-0.0078, F=5.01, P=0.028). Figure 38 shows a graphical representation of these associations and interactions.



Figure 37: Smoothed local polynomial regression fits (with 95% confidence intervals) of the relationship between duration of antenatal $MgSO_4$ infusion and the longitudinal measurements (over a 72 hours period) of neonatal Mg^{2+} .



Figure 38: Impact of BMI and antenatal MgSO₄ administration on neonatal serum magnesium concentrations.

Factor	Coefficient	F	P-value
Antenatal MgSO ₄	0.21	5.31	0.0024
ВМІ	-0.0029	6.86	0.0018
BMI * Antenatal MgSO ₄	-0.0078	5.01	0.028
BW	0.0022	0.51	0.60
BW * Antenatal MgSO₄	0.15	0.61	0.44
PDA score	0.0015	0.48	0.62
PDA score * Antenatal MgSO ₄	0.0039	0.22	0.64
Burdjalov score	0.0002	1.82	0.17
Burdjalov score * Antenatal MgSO ₄	0.017	1.82	0.18
стоі	-0.000036	0.13	0.88
cTOI * Antenatal MgSO₄	0.0052	0.20	0.65
IVH severity	-0.066	1.66	0.20
IVH severity * Antenatal MgSO ₄	-0.014	0.03	0.86
BMI: Body mass index, BW: birth weight, PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, cTOI: cerebral tissue			
oxygenation index, IVH: intraventricular haemorrhage. The asterisks (*) denote interaction			
(modelled as multiplication).			

Table 19: Linear regression model of neonatal Mg²⁺ and associated variables and biomarkers.

Statistics interpretation

A maternal BMI increase from 20 to 40 kg/m² was associated with a decrease in neonatal Mg^{2+} by an average of 0.06mmol/L and 0.16mmol/L, if $MgSO_4$ is not given. MgSO₄ administration results on average in a 0.21mmol/L increase of neonatal Mg^{2+} . Neonatal Mg^{2+} does not have any significant effect on PDA score and cerebral biomarkers.

Protocol of power analyses for cerebral oxygenation and Burdjalov score

Purpose

To inform a future study which will assess the relationship between antenatal MgSO₄ and perinatal pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics to indicate the optimal dose and infusion duration of MgSO₄, the sample size required to detect differences in the two parameters' means (cTOI and Burdjalov score) between subjects who have received or not MgSO₄ were calculated. To perform power calculations an estimate of the effect size was required. To calculate the effect size, assuming equal sample sizes in both groups, estimates of the standard deviations of the measurements in the two groups were also required. Since these are not known a priori, estimates from the available data were used (measurements were taken at day 3 after birth).

Cerebral oxygenation

Table 20 shows the sample standard deviation with 95% confidence intervals for the measurements of cerebral oxygenation.

Number of measurements	Sample standard deviation	95% Confidence interval
17 (no MgSO₄)	8.65	[6.45, 13.17]
28 (MgSO ₄)	6.99	[5.53, 9.51]

 Table 20: Cerebral oxygenation: sample standard deviation with 95% confidence

intervals of the measurements.

The previous analysis in Chapter 3 (Figure 10) as well as previous studies have demonstrated that the mean standard deviation of the cTOI values in preterm infants are in the range of five units (330). Moreover, the normal cTOI range is considered between 55-80 (25 units difference) which results in a calculated standard deviation approximately 5 units. Hence, it was assumed that a clinically relevant difference is 5 units. Table 21 shows the estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios: the first one using the sample standard deviation estimated from the data, the second one using the upper confidence limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of sample size). Both one tail and two tail options were considered, and three power levels. The significance level was set to 0.05.

	One tail	Two tails
Sample standard deviation	Power 0.95: 55 per group	Power 0.95: 66 per group
(effect size: 0.64)	(total 110)	(total 132)
	Power 0.9: 43 per group	Power 0.9: 53 per group
	(total 86)	(total 106)
	Power 0.8: 31 per group	Power 0.8: 40 per group
	(total 62)	(total 80)
Upper confidence limit of	Power 0.95: 115 per group	Power 0.95: 139 per group
sample standard deviation	(total 230)	(total 278)
(effect size: 0.44)	Power 0.9: 90 per group	Power 0.9: 110 per group
	(total 180)	(total 220)
	Power 0.8: 65 per group	Power 0.8: 83 per group
	(total 130)	(total 166)

Table 21: Summary of estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios using cerebral oxygenation index as surrogate biomarker to demonstrate clinical efficacy: 1. the sample standard deviation estimated from the data, 2. using the upper confidence limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of sample size). Both one tail and two tails options were considered, and three power levels. The significance level was set to 0.05.

Burdjalov score

Table 22 shows the sample standard deviation with 95% confidence intervals for the measurements of Burdjalov score. It was assumed that a clinically relevant difference is two units. Rasler et al. studied 232 babies and found that the difference in median Burdjalov scores between infants who had a severe outcome at one year corrected gestational age and those with a normal outcome was two points (331). Table 23 shows the estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios: the first one using the sample standard deviation estimated from the data, the second one using the upper confidence limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of sample size). Both one tail and two tails options were considered, and three power levels. The significance level was set at 0.05.

Number of measurements	Sample standard deviation	95% Confidence interval
17 (no MgSO ₄)	2.00	[1.49, 3.05]
27 (MgSO ₄)	3.11	[2.45, 4.26]

 Table 22: Burdjalov score: sample standard deviation with 95% confidence intervals of

the measurements.

	One tail	Two tails
Sample standard deviation	Power 0.95: 38 per group	Power 0.95: 46 per group
(effect size: 0.76)	(total 76)	(total 92)
	Power 0.9: 31 per group	Power 0.9: 38 per group
	(total 62)	(76 total)
	Power 0.8: 23 per group	Power 0.8: 29 per group
	(total 46)	(58 total)
Upper confidence limit of	Power 0.95: 75 per group	Power 0.95: 91 per group
sample standard deviation	(total 150)	(total 182)
(effect size: 0.54)	Power 0.9: 60 per group	Power 0.9: 74 per group
	(total 120)	(total 148)
	Power 0.8: 44 per group	Power 0.8: 55 per group
	(total 88)	(total 110)

Table 23: Summary of estimated sample sizes in two different scenarios using Burdjalov score as surrogate biomarker to demonstrate clinical efficacy: 1. the sample standard deviation estimated from the data, 2. using the upper confidence limit on the sample standard deviation (for a conservative estimate of sample size). Both one tail and two tails options were considered, and three power levels. The significance level was set to 0.05.

Interpretation of statistics

If a future two-armed clinical trial uses cTOI as surrogate biomarker for demonstrating the clinical efficacy of antenatal MgSO₄, it will need to recruit a total number of patients ranging from 80 to 132 depending on the desirable power (0.8 to 0.95 respectively, effect size: 0.64) (Table 21). If the probability to detect a positive result needs to be higher, 278 patients should be recruited (considering the upper confidence limit of sample standard deviation with 0.95 power and P-value 0.05; effect size 0.44). Respectively, Table 23 demonstrates that if Burdjalov score is used instead of cerebral oxygenation index, the number of patients needed to be recruited is lower; 58, 92 and 182 respectively.

Discussion

This is the first study to examine the complex interaction of antenatal MgSO₄ administration with neonatal Mg²⁺ and neonatal haemodynamics using echocardiography, cTOI and aEEG during the first three days after birth. We found that MgSO₄ administration, infusion duration and maternal BMI had a significant influence on neonatal Mg²⁺. MgSO₄ administration and neonatal Mg²⁺ did not have a significant effect on cardiovascular and cerebral biomarkers following multivariate analysis.

There is limited evidence regarding MgSO₄ PK in pregnancy (332) and whether an oneor two- compartment model is appropriate appears to depend on the clinical situation. Thus, Lu and colleagues described the MgSO₄ PK profile after intravenous administration as a 2-compartment model with a rapid distribution alpha phase followed by a relative slow beta phase of elimination (57), but Brookfield et al. suggested that preeclampsia may alter the Mg²⁺ pharmacokinetics and described an one-compartment model (332). MgSO₄ half-life in eclamptic mothers is four hours and appears to increase with renal failure (333). Animal studies found that MgSO₄ administration in pregnant rats crosses the placenta within two hours, can be detected in the fetal cerebrospinal fluid and preferentially concentrates into the forebrain (334, 335). Moreover, Mg²⁺ crosses the placental barrier actively (336) and there is positive correlation between maternal serum and umbilical cord Mg²⁺ (337, 338).

I found that neonatal Mg^{2+} increased during the first three days after birth in infants not treated with $MgSO_4$ (Figure 38) as previously reported (339), but remained stable in infants exposed to $MgSO_4$ and Mg^{2+} levels were higher than those considered

251

"normal". Figure 38 shows that the infants with the highest Mg²⁺ were those of mothers with the lowest BMI scores. Those infants with supranormal Mg²⁺ warrant further investigation as the biological actions of magnesium have been shown to be beneficial (44). However, a retrospective cohort study demonstrated that in a subset of preterm human infants with serum magnesium levels >2.3 mmol/L, there was increased mortality independent of BW and GA (340, 341). The definition of normality in a preterm population is difficult, but future studies should be designed in view of the present findings to assess an "ideal" or "normal" range.

The duration of MgSO₄ infusion is an important factor affecting Mg²⁺ as it determines the total amount of MgSO₄ administered to mothers and infants and is consistent with previous studies (342). Infants in the present study needed a maternal MgSO₄ infusion for more than eight hours to achieve Mg²⁺ levels above 1 mmol/L (Figure 37). This may indicate the need of at least 8 hours of infusion prior to birth for neuroprotective effects to be evident or that the loading dose was inadequate. However, another study did not find an association between infusion duration and clinical effect (neonatal death, cerebral palsy and multiple other neonatal morbidities) (52).

The effect of maternal BMI on Mg^{2+} was more apparent on days 2 and 3 (Figure 38). The clinical significance of BMI on $Mg2^+$ was mild as increasing BMI from 20 to 40 kg/m2 decreased Mg^{2+} by around 0.06mmol/L without $MgSO_4$ infusion, and by 0.2mmol/L with $MgSO_4$ infusion. A recent study found that women with higher BMI needed a longer duration of $MgSO_4$ infusion to reach a steady state, suggesting that

252
they may benefit from a tailored loading dose (343). Furthermore, in a study for eclampsia prophylaxis half of women who received 6 g MgSO₄ and then 2 g/h had subtherapeutic Mg²⁺ (aimed therapeutic range of 2 to 3.45 mmol/L) and BMI>30 was associated with subtherapeutic levels (344). Pregnancy may be associated with altered distribution of maternal Mg²⁺ due to weight gain that includes oedema and increased fat (58). These observations, supported by the results of our study, highlight the importance of achieving a better understanding of the handling of drugs during pregnancy and their effects on the fetus, and more precise individualised prescribing.

The multivariate model did not find a significant association between neonatal Mg^{2+} and PDA score (including interactions of the latter with MgSO₄). This is consistent with previous reports that found that antenatal MgSO₄ produced no consistent cardiovascular effects in the infant in the first 24 hours (345). However, other investigators found that higher Mg²⁺ at birth, but within normal limits, were associated with a delayed closure of the ductus arteriosus, and less severe IVH (346).

There is limited evidence regarding the effect of Mg²⁺ on cerebral haemodynamics and function. The multivariate model did not find any significant association between Mg²⁺ and cTOI or cerebral electrical activity. Verhagen et al. found that treating pregnant women with labetalol and/or MgSO₄ may influence cerebral oxygen extraction in their offspring shortly after birth as this intervention decreased cFOE on the first day after birth (347). Infants exposed to MgSO₄ compared to non-exposed babies had similar systemic and cerebral hemodynamics, but lower cFOE. These findings suggest reduced

cerebral metabolism may be a component of the neuroprotective actions of antenatal MgSO₄.

Study limitations

This study was based on a cohort with a small number of participants. The study was not specifically designed to assess the effect of antenatal MgSO₄ on neonatal haemodynamics and was underpowered to detect significant neonatal outcomes. Due to consent issues and other concurrent studies, a small number of infants were recruited from the first day after birth (Figure 8), when the haemodynamic changes are expected to be more significant and the difference in neonatal Mg²⁺ higher. Sample size limitations restricted the number of maternal covariates that could be studied. Moreover, the group of babies not received MgSO₄ were more likely to receive incomplete course of steroids, be born in a district hospital with less expertise in resuscitation and initial management of extreme prematurity, and underwent the stress of neonatal transfer.

Implications for future work

There is an urgent need for a well-designed study of the relationship between antenatal MgSO₄ and perinatal pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics to indicate the optimal dose and infusion duration of MgSO₄ to maximize neonatal Mg²⁺ (348). In the light of our results, points to consider in the planning (design and sample size) of perinatal PK-PD studies are the needs: 1) to resolve the interactions between BW, maternal BMI, GA and pre-eclampsia; 2) to explore whether the loading dose for mothers is sufficient to attain steady state for the fetus and whether personalising the loading dose makes a difference; 3) for sufficient participants to explore biomarkers of neonatal brain and haemodynamic function, in this case their relationships to Mg²⁺; 4) the potential for different relationships between the variables on different days after birth; 5) to pull data, when possible, from other available studies, but it will be important to capture the data consistently so that new studies maybe needed.

To inform these future studies we performed power analyses using the cerebral biomarkers as surrogate biomarkers to assess whether neuroprotection therapy had a significant effect on postnatal cerebral function. The analysis demonstrated that Burdjalov score may be a useful biomarker or surrogate outcome for the effect of Mg²⁺ in the brain and requires the recruitment of fewer patients. Rasler et al. studied 232 babies and found that the difference in median Burdjalov scores between babies who had a severe outcome at one year corrected gestational age and those with a normal outcome was two points (331). Accordingly, a two-armed trial that aimed to find the same difference in Burdjalov scores would need to recruit 74 babies in each arm (total 148 babies, P-value 0.05, power 90%, effect size of 0.54 when the clinically significant effect size was standardized by the upper limit of the 95% confidence intervals for standard deviation in Burdjalov scores found in this study). The same study to detect 5 units difference in cerebral oxygenation between the two arms would need to recruit more patients (110 on each arm, 220 in total). However, cerebral oxygenation is more easily measured and does not require a lot of offline signal processing and analysis

(349). The validity of both biomarkers to predict later neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm infants has been previously demonstrated (155, 349).

Conclusion

Maternal BMI and duration of MgSO₄ infusion (and their interaction) appear to have significant impact on neonatal Mg²⁺ that may merit changes to the dosing regimen, for example individualising the loading dose. This may also have important implications for other drugs used during pregnancy. No associations were demonstrated of Mg²⁺ with PDA score, cerebral oxygenation and cerebral electrical activity, although the number of patients studied was small.

Chapter 6: Pulse Transit Time, Pulse Wave Velocity and a novel biomarker in Preterm Infants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus

Introduction

PTT and PWV are validated biomarkers in adult vascular physiology (350-353). PTT is the time it takes the pulse pressure wave to travel through a specific segment of the arterial tree. PWV can be calculated from the physical distance between the heart and the signal detector divided by PTT. PWV is considered a surrogate of systemic vascular resistance. There has been little reported use of PWV or PTT in preterm infants probably in part due to the much higher HR and smaller physical distances, making the precision of the measurements having a greater influence.

PDA can have significant effects on cardiac and aortic haemodynamics. The presence and severity of PDA are difficult to assess continuously in preterm neonates. Although echocardiography is the gold standard for PDA assessment, it is a single time-point assessment which requires expertise that is not always readily available; it is subject of considerable variation and sometimes is not well tolerated by critically ill preterm infants. PTT and PWV may detect altered haemodynamics due to the PDA steal phenomenon. Moreover, combined information from PWV and BP can possibly provide information for the cardiac output as it is known that cardiac output is proportional to BP and the systemic vascular resistance.

PTT and PWV are affected by HR (190) and for this reason we devised the novel variable (PD) to take the variable HR into account. PD is a marker of the difference in time between the ECG R wave and the following systolic BP wave peak divided by the time of the cardiac cycle and expressed as phase, i.e. the proportion of one cardiac

cycle expressed in degrees where one cycle is 360[°]. Our hypothesis was that PD could be related to the size of the PDA.

Aim

The aims of this study were:

- To investigate whether measurements of PTT and PWV in extremely preterm infants are affected by PDA. The null hypothesis was that PDA diameter does not affect measures of PTT aortic PWV in the first days after birth in extremely preterm infants.
- 2. To explore the associations between PTT and PWV with other echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers.
- 3. To explore the relationship between PD and the size of the PDA and test the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between these variables.

Methodology

Population

Patients from the same cohort as in Chapter 3 were included in the present study, if they had an umbilical artery catheter inserted for clinical reasons and their continuous physiological data were captured with IxTrend software (Ixellence, Wildau Germany).

The methodology applied was previously described in Chapter 2.

Results

The data

Fourteen infants were studied either on Day 2 or Day 3 after birth and a single measurement was analysed for each neonate (ten observations on Day 2). The demographic details of the study population and a summary of measurements are shown in Table 24. The main demographics were: BW [Median (IQR)] 0.89 kg (0.76-1.15), gestation 26.3 weeks (24.9-28.1), PDA size 1.6 mm (1.2-2.5) and BP 32 mmHg (29 - 35). The analysis included four neonates who received inotropes, one who subsequently developed severe IVH and three who later died. One infant (born at 24 weeks) was hypotensive in one of the recordings with systolic BP 23mmHg and diastolic 13 mmHg.

Analysis

There were no significant associations between the background demographics and PTT, PWV or PD (Mann Whitney test). There was a positive correlation between PTT and GA that was statistically non-significant after Bonferroni correction (Spearman's rho, P-value) (0.631, 0.015).

Demographics				
Patients (N)	14	Percentage or IQR		
Birth weight (kg)	0.89	0.76 - 1.17		
Male (N)	10	67%		
Hypertension (N)	3	20%		
Chorioamnionitis (N)	7	47%		
Steroids (N)	13	87%		
APGAR 5'	6	5-8		
Inotropes (N)	4	27%		
Gestation (weeks)	26.6	24.8 - 28.2		
PTT (sec)	0.20	0.18 - 0.21		
PWV (m/sec)	2.10	1.75 - 2.63		
Phase difference $(°)$	175	166 – 189		
PDA (mm)	1.6	1.1 - 2.7		
UAC distance from AoV (mm)	43	36-48		
Heart rate (beats/min)	151	138-159		
Mean BP (mmHg)	32	29 - 35		
Haemoglobin	147	123-163		
Cerebral tissue oxygenation	69	63-73		
Burdjalov score	2	0-7		
ACA resistive index	0.72	0.65-0.84		
Data expressed as number of patients (N) or median and IQR or percentage as appropriate. PTT: pulse				
transient time, PWV: pulse wave velocity, UAC: umbilical artery catheter, AoV: aortic valve, BP: blood pressure, ACA: anterior cerebral artery.				
······································				

Table 24: Summary of patient demographics.

Aortic biomarkers				
	РТТ	PWV	PD	
Gestation	0.631 (0.015)	NS	NS	
BW	NS	NS	NS	
HR	-0.660 (0.014)	NS	NS	
МВР	NS	NS	NS	
стоі	0.680 (0.007)	-0.666 (0.009)	0.534 (0.049)	
Burdjalov score	NS	NS	NS	
ACA RI	NS	NS	NS	
PDA size	0.535 (0.049)	NS	0.820 (<0.001)	
LVEDD:Ao ratio	0.914 (<0.001)	-0.613 (0.034)	0.732 (0.007)	
E/A wave ratio	0.876 (<0.001)	-0.595 (0.041)	NS	
IVRT	NS	NS	NS	

BW: birth weight, HR: heart rate, MBP: mean blood pressure, cTOI: cerebral tissue oxygen extraction, PTT: pulse transient time, PD: phase difference, PWV: pulse wave velocity, PDA: patent ductus arterious, LVEDD/Ao: left ventricular end diastolic diameter to aortic root ratio, IVRT: isovolumetric relaxation time, ACA RI: anterior cerebral artery resistivity index, NS: no significance. In each box first value represents Spearman's correlation coefficient and second P-value.

Table 25: Summary of the relations between the aortic biomarkers, background

 demographics, echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers.

Spearman's rho and P-values are presented only for correlations with initial P-values

<0.05. Statistical significance P-value <0.0042 (after Bonferroni correction).

Pulse transient time and pulse wave velocity

Positive correlations (Spearman's rho, P value) were found between PTT and cTOI (0.680, 0.007), PDA diameter (0.540, 0.046), LVEDD:Ao ratio (0.914, 0.001), E/A wave ratio (0.876, <0.001) and negative correlations with HR (-0.791, 0.015) and PWV (-0.659, 0.010). There was a positive correlation between PTT and the distance of UAC tip (0.807, <0.001). There were negative correlations between PWV and PTT (-0.659, 0.010), LVEDD:Ao ratio (-0.613, 0.034), E/A wave ratio (-0.595 and 0.041) and cTOI (-0.666, 0.009). However, after Bonferroni correction only PTT vs. E/A wave ratio, PTT vs. distance of UAC tip and PTT vs. LVEDD:Ao ratio remained statistically significant. The relationship between PTT and E/A wave ratio became non-significant when corrected for HR. There was no statistically significant association of the aortic biomarkers with haemoglobin levels, Burdjalov score or cerebral Doppler indices (Table 25).

The assessment of the scatter plots on Figure 39 identified a common outlier. The patient on Figure 39 (PDA vs. PWV) was one of the most mature in our cohort (born at 27 weeks GA and BW 1.26kg), but was critically unwell on second day after birth with septic shock (maternal chorioamnionitis and PROM) and lactate of 9 mEq/L, mean BP 32mmHg, very tachycardic (HR 191), on high dose inotropic support and intravenous morphine. PDA diameter was 3.6mm (the largest in the cohort), cTOI was 60 and there was no diastolic flow on the ACA Doppler ultrasonography (RI=1). The patient died from late onset sepsis at day 43 after birth. If data from this patient is excluded due to the presence of septic shock while being on high dose inotropic support, the

correlation between PDA vs. PTT and PWV vs. PDA became stronger [(0.709, 0.007) and (0.632, 0.021) respectively].



Figure 39: PDA size versus PTT (left), PWV (right) and PD (bottom).

PDA size versus PTT (left), PWV (right) and PD (bottom) demonstrating a stronger correlation for PDA size against PD. An outlier was identified on the top scatter plots and highlighted with red colour in all scatter plots. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.



Figure 40: Cerebral oxygenation index versus PTT (top panel), PWV (middle panel) and PD (bottom panel). Cerebral oxygenation index versus PTT (top panel), PWV (middle panel) and PD (bottom panel) demonstrating a relationship between cerebral oxygenation and the aortic biomarkers that is opposite to the expected in the light of data from Chapter 3. The same patient appears as outlier in the last figure with the larger PDA diameter and low cerebral oxygenation. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.

A second outlier was identified on scatter plot in Figure 41. This patient was septic with CRP 104 mg/L (normal range 0-10) following birth at 24 weeks (BW 480gr) and needed advanced resuscitation at birth with cardiac massage and drugs. Despite inotropic support the patient was severely hypotensive with systolic BP 23mmHg (mean BP 16mmHg) on a morphine infusion, but maintained a high left ventricular output (223mls/kg/min) with lactate of 2.2 mEq/L. PDA diameter was 3.17mm, cTOI was 76 and there was no diastolic flow on the anterior cerebral artery Doppler ultrasonography (ACA RI=1). The removal of this patient rendered the correlation between PWV and systolic BP (-0.645, 0.017), diastolic BP (-0.651, 0.016) and mean BP (-0.635, 0.020) stronger.

In adult and paediatric studies there is a positive correlation between PWV and BP (355). However, the presence of a negative correlation between PWV and BP in the present study led to further analysis of the echocardiographic data and their interaction with PWV to identify the underlying pathophysiological processes which may explain this specific interaction in the neonatal population. PWV is considered a surrogate of systemic vascular resistance. It is known that vascular resistance is the ratio of BP and left ventricular output. These data were available for the individual patient from the invasive BP monitoring and the echocardiographically measured left ventricular output and hence, a substitute of vascular resistance (VR) was calculated by dividing BP with left ventricular output. To confirm whether our observation of negative correlation between PWV and BP was true, the possibility of a relation between PWV and VR was assessed. There were eleven patients contributing data for

this analysis and although the correlation was not statistically significant, there was a moderate correlation between PWV and the estimated VR (0.536, 0.089) (Figure 42).





In the top graph, an outlier (black colour) is identified with very low systolic BP 25mmHg (mean BP 16mmHg) while born at 24 weeks. In the bottom graph, the removal of this outlier significantly improves the correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value (-0.363, 0.223) vs (-0.645, 0.017)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.



Figure 42: The relationship between PWV and the calculated systemic vascular resistance index (VR) based on echocardiographically derived cardiac output and the aortic BP.

The relationship between PWV and the calculated systemic vascular resistance index (VR) based on echocardiographically derived cardiac output and the aortic BP. There is a positive correlation, however not statistically significant [Spearman's rho, P-value (0.536, 0.089)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.

Further assessment of the echocardiographic parameters demonstrated a positive correlation between PDA and LVEDD:Ao (0.907, 0.001), LVEDD:Ao and stroke volume (0.770, 0.006), left ventricular stroke volume and left ventricular output (0.818, 0.004) and left ventricular output and BP (0.560, 0.058) (Figures 36-41). These analyses demonstrated the larger the PDA diameter the higher is the preload (LVEDD:Ao), stroke volume and cardiac output and lower the aortic resistance. However, it is possible the increase in cardiac output to outpace the decrease in PWV (representing systemic vascular resistance). This finally results in relatively increased blood pressure (Blood pressure = Resistance x Cardiac output) observed in our cohort. A summary of the interactions and the corresponded correlations are displayed in Figure 49.



Figure 43: The relationship between PDA size and systolic BP.

There is a weak statistically non-significant positive correlation. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.



Figure 44: The relationship between PDA size and LVEDD: Ao representing preload.

There is a strong statistically significant positive correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value (0.907, 0.001)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm, LVEDD:Ao: left ventricular end diastolic diameter to aortic root ratio.



Figure 45: The relationship between PDA size and left ventricular stroke volume index.

There is a strong statistically significant positive correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value

(0.748, 0.005)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.





There is a statistically significant strong positive correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value

(0.770, 0.006)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.



Figure 47: The relationship between left ventricular stroke volume index and cardiac output.

There is a strong statistically significant positive correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value

(0.818, 0.004)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.



Figure 48: The relationship between left ventricular cardiac output and systolic BP. There is a statistically not significant positive correlation [Spearman's rho, P-value (0.560, 0.058)]. Large PDA: PDA diameter >2mm.





PDA has multiple effects on haemodynamic and echocardiographic biomarkers. The large blue arrows in the boxes represent the increase or decrease of the relevant parameter, the green arrow boxes point out interactions with P-value <0.05 and the red arrow boxes point out interactions with P-value >0.05. PDA: patent ductus arteriosus, r: Spearman's correlation coefficient, p: P-value.

Phase difference

The median and IQR PD values are shown in Table 24. The maximum observed difference in the cohort was 74°. A positive correlation was found between PD and cTOI (0.534, 0.049), PDA diameter (0.820, <0.001) and LV/Ao ratio (0.732, 0.007). Only PD vs. PDA met the threshold for statistical significance after Bonferroni correction.

Repeatability

The intra-patient repeatability of PD was good with mean difference of -0.21° and two standard deviations of the differences being 15.6° (Figure 50).



Figure 50: Bland–Altman plot assessing the repeatability of phase difference.

Discussion

This is the first study to measure PWV and PTT using ECG and BP waveforms in extremely preterm infants and assess their relation to echocardiographic and cerebral biomarkers. A new biomarker, phase difference, was devised to account for the variable HR in the neonatal population. PD correlates well with PDA size and merits further investigation as a continuous biomarker for neonatal monitoring. The method is highly reproducible similar to previous studies (354), however it has the advantage of allowing continuous measurement. Moreover, combined PWV and BP data can help provide information of cardiac output which can be used in clinical and research settings for aiding making rational decisions when treating unstable patients and expand our knowledge of haemodynamics in preterm inants.

I found PTT to be correlated with GA, HR and PDA size. However, after Bonferroni correction these correlations became non-significant. It was previously demonstrated that pulse wave conduction time, as measured by pulse wave plethysmography peripherally, is strongly correlated with BW (189). Goudjil et al. previously demonstrated by using pulse wave photoplethysmography from pre- and post-ductal sites that PDA is correlated with pulse phase difference changes (355). However, the methodology used in the current thesis has the benefit of not needing extra probes placed to the baby, is straightforward and independent of the frequent motion artefacts observed with pulse oximetry as well as heavy signal processing involved in

the generation of the signal and does not involve advanced techniques and algorithms including decomposition of the signals.

A positive correlation between PTT vs. LVEDD: Ao and PTT vs. E/A wave ratio was also demonstrated. Both associations were significant even after Boneferroni correction, but PTT vs. E/A wave ratio became not significant when corrected for HR. E/A wave ratio and diastolic function are known to be affected by tachycardia (356) and preterm infants can have highly variable HR. LVEDD: Ao is marker of PDA volume shunting and indicates increased preload. As observations from the second and third day after birth were used for this analysis, this may have allowed able time for the left ventricle to dilate due to the PDA shunting. This is also supported by the observed correlation trend between PTT and PDA, which however was not statistically significant due to the Bonferroni correction.

Amirtharaj et al. found that PDA treatment in ex-preterm infants with ligation or ibuprofen resulted in prolongation of PTT measured by photoplethysmography on hand and foot (357). This is opposite to our findings. However, the study had different methodology and several limitations, which render the results hard to interpret. PDA treatment occurred at variable postnatal age and infant size (post-natal age: 10 to 79 days and weight: 605 to 2000gr). The study did not specify the population characteristics and time of the initial measurements before the PDA ligation and post ligation assessment was performed 24 hours following the procedure. Hence, if there was considerable time delay between the two assessments, it is possible maturation

processes to alter the haemodynamics. Moreover, they did not provide HR data during the recordings that is known to significantly affect PTT. Finally, PTT was derived peripherally from high resistant vessels in the limbs. In contrast, recordings in the current study were from the descending aorta which is central and elastic with lower arterial stiffness compared to peripheral (muscular) arteries.

There was no statistically significant association between PDA and PWV. The absence of statistical significant correlation can be partially explained by the variable HR in our population, the imprecise method to assess the distance of the UAC from the aortic valve or can be a type 2 error. The natural variation of heart anatomical position, mode of ventilation, heart size, respiratory cycle phase when the X-ray was taken, and the angle of the X-ray can all contribute to the imprecise distance measurement.

The values of PWV (median 2.1 m/s, IQR 1.75-2.63) are consistent with previous studies on older infants and children (358, 359), albeit being slightly lower. Broadhouse et al. studied infants with a median GA of 32 weeks and reported a mean PWV of 3.2 m/s (range 2.3-5.1). Our population consisted of more premature infants and PWV was on the lower range of this cohort. This is expected as there is a positive correlation between GA and arterial stiffness and Moens-Kortewer equation indicates that PWV is proportional to vascular stiffness (360). It is known that preterm infants in the first days after birth have reduced sympathetic activity compared to term and reduced capacity to up-regulate their sympathetic activity (361). It has been suggested that autonomic immaturity makes them more susceptible to hypotension due to reduced

vascular tone which can lead to cardiovascular instability (21). Additionally, BP in the current thesis was measured in the aorta (central vessel) instead of peripheral vessels and, in order to improve precision, a modified measurement of PTT was adopted using the peak of the systolic BP trace.

There was a negative correlation although not significant between PWV and BP opposite to the adult and paediatric studies (362, 363). This observation highlights the differences between adult and neonatal vascular haemodynamics and emphasises the importance of PDA on aortic haemodynamics as patients with low PWV in our population had also large PDA and elevated systolic BP. PWV is a surrogate biomarker for systemic vascular resistance and is directly proportional to BP and inversely proportional to left ventricular output. In neonates the presence of a negative correlation is the result of the combined effect of PDA on the overall vascular resistance in the descending aorta and the increased left to right shunting leading to increased left ventricular cardiac output. The observation that low resistance with high BP can only occur if left ventricular output increases out of proportion and overcompensates the reduced systemic vascular resistance is important. Calculation of the vascular resistance from the echocardiographic data (systolic BP divided by the left ventricular output) demonstrated a positive correlation between VR and PWV (although not statistically significant) confirming the previous speculation. Further analysis revealed that increased stroke volume was the main drive for the cardiac output increase as HR was not correlated with PDA size. The increased stroke volume was generated by the increased preload due to the PDA as there was a significant

correlation between LVEDD:Ao with both stroke volume and PDA size. This is supported by previous studies (91). The correlation between cardiac output and BP was not statistically significant (red arrow box), but this is expected as previous studies have demonstrated a weak correlation between BP and cardiac output in preterm infants (364). Moreover, there is evidence that many infants with reduced systemic perfusion have normal or high blood pressure in the first hours of life, suggesting that a high systemic vascular resistance may lead to reduced blood flow (365). The summary of the correlations and the interactions are shown on Figure 49. This analysis demonstrates the clinical potential and usefulness of PWV in the neonatal unit as it can be continuously measured and displayed real time on the patient's monitor. Knowing the vascular resistance and BP can be informative of the left ventricular output without the need for repeated echocardiographic assessment. Both these parameters can be continuously available to the clinical team and in combination with other biomarkers (lactate, urine output, NIRS data) can potentially help to make rational clinical management decisions based on pathophysiological grounds and expand our knowledge of haemodynamics in preterm infants.

Based on Moens-Korteweg equation (Figure 51) we expect PWV to decrease when there is a PDA present. Moens-Korteweg equation indicates that PWV is inversely related to the radius of the vessel. The right panel in Figure 51 shows a diagrammatic illustration when there is a PDA attached to the descending aorta. The insertion of PDA increases the total cross-sectional area at the level of the descending aorta and hence

the radius in the Moens-Kortewer equation. The corresponding new PWVb in the descending aorta (which was detected by the UAC) is expected to be lower than PWVa.

PWV can be affected by multiple parameters. PWV was shown to increase by 1 m/sec in normal fetuses from 20 weeks to term (366). PWV is proportional to the mean BP inside the artery, the properties of the artery wall and wall thickness. The mean BP increases with gestation, and so does the thickness of the aortic wall relative to the lumen and the supporting connective tissue. The presence of elastin in the aortic wall is one the main determinants of the incremental elastic modulus (Einc on Figure 51). The deposition of elastin on aortic wall starts early during the fetal life and its production peaks in the perinatal period (367). Previous studies in a paediatric population found that gender, age, height, weight, mean BP and HR are independent predictors of PWV (363). Neonatal PWV correlates with BW (354, 368) and IUGR infants tend to have lower PWV in early infancy (368). Maternal anaemia prior to 20 weeks gestation is associated with an increased infant PWV (369) and infants of diabetic mothers with higher haemoglobin A1c have a higher PWV (370). There is inconsistent evidence whether maternal BP during pregnancy has any impact on neonatal PWV. Koudsi et al. found an inverse relationship between maternal systolic BP at 28 weeks gestation and neonatal aortic PWV (354). However, another study failed to reproduce the same findings as showed no evidence of association between infant PWV at 2–6 weeks of age and maternal BP in early or late pregnancy (371).


Figure 51: Diagrammatic illustration of the descending aorta and the correspondent haemodynamics without (A) and with the presence of PDA (B).

The insertion of PDA increases the total effective cross-sectional area at the level of the descending aorta and hence the radius in the Moens-Kortewer equation. The corresponding new PWVb in the descending aorta will be lower than PWVa.

It was found also that PDA shunting leads to increased stroke volume. Previous studies from animal and human studies claim that the preterm myocardium is stiff, and preterm infants have diastolic dysfunction and cannot increase stroke volume (372, 373). Hence, they rely on tachycardia to increase cardiac output. However, other studies have demonstrated that preterm infants with large PDA are able to increase stroke volume and their HR remains stable (91, 94, 374). These studies speculated on the underlying mechanism and assumed this was due to decreased afterload. The current study demonstrated that the underlying mechanism of this adaptation is likely to be the decreased afterload with reduced systemic vascular resistance due to the PDA shunt and this is associated with increased systolic BP due to increased stroke volume secondary to increased preload. Moreover, it seems likely that homeostatic mechanisms compensate for the haemodynamic consequences of PDA and maintain adequate cerebral perfusion in a wide range of PDA size. It is possible that the loss of vascular control due to a severe underlying clinical condition (sepsis in our cases) to weaken the homeostatic mechanism and lead to decompensation.

The present study demonstrated a significant positive correlation between PD and PDA size. It was hypothesised that higher PD (lower PWV) could be an indicator of PDA presence. It was found that a PD above 180° was indicative of a PDA diameter larger than 2mm, which is considered large and haemodynamically significant by many clinical trials investigating PDA treatment (135, 375).

PTT, PWV and PD are all interrelated as PWV is derived from PTT accounting for the distance of UAC catheter from the aortic valve and PD is derived from PTT accounting for HR. Substantial HR variation was observed in our population (maximum range 111 to 191), which can have a major impact on PTT measurement. PTT was subsequently indexed accounting for the variable HR and this resulted in the development of PD, which correlated better with PDA size (Figure 39). It is known that PTT and subsequently PWV can be affected by HR (371, 376). There was also substantial variability of BW (maximum range 0.48-1.3 kg), GA (24 to 28+6 weeks) and severity of the underlying clinical condition with critically ill patients who needed inotropic support. Medication can possibly have an impact on the aortic haemodynamics and measured biomarkers (377).

PDA diameter was used as a biomarker for PDA shunting as, according to Hagen-Poiseuille's law, the blood flow through a vessel is proportional to the fourth power of the radius of the vessel and the pressure gradient across the vessel and inversely related to the length of the tube and the blood viscosity. Hence, the vessel diameter is the most important parameter. However, preterm DA is often elongated and its length can be much larger and out of proportion even to the fourth power of radius. Nevertheless, the impact of PDA length has not been yet studied as it is very difficult to measure accurately with echocardiography. Moreover, preterm DA is often tortuous with multiple points of stenosis (71). In these situations Hagen-Poiseuille's law cannot describe the underlying haemodynamics. Previous studies have demonstrated that PDA size is the single most useful parameter for determining the haemodynamic

significance (378). Moreover, if PD is used only for trend monitoring of PDA in an individual patient, then the rest of the Hagen-Poiseuille's law parameters become irrelevant as they remain relatively stable and only PDA diameter changes in short term.

Cerebral oxygenation and aortic biomarkers

This is the first study to demonstrate a correlation between PTT, PWV, PD and cTOI which became non-significant when Bonferroni correction was applied. This merits further investigation and confirmation in future studies. In Chapter 3 and in the previously described literature, it has been shown that PDA size is inversely correlated with cerebral oxygenation. However, in the small population studied here the sign of the relation is opposite to that expected as there was a positive correlation between PD and cTOI. Cerebral oxygenation in the subpopulation of the present analysis was within the considered "normal" range (55 to 85) (160). This may have affected the relationship between the aortic biomarkers and the cerebral oxygenation index which is opposite to the expected. The BP measurements were obtained from the descending aorta distal to the neck arterial branches. Hence, it is unknown whether cerebral arteries react in a different way to compensate for the PDA induced steal phenomenon. Voges et al. have previously demonstrated that different sections of the aortic arch have different PWV values (379). Cerebral circulation has autoregulatory abilities, despite its impairment due to immaturity (380). Finally, there is evidence that PWV in pregnant women with gestational diabetes is negatively correlated with

cerebral oxygenation despite the fact that the background pathophysiology is different (381). In conclusion, the observed correlation between the aortic biomarkers and cTOI are opposite to expected and require further investigation in future studies with larger population size and individuals with abnormal cerebral oxygenation.

Limitations

The natural variation of heart anatomical position, mode of ventilation, heart size, respiratory cycle phase, when the X-ray was taken, and the angle of the X-ray can all contribute to the imprecise measurement of the distance between the UAC tip and the aortic valve and the measurement of the aortic biomarkers (PTT, PWV and PD). Sampling frequency and filtering resulted in more smoothed BP waveforms, which may have impacted on the accurate detection of the BP waveform peak and the calculation of PTT. The small population size with multiple comparisons may have resulted in spurious correlations. However, Bonferroni correction was used to account for the multiple comparisons. The small population did not allow us to perform regression analysis to assess any possible confounders.

Conclusions

PDA has significant effects on cardiac and aortic haemodynamics. In a small population of preterm infants a significant positive correlation was found between PDA and PD which renders further investigation with validation studies. If proved valid it can serve as a non-invasive continuous biomarker of monitoring PDA size and may be useful in clinical trials. Moreover, it is possible that combined PWV and BP data from the UAC will be predictive of cardiac output in the descending aorta which is useful clinical

information for the management of this fragile population. This methodology can provide continuous non-invasive data which combined with the rest of the cerebral biomarkers can advance the knowledge of haemodynamics in preterm infants. **Chapter 7: Overall conclusions**

Aims addressed

The primary aims addressed by my thesis were a multimodal, integrated assessment of influences of PDA haemodynamics on cerebral haemodynamics using echocardiography, NIRS, aEEG and cerebral ultrasonography, and the evaluation of a pre-defined two-step model for the causation of brain injury by PDA shunt (Chapter 3). The dataset was rich and provided an opportunity to characterise components of the multimodal assessment including: influences on the aEEG score used in the multimodal assessment (Chapter 4) and antenatal influences on elements of the multimodal assessment (Chapter 5). Moreover, I investigated further existing biomarkers (PTT and PWV) of aortic haemodynamics and related them to PDA and cerebral biomarkers and devised a novel biomarker (PD), which was found to be strongly correlated with PDA size (Chapter 6).

Key findings

Chapter 3

This is the first study to assess the impact of PDA size on cerebral function and incidence of IVH using simultaneously echocardiography, cerebral ultrasonography, cerebral NIRS and aEEG during the natural evolution of PDA disease. The novelty of this approach was the integrated assessment of cardiac and cerebral function using multiple biomarkers and their combination in the construction of a two-step biological model linking PDA size to markers of cerebral dysfunction and these markers to the presence of severe IVH. The PDA related cerebral effects were monitored from birth to discharge. The study cohort included infants who became unwell, needed inotropic support and developed severe IVH. It was demonstrated that it is feasible to perform

this complex monitoring in critically ill patients without significant adverse events and achieve high recruitment rate. As RCTs increasingly adopt similar methodology, the experience collected in the current thesis can inform future RCTs designs.

Babies with severe IVH had different temporal trajectories of the studied biomarkers (PDA diameter, PDA score, cTOI, Burdjalov score and RI) during the transitional period and this persisted for weeks after birth indicating significant interaction between cardiac and cerebral haemodynamics pre- and post-IVH occurrence. The analysis demonstrated that severe IVH was associated with the presence of large PDA and lower cerebral oxygenation. Furthermore, there was a significant association between lower cerebral oxygenation, lower Burdjalov score, and higher RI with larger PDA size, but not in interaction of these variables with IVH severity. However, IVH happens early during extrauterine life or even during pregnancy and there were more observations reflecting the aftermath following the IVH. Accordingly, it is uncertain whether the observed relationships are the cause or the epiphenomenon of brain injury. The strong association between PDA size and all the cerebral biomarkers implies that PDA has important and simultaneous effects on global cerebral function. Patients with severe IVH had reduced cerebral oxygenation even when cerebral arterial resistance remained within normal limits. This is likely to be a reflection of the disturbed cerebral vascular control following a severe cerebral injury. In conclusion, the study demonstrated that separate steps of a proposed two step model (Figure 3) were valid, but not the entire two-step model. This maybe a true observation, a consequence of the study

methodology as data aggregated over a long period were combined into a single analysis or related to the small sample size of the study.

The study demonstrated that PDA and its impact on cerebral biomarkers can be considered a continuum. There was a clear association between PDA and severe IVH. However, many infants with large PDAs did not develop severe IVH and had normal CrUSS at discharge. This supports the ongoing controversy regarding the definition of haemodynamically significant PDA and its impact on cerebral haemodynamics in extremely preterm infants. Severe IVH has devastating implications for individuals, their families and society. If severe IVH is used as clinical outcome to assess PDA disease, it is clear that there are two distinct periods of PDA disease. One during the transitional circulation when in a subset of preterm infants PDA can be an additional strain and offset cardiovascular reserves of the premature heart (these reserves are labile and incomplete) and finally contribute to the multifactorial causal pathway of IVH. The second period during the subsequent weeks is not associated with IVH, but with other disease processes (NEC, BPD, periventricular leucomalacia) when near optimal systemic perfusion maybe maintained due to the high left ventricular output in expense of pulmonary hyperperfusion, higher Qp:Qs and evolving heart failure. Most of the studies consider "PDA disease" as a uniform entity that is either present or absent. However, it is more likely that PDA should be considered as a spectrum from biological normality to a pathological disease state with clinical instability and varying effects on organs. The richness of this dataset suggests that personalised medicine may be difficult in the absence of machine learning techniques. Machine learning

techniques with utilisation of big data analysis have promising applications in other medical specialties (e.g. cancer, neurology, psychiatry) (382, 383). On the other hand, this move towards a personalised medicine approach in neonates could be difficult to achieve as there are many unknown parameters in a multifactorial disease process and these parameters have variable effect size.

A universal cut-off point for PDA size across a wide range of GA may was a pragmatic approach in the past, but this has proved counterproductive and moving forward in the era of precision medicine and research, future clinical trials need to take account of body size, the physiological adaptations, the postnatal maturation and quantify the haemodynamic impact on target organs. In the future additional data from genomic, proteomic and pharmacogenomic studies may allow a more integrated and individualised approach using big data analysis (87). However, there is a need for precise and accurate biomarkers to reduce the signal to noise ratio especially when integrated analysis requires multiple comparisons of many biomarkers over a long observation period.

The study population had a high mortality rate (17%) with considerable morbidity as half of the infants required inotropic support and 12% developed severe IVH. It is paramount to recruit critically unwell patients as this is the group with disturbed haemodynamics and the worse clinical outcomes. Hence, it is more possible to demonstrate significant trends, when performing correlation analysis, and to find significant differences even with relatively small populations. However, the

recruitment of unwell patients is often very difficult, as nurses and clinical staff consider these infants should be protected from extra stress caused by the study procedures. Moreover, there is a culture of nursing and clinical staff being suspicious regarding research recruitment and not considering research as one of main priorities in the clinical practice (384). This is despite the fact that there is little evidence behind the majority of the neonatal interventions and the majority of neonatal drugs are used off-label (385). Hence, it is important to collect data in well designed studies to understand better the underlying physiology of a continually expanding population and inform evidence based interventions and treatments.

Clinicians in the neonatal unit had a relatively conservative approach to PDA treatment and this allowed me to observe the natural history of PDA closure and study the PDA and cerebral haemodynamics without significant contamination from PDA treatment. Moreover, the study managed to recruit a cohort of critically unwell patients and this had significant impact on results. Many studies in neonatal medicine are not sufficiently powered to demonstrate a significant difference/effect between the comparing groups. This is either because the comparing populations are not sufficiently different or the biomarkers used are not precise, accurate or do not have sufficient dynamic range to detect the differences. Hence, there are often conflicting data in the literature as was shown in this thesis.

Limitations

Some limitations of the thesis were mentioned in Chapter 3 (pages 207-8). This single centre study, done in parallel with other studies, needs careful interpretation when

considering generalisability. There is some suggestion of selection bias, most likely due to factors external to the study. Completely generalisable results will need multicentre studies. While feasible in one centre, using similar methods in multiple centres will need careful attention to consistency in using investigative techniques. Some of the sources of potential selection bias recognised in this study will also be present in other centres, e.g. postnatal transfer. The sample size did not allow me to utilise more cardiac and cerebral biomarkers to build a more complex model as the study would have become underpowered. Hence, we limited the biomarkers to five (one for every 10 patients). Consent issues rendered the recruitment of patients during the transitional circulation challenging. However, it is known that the most significant changes of cardiac and cerebral haemodynamics are observed during the first three days after birth. Additionally, many patients came from Level II neonatal units and enrolment was only possible on the second or third day of life. The same patients also had to be discharged back earlier when they did not require intensive care. This led to variable number of different patients contributing data on each time point.

Technical issues and patients' critical clinical condition led to small percentage of missing data. Missing data on different observation time points necessitated the application of multiple imputation procedure. However, it is always statistically preferable to impute rather than discard data. I discontinued monitoring patients with closed PDA after the second week, hence from that time point there were more data coming from patients with persistent PDA which skewed the observed chronological trends. The analysis utilised all the available data from birth to discharge and hence it is

challenging to disentangle causation from aftermath relationship. RI and cTOI were obtained from the frontal lobe area, but aEEG from parietal area. Moreover, PDA and RI were instantaneous observations in comparison to cTOI and aEEG, which were the average of four hours monitoring and potentially could be influenced by other physiological processes.

Future studies

We plan to investigate further a possible causal relationship between PDA, autonomic nervous system, markers of cerebral function and cerebral injury (severe IVH) using Direct Acyclic Graph methodology restricting the analysis only during the transitional circulation when most of the IVH episodes occur (386, 387). Antenatal IVH can be studied by working together with obstetric researchers for better obstetric phenotypic characterisation during premature labour, monitoring of obstetric interventions, and improvement of antenatal consent rates. This collaboration can improve the phenotypic characterisation of the population in risk for IVH and identify cases of antenatal brain injury with the use of antenatal biomarkers. The integration of neurodevelopmental data (collected but not yet analysed) will provide evidence of the long term consequences of the above interactions. Future studies with a combination of MRI studies with blood or urine derived biomarkers of cerebral injury to assess accurately the onset of IVH and relate them to PDA and cerebral biomarkers will possibly facilitate better understanding of the interaction between PDA and IVH.

Chapter 4

The analysis in Chapter 4 demonstrated that cerebral electrical activity increases with postnatal age and with baseline gestational age, but decreases with morphine administration and the presence of a larger PDA. These findings emphasise the significant effects of morphine administration on cerebral function and the potential short- and long-term effects; point to the quick maturation processes which take place following preterm birth; demonstrate that GA at birth is an independent significant effects on cerebral electrical activity. Moreover, it became evident that Burdjalov score can be standardised for known influences and used to assess the effects of a treatment.

Limitations and future studies

Limitations and future studies were discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 5

Chapter 5 investigated the neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal maternal MgSO₄ administration. Maternal BMI and duration of MgSO₄ infusion (and their interaction) appeared to have significant effect on neonatal Mg²⁺ that may merit changes to the dosing regimen, for example individualising the loading dose. No associations were demonstrated between neonatal Mg²⁺ with PDA score, cerebral oxygenation and cerebral electrical activity, although the number of patients studied was small. Future dose finding studies should be based on multicompartmental population PK studies that include maternal and neonatal pharmacodynamic measures. To inform these future studies, a sample size calculation was performed considering different methods of cerebral monitoring as surrogate end point biomarkers.

Limitations and future studies

Limitations and future studies were discussed in Chapter 5.

Chapter 6

Chapter 6 demonstrated that PDA has significant effects on aortic haemodynamics as measured by PTT, PWV and PD. In a small population of extremely preterm infants a strong positive correlation was found between PDA and PD which renders further investigation with validation studies. A continuous predictive biomarker for PDA size can be helpful screening tool for infants needing echocardiography in the neonatal unit in an effort to use human resources more effectively and reduce the disturbance of the vulnerable preterm infants by repeated echocardiograms. Moreover, it can possibly serve as an alarm for those infants who have already received PDA medical treatment as it is known that the PDA reopening rate is moderate (388). Compared to previously used methods which measure the peripheral plethysmographic signals from the limbs, the methodology used in the current thesis has the advantage that the UAC tip lies in close proximity to the PDA in the descending aorta and hence it is believed to detect better the local PDA induced aortic haemodynamics. If proved valid, it can serve as a bedside non-invasive continuous biomarker for monitoring PDA size and can be useful in clinical trials.

Moreover, the analysis demonstrated the clinical potentials of combining PWV and BP data from the UAC to predict left ventricular cardiac output in the descending aorta without the need for echocardiographic assessment, which can be useful clinical information for the management of the extremely preterm infants. There is a clinical need for new biomarkers to measure the effective cardiac output when treating unwell preterm infants as the previous clinical practice to rely on BP has been proved counterproductive. If further validated, the methodology used in the current thesis can provide continuous non-invasive data which can be displayed real time on the patient's monitor and combined with other biomarkers (lactate, urine output, NIRS data) can potentially help to make rational clinical management decisions based on pathophysiological grounds and expand our knowledge of haemodynamics in preterm infants.

Limitations

Limitations were discussed in Chapter 6.

Future studies and potential clinical applications

The PD between ECG and BP is straightforward to measure and hence the results of this pilot study suggest that this approach merits further investigation as a possible biomarker in trend monitoring of PDA size and function. Further studies with more patients are needed to confirm our findings and investigate other covariates related to the PWV and PD in extremely preterm infants with PDA and their relation to long term clinical outcomes. Moreover, if PD is used only for trend monitoring of PDA in an individual patient, then the rest of the Hagen-Poiseuille's law parameters become irrelevant as they remain relatively stable and only PDA diameter changes in short term. Future studies can also confirm the relationship between PDA, PWV, cardiac output and BP in preterm infants. These studies will provide more information whether it is possible combined PWV and BP data from the UAC to predict cardiac output in the descending aorta. If these biomarkers are proved valid to assess haemodynamics in preterm infants, it is possible to use them as surrogate markers in pharmacodynamic studies as they can be measured continuously during drug administration without interfering with the underlying haemodynamics and without disturbing infants' wellbeing.

Overall conclusions

The current thesis has proved that multimodal assessment of cardiac and cerebral biomarkers over a long period is well tolerated by extremely preterm infants and useful to elucidate the complex interactions between PDA and cerebral function. It was found that PDA is associated with severe IVH and altered cerebral function, however a causal relationship could not be proved and it is uncertain whether the observed relationships are the cause or the epiphenomenon of brain injury. The study also demonstrated a strong association between PDA size and the studied cerebral biomarkers, which implies that PDA has important and simultaneous effects on global cerebral function. I found that although separate steps of the proposed two step model were valid (Figure 3), the entire two-step model was not. This may be a true observation or the consequence of the study methodology as data aggregated over a long period were combined into a single analysis and might be related to the small sample size of the study. I speculate that PDA should be considered as a spectrum from biological normality to a pathological disease state with varying effects on target organs. Cutoffs may be needed for trial eligibility criteria but, ideally, the cut off should be evaluated by relating the characteristics of the PDA to the risk of clinically important outcomes. Moreover, biological models are a good basis for research given that there is sufficient understanding of the biology to develop these models. The data analysis made evident that conventional statistics may be difficult to use and alternatives are DAGs or machine learning techniques.

In Chapters 4 and 5 it was demonstrated that pharmacodynamic end point biomarkers can be characterised during the study of neonatal cerebral and cardiac haemodynamics. In Chapter 4 it was found that cerebral electrical activity (Burdjalov score) increases with postnatal age and with baseline gestational age, but decreases with morphine administration and the presence of a larger PDA. Moreover, it became evident that Burdjalov score can be standardised for known influences and used to assess the effects of a treatment. Chapter 5 investigated the neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function following antenatal maternal MgSO₄ administration and found maternal BMI and duration of MgSO₄ infusion (and their interaction) to have significant effect on neonatal Mg²⁺. Despite the absence of associations between neonatal Mg²⁺ with PDA score, cerebral oxygenation and cerebral electrical activity, a sample size calculation was performed to inform future studies considering different methods of cerebral monitoring as pharmacodynamic end point biomarkers.

Finally, in Chapter 6 it was found that new PDA biomarkers can be developed, but should be characterised and validated before being evaluated in clinical studies. I found a strong positive correlation between PDA and PD, which has the potentials to be a bedside non-invasive continuous biomarker for monitoring PDA size and possibly an alarm for PDA reopening in infants already received PDA medical treatment. Moreover, the analysis demonstrated the clinical potentials of combining PWV and BP data to predict left ventricular cardiac output in the descending aorta without the need for echocardiographic assessment, which can be useful clinical information for the management of the extremely preterm infants.

References

1. Liu L, Johnson HL, Cousens S, Perin J, Scott S, Lawn JE, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. Lancet. 2012;379(9832):2151-61.

Howson MK, JE Lawn. Born Too Soon: The Global Action Report on Preterm Birth.
Geneva: World Health Organization, March of Dimes P, Save the Children, WHO. Eds CP;
2012.

3. Team NP. National Maternity and Perinatal Audit: Clinical Report

2017. London; 2018.

4. Liu L, Oza S, Hogan D, Chu Y, Perin J, Zhu J, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet. 2016;388(10063):3027-35.

5. Project E-P. European Perinatal Health Report. Core indicators of the health and care of pregnant women and babies in Europe in 2015. November 2018.

6. Alison Macfarlane ND. European Perinatal Health Report Health and care of pregnant women and babies in Europe in 2010. A United Kingdom perspective. London: School of Health Sciences, City University London; 2013.

7. Ancel PY, Goffinet F, Group E-W, Kuhn P, Langer B, Matis J, et al. Survival and morbidity of preterm children born at 22 through 34 weeks' gestation in France in 2011: results of the EPIPAGE-2 cohort study. JAMA Pediatr. 2015;169(3):230-8.

8. Mangham LJ, Petrou S, Doyle LW, Draper ES, Marlow N. The cost of preterm birth throughout childhood in England and Wales. Pediatrics. 2009;123(2):e312-27.

9. Hodek JM, von der Schulenburg JM, Mittendorf T. Measuring economic consequences of preterm birth - Methodological recommendations for the evaluation of personal burden on children and their caregivers. Health Econ Rev. 2011;1(1):6.

Cheah IGS. Economic assessment of neonatal intensive care. Transl Pediatr.
2019;8(3):246-56.

11. Doyle LW, Cheong JL, Burnett A, Roberts G, Lee KJ, Anderson PJ, et al. Biological and Social Influences on Outcomes of Extreme-Preterm/Low-Birth Weight Adolescents. Pediatrics. 2015;136(6):e1513-20.

12. Wong HS, Edwards P. Nature or nurture: a systematic review of the effect of socioeconomic status on the developmental and cognitive outcomes of children born preterm. Matern Child Health J. 2013;17(9):1689-700.

13. Field D, Boyle E, Draper E, Evans A, Johnson S, Khan K, et al. Towards reducing variations in infant mortality and morbidity: a population-based approach. Programme Grants for Applied Research. Southampton (UK)2016.

14. Moore T, Johnson S, Haider S, Hennessy E, Marlow N. Relationship between test scores using the second and third editions of the Bayley Scales in extremely preterm children. J Pediatr. 2012;160(4):553-8.

15. Papile LA, Burstein J, Burstein R, Koffler H. Incidence and evolution of subependymal and intraventricular hemorrhage: a study of infants with birth weights less than 1,500 gm. J Pediatr. 1978;92(4):529-34.

16. Volpe JJ. Brain injury in the premature infant. Neuropathology, clinical aspects, pathogenesis, and prevention. Clin Perinatol. 1997;24(3):567-87.

17. Inder TE, Anderson NJ, Spencer C, Wells S, Volpe JJ. White matter injury in the premature infant: a comparison between serial cranial sonographic and MR findings at term. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2003;24(5):805-9.

18. de Vries LS, Dubowitz LM, Dubowitz V, Kaiser A, Lary S, Silverman M, et al. Predictive value of cranial ultrasound in the newborn baby: a reappraisal. Lancet. 1985;2(8447):137-40.

19. Beaino G, Khoshnood B, Kaminski M, Pierrat V, Marret S, Matis J, et al. Predictors of cerebral palsy in very preterm infants: the EPIPAGE prospective population-based cohort study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2010;52(6):e119-25.

20. Agut T, Alarcon A, Cabanas F, Bartocci M, Martinez-Biarge M, Horsch S, et al. Preterm white matter injury: ultrasound diagnosis and classification. Pediatr Res. 2020;87(Suppl 1):37-49.

21. Vesoulis ZA, Mathur AM. Cerebral Autoregulation, Brain Injury, and the Transitioning Premature Infant. Front Pediatr. 2017;5:64.

22. Ghazi-Birry HS, Brown WR, Moody DM, Challa VR, Block SM, Reboussin DM. Human germinal matrix: venous origin of hemorrhage and vascular characteristics. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 1997;18(2):219-29.

23. du Plessis AJ. The role of systemic hemodynamic disturbances in prematurityrelated brain injury. J Child Neurol. 2009;24(9):1127-40.

24. Ballabh P. Intraventricular hemorrhage in premature infants: mechanism of disease. Pediatr Res. 2010;67(1):1-8.

25. Perlman JM. The relationship between systemic hemodynamic perturbations and periventricular-intraventricular hemorrhage--a historical perspective. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2009;16(4):191-9.

26. Mullaart RA, Hopman JC, Rotteveel JJ, Daniels O, Stoelinga GB, De Haan AF. Cerebral blood flow fluctuation in neonatal respiratory distress and periventricular haemorrhage. Early Hum Dev. 1994;37(3):179-85.

27. Kaiser JR, Gauss CH, Pont MM, Williams DK. Hypercapnia during the first 3 days of life is associated with severe intraventricular hemorrhage in very low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2006;26(5):279-85.

28. Okumura A, Hayakawa F, Kato T, Itomi K, Maruyama K, Ishihara N, et al. Hypocarbia in preterm infants with periventricular leukomalacia: the relation between hypocarbia and mechanical ventilation. Pediatrics. 2001;107(3):469-75.

29. Linder N, Haskin O, Levit O, Klinger G, Prince T, Naor N, et al. Risk factors for intraventricular hemorrhage in very low birth weight premature infants: a retrospective case-control study. Pediatrics. 2003;111(5 Pt 1):e590-5.

30. Leviton A, Allred EN, Dammann O, Engelke S, Fichorova RN, Hirtz D, et al. Systemic inflammation, intraventricular hemorrhage, and white matter injury. J Child Neurol. 2013;28(12):1637-45.

31. Al-Abdi SY, Al-Aamri MA. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Timing of Early Intraventricular Hemorrhage in Preterm Neonates: Clinical and Research Implications. J Clin Neonatol. 2014;3(2):76-88.

32. Gazzolo D, Marinoni E, Di Iorio R, Lituania M, Marras M, Bruschettini M, et al. High maternal blood S100B concentrations in pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction and intraventricular hemorrhage. Clin Chem. 2006;52(5):819-26.

33. DeMaster D, Bick J, Johnson U, Montroy JJ, Landry S, Duncan AF. Nurturing the preterm infant brain: leveraging neuroplasticity to improve neurobehavioral outcomes. Pediatr Res. 2019;85(2):166-75.

34. Payne AH, Hintz SR, Hibbs AM, Walsh MC, Vohr BR, Bann CM, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of extremely low-gestational-age neonates with low-grade periventricular-intraventricular hemorrhage. JAMA Pediatr. 2013;167(5):451-9.

35. Beaino G, Khoshnood B, Kaminski M, Marret S, Pierrat V, Vieux R, et al. Predictors of the risk of cognitive deficiency in very preterm infants: the EPIPAGE prospective cohort. Acta Paediatr. 2011;100(3):370-8.

36. Sherlock RL, Anderson PJ, Doyle LW, Victorian Infant Collaborative Study G. Neurodevelopmental sequelae of intraventricular haemorrhage at 8 years of age in a regional cohort of ELBW/very preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2005;81(11):909-16.

37. Bolisetty S, Dhawan A, Abdel-Latif M, Bajuk B, Stack J, Lui K, et al. Intraventricular hemorrhage and neurodevelopmental outcomes in extreme preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2014;133(1):55-62.

38. Patra K, Wilson-Costello D, Taylor HG, Mercuri-Minich N, Hack M. Grades I-II intraventricular hemorrhage in extremely low birth weight infants: effects on neurodevelopment. J Pediatr. 2006;149(2):169-73.

39. Hintz SR, Slovis T, Bulas D, Van Meurs KP, Perritt R, Stevenson DK, et al. Interobserver reliability and accuracy of cranial ultrasound scanning interpretation in premature infants. J Pediatr. 2007;150(6):592-6, 6 e1-5.

40. Chalak LF, Sikes NC, Mason MJ, Kaiser JR. Low-voltage aEEG as predictor of intracranial hemorrhage in preterm infants. Pediatr Neurol. 2011;44(5):364-9.

41. Elser HE, Holditch-Davis D, Brandon DH. Cerebral Oxygenation Monitoring: A Strategy to Detect IVH and PVL. Newborn Infant Nurs Rev. 2011;11(3):153-9.

42. Tuzcu V, Nas S, Ulusar U, Ugur A, Kaiser JR. Altered heart rhythm dynamics in very low birth weight infants with impending intraventricular hemorrhage. Pediatrics. 2009;123(3):810-5.

43. Grether J, Hirtz D, McNellis D, Nelson K, Rouse DJ. Tocolytic magnesium sulphate and paediatric mortality. Lancet. 1998;351(9098):292; author reply 3.

44. Doyle LW, Crowther CA, Middleton P, Marret S, Rouse D. Magnesium sulphate for women at risk of preterm birth for neuroprotection of the fetus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009(1):Cd004661.

45. DM Peebles AK. Magnesium Sulphate to Prevent Cerebral Palsy following Preterm Birth. . 2011.

46. Rouse DJ. Magnesium sulfate for the prevention of cerebral palsy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(6):610-2.

47. Zylinska L, Gulczynska E, Kozaczuk A. Changes in erythrocyte glutathione and plasma membrane calcium pump in preterm newborns treated antenatally with MgSO4. Neonatology. 2008;94(4):272-8.

48. Rouse DJ, Hauth JC, Nelson KG, Goldenberg RL. The feasibility of a randomized clinical perinatal trial: maternal magnesium sulfate for the prevention of cerebral palsy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1996;175(3 Pt 1):701-5.

49. Rouse DJ, Hirtz DG, Thom E, Varner MW, Spong CY, Mercer BM, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of magnesium sulfate for the prevention of cerebral palsy. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(9):895-905.

50. Turkyilmaz C, Turkyilmaz Z, Atalay Y, Soylemezoglu F, Celasun B. Magnesium pretreatment reduces neuronal apoptosis in newborn rats in hypoxia-ischemia. Brain Res. 2002;955(1-2):133-7.

51. Mittendorf R, Covert R, Boman J, Khoshnood B, Lee KS, Siegler M. Is tocolytic magnesium sulphate associated with increased total paediatric mortality? Lancet. 1997;350(9090):1517-8.

52. McPherson JA, Rouse DJ, Grobman WA, Palatnik A, Stamilio DM. Association of duration of neuroprotective magnesium sulfate infusion with neonatal and maternal outcomes. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;124(4):749-55.

53. Dribben WH, Creeley CE, Wang HH, Smith DJ, Farber NB, Olney JW. High dose magnesium sulfate exposure induces apoptotic cell death in the developing neonatal mouse brain. Neonatology. 2009;96(1):23-32.

54. Abbassi-Ghanavati M, Alexander JM, McIntire DD, Savani RC, Leveno KJ. Neonatal effects of magnesium sulfate given to the mother. Am J Perinatol. 2012;29(10):795-9.

55. Bozkurt O, Eras Z, Canpolat FE, Oguz SS, Uras N, Dilmen U. Antenatal magnesium sulfate and neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm infants born to preeclamptic mothers. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;29(7):1101-4.

56. Gaohua L, Abduljalil K, Jamei M, Johnson TN, Rostami-Hodjegan A. A pregnancy physiologically based pharmacokinetic (p-PBPK) model for disposition of drugs metabolized by CYP1A2, CYP2D6 and CYP3A4. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2012;74(5):873-85.

57. Lu JF, Nightingale CH. Magnesium sulfate in eclampsia and pre-eclampsia: pharmacokinetic principles. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2000;38(4):305-14.

58. Brookfield KF, Su F, Elkomy MH, Drover DR, Lyell DJ, Carvalho B. Pharmacokinetics and placental transfer of magnesium sulfate in pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;214(6):737 e1-9.

59. McGuinness GA, Weinstein MM, Cruikshank DP, Pitkin RM. Effects of magnesium sulfate treatment on perinatal calcium metabolism. II. Neonatal responses. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;56(5):595-600.

60. Harkin P, Marttila R, Pokka T, Saarela T, Hallman M. Morbidities associated with patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. Nationwide cohort study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018;31(19):2576-83.

61. Franklin KJ. A survey of the growth of knowledge about certain parts of the foetal cardio-vascular apparatus, and about the foetal circulation, in Man and some other mammals. Part I: Galen to Harvey. Annals of Science. 1941;5(1):57-89.

62. Obladen M. History of the ductus arteriosus: 1. Anatomy and spontaneous closure. Neonatology. 2011;99(2):83-9.

63. The Embryological Treatises of Hieronymus Fabricius of Aquapendente: The Formation of the Egg and of the Chick [De Formatione Ovi et Pulli]; The Formed Fetus [De Formato Foetu]. JAMA. 1943;122(15):1050-.

64. R. V. Gesammelte Abhandlungen zur wissenschaftlichen Medizin. . Frankfurt Meidinger: Virchow R; 1856.

65. G G. De l'obliteration du canal artériel, les théories et les faits. J Anat Physiol Paris.1900;36:323–57.

66. Kaemmerer H, Meisner H, Hess J, Perloff JK. Surgical treatment of patent ductus arteriosus: a new historical perspective. Am J Cardiol. 2004;94(9):1153-4.

67. Porstmann W, Wierny L, Warnke H, Gerstberger G, Romaniuk PA. Catheter closure of patent ductus arteriosus. 62 cases treated without thoracotomy. Radiol Clin North Am. 1971;9(2):203-18.

68. Schneider DJ, Moore JW. Patent ductus arteriosus. Circulation. 2006;114(17):1873-82.

69. Hess LW, Hess DB, McCaul JF, Perry KG. Fetal echocardiography. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 1990;17(1):41-79.

70. Gittenberger-de Groot AC, van Ertbruggen I, Moulaert AJ, Harinck E. The ductus arteriosus in the preterm infant: histologic and clinical observations. J Pediatr. 1980;96(1):88-93.

71. Forsey JT, Elmasry OA, Martin RP. Patent arterial duct. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2009;4:17.

72. Boreus LO, Malmfors T, McMurphy DM, Olson L. Demonstration of adrenergic receptor function and innervation in the ductus arteriosus of the human fetus. Acta Physiol Scand. 1969;77(3):316-21.

73. Aronson S, Gennser G, Owman C, Sjöberg NO. Innervation and contractile response of the human ductus arteriosus. Eur J Pharmacol. 1970;11(2):178-86.

74. Silva DG, Ikeda M. Ultrastructural and acetylcholinesterase studies on the innervation of the ductus arteriosus, pulmonary trunk and aorta of the fetal lamb. J Ultrastruct Res. 1971;34(3):358-74.

75. Barcroft J, J.A.Kennedy and M.F.Mason. The relation of the vagus nerve to the ductus arteriosus in the guinea pig. J Physiol. 1938;92:1-2.

76. Goudjil S, Imestouren F, Chazal C, Ghostine G, Wallois F, Leke A, et al. Patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants is associated with cardiac autonomic alteration and predominant parasympathetic stimulation. Early Hum Dev. 2013;89(9):631-4.

77. Hundscheid T, van den Broek M, van der Lee R, de Boode WP. Understanding the pathobiology in patent ductus arteriosus in prematurity-beyond prostaglandins and oxygen. Pediatr Res. 2019;86(1):28-38.

78. Clyman RI, Chan CY, Mauray F, Chen YQ, Cox W, Seidner SR, et al. Permanent anatomic closure of the ductus arteriosus in newborn baboons: the roles of postnatal constriction, hypoxia, and gestation. Pediatr Res. 1999;45(1):19-29.

79. Clyman RI, Evans S, Koch C. Hypoxia initiates Ductus Arteriosus Remodeling. • 101.Pediatric Research. 1997;41(4):19-.

80. Clyman RI, Couto J, Murphy GM. Patent ductus arteriosus: are current neonatal treatment options better or worse than no treatment at all? Semin Perinatol. 2012;36(2):123-9.

81. Sakurai H, Matsuoka R, Furutani Y, Imamura S, Takao A, Momma K. Expression of four myosin heavy chain genes in developing blood vessels and other smooth muscle organs in rabbits. Eur J Cell Biol. 1996;69(2):166-72.

82. Kajimoto H, Hashimoto K, Bonnet SN, Haromy A, Harry G, Moudgil R, et al. Oxygen activates the Rho/Rho-kinase pathway and induces RhoB and ROCK-1 expression in human and rabbit ductus arteriosus by increasing mitochondria-derived reactive oxygen species: a newly recognized mechanism for sustaining ductal constriction. Circulation. 2007;115(13):1777-88.

83. Thébaud B, Michelakis ED, Wu XC, Moudgil R, Kuzyk M, Dyck JR, et al. Oxygensensitive Kv channel gene transfer confers oxygen responsiveness to preterm rabbit and remodeled human ductus arteriosus: implications for infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Circulation. 2004;110(11):1372-9.

84. Momma K, Toyono M. The role of nitric oxide in dilating the fetal ductus arteriosus in rats. Pediatr Res. 1999;46(3):311-5.

85. Clyman RI, Mauray F, Heymann MA, Roman C. Effect of gestational age on pulmonary metabolism of prostaglandin E1 & E2. Prostaglandins. 1981;21(3):505-13.

86. Gonzalez A, Sosenko IR, Chandar J, Hummler H, Claure N, Bancalari E. Influence of infection on patent ductus arteriosus and chronic lung disease in premature infants weighing 1000 grams or less. J Pediatr. 1996;128(4):470-8.

87. Lewis TR, Shelton EL, Van Driest SL, Kannankeril PJ, Reese J. Genetics of the patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) and pharmacogenetics of PDA treatment. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018;23(4):232-8.

88. Weisz DE, McNamara PJ, El-Khuffash A. Cardiac biomarkers and haemodynamically significant patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2017;105:41-7.

89. Dokainish H. Left ventricular diastolic function and dysfunction: Central role of echocardiography. Global Cardiology Science and Practice. 2015;2015(1).

90. Garland J, Buck R, Weinberg M. Pulmonary hemorrhage risk in infants with a clinically diagnosed patent ductus arteriosus: a retrospective cohort study. Pediatrics. 1994;94(5):719-23.

91. Lindner W, Seidel M, Versmold HT, Döhlemann C, Riegel KP. Stroke volume and left ventricular output in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Res. 1990;27(3):278-81.

92. Clyman RI, Roman C, Heymann MA, Mauray F. How a patent ductus arteriosus effects the premature lamb's ability to handle additional volume loads. Pediatr Res. 1987;22(5):531-5.

93. Alverson DC, Eldridge MW, Johnson JD, Burstein R, Papile L, Dillon T, et al. Effect of patent ductus arteriosus on left ventricular output in premature infants. The Journal of Pediatrics. 1983;102(5):754-7.

94. Clyman RI, Mauray F, Heymann MA, Roman C. Cardiovascular effects of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm lambs with respiratory distress. J Pediatr. 1987;111(4):579-87.

95. Bates S, Odd D, Luyt K, Mannix P, Wach R, Evans D, et al. Superior vena cava flow and intraventricular haemorrhage in extremely preterm infants. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;29(10):1581-7.

96. Noori S, Seri I. Hemodynamic antecedents of peri/intraventricular hemorrhage in very preterm neonates. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;20(4):232-7.

97. Shimada S, Kasai T, Konishi M, Fujiwara T. Effects of patent ductus arteriosus on left ventricular output and organ blood flows in preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome treated with surfactant. J Pediatr. 1994;125(2):270-7.

98. Coombs RC, Morgan ME, Durbin GM, Booth IW, McNeish AS. Gut blood flow velocities in the newborn: effects of patent ductus arteriosus and parenteral indomethacin. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1990;65(10 Spec No):1067-71.

99. Wong SN, Lo RN, Hui PW. Abnormal renal and splanchnic arterial Doppler pattern in premature babies with symptomatic patent ductus arteriosus. J Ultrasound Med. 1990;9(3):125-30.

100. Vaisbourd Y, Sharif D, Riskin A, Yaniv L, Dinur G, Amen K, et al. The effect of patent ductus arteriosus on coronary artery blood flow in premature infants: a prospective observational pilot study. J Perinatol. 2020;40(9):1366-74.

101. Tammela O, Ojala R, Iivainen T, Lautamatti V, Pokela M-L, Janas M, et al. Short versus prolonged indomethacin therapy for patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. The Journal of Pediatrics. 1999;134(5):552-7.

102. Yanagi RM, Wilson A, Newfeld EA, Aziz KU, Hunt CE. Indomethacin treatment for symptomatic patent ductus arteriosus: a double-blind control study. Pediatrics. 1981;67(5):647-52.

103. Gournay V, Roze JC, Kuster A, Daoud P, Cambonie G, Hascoet JM, et al. Prophylactic ibuprofen versus placebo in very premature infants: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2004;364(9449):1939-44.

104. Härkin P, Härmä A, Aikio O, Valkama M, Leskinen M, Saarela T, et al. Paracetamol Accelerates Closure of the Ductus Arteriosus after Premature Birth: A Randomized Trial. J Pediatr. 2016;177:72-7.e2.

105. Sehgal A, McNamara PJ. The ductus arteriosus: a refined approach! Semin Perinatol. 2012;36(2):105-13.

106. Jhaveri N, Moon-Grady A, Clyman RI. Early surgical ligation versus a conservative approach for management of patent ductus arteriosus that fails to close after indomethacin treatment. J Pediatr. 2010;157(3):381-7, 7.e1.

107. Sehgal A, Paul E, Menahem S. Functional echocardiography in staging for ductal disease severity : role in predicting outcomes. Eur J Pediatr. 2013;172(2):179-84.

108. El-Khuffash AF, Slevin M, McNamara PJ, Molloy EJ. Troponin T, N-terminal pro natriuretic peptide and a patent ductus arteriosus scoring system predict death before discharge or neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years in preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2011;96(2):F133-7.

109. Lakshminrusimha S. The pulmonary circulation in neonatal respiratory failure. Clin Perinatol. 2012;39(3):655-83.

110. Ergenekon E, Rojas-Anaya H, Bravo MC, Kotidis C, Mahoney L, Rabe H. Cardiovascular Drug Therapy for Human Newborn: Review of Pharmacodynamic Data. Curr Pharm Des. 2017;23(38):5850-60.

111. Anderson PA. The heart and development. Semin Perinatol. 1996;20(6):482-509.

112. Marijianowski MM, van der Loos CM, Mohrschladt MF, Becker AE. The neonatal heart has a relatively high content of total collagen and type I collagen, a condition that may explain the less compliant state. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1994;23(5):1204-8.

113. Kluckow M, Lemmers P. Hemodynamic assessment of the patent ductus arteriosus:Beyond ultrasound. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018;23(4):239-44.

114. Ficial B, Corsini I, Fiocchi S, Schena F, Capolupo I, Cerbo RM, et al. Survey of PDA management in very low birth weight infants across Italy. Ital J Pediatr. 2020;46(1):22.

115. Lee SK, McMillan DD, Ohlsson A, Pendray M, Synnes A, Whyte R, et al. Variations in practice and outcomes in the Canadian NICU network: 1996-1997. Pediatrics. 2000;106(5):1070-9.

116. Vanhaesebrouck S, Zonnenberg I, Vandervoort P, Bruneel E, Van Hoestenberghe MR, Theyskens C. Conservative treatment for patent ductus arteriosus in the preterm. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2007;92(4):F244-7.

Semberova J, Sirc J, Miletin J, Kucera J, Berka I, Sebkova S, et al. Spontaneous
Closure of Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Infants ≤1500 g. Pediatrics. 2017;140(2).

118. Sung SI, Chang YS, Chun JY, Yoon SA, Yoo HS, Ahn SY, et al. Mandatory Closure Versus Nonintervention for Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Very Preterm Infants. J Pediatr. 2016;177:66-71.e1.

119. Letshwiti JB, Semberova J, Pichova K, Dempsey EM, Franklin OM, Miletin J. A conservative treatment of patent ductus arteriosus in very low birth weight infants. Early Hum Dev. 2017;104:45-9.

120. Hundscheid T, Onland W, van Overmeire B, Dijk P, van Kaam A, Dijkman KP, et al. Early treatment versus expectative management of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: a multicentre, randomised, non-inferiority trial in Europe (BeNeDuctus trial). BMC Pediatr. 2018;18(1):262.

121. Ohlsson A, Walia R, Shah SS. Ibuprofen for the treatment of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm or low birth weight (or both) infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(2):Cd003481.

122. Fowlie PW, Davis PG, McGuire W. Prophylactic intravenous indomethacin for preventing mortality and morbidity in preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;2010(7):Cd000174.

123. Benitz WE. Treatment of persistent patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: time to accept the null hypothesis? J Perinatol. 2010;30(4):241-52.

124. Fujii AM, Brown E, Mirochnick M, O'Brien S, Kaufman G. Neonatal necrotizing enterocolitis with intestinal perforation in extremely premature infants receiving early indomethacin treatment for patent ductus arteriosus. J Perinatol. 2002;22(7):535-40.

125. Attridge JT, Clark R, Walker MW, Gordon PV. New insights into spontaneous intestinal perforation using a national data set: (1) SIP is associated with early indomethacin exposure. J Perinatol. 2006;26(2):93-9.

126. Kushnir A, Pinheiro JM. Comparison of renal effects of ibuprofen versus indomethacin during treatment of patent ductus arteriosus in contiguous historical cohorts. BMC Clin Pharmacol. 2011;11:8.

127. Patel J, Roberts I, Azzopardi D, Hamilton P, Edwards AD. Randomized double-blind controlled trial comparing the effects of ibuprofen with indomethacin on cerebral hemodynamics in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Res. 2000;47(1):36-42.

128. Juszczak E. GS. The Baby-OSCAR trial: rationale and practicalities. Infant. 2015;11(6):184-86.

129. Weisz DE, More K, McNamara PJ, Shah PS. PDA ligation and health outcomes: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2014;133(4):e1024-46.

130. Weisz DE, Mirea L, Rosenberg E, Jang M, Ly L, Church PT, et al. Association of Patent Ductus Arteriosus Ligation With Death or Neurodevelopmental Impairment Among Extremely Preterm Infants. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(5):443-9.

131. Weisz DE, Mirea L, Resende MHF, Ly L, Church PT, Kelly E, et al. Outcomes of Surgical Ligation after Unsuccessful Pharmacotherapy for Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Neonates Born Extremely Preterm. J Pediatr. 2018;195:292-6.e3.

132. Bixler GM, Powers GC, Clark RH, Walker MW, Tolia VN. Changes in the Diagnosis and Management of Patent Ductus Arteriosus from 2006 to 2015 in United States Neonatal Intensive Care Units. J Pediatr. 2017;189:105-12.

133. van Laere D, van Overmeire B, Gupta S, El-Khuffash A, Savoia M, McNamara PJ, et al. Application of NPE in the assessment of a patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Res. 2018;84(Suppl 1):46-56.

134. Iyer P, Evans N. Re-evaluation of the left atrial to aortic root ratio as a marker of patent ductus arteriosus. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1994;70(2):F112-7.

135. Shepherd JL, Noori S. What is a hemodynamically significant PDA in preterm infants? Congenit Heart Dis. 2019;14(1):21-6.

136. Weiss DM, Kaiser JR, Swearingen C, Malik S, Sachdeva R. Association of Antegrade Pulmonary Artery Diastolic Velocity with Spontaneous Closure of the Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Extremely Low-Birth-Weight Infants. Am J Perinatol. 2015;32(13):1217-24.

137. El-Khuffash A, James AT, Corcoran JD, Dicker P, Franklin O, Elsayed YN, et al. A Patent Ductus Arteriosus Severity Score Predicts Chronic Lung Disease or Death before Discharge. J Pediatr. 2015;167(6):1354-61.e2.

138. Arlettaz R. Echocardiographic Evaluation of Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Preterm Infants. Front Pediatr. 2017;5:147.

139. Ficial B, Finnemore AE, Cox DJ, Broadhouse KM, Price AN, Durighel G, et al. Validation study of the accuracy of echocardiographic measurements of systemic blood flow volume in newborn infants. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2013;26(12):1365-71.

140. Chew MS, Poelaert J. Accuracy and repeatability of pediatric cardiac output measurement using Doppler: 20-year review of the literature. Intensive Care Med. 2003;29(11):1889-94.
141. Schwarz CE, Preusche A, Baden W, Poets CF, Franz AR. Repeatability of echocardiographic parameters to evaluate the hemodynamic relevance of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: a prospective observational study. BMC Pediatr. 2016;16:18. 142. Suresh Victor MW. Chapter 7 - Near-Infrared Spectroscopy and Its Use for the Assessment of Tissue Perfusion in the Neonate,. In: Charles S. Kleinman IS, editor. Hemodynamics and Cardiology: Neonatology Questions and Controversies (Second Edition): W.B. Saunders; 2012. p. 151-72.

143. Skov L, Pryds O, Greisen G, Lou H. Estimation of cerebral venous saturation in newborn infants by near infrared spectroscopy. Pediatr Res. 1993;33(1):52-5.

144. Brazy JE, Lewis DV, Mitnick MH, Jöbsis vander Vliet FF. Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral oxygenation in preterm infants: preliminary observations. Pediatrics. 1985;75(2):217-25.

145. Naulaers G, Morren G, Van Huffel S, Casaer P, Devlieger H. Cerebral tissue oxygenation index in very premature infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2002;87(3):F189-92.

146. Dix LM, van Bel F, Baerts W, Lemmers PM. Comparing near-infrared spectroscopy devices and their sensors for monitoring regional cerebral oxygen saturation in the neonate. Pediatr Res. 2013;74(5):557-63.

147. Hyttel-Sorensen S, Sorensen LC, Riera J, Greisen G. Tissue oximetry: a comparison of mean values of regional tissue saturation, reproducibility and dynamic range of four NIRS-instruments on the human forearm. Biomed Opt Express. 2011;2(11):3047-57.

148. Naulaers G, Meyns B, Miserez M, Leunens V, Van Huffel S, Casaer P, et al. Use of tissue oxygenation index and fractional tissue oxygen extraction as non-invasive parameters for cerebral oxygenation. A validation study in piglets. Neonatology. 2007;92(2):120-6.

149. Alderliesten T, De Vis JB, Lemmers PM, Hendrikse J, Groenendaal F, van Bel F, et al. Brain oxygen saturation assessment in neonates using T(2)-prepared blood imaging of oxygen saturation and near-infrared spectroscopy. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2017;37(3):902-13.

150. Wintermark P, Hansen A, Warfield SK, Dukhovny D, Soul JS. Near-infrared spectroscopy versus magnetic resonance imaging to study brain perfusion in newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy treated with hypothermia. Neuroimage. 2014;85 Pt 1(0 1):287-93.

151. Nagdyman N, Fleck T, Schubert S, Ewert P, Peters B, Lange PE, et al. Comparison between cerebral tissue oxygenation index measured by near-infrared spectroscopy and venous jugular bulb saturation in children. Intensive Care Med. 2005;31(6):846-50.

152. Rais-Bahrami K, Rivera O, Short BL. Validation of a noninvasive neonatal optical cerebral oximeter in veno-venous ECMO patients with a cephalad catheter. J Perinatol. 2006;26(10):628-35.

153. Murkin JM, Arango M. Near-infrared spectroscopy as an index of brain and tissue oxygenation. Br J Anaesth. 2009;103 Suppl 1:i3-13.

154. Badurdeen S, Roberts C, Blank D, Miller S, Stojanovska V, Davis P, et al. Haemodynamic Instability and Brain Injury in Neonates Exposed to Hypoxia⁻Ischaemia. Brain Sci. 2019;9(3).

155. Verhagen EA, Van Braeckel KN, van der Veere CN, Groen H, Dijk PH, Hulzebos CV, et al. Cerebral oxygenation is associated with neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm children at age 2 to 3 years. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57(5):449-55.

156. Hyttel-Sorensen S, Pellicer A, Alderliesten T, Austin T, van Bel F, Benders M, et al. Cerebral near infrared spectroscopy oximetry in extremely preterm infants: phase II randomised clinical trial. Bmj. 2015;350:g7635.

157. Hansen ML, Pellicer A, Gluud C, Dempsey E, Mintzer J, Hyttel-Sorensen S, et al. Detailed statistical analysis plan for the SafeBoosC III trial: a multinational randomised clinical trial assessing treatment guided by cerebral oxygenation monitoring versus treatment as usual in extremely preterm infants. Trials. 2019;20(1):746.

158. Lin PY, Roche-Labarbe N, Dehaes M, Fenoglio A, Grant PE, Franceschini MA. Regional and hemispheric asymmetries of cerebral hemodynamic and oxygen metabolism in newborns. Cereb Cortex. 2013;23(2):339-48.

159. Petrova A, Bhatt M, Mehta R. Regional tissue oxygenation in preterm born infants in association with echocardiographically significant patent ductus arteriosus. J Perinatol. 2011;31(7):460-4.

160. Alderliesten T, Dix L, Baerts W, Caicedo A, van Huffel S, Naulaers G, et al. Reference values of regional cerebral oxygen saturation during the first 3 days of life in preterm neonates. Pediatr Res. 2016;79(1-1):55-64.

161. Lemmers PM, Molenschot MC, Evens J, Toet MC, van Bel F. Is cerebral oxygen supply compromised in preterm infants undergoing surgical closure for patent ductus arteriosus? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2010;95(6):F429-34.

162. Vanderhaegen J, De Smet D, Meyns B, Van De Velde M, Van Huffel S, Naulaers G. Surgical closure of the patent ductus arteriosus and its effect on the cerebral tissue oxygenation. Acta Paediatr. 2008;97(12):1640-4.

163. Tsuji M, Saul JP, du Plessis A, Eichenwald E, Sobh J, Crocker R, et al. Cerebral intravascular oxygenation correlates with mean arterial pressure in critically ill premature infants. Pediatrics. 2000;106(4):625-32.

164. Alderliesten T, Lemmers PM, Smarius JJ, van de Vosse RE, Baerts W, van Bel F. Cerebral oxygenation, extraction, and autoregulation in very preterm infants who develop peri-intraventricular hemorrhage. J Pediatr. 2013;162(4):698-704.e2.

165. Plomgaard AM, Alderliesten T, van Bel F, Benders M, Claris O, Cordeiro M, et al. No neurodevelopmental benefit of cerebral oximetry in the first randomised trial (SafeBoosC II) in preterm infants during the first days of life. Acta Paediatr. 2019;108(2):275-81.

166. Aly SA, Zurakowski D, Glass P, Skurow-Todd K, Jonas RA, Donofrio MT. Cerebral tissue oxygenation index and lactate at 24 hours postoperative predict survival and neurodevelopmental outcome after neonatal cardiac surgery. Congenit Heart Dis. 2017;12(2):188-95.

167. Hoffman GM, Brosig CL, Mussatto KA, Tweddell JS, Ghanayem NS. Perioperative cerebral oxygen saturation in neonates with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and childhood neurodevelopmental outcome. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;146(5):1153-64.
168. Rosén I. The physiological basis for continuous electroencephalogram monitoring

in the neonate. Clin Perinatol. 2006;33(3):593-611, v.

169. Chiou YB, Blume-Peytavi U. Stratum corneum maturation. A review of neonatal skin function. Skin Pharmacol Physiol. 2004;17(2):57-66.

170. West CR, Harding JE, Williams CE, Gunning MI, Battin MR. Quantitative electroencephalographic patterns in normal preterm infants over the first week after birth. Early Hum Dev. 2006;82(1):43-51.

171. Soubasi V, Mitsakis K, Nakas CT, Petridou S, Sarafidis K, Griva M, et al. The influence of extrauterine life on the aEEG maturation in normal preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2009;85(12):761-5.

172. Klebermass K, Olischar M, Waldhoer T, Fuiko R, Pollak A, Weninger M. Amplitudeintegrated EEG pattern predicts further outcome in preterm infants. Pediatr Res. 2011;70(1):102-8.

173. Connell JA, Oozeer R, Dubowitz V. Continuous 4-channel EEG monitoring: a guide to interpretation, with normal values, in preterm infants. Neuropediatrics. 1987;18(3):138-45.

Burdjalov VF, Baumgart S, Spitzer AR. Cerebral function monitoring: a new scoring system for the evaluation of brain maturation in neonates. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):855-61.
Hellström-Westas L, Rosén I. Electroencephalography and brain damage in preterm infants. Early Hum Dev. 2005;81(3):255-61.

176. Kidokoro H, Okumura A, Hayakawa F, Kato T, Maruyama K, Kubota T, et al. Chronologic changes in neonatal EEG findings in periventricular leukomalacia. Pediatrics. 2009;124(3):e468-75.

177. Hellström-Westas L, Klette H, Thorngren-Jerneck K, Rosén I. Early prediction of outcome with aEEG in preterm infants with large intraventricular hemorrhages. Neuropediatrics. 2001;32(6):319-24.

178. Granot S, Meledin I, Richardson J, Friger M, Shany E. Influence of respiratory acidosis and blood glucose on cerebral activity of premature infants. Pediatr Neurol. 2012;47(1):19-24.

179. Hassanein SM, Gad GI, Ismail RI, Diab M. Effect of caffeine on preterm infants' cerebral cortical activity: an observational study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;28(17):2090-5.

180. Wikström S, Lundin F, Ley D, Pupp IH, Fellman V, Rosén I, et al. Carbon dioxide and glucose affect electrocortical background in extremely preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2011;127(4):e1028-34.

181. ter Horst HJ, van Olffen M, Remmelts HJ, de Vries H, Bos AF. The prognostic value of amplitude integrated EEG in neonatal sepsis and/or meningitis. Acta Paediatr. 2010;99(2):194-200.

182. Paz-Levy D, Schreiber L, Erez O, Goshen S, Richardson J, Drunov V, et al. Inflammatory and vascular placental lesions are associated with neonatal amplitude integrated EEG recording in early premature neonates. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0179481.

183. West CR, Groves AM, Williams CE, Harding JE, Skinner JR, Kuschel CA, et al. Early low cardiac output is associated with compromised electroencephalographic activity in very preterm infants. Pediatr Res. 2006;59(4 Pt 1):610-5.

184. Bruns N, Metze B, Bührer C, Felderhoff-Müser U, Hüseman D. Electrocortical Activity at 7 Days of Life is Affected in Extremely Premature Infants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus. Klin Padiatr. 2015;227(5):264-8.

185. Leslie AT, Jain A, El-Khuffash A, Keyzers M, Rogerson S, McNamara PJ. Evaluation of cerebral electrical activity and cardiac output after patent ductus arteriosus ligation in preterm infants. J Perinatol. 2013;33(11):861-6.

186. Kasdorf E, Engel M, Perlman JM. Amplitude electroencephalogram characterization
in preterm infants undergoing patent ductus arteriosus ligation. Pediatr Neurol.
2013;49(2):102-6.

187. Van Bortel LM, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Chowienczyk P, Cruickshank JK, De Backer T, et al. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens. 2012;30(3):445-8.

188. Vlahandonis A, Biggs SN, Nixon GM, Davey MJ, Walter LM, Horne RS. Pulse transit time as a surrogate measure of changes in systolic arterial pressure in children during sleep. J Sleep Res. 2014;23(4):406-13.

189. Oishi M, Nishida H, Kabe K, Hoshi J. Monitoring neonatal peripheral circulation by electrocardiogram-to-oximeter pulse velocity. Pediatr Res. 1993;33(6):653-7.

190. Xing CY, Tarumi T, Meijers RL, Turner M, Repshas J, Xiong L, et al. Arterial Pressure, Heart Rate, and Cerebral Hemodynamics Across the Adult Life Span. Hypertension. 2017;69(4):712-20.

191. Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C, May M, Anderson SG, Benjamin EJ, et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635 subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63(7):636-46.

192. Gribbin B, Steptoe A, Sleight P. Pulse wave velocity as a measure of blood pressure change. Psychophysiology. 1976;13(1):86-90.

193. Im JA, Lee JW, Shim JY, Lee HR, Lee DC. Association between brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity and cardiovascular risk factors in healthy adolescents. J Pediatr. 2007;150(3):247-51.

194. Determinants of pulse wave velocity in healthy people and in the presence of cardiovascular risk factors: 'establishing normal and reference values'. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(19):2338-50.

195. Reusz GS, Cseprekal O, Temmar M, Kis E, Cherif AB, Thaleb A, et al. Reference values of pulse wave velocity in healthy children and teenagers. Hypertension. 2010;56(2):217-24.

196. Wilkinson IB, Fuchs SA, Jansen IM, Spratt JC, Murray GD, Cockcroft JR, et al. Reproducibility of pulse wave velocity and augmentation index measured by pulse wave analysis. J Hypertens. 1998;16(12 Pt 2):2079-84.

197. Gosling RG, Budge MM. Terminology for describing the elastic behavior of arteries.Hypertension. 2003;41(6):1180-2.

198. Nürnberger J, Opazo Saez A, Dammer S, Mitchell A, Wenzel RR, Philipp T, et al. Left ventricular ejection time: a potential determinant of pulse wave velocity in young, healthy males. J Hypertens. 2003;21(11):2125-32.

199. Ohlsson A, Walia R, Shah SS. Ibuprofen for the treatment of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm or low birth weight (or both) infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;9(9):Cd003481.

200. Zonnenberg I, de Waal K. The definition of a haemodynamic significant duct in randomized controlled trials: a systematic literature review. Acta Paediatr. 2012;101(3):247-51.

201. Jonathan Wyllie SA, Robert Tinnion. Resuscitation and support of transition of babies at birth. London; 2015.

202. Hoyle ES, Hirani S, Ogden S, Deeming J, Yoxall CW. Quality improvement programme to increase the rate of deferred cord clamping at preterm birth using the Lifestart trolley. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2020;105(6):652-5.

203. Mertens L, Seri I, Marek J, Arlettaz R, Barker P, McNamara P, et al. Targeted Neonatal Echocardiography in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: practice guidelines and recommendations for training. Writing Group of the American Society of Echocardiography (ASE) in collaboration with the European Association of Echocardiography (EAE) and the Association for European Pediatric Cardiologists (AEPC). J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2011;24(10):1057-78.

204. Stephens BE, Gargus RA, Walden RV, Mance M, Nye J, McKinley L, et al. Fluid regimens in the first week of life may increase risk of patent ductus arteriosus in extremely low birth weight infants. J Perinatol. 2008;28(2):123-8.

205. Griesmaier E, Enot DP, Bachmann M, Neubauer V, Hellström-Westas L, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, et al. Systematic characterization of amplitude-integrated EEG signals for monitoring the preterm brain. Pediatr Res. 2013;73(2):226-35.

206. Sohn JA, Kim HS, Lee EH, Lee J, Lee JA, Choi CW, et al. Developmental change of amplitude-integrated electroencephalographic activity in preterm infants with intraventricular hemorrhage. Early Hum Dev. 2013;89(12):961-6.

207. Romagnoli C, Giannantonio C, De Carolis MP, Gallini F, Zecca E, Papacci P. Neonatal color Doppler US study: normal values of cerebral blood flow velocities in preterm infants in the first month of life. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2006;32(3):321-31.

208. Sacks D, Baxter B, Campbell BCV, Carpenter JS, Cognard C, Dippel D, et al. Multisociety Consensus Quality Improvement Revised Consensus Statement for Endovascular Therapy of Acute Ischemic Stroke. Int J Stroke. 2018;13(6):612-32.

209. El-Khuffash AF, McNamara PJ. Neonatologist-performed functional echocardiography in the neonatal intensive care unit. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2011;16(1):50-60.

210. Sirc J, Dempsey EM, Miletin J. Diastolic ventricular function improves during the first 48-hours-of-life in infants weighting <1250 g. Acta Paediatr. 2015;104(1):e1-6.

211. Charles Kleinman IS. Hemodynamics and Cardiology. Neonatology Questions and Controversies. Functional echocardiography in the neonatal intensive care unit. . Philadelphia: Saunders 2012; 2012.

212. Mertens L, Seri I, Marek J, Arlettaz R, Barker P, McNamara P, et al. Targeted neonatal echocardiography in the neonatal intensive care unit: practice guidelines and recommendations for training. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2011;12(10):715-36.

213. Kluckow M, Evans N. Superior vena cava flow in newborn infants: a novel marker of systemic blood flow. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2000;82(3):F182-7.

214. Fogtmann EP, Plomgaard AM, Greisen G, Gluud C. Prognostic Accuracy of Electroencephalograms in Preterm Infants: A Systematic Review. Pediatrics. 2017;139(2).

215. van Laere D, van Overmeire B, Gupta S, El-Khuffash A, Savoia M, McNamara PJ, et al. Application of Neonatologist Performed Echocardiography in the assessment of a patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatric Research. 2018;84(1):46-56.

216. Groves AM, Kuschel CA, Knight DB, Skinner JR. Echocardiographic assessment of blood flow volume in the superior vena cava and descending aorta in the newborn infant. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2008;93(1):F24-8.

217. Skinner JR, Boys RJ, Heads A, Hey EN, Hunter S. Estimation of pulmonary arterial pressure in the newborn: study of the repeatability of four Doppler echocardiographic techniques. Pediatr Cardiol. 1996;17(6):360-9.

218. Rodgers B. Investigating Pulse Wave Velocity and Phase Difference as Novel Biomarkers in Neonatal Haemodynamics. In: Liverpool Uo, editor. Master of Philosophy thesis. Liverpool2018.

219. Hintz SR, Slovis T, Bulas D, Van Meurs KP, Perritt R, Stevenson DK, et al. Interobserver reliability and accuracy of cranial ultrasound scanning interpretation in premature infants. J Pediatr. 2007;150(6):592-6, 6.e1-5.

220. consortium N. Dobutamine for NEOnatal CIRCulatory failure defined by novel biomarkers. Final Publishable Summary Report November 2018.; 2018.

221. Kotidis C SN, Weindling AM, Turner M. . Haemodynamically significant patent ductus arteriosus impairs cerebral oxygenation and may be linked with intraventricular haemorrhage. . Neonatal Society 2015 Autumn Meeting London2015.

222. W. N. Venables DMSatRCT. An Introduction to R Notes on R: A Programming Environment for Data Analysis and Graphics Version 4.1.2 (2021-11-01). ed.

223. Kotidis C, Wertheim D, Weindling M, Rabe H, Turner MA. Assessing patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants from standard neonatal intensive care monitoring. Eur J Pediatr. 2021.

224. Harrell F. Regression Modeling Strategies. New York: Springer; 2002.

225. Albert C. Eycleshymer DMS. Cross-Section Anatomy Atlas. New York: Appleton and Company; 1911.

226. Murakami K, Yoshioka M. Pulse Transit Time Variability on a Range of Heart Rates between Resting and Elevated States. 2015 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics; Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong: IEEE Press; 2015. p. 1579–82.

227. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet. 1986;1(8476):307-10.

228. van Bel F, Lemmers P, Naulaers G. Monitoring neonatal regional cerebral oxygen saturation in clinical practice: value and pitfalls. Neonatology. 2008;94(4):237-44.

229. Bolisetty S, Legge N, Bajuk B, Lui K. Preterm infant outcomes in New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory. J Paediatr Child Health. 2015;51(7):713-21.

230. Shah PS, Yoon, E.W., and Chan, P. The Canadian Neonatal Network Annual Report 2016 [online]. . 2017.

231. Ghosh K. Birth characteristics in England and Wales: 2017. In: Office for National Statistics U, editor. London2018.

232. Lifestyles Team ND. Health Survey for England 2019, Weight. London: NHS Digital, part of the Government Statistical Service; 2020.

233. England PH. Smoking Prevalence in adults - current smokers (IHS) in Liverpool Liverpool2015. 234. O'Keeffe LM, Kearney PM, McCarthy FP, Khashan AS, Greene RA, North RA, et al. Prevalence and predictors of alcohol use during pregnancy: findings from international multicentre cohort studies. BMJ Open. 2015;5(7):e006323.

235. Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet. 2008;371(9606):75-84.

236. Hammers AL, Sanchez-Ramos L, Kaunitz AM. Antenatal exposure to indomethacin increases the risk of severe intraventricular hemorrhage, necrotizing enterocolitis, and periventricular leukomalacia: a systematic review with metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015;212(4):505.e1-13.

237. Rovers JFJ, Thomissen IJC, Janssen LCE, Lingius S, Wieland BV, Dieleman JP, et al. The relationship between antenatal indomethacin as a tocolytic drug and neonatal outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2019:1-7.

238. Doni D, Paterlini G, Locatelli A, Arnoldi S, Magri MC, Bernasconi D, et al. Effects of antenatal indomethacin on ductus arteriosus early closure and on adverse outcomes in preterm neonates. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020;33(4):645-50.

239. Soraisham AS, Dalgleish S, Singhal N. Antenatal indomethacin tocolysis is associated with an increased need for surgical ligation of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2010;32(5):435-42.

240. Hammerman C, Glaser J, Kaplan M, Schimmel MS, Ferber B, Eidelman AI. Indomethacin tocolysis increases postnatal patent ductus arteriosus severity. Pediatrics. 1998;102(5):E56.

241. Katheria AC, Stout J, Morales AL, Poeltler D, Rich WD, Steen J, et al. Association between early cerebral oxygenation and neurodevelopmental impairment or death in premature infants. J Perinatol. 2021;41(4):743-8.

242. Fink D, El-Khuffash A, McNamara PJ, Nitzan I, Hammerman C. Tale of Two Patent Ductus Arteriosus Severity Scores: Similarities and Differences. Am J Perinatol. 2018;35(1):55-8.

243. Zun Z, Kapse K, Jacobs M, Basu S, Said M, Andersen N, et al. Longitudinal Trajectories of Regional Cerebral Blood Flow in Very Preterm Infants during Third Trimester Ex Utero Development Assessed with MRI. Radiology. 2021;299(3):691-702.

244. Evans N, Iyer P. Longitudinal changes in the diameter of the ductus arteriosus in ventilated preterm infants: correlation with respiratory outcomes. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1995;72(3):F156-61.

245. Evans N, Kluckow M. Early ductal shunting and intraventricular haemorrhage in ventilated preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1996;75(3):F183-6.

246. Jim WT, Chiu NC, Chen MR, Hung HY, Kao HA, Hsu CH, et al. Cerebral hemodynamic change and intraventricular hemorrhage in very low birth weight infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2005;31(2):197-202.

247. Sortica da Costa C, Cardim D, Molnar Z, Kelsall W, Ng I, Czosnyka M, et al. Changes in hemodynamics, cerebral oxygenation and cerebrovascular reactivity during the early transitional circulation in preterm infants. Pediatr Res. 2019;86(2):247-53.

248. Gale C, Statnikov Y, Jawad S, Uthaya SN, Modi N. Neonatal brain injuries in England: population-based incidence derived from routinely recorded clinical data held in the National Neonatal Research Database. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2018;103(4):F301-f6.

249. Chevallier M, Debillon T, Pierrat V, Delorme P, Kayem G, Durox M, et al. Leading causes of preterm delivery as risk factors for intraventricular hemorrhage in very preterm infants: results of the EPIPAGE 2 cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;216(5):518.e1-.e12.

250. Council LC. The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015. A Liverpool analysis. Liverpool. UK: Liverpool City Council; 2015.

251. Schmidt B, Davis P, Moddemann D, Ohlsson A, Roberts RS, Saigal S, et al. Long-term effects of indomethacin prophylaxis in extremely-low-birth-weight infants. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(26):1966-72.

252. Poryo M, Boeckh JC, Gortner L, Zemlin M, Duppré P, Ebrahimi-Fakhari D, et al. Ante-, peri- and postnatal factors associated with intraventricular hemorrhage in very premature infants. Early Hum Dev. 2018;116:1-8.

253. Ment LR, Duncan CC, Ehrenkranz RA, Lange RC, Taylor KJ, Kleinman CS, et al. Intraventricular hemorrhage in the preterm neonate: timing and cerebral blood flow changes. J Pediatr. 1984;104(3):419-25.

254. Douglas-Escobar M, Weiss MD. Biomarkers of brain injury in the premature infant.Front Neurol. 2012;3:185.

255. Florio P, Perrone S, Luisi S, Vezzosi P, Longini M, Marzocchi B, et al. Increased plasma concentrations of activin a predict intraventricular hemorrhage in preterm newborns. Clin Chem. 2006;52(8):1516-21.

256. Huvanandana J, Nguyen C, Thamrin C, Tracy M, Hinder M, McEwan AL. Prediction of intraventricular haemorrhage in preterm infants using time series analysis of blood pressure and respiratory signals. Sci Rep. 2017;7:46538.

257. Hanna BD, Nelson MN, White-Traut RC, Silvestri JM, Vasan U, Rey PM, et al. Heart rate variability in preterm brain-injured and very-low-birth-weight infants. Biol Neonate. 2000;77(3):147-55.

258. Patural H, Barthelemy JC, Pichot V, Mazzocchi C, Teyssier G, Damon G, et al. Birth prematurity determines prolonged autonomic nervous system immaturity. Clin Auton Res. 2004;14(6):391-5.

259. Born GV, Dawes GS, Mott JC, Rennick BR. The constriction of the ductus arteriosus caused by oxygen and by asphyxia in newborn lambs. J Physiol. 1956;132(2):304-42.

260. Fyfe KL, Yiallourou SR, Wong FY, Odoi A, Walker AM, Horne RS. The Effect of Gestational Age at Birth on Post-Term Maturation of Heart Rate Variability. Sleep. 2015;38(10):1635-44.

261. Atchison DJ, Ackermann U. The interaction between atrial natriuretic peptide and cardiac parasympathetic function. J Auton Nerv Syst. 1993;42(1):81-8.

262. El-Khuffash A, Levy PT, Gorenflo M, Frantz ID, 3rd. The definition of a hemodynamically significant ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Res. 2019;85(6):740-1.

263. Lemmers PM, Toet MC, van Bel F. Impact of patent ductus arteriosus and subsequent therapy with indomethacin on cerebral oxygenation in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2008;121(1):142-7.

264. Dix L, Molenschot M, Breur J, de Vries W, Vijlbrief D, Groenendaal F, et al. Cerebral oxygenation and echocardiographic parameters in preterm neonates with a patent ductus arteriosus: an observational study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2016;101(6):F520-f6.

265. Noori S, McCoy M, Anderson MP, Ramji F, Seri I. Changes in cardiac function and cerebral blood flow in relation to peri/intraventricular hemorrhage in extremely preterm infants. J Pediatr. 2014;164(2):264-70.e1-3.

266. Alderliesten T, van Bel F, van der Aa NE, Steendijk P, van Haastert IC, de Vries LS, et al. Low Cerebral Oxygenation in Preterm Infants Is Associated with Adverse Neurodevelopmental Outcome. J Pediatr. 2019;207:109-16.e2.

267. Hansen NB, Stonestreet BS, Rosenkrantz TS, Oh W. Validity of Doppler measurements of anterior cerebral artery blood flow velocity: correlation with brain blood flow in piglets. Pediatrics. 1983;72(4):526-31.

268. Batton DG, Hellmann J, Hernandez MJ, Maisels MJ. Regional cerebral blood flow, cerebral blood velocity, and pulsatility index in newborn dogs. Pediatr Res. 1983;17(11):908-12.

269. Nowak D, Kozłowska H, Żurada A, Gielecki J. The development of the aortic isthmus in human fetal life. Polish Annals of Medicine. 2011;18(1):42-51.

270. Seibert JJ, McCowan TC, Chadduck WM, Adametz JR, Glasier CM, Williamson SL, et al. Duplex pulsed Doppler US versus intracranial pressure in the neonate: clinical and experimental studies. Radiology. 1989;171(1):155-9.

271. Takahashi Y, Harada K, Ishida A, Tamura M, Takada G. Left ventricular preload reserve in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1994;71(2):F118-21.

272. Robel-Tillig E, Knüpfer M, Pulzer F, Vogtmann C. Cardiovascular impact of dobutamine in neonates with myocardial dysfunction. Early Hum Dev. 2007;83(5):307-12.

273. Perlman JM, Hill A, Volpe JJ. The effect of patent ductus arteriosus on flow velocity in the anterior cerebral arteries: ductal steal in the premature newborn infant. J Pediatr. 1981;99(5):767-71.

274. Lipman B, Serwer GA, Brazy JE. Abnormal cerebral hemodynamics in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatrics. 1982;69(6):778-81.

275. Hsu KH, Nguyen J, Dekom S, Ramanathan R, Noori S. Effects of Patent Ductus Arteriosus on Organ Blood Flow in Infants Born Very Preterm: A Prospective Study with Serial Echocardiography. J Pediatr. 2020;216:95-100.e2.

276. Ecury-Goossen GM, Raets MM, Camfferman FA, Vos RH, van Rosmalen J, Reiss IK, et al. Resistive indices of cerebral arteries in very preterm infants: values throughout stay in the neonatal intensive care unit and impact of patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Radiol. 2016;46(9):1291-300.

277. Saliba EM, Chantepie A, Gold F, Marchand M, Pourcelot L, Laugier J. Intraoperative measurements of cerebral haemodynamics during ductus arteriosus ligation in preterm infants. Eur J Pediatr. 1991;150(5):362-5.

278. Camfferman FA, de Goederen R, Govaert P, Dudink J, van Bel F, Pellicer A, et al. Diagnostic and predictive value of Doppler ultrasound for evaluation of the brain circulation in preterm infants: a systematic review. Pediatr Res. 2020;87(Suppl 1):50-8.

279. Caicedo A, De Smet D, Naulaers G, Ameye L, Vanderhaegen J, Lemmers P, et al. Cerebral tissue oxygenation and regional oxygen saturation can be used to study cerebral autoregulation in prematurely born infants. Pediatr Res. 2011;69(6):548-53.

280. Arman D, Sancak S, Gürsoy T, Topcuoğlu S, Karatekin G, Ovalı F. The association between NIRS and Doppler ultrasonography in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2020;33(7):1245-52.

281. Hoodbhoy SA, Cutting HA, Seddon JA, Campbell ME. Cerebral and splanchnic hemodynamics after duct ligation in very low birth weight infants. J Pediatr. 2009;154(2):196-200.

282. O'Toole JM, Pavlidis E, Korotchikova I, Boylan GB, Stevenson NJ. Temporal evolution of quantitative EEG within 3 days of birth in early preterm infants. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):4859.

283. Natalucci G, Hagmann C, Bernet V, Bucher HU, Rousson V, Latal B. Impact of perinatal factors on continuous early monitoring of brain electrocortical activity in very preterm newborns by amplitude-integrated EEG. Pediatr Res. 2014;75(6):774-80.

284. Lemmers PM, Zwanenburg RJ, Benders MJ, de Vries LS, Groenendaal F, van Bel F, et al. Cerebral oxygenation and brain activity after perinatal asphyxia: does hypothermia change their prognostic value? Pediatr Res. 2013;74(2):180-5.

285. Katheria AC, Harbert MJ, Nagaraj SB, Arnell K, Poeltler DM, Brown MK, et al. The Neu-Prem Trial: Neuromonitoring of Brains of Infants Born Preterm During Resuscitation-A Prospective Observational Cohort Study. J Pediatr. 2018;198:209-13.e3.

286. Caicedo A, Thewissen L, Smits A, Naulaers G, Allegaert K, Van Huffel S. Changes in Oxygenation Levels Precede Changes in Amplitude of the EEG in Premature Infants. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2016;923:143-9.

287. Variane GFT, Chock VY, Netto A, Pietrobom RFR, Van Meurs KP. Simultaneous Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS) and Amplitude-Integrated Electroencephalography (aEEG): Dual Use of Brain Monitoring Techniques Improves Our Understanding of Physiology. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:560.

288. Pereira SS, Kempley ST, Wertheim DF, Sinha AK, Morris JK, Shah DK. Investigation of EEG Activity Compared with Mean Arterial Blood Pressure in Extremely Preterm Infants. Front Neurol. 2018;9:87.

289. Kolsuz LD, Topcuoglu S, Gursoy T, Karatekin G, Ovali HF. Amplitude-integrated electroencephalographic activity and middle cerebral artery Doppler flow measurements in preterm small for gestational age infants. J Child Neurol. 2015;30(4):412-6.

290. Williams IA, Tarullo AR, Grieve PG, Wilpers A, Vignola EF, Myers MM, et al. Fetal cerebrovascular resistance and neonatal EEG predict 18-month neurodevelopmental outcome in infants with congenital heart disease. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2012;40(3):304-9.

291. Victor S, Appleton RE, Beirne M, Marson AG, Weindling AM. The relationship between cardiac output, cerebral electrical activity, cerebral fractional oxygen extraction and peripheral blood flow in premature newborn infants. Pediatr Res. 2006;60(4):456-60.

292. Hüning B, Storbeck T, Bruns N, Dransfeld F, Hobrecht J, Karpienski J, et al. Relationship between brain function (aEEG) and brain structure (MRI) and their predictive

value for neurodevelopmental outcome of preterm infants. Eur J Pediatr. 2018;177(8):1181-9.

293. Wikström S, Pupp IH, Rosén I, Norman E, Fellman V, Ley D, et al. Early singlechannel aEEG/EEG predicts outcome in very preterm infants. Acta Paediatr. 2012;101(7):719-26.

294. Connell J, de Vries L, Oozeer R, Regev R, Dubowitz LM, Dubowitz V. Predictive value of early continuous electroencephalogram monitoring in ventilated preterm infants with intraventricular hemorrhage. Pediatrics. 1988;82(3):337-43.

295. Soubasi V, Mitsakis K, Sarafidis K, Griva M, Nakas CT, Drossou V. Early abnormal amplitude-integrated electroencephalography (aEEG) is associated with adverse short-term outcome in premature infants. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2012;16(6):625-30.

296. Tataranno ML, Gui L, Hellström-Westas L, Toet M, Groenendaal F, Claessens NHP, et al. Morphine affects brain activity and volumes in preterms: An observational multicenter study. Early Hum Dev. 2020;144:104970.

297. van den Berg E, Lemmers PM, Toet MC, Klaessens JH, van Bel F. Effect of the "InSurE" procedure on cerebral oxygenation and electrical brain activity of the preterm infant. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2010;95(1):F53-8.

298. Sarkar S, Bhagat I, Dechert R, Schumacher RE, Donn SM. Severe intraventricular hemorrhage in preterm infants: comparison of risk factors and short-term neonatal morbidities between grade 3 and grade 4 intraventricular hemorrhage. Am J Perinatol. 2009;26(6):419-24.

299. Perlman JM, Risser R, Broyles RS. Bilateral cystic periventricular leukomalacia in the premature infant: associated risk factors. Pediatrics. 1996;97(6 Pt 1):822-7.

300. Bell AH, Greisen G, Pryds O. Comparison of the effects of phenobarbitone and morphine administration on EEG activity in preterm babies. Acta Paediatr. 1993;82(1):35-9.

301. Young GB, da Silva OP. Effects of morphine on the electroencephalograms of neonates: a prospective, observational study. Clin Neurophysiol. 2000;111(11):1955-60.

302. Al-Hasani R, Bruchas MR. Molecular mechanisms of opioid receptor-dependent signaling and behavior. Anesthesiology. 2011;115(6):1363-81.

303. Pathan H, Williams J. Basic opioid pharmacology: an update. Br J Pain. 2012;6(1):11-6.

304. Schuurmans J, Benders M, Lemmers P, van Bel F. Neonatal morphine in extremely and very preterm neonates: its effect on the developing brain - a review. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;28(2):222-8.

305. Schultz JE, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Morphine mimics the cardioprotective effect of ischemic preconditioning via a glibenclamide-sensitive mechanism in the rat heart. Circ Res. 1996;78(6):1100-4.

306. Zelis R, Mansour EJ, Capone RJ, Mason DT. The cardiovascular effects of morphine. The peripheral capacitance and resistance vessels in human subjects. J Clin Invest. 1974;54(6):1247-58.

307. Murphy JJ, Heptinstall S, Mitchell JR. Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of feverfew in migraine prevention. Lancet. 1988;2(8604):189-92.

308. Zhou Y, Fathali N, Lekic T, Ostrowski RP, Chen C, Martin RD, et al. Remote limb ischemic postconditioning protects against neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in rat pups by the opioid receptor/Akt pathway. Stroke. 2011;42(2):439-44.

309. Subedi K, Wang H. δ-Opioid receptor as a potential therapeutic target for ischemic stroke. Neural Regen Res. 2020;15(1):20-4.

310. Valeri BO, Holsti L, Linhares MB. Neonatal pain and developmental outcomes in children born preterm: a systematic review. Clin J Pain. 2015;31(4):355-62.

311. Anand KJ, Hall RW, Desai N, Shephard B, Bergqvist LL, Young TE, et al. Effects of morphine analgesia in ventilated preterm neonates: primary outcomes from the NEOPAIN randomised trial. Lancet. 2004;363(9422):1673-82.

312. Simons SH, van Dijk M, van Lingen RA, Roofthooft D, Duivenvoorden HJ, Jongeneel N, et al. Routine morphine infusion in preterm newborns who received ventilatory support: a randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2003;290(18):2419-27.

313. Willner D, Cohen-Yeshurun A, Avidan A, Ozersky V, Shohami E, Leker RR. Short term morphine exposure in vitro alters proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells and promotes apoptosis via mu receptors. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e103043.

314. Mei B, Niu L, Cao B, Huang D, Zhou Y. Prenatal morphine exposure alters the layer II/III pyramidal neurons morphology in lateral secondary visual cortex of juvenile rats. Synapse. 2009;63(12):1154-61.

315. Steinhorn R, McPherson C, Anderson PJ, Neil J, Doyle LW, Inder T. Neonatal morphine exposure in very preterm infants-cerebral development and outcomes. J Pediatr. 2015;166(5):1200-7.e4.

316. van den Bosch GE, White T, El Marroun H, Simons SH, van der Lugt A, van der Geest JN, et al. Prematurity, Opioid Exposure and Neonatal Pain: Do They Affect the Developing Brain? Neonatology. 2015;108(1):8-15.

317. Zwicker JG, Miller SP, Grunau RE, Chau V, Brant R, Studholme C, et al. Smaller Cerebellar Growth and Poorer Neurodevelopmental Outcomes in Very Preterm Infants Exposed to Neonatal Morphine. J Pediatr. 2016;172:81-7.e2.

318. de Graaf J, van Lingen RA, Simons SHP, Anand KJS, Duivenvoorden HJ, Weisglas-Kuperus N, et al. Long-term effects of routine morphine infusion in mechanically ventilated

neonates on children's functioning: five-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. Pain. 2011;152(6):1391-7.

319. de Graaf J, van Lingen RA, Valkenburg AJ, Weisglas-Kuperus N, Jebbink LG, Wijnberg-Williams B, et al. Does neonatal morphine use affect neuropsychological outcomes at 8 to 9 years of age? Pain. 2013;154(3):449-58.

320. van Praag H, Frenk H. The effects of systemic morphine on behavior and EEG in newborn rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 1992;67(1):19-26.

321. Herbertz S, Pulzer F, Gebauer C, Panhofer M, Robel-Tillig E, Knüpfer M. The effect of maturation and sedation on amplitude-integrated electroencephalogram of the preterm neonate: results of a prospective study. Acta Paediatr. 2006;95(11):1394-9.

322. Sisman J, Campbell DE, Brion LP. Amplitude-integrated EEG in preterm infants: maturation of background pattern and amplitude voltage with postmenstrual age and gestational age. J Perinatol. 2005;25(6):391-6.

323. Klebermass K, Kuhle S, Olischar M, Rücklinger E, Pollak A, Weninger M. Intra- and extrauterine maturation of amplitude-integrated electroencephalographic activity in preterm infants younger than 30 weeks of gestation. Biol Neonate. 2006;89(2):120-5.

324. Niemarkt HJ, Andriessen P, Peters CH, Pasman JW, Blanco CE, Zimmermann LJ, et al. Quantitative analysis of amplitude-integrated electroencephalogram patterns in stable preterm infants, with normal neurological development at one year. Neonatology. 2010;97(2):175-82.

325. Girard N, Gouny SC, Viola A, Le Fur Y, Viout P, Chaumoitre K, et al. Assessment of normal fetal brain maturation in utero by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Magn Reson Med. 2006;56(4):768-75.

326. Hüppi PS, Warfield S, Kikinis R, Barnes PD, Zientara GP, Jolesz FA, et al. Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of brain development in premature and mature newborns. Ann Neurol. 1998;43(2):224-35.

327. Vanhatalo S, Kaila K. Emergence of spontaneous and evoked electroencephalographic activity in the human brain. In: Peebles DM, Lagercrantz H, Ment LR, Hanson MA, editors. The Newborn Brain: Neuroscience and Clinical Applications. 2 ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 229-44.

328. Battin MR, Maalouf EF, Counsell SJ, Herlihy AH, Rutherford MA, Azzopardi D, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain in very preterm infants: visualization of the germinal matrix, early myelination, and cortical folding. Pediatrics. 1998;101(6):957-62.

329. Biagioni E, Frisone MF, Laroche S, Kapetanakis BA, Ricci D, Adeyi-Obe M, et al. Maturation of cerebral electrical activity and development of cortical folding in young very preterm infants. Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;118(1):53-9.

330. Alderliesten T, Dix L, Baerts W, Caicedo A, van Huffel S, Naulaers G, et al. Reference values of regional cerebral oxygen saturation during the first 3 days of life in preterm neonates. Pediatric Research. 2016;79(1):55-64.

331. Ralser E, Neubauer V, Pupp-Peglow U, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, Griesmaier E. Amplitude-integrated electroencephalography can predict neurodevelopmental outcome at 12 months of corrected age in very preterm infants. Acta Paediatr. 2017;106(4):594-600.

332. Brookfield KF, Su F, Elkomy MH, Drover DR, Lyell DJ, Carvalho B. Pharmacokinetics and placental transfer of magnesium sulfate in pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;214(6):737.e1-9.

333. Belfort MA, Moise KJ, Jr. Effect of magnesium sulfate on maternal brain blood flow in preeclampsia: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992;167(3):661-6.

334. Hallak M, Berry SM, Madincea F, Romero R, Evans MI, Cotton DB. Fetal serum and amniotic fluid magnesium concentrations with maternal treatment. Obstet Gynecol. 1993;81(2):185-8.

335. Hallak M, Cotton DB. Transfer of maternally administered magnesium sulfate into the fetal compartment of the rat: assessment of amniotic fluid, blood, and brain concentrations. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;169(2 Pt 1):427-31.

336. Kovacs CS. Bone metabolism in the fetus and neonate. Pediatr Nephrol. 2014;29(5):793-803.

337. Marret S, Marpeau L, Follet-Bouhamed C, Cambonie G, Astruc D, Delaporte B, et al. [Effect of magnesium sulphate on mortality and neurologic morbidity of the very-preterm newborn (of less than 33 weeks) with two-year neurological outcome: results of the prospective PREMAG trial]. Gynecol Obstet Fertil. 2008;36(3):278-88.

338. Handwerker SM, Altura BT, Royo B, Altura BM. Ionized serum magnesium levels in umbilical cord blood of normal pregnant women at delivery: relationship to calcium, demographics, and birthweight. Am J Perinatol. 1993;10(5):392-7.

339. Noone D, Kieran E, Molloy EJ. Serum magnesium in the first week of life in extremely low birth weight infants. Neonatology. 2012;101(4):274-7.

340. Basu SK, Chickajajur V, Lopez V, Bhutada A, Pagala M, Rastogi S. Immediate clinical outcomes in preterm neonates receiving antenatal magnesium for neuroprotection. J Perinat Med. 2011;40(2):185-9.

341. Shepherd E, Salam RA, Manhas D, Synnes A, Middleton P, Makrides M, et al. Antenatal magnesium sulphate and adverse neonatal outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2019;16(12):e1002988.

342. Borja-Del-Rosario P, Basu SK, Haberman S, Bhutada A, Rastogi S. Neonatal serum magnesium concentrations are determined by total maternal dose of magnesium sulfate administered for neuroprotection. J Perinat Med. 2014;42(2):207-11.

343. Brookfield KF, Tuel K, Rincon M, Vinson A, Caughey AB, Carvalho B. Alternate Dosing Protocol for Magnesium Sulfate in Obese Women With Preeclampsia: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2020;136(6):1190-4.

344. Tudela CM, McIntire DD, Alexander JM. Effect of maternal body mass index on serum magnesium levels given for seizure prophylaxis. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121(2 Pt 1):314-20.

345. Paradisis M, Osborn DA, Evans N, Kluckow M. Randomized controlled trial of magnesium sulfate in women at risk of preterm delivery-neonatal cardiovascular effects. J Perinatol. 2012;32(9):665-70.

346. Stigson L, Kjellmer I. Serum levels of magnesium at birth related to complications of immaturity. Acta Paediatr. 1997;86(9):991-4.

347. Verhagen EA, Kooi EM, van den Berg PP, Bos AF. Maternal antihypertensive drugs may influence cerebral oxygen extraction in preterm infants during the first days after birth. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2013;26(9):871-6.

348. Bain E, Middleton P, Crowther CA. Different magnesium sulphate regimens for neuroprotection of the fetus for women at risk of preterm birth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012(2):Cd009302.

349. Toet MC, Lemmers PM. Brain monitoring in neonates. Early Hum Dev. 2009;85(2):77-84.

350. Asmar R, Benetos A, Topouchian J, Laurent P, Pannier B, Brisac AM, et al. Assessment of arterial distensibility by automatic pulse wave velocity measurement. Validation and clinical application studies. Hypertension. 1995;26(3):485-90.

351. Blacher J, Asmar R, Djane S, London GM, Safar ME. Aortic pulse wave velocity as a marker of cardiovascular risk in hypertensive patients. Hypertension. 1999;33(5):1111-7.

352. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redón J, Zanchetti A, Böhm M, et al. 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). J Hypertens. 2013;31(7):1281-357.

353. Lehmann ED, Parker JR, Hopkins KD, Taylor MG, Gosling RG. Validation and reproducibility of pressure-corrected aortic distensibility measurements using pulse-wave-velocity Doppler ultrasound. J Biomed Eng. 1993;15(3):221-8.

354. Koudsi A, Oldroyd J, McElduff P, Banerjee M, Vyas A, Cruickshank JK. Maternal and neonatal influences on, and reproducibility of, neonatal aortic pulse wave velocity. Hypertension. 2007;49(1):225-31.

355. Goudjil S, Imestouren F, Armougon A, Razafimanantsoa L, Mahmoudzadeh M, Wallois F, et al. Noninvasive technique for the diagnosis of patent ductus arteriosus in premature infants by analyzing pulse wave phases on photoplethysmography signals measured in the right hand and the left foot. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e98763.

356. Nagueh SF, Smiseth OA, Appleton CP, Byrd BF, 3rd, Dokainish H, Edvardsen T, et al. Recommendations for the Evaluation of Left Ventricular Diastolic Function by Echocardiography: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2016;29(4):277-314.

357. Amirtharaj CR, Palmeri LC, Gradwohl G, Adar Y, Nitzan M, Gruber D, et al. Photoplethysmographic assessment of pulse transit time correlates with echocardiographic measurement of stroke volume in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. J Perinatol. 2018;38(9):1220-6.

358. Silva AB, Capingana DP, Magalhães P, Molina Mdel C, Baldo MP, Mill JG. Predictors and Reference Values of Pulse Wave Velocity in Prepubertal Angolan Children. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2016;18(8):725-32.

359. Broadhouse KM, Price AN, Durighel G, Cox DJ, Finnemore AE, Edwards AD, et al. Assessment of PDA shunt and systemic blood flow in newborns using cardiac MRI. NMR Biomed. 2013;26(9):1135-41.

360. Mori A, Uchida N, Inomo A, Izumi S. Stiffness of systemic arteries in appropriateand small-for-gestational-age newborn infants. Pediatrics. 2006;118(3):1035-41.

361. Corbisier de Meautsart C, Dyson RM, Latter JL, Berry MJ, Clifton VL, Wright IM. Influence of sympathetic activity in the control of peripheral microvascular tone in preterm infants. Pediatr Res. 2016;80(6):793-9.

362. Miljkovic D, Perret-Guillaume C, Alla F, Salvi P, Erpelding ML, Benetos A. Correlation between peripheral blood pressure and pulse-wave velocity values in the institutionalized elderly persons 80 years of age and older: the PARTAGE study. Am J Hypertens. 2013;26(2):163-73.

363. Thurn D, Doyon A, Sözeri B, Bayazit AK, Canpolat N, Duzova A, et al. Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity in Healthy Children and Adolescents: Reference Values for the Vicorder Device and Modifying Factors. Am J Hypertens. 2015;28(12):1480-8.

364. Kluckow M, Evans N. Relationship between blood pressure and cardiac output in preterm infants requiring mechanical ventilation. J Pediatr. 1996;129(4):506-12.

365. Groves AM, Kuschel CA, Knight DB, Skinner JR. Relationship between blood pressure and blood flow in newborn preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2008;93(1):F29-32.

366. Gardiner H, Brodszki J, Eriksson A, Stale H, Marsál K. Ventriculo-vascular interaction in the normal development of the fetal circulation. Early Hum Dev. 2001;65(2):97-106.

367. Martyn CN, Greenwald SE. Impaired synthesis of elastin in walls of aorta and large conduit arteries during early development as an initiating event in pathogenesis of systemic hypertension. Lancet. 1997;350(9082):953-5.

368. Alwan N, Cade J, Greenwood D, McArdle H, Ciantar E, Simpson N. PPO.09 The relationship between birthweight and brachio-femoral pulse wave velocity in early infancy: findings from a British birth cohort (Baby VIP study). Archives of Disease in Childhood - Fetal and Neonatal Edition. 2014;99(Suppl 1):A153-A.

369. Alwan NA, Cade JE, McArdle HJ, Greenwood DC, Hayes HE, Ciantar E, et al. Infant Arterial Stiffness and Maternal Iron Status in Pregnancy: A UK Birth Cohort (Baby VIP Study). Neonatology. 2015;107(4):297-303.

370. Chen S, Chetty S, Lowenthal A, Evans JM, Vu C, Stauffer KJ, et al. Feasibility of neonatal pulse wave velocity and association with maternal hemoglobin A1c. Neonatology. 2015;107(1):20-6.

371. Ng KYB, Simpson NAB, Cade JE, Greenwood DC, McArdle HJ, Ciantar E, et al. Is infant arterial stiffness associated with maternal blood pressure in pregnancy? Findings from a UK birth cohort (Baby VIP study). PLoS One. 2018;13(7):e0200159.

372. Schmitz L, Stiller B, Koch H, Koehne P, Lange P. Diastolic left ventricular function in preterm infants with a patent ductus arteriosus: a serial Doppler echocardiography study. Early Hum Dev. 2004;76(2):91-100.

373. Teitel DF, Sidi D, Chin T, Brett C, Heymann MA, Rudolph AM. Developmental changes in myocardial contractile reserve in the lamb. Pediatr Res. 1985;19(9):948-55.

374. Khositseth A, Nuntnarumit P, Chongkongkiat P. Echocardiographic parameters of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. Indian Pediatr. 2011;48(10):773-8.

375. Benitz WE. Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Preterm Infants. Pediatrics. 2016;137(1).

376. Drinnan MJ, Allen J, Murray A. Relation between heart rate and pulse transit time during paced respiration. Physiol Meas. 2001;22(3):425-32.

377. Puntmann VO, Nagel E, Hughes AD, Gebker R, Gaddum N, Chowienczyk P, et al. Gender-specific differences in myocardial deformation and aortic stiffness at rest and dobutamine stress. Hypertension. 2012;59(3):712-8.

378. Condò M, Evans N, Bellù R, Kluckow M. Echocardiographic assessment of ductal significance: retrospective comparison of two methods. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2012;97(1):F35-8.

379. Voges I, Jerosch-Herold M, Hedderich J, Pardun E, Hart C, Gabbert DD, et al. Normal values of aortic dimensions, distensibility, and pulse wave velocity in children and young adults: a cross-sectional study. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012;14(1):77.

380. Kooi EMW, Verhagen EA, Elting JWJ, Czosnyka M, Austin T, Wong FY, et al. Measuring cerebrovascular autoregulation in preterm infants using near-infrared spectroscopy: an overview of the literature. Expert Rev Neurother. 2017;17(8):801-18.

381. Kintiraki E, Dipla K, Triantafyllou A, Koletsos N, Grigoriadou I, Poulakos P, et al. Blunted cerebral oxygenation during exercise in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: associations with macrovascular function and cardiovascular risk factors. Metabolism. 2018;83:25-30. 382. Borisov N, Buzdin A. New Paradigm of Machine Learning (ML) in Personalized Oncology: Data Trimming for Squeezing More Biomarkers From Clinical Datasets. Front Oncol. 2019;9:658.

383. Yahata N, Kasai K, Kawato M. Computational neuroscience approach to biomarkers and treatments for mental disorders. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2017;71(4):215-37.

384. Cleary M, Hunt GE, Robertson M. Editorial: Improving research cultures in nursing.J Clin Nurs. 2011;20(9-10):1213-4.

385. Costa H, Costa TX, Martins RR, Oliveira AG. Use of off-label and unlicensed medicines in neonatal intensive care. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0204427.

386. Greenland S, Pearl J, Robins JM. Causal diagrams for epidemiologic research. Epidemiology. 1999;10(1):37-48.

387. F. E. Graphical Causal Models. In: Morgan S. (eds) Handbook of Causal Analysis for Social Research. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer, Dordrecht: Springer; 2013.

388. Weiss H, Cooper B, Brook M, Schlueter M, Clyman R. Factors determining reopening of the ductus arteriosus after successful clinical closure with indomethacin. J Pediatr. 1995;127(3):466-71.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Study protocol

<u>Ha</u>emodynamic biomarkers in <u>p</u>reterm <u>i</u>nfants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus (<u>PDA</u>) (HAPI-PDA study): a pilot cohort study of the relationships between blood flow through a PDA and surrogate outcomes for brain injury

REVISION HISTORY:				
Version	Authors	Effective Date	Changes Made	
1.0	C.Kotidis, M. Weindling, M. Turner	27.05.14	Minor changes	
1.2	Louise Hardman	30.05.14	Minor changes	
1.3	C. Kotidis, M. Turner	24.09.14	Minor changes in Data Protection section according to ethics committee recommendations	
1.4	C. Kotidis	12.01.15	Major changes on inclusion criteria	

Chief Investigator: Dr Mark Turner

Senior Lecturer, University of Liverpool

Consultant Neonatologist

Liverpool Women's Hospital

Crown Street, Liverpool L8 7SS

mturner@liverpool.ac.uk

Secretary: +44 (0) 151 702 4055

Investigators: Dr Charalampos Kotidis

Academic Clinical Fellow in Paediatrics

Mersey Deanery

Liverpool Women's Hospital

Crown Street, Liverpool L8 7SS

c.kotidis@liv.ac.uk

Secretary: +44 (0) 151 702 4055

Dr Nim Subhedar

Consultant Neonatologist

Liverpool Women's Hospital

Crown Street, Liverpool L8 7SS

Nim.Subhedar@lwh.nhs.uk

Secretary: +44 (0) 151 702 4029

Prof Michael Weindling

Emeritus Professor of Perinatal Medicine, University of Liverpool

Liverpool Women's Hospital

Crown Street, Liverpool L8 7SS

amikew@liverpool.ac.uk

Secretary: +44 (0) 151 702 4055

Sponsor:

University of Liverpool

Astor Alex

Waterhouse Building, 3 Brownlow Hill

Liverpool, L69 6GL

sponsor@liv.ac.uk

Tel:01517948373

Contents

Background 6					
Echocardiography	y 7				
Autonomic dysfu	nction	8			
Near infrared spe	8				
Electroencephalo	9				
Rationale for the	10				
Methods 12					
Inclusion and exclusion criteria 12					
Primary Outcome	e 13				
Study procedures	5 14				
Recruitment 14					
Echocardiography	y 15				
NIRS measureme	nts 16				
Autonomic dysfu	nction	16			
Electroencephalo	graphy	16			
Priority of measu	rements	18			
Clinical data 18					
Measures to minimize pain and distress					
Clinical managem	ent 20				
Follow-up measu	rements	21			
Sample size consi	derations	21			
Study duration	21				
Statistical analysis	s 21				
Ethical considerat	tions 23				
Approvals obtain	ed 23				
References 26					

PROTOCOL SYNOPSIS

Title of Study	Haemodynamic biomarkers in preterm infants with Patent		
	Ductus Arteriosus PDA (HAPI-PDA study): a pilot cohort study of		
	the relationships between blood flow through a PDA and		
	surrogate outcomes for brain injury		
Part of an FP7	'Dobutamine for NEOnatal CIRCulatory failure defined by novel		
Collaborative	biomarkers.' Grant agreement: FP7; HEALTH-2011.4.2-1		
Project titled	children]. Grant Agreement Number: 282533		
Sponsor	University of Liverpool		
Study site	Liverpool Women's Hospital		
Background	Babies born at extreme prematurity have a distinct pattern of blood flow as they adapt to extrauterine life. One feature of this		
	transition is a patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) that is found		
	commonly in babies born prematurely. PDA is associated with		
	poor outcomes of preterm birth such as brain injury. Excess blood		
	flow through a PDA may be a causative factor in brain injury		
	affecting babies born at extreme prematurity. However, there is		
	Ittle published work about now the extent of blood flow through		
	a PDA is associated with brain injury. Surrogate outcomes are		
	Ta validate study this association in chinical settings.		
Principal objective	To validate study procedures, biomarkers of the severity of PDA		
	and surrogate outcomes of brain injury in order to develop a		
	flow correlate with surrogate outcomes of brain injury		
	Specifically a core dataset will be collected in all participants to		
	examine the association between a biomarker of PDA flow (PDA		
	severity score) and the surrogate outcome of cerebral blood flow		
	(cerebral tissue oxygenation) measured using Near Infra Red		
	Spectroscopy (NIRS).		
Study design	Cohort study of babies born at extreme prematurity.		
	Run-in phase before full cohort opens.		
	When possible participants in the cohort will contribute to		
	substudies to validate other biomarkers of PDA and surrogate		
	outcomes.		
Inclusion criteria	 neonates 24 to 28⁺⁶ weeks' gestation 		

	 postnatal age ≤72 hours 		
	 PDA confirmed by echocardiography 		
	 parental informed consent 		
Exclusion criteria	non-viability (unlikely to survive more than 48 hours in the		
	opinion of the attending physician)		
	congenital hydrops, congenital heart disease or other		
	malformations likely to affect cardiovascular adaptation		
	 surgery planned within 72 hours of birth 		
	 Chromosomal anomalies IVHS grade 2 in the initial granial ultracound scan 		
	 informed consent form (ICE) not signed 		
Treatment	To be defined by the clinical team. The study will have no		
duration /	influence on clinical management.		
duration of			
observation			
Assessment of	Using echocardiography, the magnitude of blood flow through		
exposure	the PDA will be assessed by measuring a set of variables that will		
	generate a severity score. The feasibility of of this score will be		
	assessed during the run-in phase		
Primary Outcome	Cerebral tissue oxygenation index measured (cTOI) by NIRS		
measure	To be confirmed during the run-in phase.		
Secondary	Other echocardiography measurements (including Superior Vena		
Outcome	Cava (SVC) flow)		
measures	Other NIRS variables		
	EEG		
	Beat-to-beat variability		
Sample size	Time-limited pilot study for 15 months: run-in phase of 3 months		
	and full study for 12 months.		
	We estimate that 15 babies will contribute to the run-in study		
	and 60 to the full study		
Substudies	During the full study groups of babies will contribute to validation		
	studies of other biomarkers and surrogate outcomes depending		
	on how long babies can be studied for.		
Statistics	Cohort study		
	Correlation between PDA severity score and cTOI measured on		
	NIRS as a marker of cerebral blood flow.		
	NIRS as a marker of cerebral blood flow.		
	NIRS as a marker of cerebral blood flow. Descriptive analyses of other variables.		
<u>Sub studies</u> Descriptive analyses of variables.

Background

Preterm labour and its accompanying morbidity and mortality in preterm babies has long term consequences on the life of the individual, their family and the community [1]. The shift from in utero life to life in air is a big challenge that the preterm infant has to overcome with immature organs and poor reserves. A key element of this transition is closure of the ductus arteriosus. Delayed closure of ductus arteriosus in premature neonates is associated with significant morbidity. Closure of the duct involves multiple complex mechanisms that are compromised in preterm infants. Patent ductus arteriosus (PDA) is a common finding in the first weeks of life occurring in about 1/3 infants <30 weeks' gestational and up to 60% of infants <28 weeks. The incidence increases linearly with decreasing gestational age (GA) [2]. Several studies have identified genetic and environmental risk factors contributing in patency of ductus arteriosus in term and preterm infants [3]. PDA is associated with increased mortality [4], bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) [5], necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) [5], periintraventricular haemorrhages (PIVH) and subsequent neurodisability [6, 7] and renal impairment [8]. Multi-organ failure is the usual cause of death in infants with persistent PDA despite therapy.

PDA is considered to be a shunt that diverts blood flow from the systemic to the pulmonary circulation. This "steal phenomenon" and the accompanying pulmonary plethora are considered as the main pathophysiologic mechanisms that contribute to the observed outcomes in preterm infants: higher incidence of BPD, lower peripheral tissue oxygen delivery and subsequently higher incidence of NEC and renal failure, lower cerebral oxygenation and subsequently higher incidence of PIVH, that all contribute to higher rate of death [9]. However, although PDA is associated with a range of problems it is not clear whether PDA is the cause of effect of its associated morbidities.

PDA management is very controversial because of the diversity of PDA physical history, lack of widely accepted definition and criteria for PDA assessment, medication side effects and limited access to echocardiography in neonatal units. There is no clear answer in the literature regarding optimal therapy [10-12]. Several clinical trials and systematic reviews have failed to demonstrate a meaningful long term beneficial effect of PDA treatment [13, 14]. PDA is closed spontaneously in the majority (94%) of infants with birth weight >1000gr before discharge [15]. PDA might be just a biomarker of disease severity associated with prematurity. There are no randomized placebocontrolled trials of ductal treatment with a real no treatment arm focusing on the long term outcomes. There is a growing discussion among neonatologists regarding the need for a placebo-controlled trial where the PDA will be left untreated.

Most of the studies in the literature consider PDA as a uniform entity that is either present or absent. However, there are accumulating data that PDA can be considered as a spectrum from biological normality to a pathological disease state with clinical instability and varying effects on organs [16, 17]. The lack of precise characterisation of the PDA might partially explain the controversial results from the studies that deal with causality and treatment. Recent studies underlined the need for classification of PDA disease and presented a correlation between disease staging and outcome (BPD) [18, 19]. Serial echocardiography can identify haemodynamically significant PDA before clinical signs present and reduce severe IVH and days on ventilator [20]. It is important to stratify disease in order to prevent harm from known drug side effects (ibuprofen, indomethacin) [14] and intervention related morbidity (PDA ligation) [21, 22]. Moreover, patients need treatment as individuals and clinicians have to apply the knowledge obtained by research in a personalised manner. It would be very useful if we could predict which infants are susceptible to PDA related co-morbidities.

A number of techniques can be used to assess the extent and consequences of PDA.

Echocardiography

Echocardiography is considered as the gold standard in diagnosis and management of PDA. Precise measurement of ductal size and its hemodynamic impact on the pulmonary and systemic circulation is feasible. Most of the studies in the past focused on PDA size as severity biomarker. Sehgal et al have described a scoring system in order to evaluate PDA severity [19]. There is a correlation between a high composite PDA severity score with a higher incidence of subsequent chronic lung disease in preterm infants. The proposed assessment of the haemodynamic impact of ductal flow might allow the determination of responders and non-responders to the medical or surgical treatment of PDA. SVC flow is considered a surrogate marker of systemic blood flow especially in the early postnatal period, when shunts confound the classic echocardiographic measurement of left and right ventricular output [23]. Low SVC flow has been shown to be associated with surrogate markers of adverse long-term outcomes [24, 25], particularly late intraventricular haemorrhage (IVH) occurring more than 6 hours after birth [24]. There is a positive association between SVC flow and cTOI in very low birth weight infants [26].

Autonomic dysfunction

The autonomic nervous system regulates visceral homeostasis by functioning below the level of consciousness. Autonomic dysfunction is a well-studied entity in adult medicine and has been associated with multiple outcomes in cardiovascular disease. Heart rate variability (HRV) is a well established marker of autonomic dysfunction which was first described in perinatal medicine in 1965 [27]. However, there is limited evidence of the impact of PDA on autonomic dysfunction especially during the critical period of transitional circulation and/or vice versa. A recent study revealed that PDA alters the equilibrium of autonomic function by stimulating the parasympathetic system. The authors suggested that fluid overload may stimulate receptors placed in the pulmonary artery, ventricles and atria. Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) released by atria in response to fluid overload may imply a second pathophysiologic mechanism as ANP decreases HR and has vasodilator properties [28]. Another study found that infants with a PDA had a higher heart rate and short-term variability, but reduced long-term variability when compared with matched controls. PDA treatment with indomethacin did not have any impact on these observations [29]. However another study did not replicate these results. PDA closure with indomethacin reduced the mean heart rate and increased the long-term variability. The authors attributed the observations to improved brain stem oxygenation [30].

Near infrared spectroscopy

Near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) provides a non invasive method of assessing cerebral and systemic haemodynamics by measuring tissue oxygenation [31]. Human tissues are relatively transparent to near infrared light. Haemoglobin absorbs near infrared light of specific wavelength and through spectroscopy, it is possible to monitor tissue oxygenation. New generation NIRS can measure absolute values. In contrast to pulse oximetry, that measures arterial oxygen saturation, NIRS measures oxygenation in the tissue as a whole. As the venous blood volume accounts for 75% of the total, we can assume that NIRS measures mainly venous saturation. By comparing arterial and venous oxygenation it is possible to calculate cerebral blood flow (CBF) and fractional oxygen extraction (FOE). TOI is the ratio of oxygenated haemoglobin to total haemoglobin in the tissue, has a good correlation with the cerebral venous saturation in animal studies and can be used as a non invasive parameter for monitoring of cerebral oxygenation [32].

Inadequate haemodynamic adaptation during the first 72 hours after birth can affect cerebral perfusion [33]. NIRS may be an effective tool for screening infants at risk for adverse outcomes due to PDA [34]. Cerebral hyperperfusion has been associated with severe PIVH [35]. Preterm infants with haemodynamically significant PDA have impaired regional cerebral oxygenation [9] and higher risk of IVH [7]. NIRS is a reliable method of assessing superior vena cava saturations and superior to arterial saturation

in monitoring systemic perfusion in infants with single ventricle heart defects [36]. There are conflicting data in the literature regarding the effect of PDA treatment, both pharmacological and ligation, in cerebral oxygenation [9, 34, 37-39]. The impact of NIRS monitoring on long term outcomes in neonates with PDA is unknown.

Electroencephalogram

Electroencephalogram (EEG) is a useful tool in assessing brain activity, especially in sedated and ventilated preterm infants. The EEG pattern of infants between 26 and 30 weeks gestation has been well characterized [40]. Reduced cerebral perfusion is associated with decreased amplitude of EEG [41]. There are limited numbers of studies assessing EEG in neonates with PDA. In an old and small study assessing PDA severity using carotid Doppler, no difference was found in spectral analysis of EEG. This study concluded with the assumption that the degree of decreased cerebral blood flow in infants with a significant PDA is not sufficient to cause measurable alteration in electrocortical activity [42]. In another study, where only 1/4 of the study population had a small PDA, infants with low cardiac output and normal blood pressure were able to maintain a normal electrocortical activity. They presumed that cerebral autoregulation preserves blood flow even in very preterm babies, but the limits of autoregulation are uncertain [43]. Indomethacin treatment for PDA does not seem to impair cerebral function as measured by quantitative EEG [44]. PDA ligation has been associated with compromised cerebral oxygenation and decreased aEEG measured electrical brain activity [22].

Rationale for the study

Neonatology is one of the most rapidly changing medical specialties due to technological and medical progress. Surfactant administration, antenatal steroids, nitric oxide and sophisticated ventilators rendered old studies not applicable to the new era. Pooling results from these studies in order to conduct systematic reviews or formulating clinical protocols doesn't really apply on current clinical practice. There is a need for new studies that will address the pathophysiology of PDA in the growing population of extremely low birth infants.

Consequently we postulate that PDA disease severity will affect cerebral oxygenation and possibly major neonatal clinical diagnoses in a continuum. This leads to the hypothesis that magnitude of blood flow through the PDA as assessed by flow through the PDA measured using echocardiography is linearly proportional to cerebral oxygenation (measured by NIRS). Secondary hypotheses are that the magnitude of PDA is linearly proportional to other surrogate outcomes representing brain injury: cerebral blood flow (measured by SVC flow), cerebral electrical activity (measured by EEG), beat-to-beat variability (as a marker of autonomic dysfunction), and is associated with major neonatal diagnoses.

One important aspect of this therapeutic area is the use of haemodynamic assessments as biomarkers during clinical drug development and clinical practice. In general, biomarkers can be used for diagnosis, indication for treatment and monitoring treatment. Biomarkers need to be validated and qualified. Validation refers to assessing the extent to which a measurement is reliable and includes assessments of repeatability, inter- and intra-user variability. Qualification refers to assessing the extent reflects clinically important outcomes.

Despite the widespread use of these assessments in clinical practice there has never been a systematic evaluation of validation and qualification. This study will contribute to the evaluation of haemodynamic assessments in neonates through sub studies relating to specific biomarkers and surrogate outcomes. The lack of prior data means that this study needs to identify the extent to which the assessments are validated and also identify sources of uncertainty that need to be addressed in future studies. With respect to qualification some relevant data about outcomes at hospital discharge will be gathered from data that is collected in routine clinical practice. This provides the

366

opportunity to conduct preliminary studies to qualify haemodynamic biomarkers of PDA and qualify surrogate outcomes of cerebral perfusion.

An important influence on haemodynamic assessments is the impact of medicines administered to neonates. A number of studies of medicines are underway on the Neonatal Unit and these provide the opportunity to examine the impact of different medicines.

This study will be conducted in parallel to other studies on the Neonatal Unit:

1. OSCAR: Randomised control trial of ibuprofen vs placebo among neonates with significant PDA within 72 hours of birth.

2. NeoCirculation: observational study of haemodynamics and dobutamine PK.

These studies are both multi-centred and so will provide the opportunities for comparison of the findings between sites. In particular, NeoCirculation has a particular emphasis on developing haemodynamic biomarkers in this population.

Subject to the relevant consents from parents, this study will take baseline measurements and follow-up for four groups of babies:

a) babies enrolled in OSCAR and allocated to placebo

b) babies enrolled in OSCAR and allocated to ibuprofen

c) babies enrolled in NeoCirculation

d) babies not enrolled in OSCAR or NeoCirculation

In the past parents have not objected to being approached about multiple studies and have been comfortable agreeing to participation in no, one or two parallel studies. The burdens imposed by these studies are not large and are consistent between studies. At all times parents will be able to change their minds and withdraw their baby from any or all of these studies without any impact on the care their baby receives.

Objectives

The primary objective of this project is to make a preliminary estimate of the magnitude of the association between the haemodynamic impact of PDA (as measured by the PDA severity score) and cTOI (as measured by NIRS).

Secondary objectives of this project are:

- To validate components of a PDA severity score within 72 hours of birth among babies born at less than 29 weeks gestation
- To validate measurement of surrogate outcomes for brain injury: haemodynamic parameters within 72 hours of birth among babies born at less than 29 weeks gestation, echocardiographic assessment of haemodynamic status (such as SVC flow), EEG and autonomic dysfunction.

Methods

This prospective observational study will be performed in Liverpool Women's Hospital. All infants born <29 weeks' gestation are eligible for recruitment in the study.

A demographic dataset will be compiled from the clinical record. This will be supplemented by a haemodynamic dataset including biomarkers of PDA and surrogate outcomes relating to cerebral oxygenation. The core haemodynamic dataset will include the PDA severity score as a marker of PDA evaluation and cTOI on NIRS. Sub studies will contribute data about other potential surrogate outcomes.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria are:

• neonates 24 to 28⁺⁶ weeks' gestation

- postnatal age ≤72 hours
- parental informed consent

Exclusion criteria are:

- non-viability (unlikely to survive more than 48 hours in the opinion of the attending physician)
- congenital hydrops, congenital heart disease or other malformations likely to affect cardiovascular adaptation
- surgery planned within 72 hours of birth
- chromosomal anomalies
- IVH> grade 2 in the initial cranial ultrasound scan
- informed consent form (ICF) not signed.

Primary Outcome

The primary outcome will be the relation of PDA severity score to cTOI.

Secondary outcomes

- a) cerebral electrical activity
- b) cerebral tissue oxygenation index
- c) cerebral blood flow
- d) beat-to-beat variability
- f) arterial blood pressure (measured invasively)
- g) capillary refill time (CRT)
- h) urine output
- i) blood lactate concentration

j) base excess.

Tertiary outcomes will be part of the core dataset and will contribute to the qualification of surrogate outcomes measured earlier in the clinical course.

- Clinical outcomes at term equivalent:
 - o death
 - o composite outcome of IVH grade 2-4
 - major clinical neonatal diagnoses at 40 weeks' gestation: prevalence of hypotension, days to reach total enteral nutrition, necrotizing enterocolitis (± surgery); treatment for PDA; age at PDA treatment; retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) (worst grade); ROP requiring treatment, renal insufficiency, oxygen dependency at 36 weeks' gestation (chronic lung disease); oxygen dependency at discharge; nosocomial infection.
 - If funds are secured in the future, we will proceed to assess the neurodevelopmental outcome at 2 years corrected age and compare it with the background risk of PDA severity.

Study procedures Recruitment

Families will be approached before birth if possible or in the first day after birth. An information leaflet has been specifically designed and will be provided to parents before asking consent. Consent will be required for all study procedures. Consent will be obtained when convenient after admission before a baby becomes eligible. Parents will have ample time to think and ask any possible questions regarding the study. Parents can withdraw consent at any point of the study without an explanation. The investigator's contact information will be provided.

All neonates born at less than 29 weeks' gestation will have a screening echocardiogram done as part of routine clinical care. Babies will be recruited once they meet the study inclusion criteria and consent is given.

Echocardiography

All echocardiography studies will be performed using a Vivid E9 GE machine and 12 or 6-Hz probe. Two dimensional, M-mode, pulse and colour flow Doppler imaging will be performed. Echocardiography will be done every 24 hours with at least 12 hours between assessment in the first 3 days of life, once weekly until the PDA closes and then before discharge. Infants without PDA or with a PDA closed in the first 3 days of life will be used as a comparison group to assess "normality" and echocardiography will be still performed until 2 weeks of age at the aforementioned time intervals. If the clinical condition of the babies allows, PDA will be classified using previously described methods (Table 1) [19]. Individual parameters are graded from 1 to 3 based on the magnitude with a composite score range 0-30.

Feature quantified	Modality/position of sample gate	Score 0	Score 1	Score 2	Score 3
Ductal features					
Transductal diameter (mm)	Two-dimensional, short axis view	0	<1.5	1.5–3	>3
Ductal velocity Vmax(m/s)	PWD at pulmonary end of duct	0	>2	1.5–2	<1.5
Magnitude of ductal shunt					
PDA:LPA diameter			<0.5	≥0.5–1	≥1
Antegrade PA diastolic flow (cm/s)	PWD within main pulmonary artery	0	0–20	>20	
Antegrade LPA diastolic flow (cm/s)	PWD within left pulmonary artery	0	<30	30–50	>50
Left atrial: aortic ratio	M-mode, long axis view	1.13±0.23*	<1.4:1	1.4–1.6:1	>1.6:1
Left ventricular: aortic ratio	M-mode, long axis view	1.86±0.29*	_	2.15±0.39*	≥ 2.5
Features of myocardial performance					
LVO/SVC flow ratio	PWD of flow in superior vena cava	2.4±0.3*	_	_	≥4
E wave/A wave ratio	Transmitral Doppler	<1		1–1.5	>1.5
IVRT (ms)	Between mitral and aortic valves	>55	46–54	36–45	<35

Table 1. Scoring system of hemodynamic significant DA. *Mean ± SD, Vmax: maximum velocity, LPA: left pulmonary artery, PA: pulmonary artery, PWD: pulse wave doppler, isovolumetric relaxation time (IVRT).

NIRS measurements

The cTOI will be measured as described elsewhere [45] using NIRO-200NX; Hamamatsu Photonics KK, Shizuoka, Japan. The combined use of NIRS and pulse oximetry allows the continuous monitoring of the cerebral fractional oxygen extraction (FOE) [32]. Recordings will start as soon as possible after enrolment; 4 hours every 12 hours in the first 3 days, 4 hours daily in the rest of the first week, 4 hours on alternate days until the PDA closes and before discharge. If PDA closes earlier than 2 weeks, NIRS will be still applied until 2 weeks of age in order to collect "normal"data. NIRS monitoring will always precede heart scans. NIRS application procedure and monitoring are specified in details in the relevant Appendix and Standard Operating Procedure.

Other assessments will be conducted in sub studies.

Autonomic dysfunction

The ECG data will be recorded as part of the routine neonatal care, from three lead electrodes forming the Einthoven triangle - two electrodes are placed onto either side of the chest and a third on the outer aspect of one thigh. The signal will be sampled at 256 or 512 Hz and stored on trust shared drive. Recordings will be performed whilst the infants are asleep and where they will not be disturbed throughout the duration of the recording. Recordings will precede echocardiography and will be performed simultaneously with EEG and NIRS, if possible. Otherwise recordings will be done as closer to echocardiography as possible. Sleep state will be justified according to criteria set by Sheldon [46].

Of note, this procedure does not cause any disturbance to the participant and so can be conducted at the same time as other assessments.

Electroencephalography

Digital EEG recordings will be performed using a Nicolet 16-channel system (Optima Medical Ltd., UK). Six electrodes will be placed on the frontopolar (Fp1, Fp2), central (C3, C4), and occipital (O1, O2) positions bilaterally according to the International 10-20 System [47]. A reference electrode will be placed at the vertex (Cz). Skin impedance of 2 k will be maintained for all recordings. A sampling rate of 256 Hz will be used for digitization. The EEG will be displayed on a computer screen as four bipolar channels (Fp1 - C3, C3 - O1, Fp2 - C4, and C4 - O2) using a high-pass filter of 0.3 Hz, a low-pass filter of 70 Hz, a notch filter of 50 Hz, a base time of 10 s, and a gain of 100 V. The EEG recordings will be analysed for degree of discontinuity, amplitude, presence of abnormal transients, and synchrony. Quantitative analysis of EEG will be done by a) spectral analysis and b) manual calculation of the interburst interval. To calculate the interburst intervals, gross artefacts (activity with no identifiable normal EEG activity) will be identified by eye and removed. The interburst interval will be defined as a period between electrical bursts during which activities are lower than 30 V in all leads and calculated manually [48]. The 90th centile (P90) for interburst interval will be then calculated for the first 60 min of artefact-free recording for each baby. The normal range (10th to 90th centile) of P90 interburst interval in infants between 24 and 30 wk gestation is 7–25 s during the first 2 days after birth [49]. Spectral analysis using Fast Fourier transformation will be performed using the manufacturer's software (Nicolet) and is described in detail elsewhere [49]. The 75 min of EEG recorded from six monopolar channels (Fp1, Fp2, C3, C4, O1, and O2) will be subjected to spectral analysis. The spectrum will be subdivided into delta (0.5–3.5 Hz), theta (4 –7.5 Hz), alpha (8 –12.5 Hz), and beta (13–30 Hz) frequency bands. The absolute power of a frequency band is defined as the integral of the power values within the frequency range and expressed as V2. The relative power of a frequency band is defined as the

ratio of the absolute power of that frequency band to the total power of the EEG signal and expressed as a percentage. The absolute and relative powers of each frequency band will be calculated for every 10-s epoch. Gross artefacts (activity with no identifiable normal EEG activity) will be identified by eye and removed manually in 10-s epochs. The first 60 min of artefact-free EEG will be then used to calculate the median absolute and the median relative powers of each frequency band. For very low birth weight infants, the relative power of the delta frequency band is the most discriminatory and repeatable (coefficient of repeatability of 8%) spectral measurement [49]. The normal range (10th to 90th centile) of the relative power of the delta frequency band in infants between 24 and 30 w gestation is 62–82% during the first 2 d after birth [49].

Cranial ultrasound

Cranial ultrasound scan (CUS) will be done as soon as possible after enrolment, preferably within the first 6 hours of birth. Then between 48 to 72 hours, at postnatal day 7 (\pm 1), 14 (\pm 1), and at 36 (\pm 2) week's gestation. CUS is part of the routine clinical care of premature infants. Eleven pre-specified views will be recorded and stored.

Priority of measurements

There will be a number of assessments for each participant.

Given the clinical state of the participants some assessments will not be possible in some participants. The measurements will be done in a set order so that consistent results are obtained for the core dataset and substudies are done only if core studies have been completed.

The order of assessment will be:

- 1. Set-up NIRS
- 2. Assess cTOI on NIRS
- 3. Assess other NIRS variables

- 4. Set-up EEG
- 5. Conduct EEG
- 6. Conduct echocardiogram

Assessment of autonomic dysfunction has no impact on the participant and so will be done on all participants who have an echocardiogram.

Clinical data

Obstetric and intrapartum data will be collected from hospital records. Neonatal data will be collected prospectively. All clinical data of patients (vital signs, ventilator settings, laboratory blood results, medication and possible interventions) will be recorded electronically in our central database and analysed retrospectively. Description of specific data to be entered in the case report form are as follows:

- Maternal history:
 - o Age.
 - Social history: job, education, income (will be used to calculate socioeconomic index)
 - Antenatal corticosteroid use (complete course).
 - Maternal hypertension and treatment.
 - Chorioamnionitis: fever (>38ºC), foul smelling amniotic fluid, tenderness of the uterus, maternal/fetal tachycardia, maternal leukocytosis, pathological diagnosis.
 - Prolonged rupture of membranes (>24 hours to delivery).
 - Type of delivery.
 - Previous medical history, medication and family history.
 - Others (window for description).

- Perinatal data:
 - Gestational age.
 - Birth weight.
 - Small for gestational age (defined by weight <3rd percentile).
 - Multiple (order).
 - o Gender.
 - \circ Need for advanced resuscitation at birth (intubation ± assisted circulation).
 - Placental transfusion procedures (e.g. delayed cord clamping, milking of the cord).
 - 5 min Apgar score.
 - Working weight and head circumference.
- Neonatal outcomes:
 - Invasive BP (mean, max, min) while the infant is on inotropes.
 - Capillary Refill Time (CRT) while the infant is on inotropes.
 - Biochemical data: plasma lactate, base excess, pH, blood gases, central haemoglobin, white cell count, neutrophil count, C-reactive protein, blood cultures, creatinine and glucose serum levels. A blood gas will be done after the end of NIRS and EEG recording and before the start of Echo-D, as EEG parameters are also closely associated with pCO2 and ventilatory status.
 - Physiological data: heart rate, pulse oximetry
 - Urine output: mean diuresis, expressed as ml/kg/h
 - Volume replacement: total amount of i.v. bolus administered as volume expansion (crystalloids or blood products) and time
- Cranial ultrasound scan findings
- Major neonatal diagnoses/outcomes (at 40 weeks' gestation ± two weeks, or earlier if died or discharged)

- \circ $\;$ Survival free of severe brain injury as defined by CUS $\;$
- Overall mortality
- Major CUS diagnoses: IVH 2-4; cystic and non-cystic PVL, porencephalic cyst, ventriculomegaly, cerebellar haemorrhage; widening of interhemispheric fissure; others (window for description)
- Hypotension
- o Days to reach full enteral nutrition
- o Necrotizing enterocolitis or bowel perforation
- Oxygen dependence at 36 weeks' gestation
- Oxygen dependence at discharge
- Nosocomial infection
- o Ductus arteriosus patency duration and treatment (age)
- o Retinopathy of prematurity (grade) and treatment

Measures to minimize pain and distress

All study related procedures will be undertaken in line with local procedures to minimise pain and optimise welfare. All study-related procedures will be conducted by professionals experienced in neonatal care who have received study-specific training.

Clinical management

All infants will receive standard routine clinical treatment according to the local neonatal guidelines in Liverpool Women's Hospital. The attending physician, who will not be a member of the research group, will coordinate the management of the infants. The unit has adopted a symptomatic way of PDA treatment, but practice varies among clinicians. In 2012 among children with echocardiographically confirmed PDA, 20% received ibuprofen and 3% had duct ligation. It is the policy of the neonatal unit to keep infant's mean BP (mmHg) above the infant's gestation (weeks) and instituting treatment when mean BP is that limit plus one or more of the following clinical/laboratory features: urine output < 0.5 mL/kg/hour, poor peripheral perfusion (CRT > 3s) or lactate > 4 mmol/L. This will be achieved by volume expansion using

blood transfusion or normal saline and/or inotropes such as dopamine, dobutamine, adrenaline or hydrocortisone either singly or in combination. Equipment used in the study is checked by the Medical Engineers of Liverpool Women's Hospital and will be used under the local Infection Control Guidelines.

Follow-up measurements

If funds are secured in the future, we will proceed to assess neurodevelopmental outcome at the age of 24 months (corrected for prematurity) and correlate it with PDA severity.

Sample size considerations

As this is a pilot study, power calculation is not applicable. We will study the existence and nature of possible associations between PDA score and different clinical outcomes. In a sample of 75 participants contributing to the core dataset associations of interest would be defined as those with moderate correlation of 0.4 (p<0.05).

Study duration

In Liverpool Women's Hospital we admit annually 110 preterm infants born less than 29 weeks GA with 85 of them having echocardiographically confirmed PDA. We expect a high consent rate as the study is observational with non-invasive monitoring methods. Thus we consider that 1.5 years is a reasonable time period to recruit 75 patients.

Statistical analysis

We will produce summary statistics for each time point of the study. The PDA severity score will be the predictor of outcomes and cTOI measured using NIRS will be the primary outcome. Correlation coefficients will be the main form of analysis. Autonomic dysfunction, cerebral electrical activity and cerebral blood flow will be the main secondary outcomes. Simple graphical analysis will be used to examine the distribution of the variables and their interrelationship. We will assess also if PDA severity score has a predictive value in evaluating future death, composite outcome of IVH grade 2-4 and major clinical neonatal diagnoses at 40 (\pm 2) weeks' gestation: prevalence of hypotension, days to reach total enteral nutrition, necrotizing enterocolitis (\pm surgery); treatment for PDA; age at PDA treatment; retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) (worst grade); ROP requiring treatment, renal insufficiency, oxygen dependency at 36 weeks' gestation (chronic lung disease); oxygen dependency at discharge; nosocomial infection. The Mann–Whitney U-test (or Student's t-test) will be used to investigate population characteristics, and linear regression analysis will be performed to identify the correlation between the multiple variables.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval will be asked from a Research Ethics Committee. Parental informed consent will be obtained prior to any study procedures. The trial will be conducted in accordance with the principles of Good Clinical Practice. Procedures will be established to prevent and/or minimise risk of complication for participants, such as complications related to the device and the treatment guideline includes only interventions that are commonly used during intensive care in this population.

Data Protection

The study staff involved with this study will comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 with regard to the collection, storage, processing and disclosure of personal information and will uphold the Act's core principles. Access to collated participant data will be restricted to those clinicians treating the participants. Only designated university personnel has access to the department through a secure swipe card system. Extra encoded door protects the room where the paper files will be stored. Paper and other manual files will be filed and stored securely in a locked cabinet. Computers used to collate the data will have limited access measures via user names and passwords. Encrypted external hard drives will be used to transfer data from Echo, NIRS and EEG machines to the central database. Published results will not contain any personal data that could allow identification of individual participants. This study is done as part of a project involving six countries in the European Union, Turkey and the USA. Some of the data may be shared with partners in these other countries who are doing similar work on babies in their countries. All data will be shared following linked anonymisation. Consent will be sought for the transfer of data outside the EU. If parents decide to withdraw from this study, all anonymised information collected about the mother and baby will be retained for the purpose of completing the research, unless parents tell us otherwise. If parents withdraw their baby from the study, we will ask them whether we can keep the data that relates to their baby.

Publication

The clinical study report will be used for publication and presentation at scientific meetings. Families will be informed for the study results by a letter.

Resources

The study is funded by European Commission grant Neocirculation.



Boxes with dashed borders indicate supplementary measurements made during substudy if baby is stable.

References

- in *Preterm Birth: Causes, Consequences, and Prevention*, R.E. Behrman and A.S. Butler, Editors. 2007: Washington (DC).
- Horbar, J.D., The Vermont-Oxford Neonatal Network: integrating research and clinical practice to improve the quality of medical care. Semin Perinatol, 1995.
 19(2): p. 124-31.
- 3. Hajj, H. and J.M. Dagle, *Genetics of patent ductus arteriosus susceptibility and treatment*. Semin Perinatol, 2012. **36**(2): p. 98-104.
- 4. Noori, S., et al., *Failure of ductus arteriosus closure is associated with increased mortality in preterm infants.* Pediatrics, 2009. **123**(1): p. e138-44.
- Marshall, D.D., et al., Risk factors for chronic lung disease in the surfactant era: a North Carolina population-based study of very low birth weight infants. North Carolina Neonatologists Association. Pediatrics, 1999. 104(6): p. 1345-50.
- 6. Drougia, A., et al., *Incidence and risk factors for cerebral palsy in infants with perinatal problems: a 15-year review.* Early Hum Dev, 2007. **83**(8): p. 541-7.
- Evans, N. and M. Kluckow, Early ductal shunting and intraventricular haemorrhage in ventilated preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 1996. 75(3): p. F183-6.
- 8. Wilkins, B.H., *Renal function in sick very low birthweight infants: 1. Glomerular filtration rate.* Arch Dis Child, 1992. **67**(10 Spec No): p. 1140-5.
- 9. Lemmers, P.M., M.C. Toet, and F. van Bel, *Impact of patent ductus arteriosus and subsequent therapy with indomethacin on cerebral oxygenation in preterm infants.* Pediatrics, 2008. **121**(1): p. 142-7.
- 10. Madan, J.C., et al., *Patent ductus arteriosus therapy: impact on neonatal and 18-month outcome*. Pediatrics, 2009. **123**(2): p. 674-81.
- 11. Benitz, W.E., *Treatment of persistent patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants: time to accept the null hypothesis?* J Perinatol, 2010. **30**(4): p. 241-52.
- 12. Bose, C.L. and M.M. Laughon, *Patent ductus arteriosus: lack of evidence for common treatments.* Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2007. **92**(6): p. F498-502.

- Fowlie, P.W., P.G. Davis, and W. McGuire, *Prophylactic intravenous indomethacin for preventing mortality and morbidity in preterm infants.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2010(7): p. CD000174.
- 14. Ohlsson, A. and S.S. Shah, *Ibuprofen for the prevention of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm and/or low birth weight infants.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2011(7): p. CD004213.
- 15. Nemerofsky, S.L., et al., *The ductus arteriosus rarely requires treatment in infants > 1000 grams.* Am J Perinatol, 2008. **25**(10): p. 661-6.
- Sehgal, A. and P.J. McNamara, *The ductus arteriosus: a refined approach!* Semin Perinatol, 2012. 36(2): p. 105-13.
- 17. Jhaveri, N., A. Moon-Grady, and R.I. Clyman, *Early surgical ligation versus a conservative approach for management of patent ductus arteriosus that fails to close after indomethacin treatment.* J Pediatr, 2010. **157**(3): p. 381-7, 387 e1.
- Kluckow, M. and N. Evans, Early echocardiographic prediction of symptomatic patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants undergoing mechanical ventilation. J Pediatr, 1995. 127(5): p. 774-9.
- Sehgal, A., E. Paul, and S. Menahem, *Functional echocardiography in staging for ductal disease severity : Role in predicting outcomes.* Eur J Pediatr, 2013. **172**(2): p. 179-84.
- 20. O'Rourke, D.J., et al., *Patent ductus arteriosus evaluation by serial echocardiography in preterm infants*. Acta Paediatr, 2008. **97**(5): p. 574-8.
- 21. Kabra, N.S., et al., *Neurosensory impairment after surgical closure of patent ductus arteriosus in extremely low birth weight infants: results from the Trial of Indomethacin Prophylaxis in Preterms.* J Pediatr, 2007. **150**(3): p. 229-34, 234 e1.
- 22. Lemmers, P.M., et al., *Is cerebral oxygen supply compromised in preterm infants undergoing surgical closure for patent ductus arteriosus?* Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2010. **95**(6): p. F429-34.

- Kluckow, M. and N. Evans, Superior vena cava flow in newborn infants: a novel marker of systemic blood flow. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2000. 82(3): p. F182-7.
- Kluckow, M. and N. Evans, Low superior vena cava flow and intraventricular haemorrhage in preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2000. 82(3):
 p. F188-94.
- Miletin, J., K. Pichova, and E.M. Dempsey, Bedside detection of low systemic flow in the very low birth weight infant on day 1 of life. Eur J Pediatr, 2009.
 168(7): p. 809-13.
- 26. Moran, M., et al., Cerebral tissue oxygenation index and superior vena cava blood flow in the very low birth weight infant. Acta Paediatr, 2009. 98(1): p. 43-6.
- Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Circulation, 1996. 93(5): p. 1043-65.
- 28. Goudjil, S., et al., Patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants is associated with cardiac autonomic alteration and predominant parasympathetic stimulation. Early Hum Dev, 2013.
- van Ravenswaaij-Arts, C.M., et al., The influence of respiratory distress syndrome on heart rate variability in very preterm infants. Early Hum Dev, 1991.
 27(3): p. 207-21.
- Prietsch, V., et al., Long-term variability of heart rate increases with successful closure of patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants. Biol Neonate, 1992.
 61(3): p. 142-9.
- 31. Weindling, M. and F. Paize, *Peripheral haemodynamics in newborns: best practice guidelines.* Early Hum Dev, 2010. **86**(3): p. 159-65.

- 32. Naulaers, G., et al., Use of tissue oxygenation index and fractional tissue oxygen extraction as non-invasive parameters for cerebral oxygenation. A validation study in piglets. Neonatology, 2007. **92**(2): p. 120-6.
- 33. Takami, T., et al., *Changes in cerebral perfusion in extremely LBW infants during the first 72 h after birth.* Pediatr Res, 2010. **68**(5): p. 435-9.
- 34. Underwood, M.A., J.M. Milstein, and M.P. Sherman, *Near-infrared spectroscopy as a screening tool for patent ductus arteriosus in extremely low birth weight infants.* Neonatology, 2007. **91**(2): p. 134-9.
- 35. Alderliesten, T., et al., *Cerebral Oxygenation, Extraction, and Autoregulation in Very Preterm Infants Who Develop Peri-Intraventricular Hemorrhage.* J Pediatr, 2012.
- 36. Kirshbom, P.M., et al., *Cerebral near infrared spectroscopy is a reliable marker of systemic perfusion in awake single ventricle children.* Pediatr Cardiol, 2007.
 28(1): p. 42-5.
- 37. Zaramella, P., et al., Surgical closure of patent ductus arteriosus reduces the cerebral tissue oxygenation index in preterm infants: a near-infrared spectroscopy and Doppler study. Pediatr Int, 2006. **48**(3): p. 305-12.
- 38. Vanderhaegen, J., et al., Surgical closure of the patent ductus arteriosus and its effect on the cerebral tissue oxygenation. Acta Paediatr, 2008. 97(12): p. 1640-4.
- 39. Chock, V.Y., C. Ramamoorthy, and K.P. Van Meurs, *Cerebral oxygenation during different treatment strategies for a patent ductus arteriosus. Neonatology, 2011.* 100(3): p. 233-40.
- 40. Scher, M., Electroencephalography of the newborn: normal and abnormalfeatures. ed. D.S.F. Niedermeyer E. Vol. Electroencephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields. 1999.
- 41. Greisen, G. and O. Pryds, Low Cbf, Discontinuous Eeg Activity, and Periventricular Brain Injury in III, Preterm Neonates. Brain & Development, 1989. 11(3): p. 164-168.

- 42. Kurtis, P.S., T.S. Rosenkrantz, and E.L. Zalneraitis, Cerebral blood flow and EEG changes in preterm infants with patent ductus arteriosus. Pediatr Neurol, 1995.
 12(2): p. 114-9.
- 43. Victor, S., et al., *The relationship between cardiac output, cerebral electrical activity, cerebral fractional oxygen extraction and peripheral blood flow in premature newborn infants.* Pediatr Res, 2006. **60**(4): p. 456-60.
- 44. Flisberg, A., et al., *Does indomethacin for closure of patent ductus arteriosus affect cerebral function?* Acta Paediatr, 2010. **99**(10): p. 1493-1497.
- 45. Pellicer, A. and C. Bravo Mdel, *Near-infrared spectroscopy: a methodologyfocused review.* Semin Fetal Neonatal Med, 2011. **16**(1): p. 42-9.
- 46. SH., S., *Sleep in infants and children.*, ed. S. Medicine. 2002, Philadelphia.
- Klem, G.H., et al., The ten-twenty electrode system of the International Federation. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl, 1999. 52: p. 3-6.
- Biagioni, E., et al., *Electroencephalographic dysmaturity in preterm infants: a prognostic tool in the early postnatal period.* Neuropediatrics, 1996. 27(6): p. 311-6.
- 49. Victor, S., et al., *Spectral analysis of electroencephalography in premature newborn infants: normal ranges.* Pediatr Res, 2005. **57**(3): p. 336-41].

Appendix 2: Procedures for echocardiographic assessment

The infant has to be in a comfortable environment. Handling should be minimised. Gel should be warmed before it is applied. The infant should be supine with the chest and abdomen exposed. The welfare of the neonate will take priority at all times.

Features for the interpretation of abnormal structure or haemodynamics are specific to the ultrasound machine. The ultrasound machine will be configured appropriately for the neonate, providing cross-sectional, M-mode, colour Doppler, pulsed and continuous wave Doppler images.

Outcome measures:

SVC flow and RVO are derived from the vessel cross-sectional area and the velocity measurements [velocity time integral (VTI)], according to the equations (Stroke volume: VTI x Pi x mean diameter2/4):

SVC flow (ml/kg/min): SVC stroke volume x heart rate /body weight (kg)

RVO (ml/kg/min): RVO stroke volume x heart rate/body weight (kg)

LVO (ml/kg/min): LVO stroke volume x heart rate/body weight (kg)

Corrected IVRT=IVRT/ VRR

Method of assessment:

SVC flow

SVC diameter is measured using left-mid parasternal view in a true sagittal plane, by positioning the transducer over mid sternum, a bit towards left side, the notch pointing upwards. The SVC usually funnels out as it enters the right atrium. The diameter is measured at the base of the funnel by M-mode. As SVC diameter varies during the cardiac cycle, the maximum and minimum diameter are averaged. Additional 2D images will be recorded and frozen. SVC velocity will be measured using the subcostal

window. The transducer will be positioned in the midline midway between the xiphisternum and umbilicus. The beam is aligned to transect the baby in the short axis with the notch pointing to the left. Angling the beam anteriorly the SVC appears as a diverticulum in the right atrium next to the aorta. The transducer will be as close to the umbilicus as possible to decrease the angle of insonation. The pulsed-Doppler range gate will be placed at the junction of the SVC and right atrium. SVC flow trace has a first peak corresponding to filling in ventricular systole, and a second peak representing positive ventricular filling in early diastole. Additionally, atrial systole is sometimes marked by a reduction in flow velocity that becomes negative. The Doppler velocity envelope will be traced using the calculation package on the Echo-D machine. If there is negative flow (atrial systole), this should be also incorporated, which is subtracted from the positive forward flow. Measure for 5-10 cardiac cycles.

Right ventricular Output

Right ventricular Output (RVO) is derived by measuring blood flow in the main pulmonary artery, which is imaged in the long axis. The pulmonary artery diameter is measured in the high parasternal long axis view by tilting slightly down the transducer. The diameter is measured from the 2-D image at the insertion of the pulmonary valve leaflets, advancing frame by frame until mid- to end-systole, when the leaflets are in parallel position. Doppler is performed from the low parasternal long axis view, tilting upwards the transducer. The range gate is positioned just beyond the valve leaflets to minimize any disturbance to the flow pattern from ductal shunting. The pulmonary artery is particularly good for Doppler studies because its posterior direction takes the blood directly away from the transducer at a minimal angle of insonation from the low parasternal window.

Left ventricular Output

Left ventricular Output (LVO) is derived by measuring blood flow in the aorta. The aortic diameter is measured from the parasternal long axis view on the level of aortic valve. The diameter is measured from the 2-D image at the insertion of the aortic valve

leaflets, advancing frame by frame until end-systole, just before valve closes. Doppler is performed from the 4 chambers apical view modified in order to visualise the ascending aorta. The range gate is positioned just beyond the valve leaflets. The main problem is the ankle of insonation that should be close to 10-20°. Try to avoid angle correction.

E wave/A wave ratio

E wave/A wave ratio is a marker of diastolic function. Cardiac diastole is divided into four phases: 1) isovolumic relaxation time, 2) early filling, 3) diastasis and 4) atrial contraction. We can assess this phases by studying the mitral flow pattern with PWD. Doppler is performed from the 4 chambers apical view. The PWD cursor is placed between the tips of the open mitral valve leaflets. We usually derive a dicrotic flow pattern, consisting of E and A wave. E wave corresponds to early filling and A wave to atrial contraction.

Isovolumic relaxation time

Isovolumic relaxation time (IVRT) is a marker of diastolic function. Prolongation of IVRT indicates poor myocardial relaxation. IVRT is measured from an apical 4-chamber view, positioning the pulsed wave Doppler sample volume in the left ventricle as much deviated from mitral inflow to left-ventricular outflow so as to visualize, sequentially, both the cessation of aortic outflow and the offspring of mitral flow from the Doppler shift 0 line. We can normalize the absolute value of IVRT for heart rate by dividing the absolute value by the square root of cardiac cycle length.

Timetable for echocardiographic assessment

As described in the protocol.

Several interventions/treatments could be relevant to the echo derived parameters or are mandatory per protocol, therefore should be recorded at the time of each Echo-D scan:

Type of medication

Total i.v. volume infusion rate (ml/h)

Ventilation: type of ventilation, mean airway pressure, fractional inspired oxygen fraction

Sedation type

MBP

CRT

Acknowledgement

My PhD was funded by NEOCRULATION consortium (Grant agreement ID: 282533) and I was co-leading the development of the biomarkers used in the clinical trial (Dobutamine for NEOnatal CIRCulatory failure defined by novel biomarkers) and codesigned the standard operating procedures. The same standard operating procedures were used also in the present study.

Appendix 3: Procedures for cranial ultrasound and Doppler studies

Cranial ultrasound (CrUSS) scan will be done as soon as possible at enrolment, preferably within the first 6 hours of birth. Then between 48 to 72 hours, at postnatal day 7 (\pm 1), 14 (\pm 1), and at 36 (\pm 2) week's gestation. Eleven pre-specified views will be recorded and stored. Cerebral blood flow velocity measurements at the anterior (ACA) and middle (MCA) cerebral arteries will be recommended but not mandated by protocol.

Outcome Measures

Outcome measure 1: Parenchymal/periventricular haemorrhagic infarction / inhomogeneous flaring

Outcome measure 2: IVH Grade III

Outcome measure 3: Cerebellar haemorrhage

Outcome measure 4: Posthaemorrhagic hydrocephalus

Outcome measure 5: cPVL

Outcome measure 6: Cerebral atrophy

Technique

Each cranial ultrasound scan will comprise 11 standard views through the anterior fontanel (6 coronal, 5 sagittal), 1 optional coronal view through mastoid and 2 optional (coronal and parasagittal) through the posterior fontanel. Additional coronal view through the temporal squama for Doppler flow measurements at the MCA.

Anterior fontanel

Coronal:

C1 frontal lobes

C2 anterior frontal horns of the lateral ventricles

C3 third ventricle, connections between the lateral and third ventricle (foramen of Monro); measurements: lateral ventricles with largest size of ventricular index (VI); anterior horn width; width of third ventricle; interhemispheric fissure

C4 cerebellum largest diameter left-right

C5 level of the trigone of the lateral ventricles, posterior horns with plexus (glomus)

C6 occipital lobes beyond the posterior horns

Sagittal:

S1 midline; measurement: depth of fourth ventricle ; Doppler flow measurements at the ACA

S2 left lateral ventricle;

S3 left periventricular through the Sylvian fissure

S4 right lateral ventricle; measurement: right TOD

S5 right periventricular through the Sylvian fissure

Temporal squama

Axial: Doppler flow measurements at the MCA

Timing of Scan

Early scans (day 1, 2, 3)

Late scans (day 7, 14, 35)

Near-term/ Term scan: at 36 (± 2) weeks' postmenstrual age

Method of Classification

1. Normal brain scan

No cysts

No ventricular dilatation

No enlargement of extra-cerebral spaces

Normal cortical grey matter

2. Mild brain injury:

Grade 1-2 IVH

Persistent pathological non-decreasing flaring at days 7 and 14

Thinning of the corpus callosum

Ventriculomegaly at term, ventricular index < P97

3. Severe brain injury :

IVH grade 3 (VI>P97 during the acute phase)

Posthaemorrhagic ventricular dilatation with the ventricular index (VI) exceeding the 97th percentile (VI>p97)

Parenchymal/periventricular haemorrhagic infarction

Local cystic lesions (unilateral)

Cystic periventricular leukomalacia (bilateral)

Cerebellar haemorrhage

Cerebral atrophy at term age (ventricular dilation and/or increased extra-cerebral spaces)

CrUSS-Doppler derived measurements

1. Peak systolic flow velocity (PSFV), end-diastolic flow velocity (EDFV), and temporal mean flow velocity (TMFV)

2. Resistance index: (PSFV-EDFV)/ PSFV



Standard six coronal views

Standard 3 sagittal

Timing of Scan

1st CUS	Within 12h of enrolment		
2nd CUS	Between 49-72 h of treatment start		
3rd CUS	Day 7 from birth (6-8)		
4th CUS	Day 14 from birth (13-15)		
5th CUS	Day 35 from birth (34-36)		
6th CUS	Near-term/ Term scan: at 36 (35-37) weeks' gestation		
7th CUS	Optional: additional, if clinically indicated		
Appendix 4: Procedures for near-infrared spectroscopy studies

NIRS provides continuous non-invasive monitoring of the cerebral tissue oxygenation index (cTOI), which is a proxy of the cerebral venous saturation. The combined used of NIRS and pulse oximetry allows the continuous monitoring of the cerebral fractional oxygen extraction (cFOE).

Outcome measure: cTOI

Technique

NIRO-200NX, a spectrophotometer using spatially resolved spectroscopy, will be used. Quality of NIRS signal will be checked on the forearm before placing the sensor on the infant. The device should give readings between 50 and 90%. The sensor will be applied on a clean surface. Aim for a site with as little hair as possible. Do not place the sensor over sinus cavities, superior sagittal sinus, hematomas or other anomalies. Ensure intact skin surface. For prolonged monitoring periods, the sensor will be moved every 3-4 hours, if possible as part of routine handling to avoid additional disturbances to the infant.

Timing

Recordings will start as soon as possible after enrolment. 4 hours every 12 hours in the first 3 days, 4 hours daily in the rest of the first week and 4 hours on alternative day until PDA closes. NIRS monitoring will always precede echocardiography.

Method of assessment

Data will be recorded and stored. For analysis purposes, the averaged value for all samples of the continuous NIRS and pulse oximeter data recordings obtained during 10 min intervals every 60 min will be calculated. SaO2 variation will not exceed 1% within the measurement time point. cFOE will be calculated as (SaO2-CTOI)/SaO2 (expressed as a percentage). NIRS data sampling time at 5 sec.

SOP: Near infra-red spectroscopy recording

1. Introduction

Before a procedure is initiated please read carefully the instructions for every step of the procedure.

2. How to begin patient NIRS monitoring in NeoCirc-001 clinical trial

NIRS monitoring will precede echocardiography and will be combined simultaneously with EEG monitoring for 75 min. If infant's head size or ventilation mode do not allow it, separate recordings will be performed.

Procedure

- Turn on the NIRS device and make sure the correct sensor is connected (Adult SomaSensor for INVOS 5100 C; Probe Holder S type with NIRO 200 NX)
- Place probe on your own forearm . The device should give readings between 50% and 90%. If not
- Check correct placement of sensor
- Change sensor
- Position the sensor on the infants head as described below
- Press 'START'

3. How to position the NIRS sensor on the infant's head

Procedure

• To ensure good contact, clean/degrease the skin using water. Ensure patient's skin is completely dry with a gauze pad.

- Check that the sensor is not defect. If it is, discard it and take a new.
- Select sensor site on the head. Aim for a site with as little hair as possible, as this can introduce inaccurate readings. Do not place the sensor over sinus cavities, the superior sagittal sinus, subdural or epidural haematomas or other anomalies such as arterio-venous malformations, as this may cause readings that are not reflective of brain tissue or no readings at all.



Emitter – Detector)(Detector – Emitter

- Ensure intact skin surface.
- Apply sensor to the head so that the light source is facing towards the skin. The sensor may be fixed with a self-adhesive single use bandage.
- Secure the cable to a fixed object to avoid strain on the sensor to skin interface.
- CAUTION: In order to avoid pressure sores, keep the external pressure on sensor to a minimum, while maintaining sufficient sensor-skin contact.
- CAUTION: The sensor is not MRI compatible.

4. How to change the position of the NIRS sensor

For extended monitoring the sensor should be repositioned at a different location. For infants with scalp oedema or poor perfusion this may be as often as every 4 hours to

avoid damage from heat and/or pressure. If possible, do it as part of the routine handling of the infant to disturb the infant as little as possible.

Procedure

- Press 'NIRS resiting' on the lower right of the screen
- Gently remove the sensor from the skin.
- Carefully inspect the skin for any sensor related marks, if any, please fill in the relevant information in the adverse events form (to be formulated) after the sensor has been repositioned.
- Apply the sensor on a different site according to the instructions above.
- Press 'NIRS resiting' on the lower right of the screen again
- CAUTION: If the sensor is difficult to remove, the local protocol for protection of the integrity of the skin should be followed.

Appendix 5: Procedures for aEEG/EEG assessment

The aEEG/EEG provides non-invasive continuous monitoring of cerebral electrical activity. Decreased cerebral perfusion is associated with recognizable changes in the aEEG pattern.

Outcome measures

Outcome measure 1: Burdjalov score

Technique

Digital aEEG/EEG recordings will be performed. Electrode positioning must always include P3-P4 from where the IBI will be estimated. A frontal reference electrode is also applied. Additional electrodes may be used depending on the ventilation mode, head size and application of NIRS.

Raw aEEG/EEG data will be transferred to central data manager.

Timing

As described in the protocol.

SOP: EEG/aEEG

1 Introduction

1.1 The following is based on the protocol developed for the SafeBoosC study (http://www.rigshospitalet.dk/menu/AFDELINGER/Juliane+Marie+Centret/Klini kker/Neonatalklinikken/Forskningihovedmenu/SafeboosC/SOPs.htm).

- 1.2 EEG monitoring will precede echocardiography and will be combined simultaneously with NIRS monitoring for 75 min. If infant's head size or ventilation mode do not allow it, separate recordings will be performed.
- 1.3 Infants' well being should be the first priority.
- 1.4 All precautions should be taken in order to minimize the risk for infection (hand wash with soap and water, single use electrodes, EEG device sanitisation before and after use according to local protocols).

2 Recording the aEEG/EEG. The procedure

- 2.1 Fill in the aEEG/EEG recording protocol in the eCRF.
- 2.2 Explain the procedure to parents and the staff caring for the baby.
- 2.3 Prepare the equipment.
 - Check that the date and time in the monitor is correct.
 - Enter patient identification as usual
- 3. Prepare the infant, if necessary remove the NIRS sensor
- 4. Place the electrodes:
 - Avoid abrased skin, obvious cephalohematoma, severe oedema or other abnormality
 - Place the P3 and P4 electrodes according to the 10-20-system (figure 1). Check that the electrode impedance is less than 20 kOhm

5. Check that electrode signals have low noise (identified by a thin line, with minimal artefacts from electrocardiogram, respiratory movements, hiccups or other muscle artefact). The electrodes should be checked for correct connection and labelling by touching them slightly and noting the signal on the screen.

6. Start recording.

7. Note any disturbance or pain or sedative medication using the event marking system.



Figure 1. 10-20- electrode placement scheme.

SOP: Amplitude-integrated encephalography (aEEG) interpretation and scoring system

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of this document is to define the technique and timing of aEEG assessment based on previous literature (1).

2. SCOPE

This standard operating procedure (SOP) applies to all staff involved in the interpretation of aEEG data for the HAPI-PDA study.

3. ABBREVIATIONS/DEFINITIONS

aEEG - Amplitude-integrated electroencephalography

SOP - Standard Operating Procedure

4. **RESPONSIBILITIES**

Not Applicable

5. ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS

- Procedures for aEEG assessment
- PDA table of assessments

6. MATERIALS

OBM viewer software-Natus Olumpic Brainz Monitor

7. PROCEDURE

(i) Timing

aEEG will be scored at the defined time points according to PDA table of assessments.

(ii) Definitions

- a. Continuity
 - **Continuous Normal Voltage** A narrow band with minimum voltage above 5 microvolts. Maximum voltage above 10 microvolts.
 - Discontinuous Normal Voltage A moderately wide band. Minimum voltage below 5 microvolts, but variable. Maximum voltage above 10 microvolts.
 - Burst Suppression An extremely wide band with maximum and minimum voltages both very low and very high, and without variability to the lower margin.
 - **Continuous Low Voltage** A narrow band with the maximum and minimum voltages below 10 microvolts (not shown below).
 - *Inactive* A very narrow band with all activity below 5 microvolts
- b. Sleep wake cycling (SWC). SWC refers to the emergence and progression of periods, where the peak-to-trough width of the recording would expand and subsequently contract. Cycling was observed as variations in both amplitude and continuity of electrical activity on aEEG tracings.
- **c. Amplitude (in _V) of the lower border:** The magnitude of the CFM tracing's lower border (voltage troughs) is estimated as the average lower microvolt level during the recording epoch. A line drawn though the lower margin of the aEEG band should be with half of the microvolt troughs below the line and half above.
- d. Bandwidth of the aEEG: Bandwidth reflects a combination of the voltage span (peak-to-trough) of the tracing and the magnitude of the aEEG depression (amplitude of the lower border). The span is calculated as the difference between the upper and lower voltage margins of the tracing's narrowest part.

(iii) Procedure

The aEEG trend, displayed at 6 cm/h, will be visually rated in 6- hour blocks by investigators blinded for the patients' identity and clinical data. 6y hours blocks more close to echocardiogram will be selected. The assessment of the aEEG background pattern will be repeatedly aided by inspection of original single-channel EEG at 15 mm/s and 100 μ V/cm sensitivity. aEEG trend data will be evaluated according to two methods:

- a) The aEEG background pattern of every epoch will be interpreted as burst-suppression, discontinuous or continuous according to Hellstrom-Westas et al {Hellström-Westas L, 2006 #45}, and thereafter the activity dominating the 4-h epoch will be further classified into 6 categories: 0 = Inactive/flat, 1 = Sparse BS, 2 = Dense BS, 3 =Mix of both BS and discontinuous (DC), 4 =Discontinuous (DC), 5 =Continuous (C). Cyclicity will be rated in 4 categories: 0 = Absent, 1 = Imminent, 2 = Established but immature, 3 = Developed and mature. The CFM monitor generates automatically a report with the time spent on each background activity. Examples of different patterns of background activity are displayed in pictures 1 and 2.
- b) Background scoring according to Burdjalov et al [1] including four single parameters, continuity, cyclicity, amplitude of lower band, bandwith span and amplitude of lower band together with the their sum as displayed in Table 1.

Score	Continuity	Cycling	Amplitude of Lower Border	Bandwidth Span and Amplitude of Lower Border
0	Discontinuous	None	Severely depressed (<3 µV)	Very depressed: low span (≤15 μV) and low voltage (5 μV)
1	Somewhat continuous	Waves first appear	Somewhat depressed (3–5 μV)	Very immature: high span (>20 μV) or moderate span (15–20 μV) and low voltage (5 μV)
2	Continuous	Not definite, some cycling	Elevated (>5 μV)	Immature: high span (>20 μV) and high voltage (>5 μV)
3		Definite cycling, but interrupted		Maturing: moderate span (15–20 μV) and high voltage (>5 μV)
4		Definite cycling, noninterrupted		Mature: low span (<15 μV) and high voltage (>5 μV)
5		Regular and mature cycling		

Table 1: The Burdjalov CFM score (1).



Figure 1: Different aEEG background patterns



Figure 2. The classification of primary aEEG background patterns, as well as the three degrees of sleep-wake cycling (SWC).

a) Continuous background with SWC in healthy term infant.

b) Continuous and discontinuous aEEG background with immature SWC in an infant who has Dandy Walker malformation at 35 weeks' gestation.

c) Discontinuous background that gradually becomes more continuous, as seen by the rise in the minimum amplitude.

d) DC background in normal very preterm infant

e) Burst-suppression with >100 bursts/h

f) Burst-suppression with <100 bursts/h

g) Low voltage (LV)

h) Flat (FT) aEEG.



Figure 3. Cyclicity Assessment

A, Periods of continuity with baseline >5 μ V (identified with arrows). Developed sleep-wake cycles with sinusoidal variation >20-min duration.

B, Discontinuous baseline 2–5 $\mu V.$ Immature sleep-wake cycling: baseline variability >2 $\mu V.$

C, Suppressed trace: baseline <2 μ V. No sleep-wake cycling: baseline variability <2 μ V

	Со	Су	LB	В	т
	0	0	1	1	2 24-25 weeks
	Co	Су	LB	В	т
u, a citatica (). B	1	1	2	2	6 27-28 weeks
	Co	Су	LB	В	т
C	2	2	2	2	8 29-30 weeks
	Со	Су	LB	В	т
	2	3	2	3	10 31-32 weeks
	Co	Су	LB	В	т
E	2	4	2	3	11 34 weeks
	Со	Су	LB	В	т
	2	5	2	4	13 36-37 weeks

Figure 4. Burdjalov aEEG scoring system.

Co, continuity of the recording; Cy, presence of cycling; LB, lower border amplitude score; B, bandwidth; T, total score (1).

References

1. Burdjalov, V.F., S. Baumgart, and A.R. Spitzer, *Cerebral function monitoring: a new scoring system for the evaluation of brain maturation in neonates.* Pediatrics, 2003. **112**(4): p. 855-61.

Information proforma for EEG/aEEG recording

Patient num	per:			
Date of aEEG	/EEG recording:			
	Start time:			
	Stop time:			
Equipment				
Nicolet BRM (BrainZ Micromed g.tec Other (name	□ □ □]:]			
Electrodes				
Disc 🗆	H	lydrogel □	Needle	
Electrode po	sitions			
Standard P3/ Abnormal P3 Additional el	P4 □ /P4 □ ectrodes. Describe:			
Medications	baby received within 2	24 h prior to recordin	g:	
Caffeine	□ YES	□ NO		
Last dose b	oefore aEEG/EEG: Date	:	Time:	
Comment	:			
Theophylline	□ YES	□ NO		
Last dose b	oefore aEEG/EEG: Date		Time:	
Comment	:			
Opioid	□ YES	□ NO		
Please spe	cify opioid (e.g. morph	ine, fentanyl):		
Last dose b	oefore aEEG/EEG: Date	:	Time:	
Comment	:			
Sedative		□ NO		
Please spe	cify sedative			

Last dose before aEE	G/EEG: Date:	Time:		
Comment:				
Anticonvulsant	□ YES □ NO			
Please specify				
Last dose before aEE	G/EEG: Date:	Time:		
Comment:				
Mode of ventilation				

SIMV	HFOV 🗆	CPAP 🗆	l

Appendix 6: ixTrend data collection

• Insert the Blue ixTrend dongle into the USB port on the laptop.

This must be done to allow data to be recorded for longer than 60 seconds.

• Connect the Bluetooth dongle (labelled client) to the P.C. via the USB adaptor.

This will collect the data from the Bluetooth dongle and transfer it into the computer.

• Connect the Bluetooth dongle (labelled server) to the MIB/Serial port on the back of the monitor, using the RJ45 Ethernet adaptor.

This will transmit the data from the monitor to the other Bluetooth dongle. The Bluetooth connection has a range of 10m. Moving the dongles further apart than this, will break the connection or cause data to be lost during transfer.

• Restart the HeRO computer.

To allow the software to capture waveform data.

• Start the ixTrend software.

This must be done whilst the HeRO computer is restarting.

- Click x on welcome screen.
- Look for the monitor connection (bottom Left).

This will appear as a "Resource" in the available resources tab, expand the "Patient Monitors" section.



• Right click the monitor and click connect.

• Create a new patient using data from the monitor/ select a patient from the



list of current patients.

III 1			TT M Deventures
JULI Y DI RATA			M Pacient view
Health Record	MexLind IS		O = 🔛 🐃
1 (÷ 🗘	Id: tf2_Bhk/g0pbt0, Dev: MP70-en, MD: M900	7A, SW: F.01.42, Man: Philips	
😂 Lind, Max	Signal-Type	Prom	Τα
- In Data			
E 😥 (not started session)			
B 🗮 MP20-en			
- <u>65</u> 44F			
AV.	8001		
P Constant For			
a E Compound ECG	8741		
II	8 🗂 🖮 III		
III			
MOL	8-0 M1		
😸 💼 NBP	- CM - MOL		
- ** PVC	III III IIII IIII IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII		
- 12 Pulse MDP	DIA ST DIA		
-12 RR	L REAN		
in Resp	C The per		
# 💼 ST	Die own		
- <u>-</u>	R-C12 Bise NRP		
	Pulse NBP		
	B-TT*2 RR		
Available Resources	RR RR		
🖉 🖬 🍈	B C A Resp		
ACTUETA	RESP		
Patient Nonitors	🕆 🗍 🖮 sr		
MP20-en	* AI		
Storage and Diagram Profiles	- ANF		
	- AAL		
	- AVR		
	- City m		
	- TI'S NO.		
	- TIPE V		

• Double click the "<not started session>" heading, in the "Health Record"

tab.

• Select the measurements you want to record.

The waveform measurements have a cloud next to the measurement name. For single value recordings the icon is: " 0 i2".

If no waveform measurement options are visible, the HeRO computer system must be restarted and the monitor reloaded into the ixTrend software. This can be done by right clicking on the monitor resource and clicking disconnect. Then right clicking again and selecting connect. This must be done before the HERO computer completes its restart.

• Click the green arrow (top right) to begin recording the selected measurements.

• To stop recording click the red square (top right, next to the green arrow).

The measurements that you have recorded will appear on the left under the heading of the session date and time. To view the captured data you can double click on the data you want to view. This will display the data for the recording session, you can scroll throughout the time of the recording. This data will be stored in the ixTrend software for as long as you choose to keep it.

• To export the data right click the measurement you want and select "export".

You will be prompted to select export settings. Select the top format option: .csv file. The next options will be to select "List Separator": comma, and "Decimal Separator": point.

• Choose the destination folder appropriate for the measurement.

These can be found in your documents folder. There are three folders: ECG data, Pleth data and resp data. You can create more folders for other types of measurement. Keep this data named or dated in some order that lets you keep track of which recording is which.

• Save the data to the specified folder.

You can change the prefix of the file so that you know what the name of the file will start with.

- Transfer this data to your desktop computer using a USB stick.
- Save this patient data on the networked server.
- If you only want to view the start of the data you can open the file in excel.

Appendix 7: Case reporting form

PDA haemodynamics: observational study

Infant's details Name: _____ Hosp number: _____ Study number: _____ **Maternal details** Name: _____ Address: _____ _____ Tel: ______ Marital status: Single Married Cohabiting Divorced Ethnic background: Other white White and Black British/Irish Caribbean White and Black African White and Asian Indian Pakistani Chinese Asian other African Carribean Arabic Other: _____ Educational background: Secondary Primary College University Master PhD Job: Income: Less than 10,000 10-20,000 20-30,000 30-40,000

	40-50,000	50-60,000	60-80,000	>80,000
Vaccinations:				
Medication:				
PMH:				
FH:				
Antenatal his	tory			
Pre and post p	pregnancy Weight:			
Height:				
Scans:				
Previous preg	nancies/miscarriage	es:		
Haemorrhage	s No		Yes	
Infections	No		Yes	
Smoking	No		Yes	
Diabetes or G	D No		Yes	
Hypertension	No		Yes	
Alcohol	No		Yes	

Chorioamnionitis: Fever (>38ºC), Foul smelling amniotic fluid

Tenderness of the uterus Maternal/fetal tachycardia

Maternal leukocytosis

Prolonged rupture of membranes (>24 hours to delivery)

Other: ______

Baby's demographics

Name:				·
Gender:	Male		Female	
BW:	kgr	SGA?	НС:	
Steroids:courses				
GA:weeks _		_days		
Onset of labour:				
Mode of delivery SVD		Instrumental	EILSCS	EmLSCS
Complications				
APGAR score 1min	5 min			
Resuscitation notes:				
Condition at birth:				
Cord gases: Arteri	al pH		Venous pH	
Admission temp:				
Days on ventilation:		Intubated	СР	AP
Days on O2:				

Inotropic support:			
Courses of Ibuprofen:			_ Postanatal age:
PDA ligation:	No	Yes	Age:
Major neonatal diagn	oses :		

REVISION HISTORY:			
Version	Authors	Effective Date	Changes Made
1.1	C.Kotidis, M. Weindling, M. Turner	27.05.14	Minor changes
1.2	C.Kotidis, M. Turner	22.09.14	Minor changes according to ethics committee

Table of assessments

Study phase	Screening	g Follow up						
Day or week	D1	D2	D3	W1	W2	Wn	Discharge	
Screening log	1							
Informed consent	1							
Maternal medical history	1							
Perinatal data	1							
BW and HC	1							
Echo	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
NIRS	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
aEEG	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
CrUSS	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
HERO score	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Gas profile *	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Lactate*	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Base excess*	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Biochemical profile*	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
Haematology*	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
CRT	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
BP, HR, SaO2	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
FiO2	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Ventilation settings	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	
Medication	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	

*if clinically indicated

Appendix 8: Parents' Information Sheet

Hemodynamic Effect of Patent Ductus Arteriosus in Preterm Infants: an observational study

Your baby is being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important that you understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please ask us if there is anything that you do not understand or if you would like more information about the research study.

Background

The ductus arteriosus is a blood vessel that connects the pulmonary artery (main vessel supplying the blood to the lungs) to the aorta (main vessel supplying the blood to the body). By this way blood bypasses the lungs that are not in use during life inside the womb. This connection is present in all newborn babies, but should close shortly after birth. In some babies, especially those born prematurely, this vessel may be open. This is called a patent ductus arterious (PDA).

The size of the PDA may vary, but, if it is large, the amount of the blood that goes to lungs is increased, which can cause problems in some babies. The brain, gut and kidneys may also not work properly or be damaged.



Picture 1: Normal heart and patent ductus arteriosus. Blue represents blood without oxygen that comes from the body and goes to the lungs in order to have oxygen added. Red represents the blood with oxygen that comes from the lungs and goes to rest of the body.

How do we detect PDAs?

A doctor will do a special ultrasound scan called an echocardiogram to make precise measurements of the size of the PDA.

What is the purpose of the Study?

This study will identify babies that are at higher risk for developing a large PDA and problems linked to this. Data from this study will be used to improve the care of babies like yours in future but will not directly affect the care of your baby.

Why has my baby been chosen?

You are being invited to take part because your baby is premature and we know that all premature babies are potentially at risk of PDA. By comparing the results from all babies in the study we hope to identify patients who are at higher risk of developing more problems.

Do I have to participate?

No, you are free to refuse to take part in this study on behalf of your child. If you decide not to take part it will not alter your baby's treatment in any way. If you decide to take part, you are still free to withdraw at any time. If you decide to withdraw from this study, information collected about you and your baby will be retained for the purpose of completing the research unless you tell us otherwise. If you withdraw your baby from the study we will ask you whether we can keep the data that relates to your baby.

If you decide to take part in the study your baby's care will remain the same.

What will happen if I agree to participate on behalf of my baby?

If you decide to take part we will ask you to sign a consent form on behalf of your baby and give you a copy of this information sheet and the consent form for you to keep. In this study we do NOT test new drugs or new treatments. Your baby's treatment will be unaffected. If you agree to take part, a doctor will monitor your baby's heart function with ultrasound once daily for the first 3 days, once weekly until 2 weeks of age, subsequently once weekly until the PDA closes and then before discharge. Ultrasound does NOT contain radiation and does NOT harm your baby. Six probes will be attached to special monitors in order to monitor brain function.

What are the possible advantages of taking part?

The study will not be of any direct benefit to your child, but the results from the study may help us to help children in the future.

What are the possible side effects of taking part?

There might be a slight irritation of forehead skin due to pressure of the bandage that holds the NIRS probe in place. For this reason, we will change the position of the probe every 4 hours.

What if something goes wrong?

If you have a concern about any aspect of the study, you can speak to one of the researchers who will do their best to answer your questions. If you are unhappy with your participation, and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the NHS complaints procedure, details of which can be obtained from the Patient Quality Manager Liverpool Women's NHS Foundation Trust.

Will my baby's participation in the study remain confidential?

All information (for example date of birth, sex, race, height, weight, physical health) gathered about your baby by health professionals will be stored securely by the Doctor at the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and will remain confidential. The data collected will be kept for the maximum period permitted by the hospital in accordance with their local requirements. Anonymous information about your baby will be made available to the hospital's ethics committee or study personnel who may be evaluating the study. The data

collected may be made available to authorized representatives of the national and foreign government agencies. This is in compliance with European data protection laws, which are designed to protect your baby's privacy.

This study is done as part of a project involving six countries in the European Union, Turkey and the USA. Some of the data, but not personal data, may be shared with partners in these other countries who are doing similar work on babies in their countries.

What will happen to the results of the study?

The results of the study will not be known until the data is analysed. The results will be reported in professional publications or meetings but babies will not be individually identified. We will make our results widely available so that doctors and nurses can use the information to help babies in the future.

Expenses and payments

We are not able to offer any payments for your child's involvement in this study.

Who has reviewed the study?

This study has been reviewed by the NRES Committee North West – Lancaster Research Committee and by the Research and Development Department at Liverpool Women's Hospital.

What do I do now?

Thank you for considering taking part in this research. If you have any further questions about the study please do not hesitate to contact a member of our team.

Complaints

If you have any concerns or complaints during the study please let the team know. You may also wish to contact the PALS team who will help you use the Hospital complaints procedure.

Dr Haris Kotidis - Tel. 0151795 9561

PALS (Patient Advice & Liaison Service) Liverpool Women's Hospital - Tel. 01517024297

REVISION HISTORY:			
Version	Authors	Effective Date	Changes Made
1.1	C.Kotidis, M. Weindling, M. Turner	27.05.14	Minor changes
1.2	Louise Hardman	30.05.14	Minor changes
1.3	C.Kotidis, M. Turner	24.09.14	Minor changes according to ethics committee recommendations
1.4	C.Kotidis, M. Turner	04.11.14	Minor changes approved by R&D
1.5	C.Kotidis, M. Turner	16.02.15	Changes of time points of assessment according to the substantial protocol amendment

Appendix 9: Consent form

Direct dial: 0151 795 9561

Email: c.kotidis@liv.ac.uk

Consent form

Study title: Haemodynamic biomarkers in preterm infants with Patent Ductus Arteriosus (PDA) (HAPI-PDA study): a pilot cohort study of the relationships between blood flow through a PDA and surrogate outcomes for brain injury

Patient Details:....

Please Initial Boxes

1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet PIS Version 1.5 dated 10th February 2015 for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered to my satisfaction.

2. I understand that my baby's participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without my baby's medical care or legal rights being affected.

3. If I withdraw from the study I consent that data gathered by study team members for the study relating to me and my baby up to the time at which I withdraw consent will be retained by the study team unless I withdraw that consent.

4. I understand that information about my baby needed for the study (including personally identifiable information) may be collected from their medical records and looked at by the research team during the study. It may also be looked at by regulatory authorities supervising the trial, the NHS Trust and other investigators in countries in the European Union (EU) and other countries outside EU (USA and Turkey), where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records.

5. I agree that my baby can take part in the above study

6. I confirm that I am willing to be approached in the future about further contributions to the study. I am willing to be approached in 24 months time (if my infant/ward is under routine neonatal out-patient follow-up) to give further consent for a more detailed assessment of my child's developmental progress.

Name of Parent	t/guardian
----------------	------------

Signature

Date

Name of Person Taking Consent

Signature

Date

Appendix 10: Ethical approvals

Page 1



NRES Committee North West - Lancaster

Barlow House 3rd Floor 4 Minshull Street Manchester M1 3DZ

Tel: 0161 625 7818 Fax: 0161 625 7299

26 March 2015

Dr Mark Turner Senior Lecturer, Consultant Neonatologist University of Liverpool Liverpool Women's Hospital Department of Women's and Children's Health Crown Street, Liverpool L8 7SS

Dear Dr Turner

Study title:Haemodynamic biomarkers in preterm infants with patent
ductus arteriosus (PDA) (HAPI-PDA study): a pilot cohort
study of the relationships between blood flow through a
PDA and surrogate outcomes for brain injuryREC reference:14/NW/1274Amendment number:1.4Amendment date:16 February 2015IRAS project ID:127099

Change to inclusion criteria and protocol.

The above amendment was reviewed by the Sub-Committee in correspondence.

Ethical opinion

The members of the Committee taking part in the review gave a favourable ethical opinion of the amendment on the basis described in the notice of amendment form and supporting documentation.

The members had no issues with this application.

Approved documents

The documents reviewed and approved at the meeting were:

Document	Version	Date
Covering letter on headed paper		
Notice of Substantial Amendment (non-CTIMP)	Amendment 1.4	16 February 2015
Participant consent form	1.4	16 February 2015
Participant information sheet (PIS)	1.5	16 February 2015
Research protocol or project proposal	1.4	16 February 2015

Membership of the Committee

The members of the Committee who took part in the review are listed on the attached sheet.

R&D approval

All investigators and research collaborators in the NHS should notify the R&D office for the relevant NHS care organisation of this amendment and check whether it affects R&D approval of the research.

Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

We are pleased to welcome researchers and R & D staff at our NRES committee members' training days – see details at <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/</u>

14/NW/1274: Please quote this number on all correspondence

Yours sincerely

Clenegh.

Dr Lisa Booth Chair

E-mail: nrescommittee.northwest-lancaster@nhs.net

Enclosures:List of names and professions of members who took part in the
reviewCopy to:Mrs Gillian Vernon, Liverpool Women's NHS Foundation Trust
Mr Alex Astor

Appendix 11: Qualitative assessment of the factors affected recruitment and data collection

There was a high recruitment rate (66%) and sufficient number of patients was recruited despite other competing studies at the same time. This was attributed to a number of reasons:

i. A presentation was prepared to inform clinical and nursing staff regarding the study rationale and methodology before the study opening. The main message conveyed was that there is a lot of uncertainty regarding PDA and its impact on cerebral function and the study may provide a better insight of PDA pathophysiology and allow designing better studies in the future. It is the "unwell" preterm infant who needs treatment and currently we do not know the appropriate treatment and hence this is the infant we have to study and not only the "well" premature infant. This allowed better understanding of the study and resulted for the majority of the staff to embrace the study.

I believe that the inclusion and good relationship with the nursing staff had major impact on recruitment rates and on study population demographics. Nursing staff build a more close relationship with the parents and parents always ask their opinion. Negative non-verbal language by the nursing staff is enough to put-off a family especially after the stressful experience of preterm labour and birth and deny consent.

ii. LWH has a long standing portfolio of delivering high quality research and this has created a culture of encouraging research among the staff. Most of the clinicians have also higher academic qualifications. These were reflected in parent-staff interactions and the way the study was introduced to the parents at a very stressful period of their life.

- iii. The study did not have a therapeutic intervention. These led to less ethical dilemmas and easier agreement for participation.
- iv. Families were identified in the obstetric ward and informed for the study in advance before the traumatic experience of preterm labour and its physiological and psychological impact on informed-consent process.
- v. Pointing to parent's altruism and the possible benefit for future infants was also proved efficient as pointed also by a previous study (Morley CJ, Lau R, Davis PG, et al. What do parents think about enrolling their premature babies in several research studies?)

The majority of missing observations was attributed to the following reasons:

- i. Approach to seek informed-consent after the birth was difficult as parents were distressed and difficult to comprehend the new situation. Many observations on first day after birth were missed due to this reason as there was a time delay between birth and signing the consent form
- ii. At least 12 hours were allowed after information was provided to the parents to discuss and decide whether they would agree to participate.
- iii. Many patients came from Level II neonatal units and enrolment was only possible on the second or third day of life.
- Many patients were also discharged back to the Level II neonatal units once they did not require intensive care.
- v. There was only one machine for aEEG and NIRS available and there were weeks with many patients in the study with prolonged PDA patency and newborns which needed to be recruited. Hence observations were missed from the more mature infants.
- vi. Data were lost due to technical issues with the operating machines.
- vii. There were periods of annual leave that led to missing observations.
- viii. There were occasions that the critical clinical condition of the patient did not allow us to make an observation

There were no major complications from the study procedures. Due to the bulky size of NIRS probes in comparison to the size of preterm infants' head, temporary minor skin irritation and markings were observed, which lasted for couple of hours. The repeated echocardiograms demonstrated on many occasions malpositioned umbilical venous catheters which initially were appropriately positioned and subsequently needed adjustment.

Appendix 12: Publications

2021

 Kotidis C, Wertheim D, Weindling M, Rabe H, Turner MA. Assessing patent ductus arteriosus in preterm infants from standard neonatal intensive care monitoring. Eur J Pediatr. 2021.

2017

- JENS 2017, 30/10-03/11/17, Venice Italy. C. Kotidis, A. Eleuteri, A. M. Weindling, M. Turner "Cerebral Biomarkers In Extremely Preterm Infants With A Patent Ductus Arteriosus". Oral presentation
- XXV Biennial Meeting of the International Perinatal Collegium, Edinburgh, Scotland, 2–6th July 2017, "Cerebral Biomarkers In Extremely Preterm Infants With A Patent Ductus Arteriosus". Oral presentation
- 6th European Society for Developmental Perinatal and Paediatric Congress,
 20-23rd June 2017, Leuven, Belgium. C. Kotidis, A. Sharp, Z. Alfirevic, A.M.
 Weindling, M.Turner "Neonatal cardiovascular and cerebral function after antenatal maternal exposure to magnesium sulfate". Oral presentation
- Neonatal Society 2017 Summer meeting, Brighton, UK. C. Kotidis, D. Wertheim, A. M. Weindling, H. Rabe, M. Turner. "Phase Difference, a Novel Tool for the Assessment of PDA and Haemodynamics in Extremely Preterm Neonates". Oral presentation

- ESPR 2016, 21-25/10/16, Geneva, Switzerland.
 - C. Kotidis, M. Weindling, N. Subhedar, M. Turner. "Validation Of PDA Severity Score In Predicting Chronic Lung Disease (CLD) In Extremely Preterm Infants With Patent Ductus Arteriosus" Oral presentation
 - Lucas, C., Rodgers, B., Patel, A., Turner, M., Weindling, M., & Kotidis,
 C. (2016). Non-Infective Influences On A Continuous Predictor Of Infection (HeRO Score). In EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF PEDIATRICS Vol. 175 (pp. 1775-1776). e-Poster
 - C. Kotidis, M. Weindling, M. Turner. Neonatal Haemodynamics: An Empirical Evaluation Of One Causal Pathway. e-Poster
- Neonatal Society 2016 Autumn Meeting, London UK. C. Kotidis, M.
 Weindling, M. Turner. "Biomarkers associated with haemodynamically significant patent ductus arteriosus". Oral presentation

2015

- Neonatal Society Autumn Meeting 2015, Royal Society of Medicine, London.
 Thursday, 5th November 2015. C Kotidis, N. Subhedar, M Weindling, M
 Turner. Haemodynamically Significant Patent Ductus Arteriosus Impairs
 Cerebral Oxygenation and May Be Linked With Intraventricular
 Haemorrhage. Oral presentation
- ITM Research Day, Eleanor Rathbone Theatre, Institute of Translational Medicine, University of Liverpool, 6th July 2015. C Kotidis, M Weindling, M

Turner. Cerebral Haemodynamics In Preterm Infants With Patent Ductus Arteriosus (PDA): A Pilot Study. e-Poster

- The 24th Biennial Meeting of the International Perinatal Collegium, Silverado Resort & Spa Napa, California July 12-16, 2015. C. Kotidis, N.
 Subhedar, M. Weindling, M. Turner. Haemodynamics In Preterm Infants With Patent Ductus Arteriosus (PDA). Oral presentation
- 1st Congress of joint European Neonatal Societies (jENS 2015); Budapest (Hungary); September 16-20, 2015. C. Kotidis, M. Turner. A study to validate the duration of assessment of baseline NIRS values in preterm babies with echocardiographically-confirmed PDA. e-Poster